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Manchester United Limited
Strategic report

Manchester Unsted Lmted (the “Company™} operates a professional footbail cfub and 15 part of the Red Footbail Limited (the
parent uedertaking of the smailest group of undertalangs to consolidate these financial statements) group (the “Group™) The
directors present thewr Strategic report on the Company for the year ended 30 June 2016

Review of the basiness
Dunng the yoar Old Trafford staged 30 (2015 23) match day events compnsing 29 (2015 22) Manchester United home games
{19 FA Prermer League, 4 domestic cup and 6 Europeen competition) and 1 (2015 1) Rugby League Grand Final

Revenue for the year was £253 9 mulhion (2015, £201 7 ruslhion) Operatng profit for the year was £177.7 mlhion {2015
£113 6 mllion). Profit on ordinary activities before 1ax for the year was £141 1 million (2015 £81.7 million} Profit on
ordinary activities before tax for the year is after deducting net finance costs of £36 6 milhon (2015 £31 9 milion)

In July 2015 the Company waived its nght to receive certain ammounts from MUTV Lumited. Consequently loans owed
amounting to £7,924,000 (scc note 14) and amounts owed smounting to £1,528,000 were written off and 2 corresponding
asmount of £5,452,000 rccognised as 2 firther investment 1o MUTV Limited.

Principal risks and nncertainties

From the perspective of the Company, the pnncipal risks and uncenawmties arc mtegrated with the principal nsks of the Group
and arc not managed separately Accondingly the prmeipal nisks and uncertainties of the Group, which include those of the
Company, are discussed on pages 5 and 6 of the Red Footbail Limited Group’s Annual Report and financial <tatements which
does not form part of thus report. The Annual Repornt end financial statements of the Red Football Limuted Group can be
oblzined from the Company Secretary, Red Football Limited, Old Trafford, Manchester, M16 ORA

Key performance indicators

The directors of Red Football 1 imited manage the Group's operations on a8 group basis For this reason, the Company's
durectors believe that analysis using key performance indicators for the Company 1s not necessary or appropnate for an
understanding of the development, performance or position of the business of Manchester United Limmted. The development,
performance and poston of the Group, which 1ncludes the Company, are discussed on page 4 of the Red Football Limited
Group's Annual Report and financial statements, which does not form part of this report

On behaif of the board

J
Darector
3o November 2016 .




Manchester United Limited
Directors’ report

The directors present their report and audited financial statements of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2016

Dividends
The directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend (2015 £ml)

Future developments
The Comparty continues to explore new commercial opporturuties within the United Kingdom and overseas to further leverage
the Manchester United brand

Financial risk management

The Company’s activities expose 1t to a variety of financial rnisks market nsk (including currency nisk and interest rate nsk),
credit nsk and hqudity nsk The Company uses derivative financial instruments to hedge certain exposures The policy for
cach of these risks 1s described 1n more detail below

a) Market risk

Currency risk

The Company 1s exposed to the following currency risks

* Significant amount of sponsorship revenue denominated 1n US dollars

¢ Predominantly US dollar denominated amounts owed to group undertakings

Currency risk 1s managed from the perspective of the Group as a whole Further information can be found 1n note 24 to the
consohdated financial statements contained within the Red Football Limited Group’s annual report

Interest rate risk

The Company has no sigmficant interest beanng assets other than cash on deposit  Interest bearmng habilities include a portion
of the amounts owed to group undertakings, any drawdown of the revolving credut facility and any bank overdraft which bears
interest at a vanable rate

b) Credit risk

The Company derives Commercial and sponsorship revenue from certain corporate sponsors, including global, regional,
mobile and supplier sponsors in respect of which the Company may manage 1ts credit risk by seeking advance payments,
instalments and/or bank guarantees where appropriate The substantial majonity of this revenue 15 derived from a limited
number of sources

Credit terms offered by the Company vary depending on the type of sale Credit terms typically range from 14 - 30 days,
although specific agreements may be negotiated 1n individual contracts with terms beyond 30 days

¢) Liqudity risk

The Company's liqudity positton and short-term debt finance ensures that 1t has suffictent funds available for short-term
working capital requirements and for investment 1n capital projects The annual cash flow 1s cyclical m nature with a
significant portion of cash inflows being recerved prior to the start of the playing season Ultimate responsibility for hquidity
risk management rests with the Executive Directors of Manchester United ple The Executive Directors use management
information tools including budgets and cash flow forecasts to constantty monitor and manage current and future hiquidity
Cash flow forecasting 15 performed on a regular basis which includes rolling forecasts of the Company’s hquidity requirements
to ensure that the Company has sufficient cash to meet operational needs




Manchester United Limited
Directors’ report (continued)

Directors
The directors who held office throughout the year and up to the date of sigming the financial statements {unless otherwise

stated) were as follows

J Glazer (Chairman)
A Glazer
B Glazer
D Glazer Kassewitz
E Glazer
K Glazer

Qualifying third party indemnity provisions

At the ime the report was approved a qualifying third party indemnity provision, made by the Manchester United plc Group
was 1n place for the directors of Manchester United plc and its subsidiary compames This qualifying indemmity provision was
in force throughout the financial year

Environmental policies

The Company recogmses 1ts responsibility to ensure a safe and healthy environment and will endeavour to maintain sound
environmental performance through the continued maintenance of our proactive environmental management system, which 1s
integrated 1nto our overall business activities

Employment policies

The Company s committed to its 'people phitosophy' and, as a result, to promoting policies which ensure that employees and
apphicants for employment are treated fairly and consistently The Group has an equal oppertumities policy, the aim of which 1s
to ensure employees or applicants for employment are not discriminated against on the grounds of age, disability, ethmc ongn,
nationality or national origin, religion, race, gender, sexual orientation, gender re-assignment, marital status or famuly
circumstances Entry into and progression within the Group is determined solely by the job cntena and personal
ability/competence

The Company also seeks to apply best practice in the employment, training, development and promotion of disabled persons
The Company takes sertously 1its statutory obligations relating to disabied persons and secks not to discriminate against current
or prospective employees because of a reasen relating to their disability If an existing employee becomes disabied, such steps
that are practical and reasonable are taken, n respect of adjustments to premises or employment arrangements, to retain him/her
in employment Where approprate, rehabilitation and suitable training are given

Employees are regularly updated on the performance of the Company This 1s achieved through a broad base of communications
including monthly management meetings, staff briefings and anncuncements Employees’ views are sought through staff
surveys and action plans are then developed to target prionty for improvement areas The Company 1s continuing with 1ts focus
on reward and recognition of performance as one of these priorities for improvement and its focus on a total reward strategy
which has three principal components compensation {pay package), benefits and the work expenence Schemes are continually
introduced which focus on rewarding individual performance

The Company has established its Vision and Values and these are communicated to all employees Our Vision and Values are
directly linked to performance and development review procedures, traimng and orgamsational change programmes and reward
and recognition 1nitiatives, which apply to all our employees




Manchester United Limited
Directors’ report (continued)

Statement of directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for prepanag the Annual Report and the financial statements i aceordance with apphicable law
and regulanons

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for ¢ach financial year Under that law the directors have
prepared the financual statements in accordance with applicable law and Unmited Kingdom Accountmg Stendards (Umted
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including Financial Reponing Standard 101 Rednced Disclosure
Framework (FRS 101)

Under company law the direclors must not approve the financial statements unless they are sansfied that they give a true and

farr view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or Joss of the Company for that peniod. In prepanmyg these
financial statements, the dircetors are required to

» select suitable accounting policies and then appyy them consistently

» make judgements and accounting estunates that are reasonable and prudent,

e statc whether applicable Umited Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 101, have been followed, subject to any
matenal departures disclosed and explained 1o the financial statements,

o nohfy the company's thareholders n wnung about the use of disclosure exemptions, if anv, of FRS 101 used m the
preparation of financial statements, and

s prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless 1t 15 inappropnate to presume that the Company will
continue 1n business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company's
transactions and disclose wath reasonable accuracy st any ume the financial pounon of the Company and enable them 10
ensure that the financial siatements comply with the Compames Act 2005. They are also responsible for safeguarding the
assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other wregulanties

Statement of disclosure of information to auditors

Fach director who 18 8 director at the date of approval of this Annual Repon and financial statements confirms that

2) so far es the director 18 aware, there 15 no relevant sudit informanon of which the Company’s anditors arc unaware, and

b} the director has taken all the steps that he/she cught to have taken as a durector i order to make hrmsclfhorself aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company's euditors are aware of that information

This conlirmation 15 given and should be mterpreted 1n acoordance with the provisions of s418 of the Companics Act 2006

On behalf of the board
A
(
~
) Glgder

Director
3 ¢ November 7016




Manchester United Limited
Independent auditors’ report to the members of Manchester United Limited

Report on the financial statements

Our opimion

In our opinton, Manchester United Lirmited’s financial statements (the “financial statements™)

»  givea true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 30 June 2016 and of 1ts profit for the year then ended,
¢ have been properly prepared 1n accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and

. have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

What we have audited
The financial statements, included within the Annual Report and financial statements (the “Annual Report”), comprise
s the Balance sheet as at 30 June 2016,
¢ the Income statement and Statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended,
« the Statement of changes in equity for the year then ended, and
« the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of sigmficant accounting policies and other explanatory
information

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the financial statements 1s United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 *Reduced Disclosure Framework’, and applicable law (United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice)

In applying the financial reporting framewark, the directors have made a number of subjective judgements, for example 1n
respect of significant accounting estimates In making such estimates, they have made assumptions and considered future
events

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, the information given n the Strategic report and the Directors’ report for the financial year for which the
financial stalements are prepared 1s consistent with the financial statements

Other matters on which we are required to report by exception
Adequacy of accounting records and mmformaticn and explanations received
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion
« we have not recerved all the information and explanations we require from our audit, or
« adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us, or
« the financial statements are not 1n agreement with the accounting records and returns

We have no exceptions to report ansing from this responsibility
Dhrectors’ remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2005 we are required to report to you 1f, i our opuuion, certain disclosures of directors’
remuneration specified by law are not made We have no exceptions to report ansing from this responsibility




Manchester United Limited
Independent auditors’ report to the members of Manchester United Limited
(continued) '

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the andit

Qur responsibilities and those of the directors

As explamned more fully i the Statcment of dectors® respoambilities se1 out on page 6, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and fur being satisfied that they grve a true and fuir view

Our respensibility is to audil and express an opimon on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
International Stundards on Anditing (UK & Ireland) (“ISAs (UK & Ireland)™). Those standands requure us to comply with the
Aoditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors

This report, inchuding the cpinions, has been prepared for and only for the Company's members as a body in accardancs with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other pwrpose. We do not, tn giving these opinions, accept or
assume responsiility for say other purposs or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands 1t may
come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in wniting.

What an sudit of financial statements involves
We conducted cur audit in accordance with ISAs (UK & Irelend). An audst involves obtaming evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements sufficient 10 give reasonsble assurance that the financial statements ere free from
material misstatement, whethier caused by fraud or error This includes an assessment of!

» whether the sccounting policies are appropriate to the Group's curcumstances and have been consistently applied and

adequately discloged,
« the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and
= the ovenall presentation of the financial statements.

We primarily focus our work in these arcas by assesamg the directors’ judgements againgt availeble evidence, formung our own
Judgements, and evaluating the disclosures in the financial statements

We test and examme mformstion, using samphng and other suditing techniques, o the extent we consider necessary to provide
a reasonsble bams for us to draw conclusions We obtain audit evidence through testng the effectveness of controls,
substantive procedures or 8 combination of both

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annuat Report and financial statements to identify
material 1nconsistencies with the sudited financial statements and 1o identify sny information that v spparently materially
incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the sudrt. If we
become aware of any apparent matena) misstaternents or imconsistencics we consider the implicstions for our repart.

Graham Parsons (Senfor Stotutory Anditor)
For und on behalf of PricewaterbouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Anditors

Manchester
{¢ December 2016

- T e T e A - G AT




Manchester United Limited
Income statement

Year ended 30 June

2016 2015
Note £°000 £°000
Revenue 4 253,892 201,686
Operating expenses — excluding exceptional 1tems 5 (76,363) (82,317)
Operating expenses — exceptional items 6 218 (5,722)
Total operating expenses (76,145) (88,039)
Operating profit 177,747 113,647
Finance costs (36,946) (32,216)
Finance income 340 304
Net finance costs 8 {36,606) (31,212)
Profit on ordinary activities before tax 141,141 81,735
Tax 9 (48,605) (32,013
Profit for the year 92,536 49,722




Manchester United Limited
Statement of comprehensive income

Year ended 30 June

2016 2015

£'000 £000
Profit for the year 92,536 49,722
Other comprehensive loss
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Fair value movements on cash flow hedges (41,080) (34,176)
Tax credit relating to cash flow hedges 6,455 6,890
Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax (34,625) (27,286)
Total comprehensive income for the year 57.911 22,436

10




Manchester United Limited
Balance sheet

As at 30 June

Note 2016 2015
£000 £000
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 11 21,714 22,633
Investment property 12 6,518 6,599
Intangible assets i3 802 798
Investments 14 31,269 29,523
Derivative financial instruments 15 3,052 -
Deferred tax asset 16 15,850 8,465
79,205 68,018
Current assets
Denvative financial instruments 15 2,196 27
Trade and other receivables 17 1,030,437 880,553
Cash and cash equivalents 74,232 85,531
1,106,865 966,111
Total assets 1,186,070 1,034,129

11




Manchester United Limited
Balance sheet (continued)

As at 30 June
Note 2000 Fo0

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equiry
Share capital 18 26,519 26,519
Share premium 7,756 7,756
Caprtal contribution reserve 68,404 68,404
Hedgmg reserve (61,911) (27,286)
Retmmned carmings 272,280 199,828

313,048 275,221
Non-current liabilites
Denrvative financial mstruments 15 9,710 178
‘Trade and other payables 19 487,534 413,697
Deferred revenue 38,443 21,056

535,687 434,931
Current [iabilities
Current tax izbiliics 5,763 1,639
Trade and other payables 19 197,996 190,507
Deferred revenne 133,576 131.831

337,335 323,977
Total equity and lisbilities 1,186,070 1,034,129

‘The notes on pages 14 to 33 are an mtegral pant of these financial statements

The financial statements on pages 9 to 33 were approved by the board of directors on 3@November 2016 and were signed on
s behalf by

1 Gl
Durettor

Registered Number 02570509

12




Manchester United Limited
Statement of changes in equity

Caprtal
Share Share contribution Hedging Retamed Total
capital  premium reserve reserve earnings equity
£000 £000 £'000 £°000 £000 £000
Balance at | July 2014 26,519 7,756 68,404 - 150,106 252,785
Profit for the year - - - . 49,722 49,722
Cash flow hedges - - - (34,176) - (34,176)
Tax credit relating to cash flow hedges - - - 6,890 - 6,890
Total comprehensive tncome for the
year i - - - (27,286) 49,722 22,436
Balance at 30 June 2015 26,519 7,756 68,404 (27,286} 199,828 275,221
Profit for the year - - - - 92,536 92,536
Cash flow hedges - - - (41,080) - (41,080)
Tax credit relating to cash flow hedges - - - 6,455 - 6,455
Total comprehensive imncome for the
year - - - (34,625) 92,536 57,911
Dividends paid (note 10) - - - - (20,084) (20,084)
Balance at 30 June 2016 26,519 7,756 68,404 (61,911) 272,280 313,048

Detalls of movements on the hedging reserve are provided in note 24 2




Manchester United Limited
Notes to the financial statements

1 General information

Manchester United Limited (the “Company™) 1s a private company hmited by share capital domiciled and incorporated 1n the
United Kingdom and registered 1n England and Wales The address of its registered office 1s Sir Matt Busby Way, Old
Trafford, Manchester, M16 ORA The registered number of the Company 15 02570509

These financial statements are presented in pounds sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (£7000) except
when otherwise indicated

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated

2.1  Basis of preparation
The financial statements of Manchester United Limited have been prepared on a going cencern basis and tn accordance with
Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework (*FRS 101”)

The preparation of financial statements 1n conformity with FRS 101 requires the use of certain critical accounting estumates It
also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies The areas
volving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial
statements are disclosed 1n note 3

The following exemptions from the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS™) have been applied in
the preparation of these financial statements, 1n accordance with FRS 101
¢ [FRS 7, “Financial instruments disclosures”,
* Paragraphs 91 to 99 of IFRS 13, “Fair value measurement” (disclosure of valuation techniques and inputs used for fair
value measurement of assets and liabilities),
» rParagraph 38 of IAS 1, “Presentation of financial statements” comparative information requirements 1n respect of

(1) paragraph 79{a)(1v) of IAS 1,

(n) paragraph 73(e) of [AS 16 “Property, plant and equipment”,

(m} paragraph 118(e) of IAS 38 “Intangible assets™, and

() paragraphs 76 and 79(d) of IAS 40 “Investment property”

» The following paragraphs of IAS 1 “Presentation of financial statements”

* 10(d), (statement of cash flows),

e 10(f), (a balance sheet as at the beginming of the preceding penod when an entity apphes an accounting
policy retrospectively or makes a retrospective restatement of items 1n 1ts financial statements, or when 1t
reclassifies 1items 1n 1ts financial statements),

o 16 (statement of comphance with all IFRS),

¢ 38A (requirement for mimmum of two primary statements, mcluding cash flow statements),

» 38B-D (addittonal comparative information),

s  40A-D (requirements for a third balance sheet),

o 111 (cash flow statement information), and

* 134-136 (capital management disclosures)

e 1AS 7, “Statement of cash flows”,

¢ Paragraphs 30 and 31 of IAS 8 “Accounting policies, changes 1n accounting estimates and errors™ {requirement for the
disclosure of information when an entity has not apphed a new IFRS that has been 1ssued but 1s not yet effective),

» Paragraph 17 of [AS 24, *Related party disclosures” (key management compensation),

+ The requirements 1n IAS 24, “Related party disclosures” to disclose related party transactions entered nto between two
or more members of a group

14




Manchester United Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.2 Consohdation

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Red Football Limited and of its ultimate parent undertaking and controlling
party, Red Football Limited Partnershup It 1s included in the consolidated financial statements of Manchester United plc which
can be obtained from the website www manutd com Therefore the Company 1s exempt by wvirtue of section 400 of the
Companies Act 2006 from the requirement to prepare consolidated financial statements

These financial statements are company only financial statements

23  Segment reporting

The Company has one reportable segment, being the operation of a professional football club The chief operating decision
maker (being the Board and executive officers of Manchester United plc), who 1s responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance obtains financial information, being the Consolhdated income statement, Consolidated balance sheet and
Consolidated statement of cash flows, and the analysis of changes 1n net debt, about the Group as a whole The Company has
investment property, however, this 1s not considered to be a material business segment and 1s therefore not reported as such

2.4  Foreign currency translation

a} Functional and presentation currency
Items mncluded in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the primary economic

environment 1n which the Company operates (‘the functional currency’) The financial statements are presented in Pounds
Sterling which 1s also the Company’s functional currency

b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions or valuation where items are re-measured Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated 1n foreign
currencies are recognised 1n the income statement, except when deferred 1n other comprehensive income as qualifying cash
flow hedges Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to unhedged loans owed to group undertakings are presented in the
income statement within finance costs or income All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the income
statement within operating expenses

15




Manchester United Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies {(continued)

2.5 Revenue recognition

Revenue 1s measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable from the Company’s principal activities
excluding value added tax The Company’s principal revenue streams are Commercial, Broadcasting and Matchday The
Company recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, 1t 1s probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the entity and when specific enteria have been met for each of the Company’s activities as described
below

a) Commercial
Commerctal revenue compnses revenue receivable from the exploitation of the Manchester United brand through sponsorship
and other commercial agreements, including mimmum guaranteed revenue, and fees for the Manchester United first team
undertaking tours

For sponsorship contracts any addittonal revenue receivable over and above the minimum guaranteed revenue contained n the
sponsorship and licensing agreements 1s taken to revenue when a reliable estimate of the future performance of the contract can
be obtained and it 1s probable that the amounts will not be recouped by the sponsor 1n future years Revenue 1s recogmised over
the term of the sponsorship agreement 1n line with the performance obligations included within the contract and based on the
sponsorship rights enjoyed by the individual sponsor In instances where the sponsorship rights remain the same over the
duration of the contract, revenue 1s recogmsed on a straight-line basis In respect of contracts with multiple elements, the
Company allocates the total consideration receivable to each separately 1dentifiable element based on their relanve fair values,
and then recogruses the allocated revenue on a straight-line basis over the relevant period of each element

Commercial revenue which is received 1n advance of a period end but relating to future periods 1s treated as deferred
revenue The deferred revenue 1s then released to revenue on an accruals basis 1n accordance with the substance of the relevant
agrecments

b) Broadcasting

Broadcasting revenue represents revenue recetvable from the sale of MUTV mternational nghts Broadcasting revenue which
15 recetved 1n advance of a period end but relating to future periods 1s ireated as deferred revenue The deferred revenue is then
released to revenue on an accruals basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements

¢) Matchday

Matchday revenue is recogmsed based on matches played throughout the year with revenue from each match being recogmised
only afler the match to which the revenue relates has been played Matchday revenue includes ground catering and Museum
revenue Matchday revenue which 1s received mn advance of a period end but relating to future periods 1s treated as deferred
revenue The deferred revenue 1s then released to revenue as the matches are played

d) Finance income
Finance income 1s recognised using the effective interest rate method

¢) Accrued revenue
Revenue from Matchday activities, broadcasting and commercial contracts, which 1s recerved after the peried to which ut
relates, 15 accrued as earned

f) Deferred revenue
Revenue from Matchday activities, broadcasting and commercial contracts, received or recetvable prior to the period end in
respect of future periods, 1s deferred

18




Manchester United Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)

2 Summary of sigmficant accounting policies (continued)

2.6 Operating leases

Leases 1n which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives recerved from the lessor) are charged to the income
statement on a straight line basis over the penod of the lease

Rentals receivable under sub-tenancy agreements (net of any ncentives given to the lessee) are credited to the income
statement on a straight line basis over the lease term The nsk and rewards of ownership on the sub-let property remain with
the third party lessor

2.7 Exceptional items

Exceptional items are disclosed separately 1n the financial statements where 1t 1s necessary to do so to provide further
understanding of the financal performance of the Company They are matenal items of income or expense that have been
shown separately due to the significance of their nature or amount

2.8 Pension costs

The Company operates a defined contribution scheme The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the
Company 1n an independently administered fund The Company’s contributions into this scheme are reflected within the
income statement when they fall due

2.9 Current and deferred tax

The tax expense or credit for the period comprises current and deferred tax Tax 15 recognised 1n the income statement, except to
the extent that # relates to 1tems recognised in other comprehensive income, 1n which case the tax 1s also recogmised in other
comprehensive income

The current tax charge or expense 15 calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date in the countnies where the Company operates and generates taxable income Management periodically evaluates positions
taken 1n tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation 1s subject to interpretation It establishes
provisions where appropnate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to (or recovered from) the tax authonties

Deferred tax 1s recognised on temporary differences ansing between the tax bases of assets and habilities and their carrying
amounts 1 the financial statements Deferred tax 1s determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset 1s realised or the
deferred hiabihty 1s settled

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it 1s probable that future taxable profit will be available agamst which
the temporary differences can be utilised

Deferred tax assets and lrabihities are offset when there 1s a legally enforceable night to offset current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to taxes levied by the same taxation authonty on either the
same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there 15 an intention to settle the balances on a net basis

2.10 Dividend distribution

Dividend distributions to the Company’s shareholders are recognised when they become legally payable In the case of intenim
dividends, this 1s when they are paid

17




Manchester United Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.11 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equpment 1s imtrally measured at cost (comprising the purchase price, after deducting discounts and
rebates, and any directly attributable costs) and 1s subsequently carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any provision
for impairment

Subsequent costs, for example, capital improvements and refurbishment, are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recogrused as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when 1t 1s probable that future economc benefits associated wath the item
will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably Where appropriate, the carrying amount of the
replaced part 1s derecogmised All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement dunng the financial
pernod 1n which they are incurred

Land 1s not depreciated With the exception of freehold property acquired before 1 August 1999, depreciation 1s calculated
using the straight-line method to write-down assets to their residual vatue over their estimated useful hves as follows

Freechold property 75 years
Computer equipment and software (included within

Plant and machinery) 3 years
Plant and machinery 4-3 years
Fixtures and fittings 7 years

Freehold property acquired before 1 August 1999 1s depreciated on a reducing balance basis at an annual rate of 1 33%
The assets” residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted 1f appropnate, at the end of each reporting period

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable Any impairment charges ansing are recogmsed in the income statement when the carrying amount of an asset 1s
greater than the estimated recoverable amount, which 1s the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use,
and are calculated with reference to future discounted cash flows that the asset 1s expected to generate when considered as part
of a cash-generating unit Prior impairments are reviewed for possible reversal at each balance sheet date

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recogmsed within
operating expenses within the income statement

2.12 Investment property
Property that 15 held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that 15 not occupied by the Company, 15
classified as investment property

Investment property 1s imitially measured at cost {comprising the purchase price, afler deducting discounts and rebates, and any
directly attnibutable costs) and 1s subsequently carried at cost less accumulated deprectation and any prowvision for impairment
Investment property 1s depreciated using the straight-line method over 50 years

Investment properties are reviewed for impairment when there 1s a tnggering event such as a decline in the property market
An 1mpairment charge 1s recogmused for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount
Prior impairments are reviewed for possible reversal at each balance sheet date
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2 Summary of sigmificant accounting policies (continued)

2.13 Intangible assets
Intangible assets compnse trademark registration costs and are imtially measured at cost and are subsequently carred at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any provision for impairment

Amortisation 1s calculated using the straight-line method to wnte-down assets to their residual value over the estimated useful
lives as follows
Trademark registration costs 10 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted :f appropnate at each baltance sheet date

2.14 Investments
Investments are held at cost less any provision for impairment in value Impairment reviews are performed by the directors
when there has been an indication of potential impairment

2.15 Denivative financial instruments and hedging activities

Derivatives are imitially recogrused at fair value on the date a derivative contract 15 entered into and are subsequently
re-measured at their fair value The resulting gamn or loss 1s recogmsed in the income statement immediately unless the
derivative 1s designated and effective as a hedgmg instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in the income
statement depends on the nature of the hedging relationship The Company designates certain derivatives as hedges of a
particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a lughly probable forecast transaction (cash flow hedge)

The Company hedges the foreign exchange nsk on a portion of contracted, and hence highly probable, future US dollar
revenues using the Company’s US dollar loans owed to group undertakings net of the Company’s US dollar cash balances as
the hedging instrument Foreign exchange gains or losses arising on re-translation of the Company’s US dollar loans owed to
group undertakings net of the Company’s US dollar cash balances are now imitially recognised 1n other comprehensive income,
rather than being recognised n the income statement immediately The foreign exchange gains or losses ansing on re-
translation of the Company’s unhedged US dollar loans owed to group undertakings are recognised n the income statement
immediately

The Company documents at inception of the hedge the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well
as its nsk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedging transactions The Company also documents us
assessment, both at hedge inception and on an on-going basis, of whether the derivatives that are used 1in hedging transactions
are highly effective in offsetting changes 1n the cash flows of the hedged items The Company uses a variety of methods to
assess hedge effectiveness depending on the nature and type of the hedging relationship, including cnitical terms comparison
and dollar offset method

Denvatives embedded n other financial instruments or host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when their risks and
characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not measured at fair value through
profit or loss

Movements on the hedging reserve in other comprehensive income are shown tn the statement of changes 1n equity The full
fair value of a hedging derivative 1s classified as falling due after more than one year when the remaming matunty of the
hedged item 1s more than 12 menths, and as falling due within one year when the remaiming matunty of the hedged 1tem 1s less
than 12 months

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of denvatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges 1s

recogmsed 1n other comprehensive income The gain or loss relating to any ineffective portion 1s recogmsed immediately 1n the
income statement
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

216 Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities (continued)

Amounts previously recognised 1n other comprehensive income and accumulated 1n the hedging reserve within equity are
reclassified to the income statement 1n the periods when the hedged item affects the income statement (for example, when the
forecast transaction that 1s hedged takes place}) When a hedging instrument expires or 1s sold, or when a hedge no longer meets
the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing 1n equity at that tme remains 1n equity and 15 recognised
when the hedged item 1s ulumately recogmised 1n the income statement When a forecast transaction 1s no longer expected to
occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity 1s immedately transferred to the income statement

2.17 Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are amounts due from customers for goods seld or services performed in the ordinary course of
business Trade and other recervables are recogmsed imuially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less provision for impairment If collection 1s expected in one year or less, they are classified as
falling due within one year If not, they are presented as falling due after more than one year

2.18 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, and, 1f applicable, other short-term highly
liquid investments with onginal matunties of three months or less

219 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are obligations to pay for goods and services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of
business from suppliers Trade payables are recogmsed tninally at far value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method Amounts payable are classified as falling due within one year (f payment falls due within
one year or less If not they are presented as falling due after more than one year

220 Share capital and reserves
Ordinary shares are classified as equity Incremental costs directly attributable to the 1ssue of new shares are shown in equity as
a deduction from the proceeds of the 1ssue

The capital contribution reserve arose as a result of capital contributions from parent undertakings

The hedging reserve 1s used to reflect the effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and
qualfy as cash flow hedges
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3 Critical accounting eshmates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates, Judgments and assurnptions concerning the

future Estimates, judgments and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances The resulting
accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results The estimates, judgments and assumptions that
have a sigmificant risk of causing a matenal adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and lhabilities within the next
financial year are addressed below

a) Revenue recognmition—minimum guarantee
Minimum guaranteed revenue 1s recogmzed over the term of the sponsorship agreement in line with the performance

obligations included within the contract and based on the sponsorship benefits enjoyed by the indivmdual spenser In instances
where the sponsorship rights remain the same over the duration of the contract, revenue 1s recognized on a straight-line basis

The minimum guarantee payable by adidas 1s subject to certain adjustments Payments due 1n a particular year may increase 1f
the club’s first team wins certain competitions or decrease 1f the club’s first team fails to participate 1n the Champions League
for two or more consecutive seasons with the maximum possible reduction being 30% of the applicable payment for that year
Management’s current best estimate 1s that the full minimum guarantee amount will be received, as management do not expect
two consecutive seasons of non-participation in the Champions League

b) Revenue recognition - estimates in certain commercial contracts

In additton to a mimmum guarantee, certain commercial contracts include additional profit share arrangements based on
cumulative profits eamed from the exploitation of the Manchester United brand Any additional profit share on such
arrangements 15 only recogmsed when a reliable estimate of the future performance of the contract can be obtained and only to
the extent that the revenue 1s considered probable In assessing whether any additional profit share 1s probable and should
therefore be recogmsed, management carry out regular reviews of the contracts and future financtal forecasts, having regard to
the underlying nsk factors such as team performance and general economic conditions

4 Revenue

The principal activity of the Company 1s the operation of a professional football club All of the activities of the Company
support the operation of the football club and the success of the first team 1s critical to the ongoing development of the
Company Consequently the chief operating decision maker regards the Company as operating 1n one material segment, being
the operation of a professional football club

All revenue derives from the Company’s principal activity in the Umited Kingdom Revenue can be analysed into its three main
components as follows

2016 2015

£°000 £000

Commercial 241,142 187,304
Broadcasting - 2,240
Matchday 12,750 12,142
253,892 201,686

Revenue denved from entities accounting for more than 10% of revenue 1n either 2016 or 2015 were as follows

2016 2015

£000 £7000

adidas 72,746 -
General Motors (Chevrolet) 52,170 58,534

All non-current assets are held within the United Kingdom
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5 Operating expenses - excluding exceptional items

2016 2015

£'000 £'000
Employee benefit expense (note 7) (41,524) (41,112}
Operating lease costs —land and buildings (2,150) {2,071)
Operating lease costs — plant and machinery {an (23)
Auditors’ remuneration audit services (369) (324)
Auditors’ remuneration tax compliance services (228) -
Auditors’ remuneration other services - (18)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (60) -
Depreciation — property, plant and equipment {note 11} (1,442) (1,490)
Depreciation — investment property (note 12) (81) (81)
Amortisation (note 13) {157) (153)
Other operating expenses {30,335) (37,045)
(76,363) (82,317)

In addition to the auditors’ remuneration charges disclosed above for the year ended 30 June 2015 are amounts of £305,000
relating to tax planning advice, general assurance and other advice 1n connection with the debt refinancing 1in June 2015 and
either amortised through finance costs or carried forward 1n the balance sheet as unamortised debt 1ssue costs

6 Operating expenses - exceptional items
2016 2013
£'000 £000
Reversal of/(impairment of) investment in group undertaking 218 (2,916)
Impairment of amounts cwed by group undertaking - (2,806)
218 (5,722)

Reversal off(impairment of) investment 1n group undertaking — during the year the directors reviewed the carrying value of
investments in group undertakings and concluded that a reversal of a provision amounting to £218,000 (2015 provision of
£2,916,000), relating to its investment 1n Manchester United Interactive Limited, should be recognised as the carrying value
was considered to be below 1ts recoverable amount (2015 considered to exceed 1ts recoverable amount)

Impairment of amounts owed by group undertakings — during the year the directors reviewed the recoverability of amounts
owed by group undertakings and concluded that a provision of £ml (2015 £2,806,000), relating to amounts owed by
Manchester United Interactive Limited, should be recogmsed as the amounts owed were no longer considered to be
recoverable
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7 Employees and directors
The average number of employees during the year, including directors, was as follows

2016 2015
Number Number
By activity
Commercial 121 122
Administration and other 187 212
Average number of employees 308 334
Particulars of employee benefit expenses are as shown below
2016 2015
£7000 £'000
Wages and salanes (37,035) (36,209)
Social secunty costs {3,332) (3,592)
Other pension costs (1,157) (1,310
(41,524) (41,112)

No directors of Manchester United Limited received any emoluments 1n respect of services for the Company durning the year

(2015 none)

8 Net finance costs
2016 2015
£°000 £000
Bank charges and other fees (1,340) (717)
Interest payable on loans owed to group undertakings (18,445) (26,555)
Amortisation of 1ssue discount and debt finance costs on loans owed to group
undertakings (544) (5,978)
Fareign exchange losses on retranslation of unhedged US dollar borrowings {12,306) (282)
Fair value movements on denvative financial instruments
Embedded foreign exchange denvatives 5,288 1,280
Interest rate swaps (9,599) 36
Total finance costs (36,946) (32,216)
Interest receivable on short-term bank deposits 340 304
Total finance income 340 304
Nei finance costs (36,606) {31,912}
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9 Tax
2016 2015
£000 £000
Current tax:
Group relief (43,617} (31,534)
Foreign tax (256) -
UK tax charge (3,169) {685)
Adjustment 1n respect of previous years (2,493) (726)
Total current tax expense (49,535) (32,945)
Deferred tax.
Ongination and reversal of timing differences 804 647
Adjustment 1n respect of previous years 292 285
Impact of change in UK corporation tax rate {166) -
Total deferred tax credit (note 16) 930 932
Total tax expense (48,605) {32,013)
A reconciliation of the total tax expense 1s shown below
2016 2015
£°000 £'000
Profit on ordinary activities before tax 141,141 81,735
Profit on ordinary activittes multiplied by the weighted average UK corporation tax rate
of 20 00% (2015 22 5%) (28,228) (16,960)
Tax effects of
Adjustment 1n respect of previous years (2,200) (440)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (381) (1,437
Transfer pricing adjustments (17,540) (12,344)
Exempted finance income - (808)
Impact of change 1n UK corpeoration tax rate (256) (24)
Total current tax charge {48,605) (32,013)

Factors that may affect future tax charges:

Reductions 1n the main rate of UK corporation tax have been enacted The rate will reduce from 20% to 19% from 1 Apnl
2017 and by a further 1% to 18% from 1 Apnil 2020 As these changes had been enacted at the balance sheet date they

have been recognised in these financial statements

10 Dwvidends

Dividends paid 1n the year ended 30 June 2016 amounted to £20,084,000 (£0 08 per share) Dividends paid in the year ended 30 June

2015 amounted to £n1] (£ml per share)
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11 Property, plant and equipment

Plant and  Fixtures and
Property machinery fittings Total
£°000 £'000 £'000 £°000

At 1 July 2015
Cost 21,249 7,046 4,288 32,583
Accumulated depreciation (2,100) (5,938) (1,912} (9,950) .
Net book amount 19,149 1,108 2,376 22,633
Year ended 30 June 2016
Opening net book amount 19,149 1,108 2,376 22,633
Additions - 187 279 466
Transfers - 134 - 134
Disposals N - - an
Deprectation charge (173) (487) (782) (1,442)
Closing net bock amount 18,899 942 1,873 21,714
At 30 June 2016
Cost 21,163 6,903 4,547 32,613
Accumulated depreciation (2,264) (5,961) (2,674} (10,899)
Net book amount 18,899 942 1,873 21,714

Freehold property pnimarily comprises land at the Old Trafford stadium and miscellanecus buildings

Property, plant and equipment with a net book amount of £21,714,000 (2015 £22,633,000) has been pledged to secure the
secured term loan facility and senior secured notes borrowings of the Group (see note 23)

Capital commutments at the balance sheet date are disclosed 1n note 22
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12 Investment property

£'000
At 1 July 2015
Cost 7.367
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (768)
Net book amount 6,599
Year ended 30 June 2016
Opening net beok amount 6,599
Deprectation charge (81)
Closing net bock amount 6,518
At 30 June 2016
Cost 7,367
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (849)
Net book amount 6,518

Investment property was externally valued as at 30 June 2016 1n accordance with the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors
(“RICS™) Valuation - Professional Standards, January 2014 The valuation supported the carrying amount as of 30 June 2016
and consequently there were no changes to the net book value The external valuation was carried out on the basis of Market
Value, as defined 1in the RICS Valuation - Professional Standards, January 2014 Fair value of investment property is
determined using mnputs that are not based on observable market data,consequently the asset 1s categonized as Level 3 The fair
value of investment property as at 30 June 2016 was £6,518,000

As of 30 June 2016, the Company had no contractual obhgations to purchase, construct or develop mvestment property (2015
£mil) As of 30 June 2016, the Company had no matenal contractual obligations for repairs, maintenance or enhancements to

mvestment property (2015 not material)

13 Other intangible assets

£°000
At 1 July 2015
Cost 951
Accumulated amortisation (153}
Net book amount 798
Year ended 30 June 2016
Opening net beok amount 798
Additions 161
Deprecration charge (157}
Closing net book amount 802
At 30 June 2016
Cost 1,112
Accumulated amortisation (310)
Net book amount 802

Other intangible assets comprise trademark registration costs Trademark registration costs are fully amortised on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which 1s typically 10 years

26




Manchester United Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)

14 Investments
Sharesin Loan owed by

group group

undertakings undertakings Total

£'000 £'000 £°000

At 1 July 2015 21,599 7,924 29,523
Waiver of loan owed by group undertaking 7,924 (7,924} -
Warver of amounts owed by group undertaking 1,528 - 1,528
Reversal of impairment (note 6) 218 - 218
At 30 June 2016 31,269 - 31,269

In July 2015 the Company waived 1ts night to receive certain amounts from MUTV Limited Consequently loans owed
amounting to £7,924,000 and amounts owed amounting to £1,528,000 were written off and a corresponding amount of
£9,452,000 recogmsed as a further investment in MUTYV Limited

Shares 1n group undertakings as at 30 June 2016 relates to the following companies

Description of
share classes

Subsidiaries Principal activity Issued share capital  owned
Alderley Urban Investments Limited* Property investment GBP 2 100% Ordmary
Manchester Umted Commercial Enterprises (Ireland)
Limited* Property investment EUR 13 100% Ordinary
Manchester Unuted Football Club Limited* Professional football club  GBP 1,008,546 100% Ordinary
Manchester United Interactive Limited Media company GBP 10,000 100% Ordinary
MU Commercial Holdings Limited* Holding company GBP 101 100% Ordinary
MU Commercial Holdings Junior Limited Holding company GBP 101 100% Ordinary
MU Finance ple* Debt-hoiding company GBP 15,000,000 100% Ordinary
MU RAML Lumited Retait and licensing GBP 100

company 100% Ordmmary
MUTV Limited Subscription TV channel ~ GBP 2,401 100% Ordinary

* Direct investment of Manchester Unuted Limited, others are held by subsidiary undertakings

All of the above were incorporated and operate in England and Wales, with the exception of Manchester United Commergial
Enterprises (Ireland) Limited which 1s mncorporated and operates i Ireland The directors believe that net book value of
investments 1n shares of group undertakings as at 30 June 2016 1s supported by their underlying net assets and future forecasts
The registered office of all the above, with the exception of Manchester United Commercial Enterprises (Ireland) Limited, 1s
Sir Matt Busby Way, Old Trafford, Manchester, M16 ORA, United Kingdom The registered office of Manchester United
Commercial Enterprises (Ireland) Limited 18 4" Floor, 8-34 Percy Place, Ballsbndge, Dublin 4, Republic of Ireland
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15 Derivative financial instruments

2016 2015
Assets Laabilities Assets Liabilities
£°000 £°000 £000 £000
Derivatives that are designated and effective as hedging
instruments carried at fair value
Interest rate swaps - (9,710) - {111)
Financial instruments carried at fair value through
profit or loss
Embedded foreign exchange derivatives 5,248 - 27 (67)
5,248 (9,710) 27 (178)
Less non-current portion
Denvatives that are designated and effective as hedging
instruments carried at fair value
Interest rate swaps - (9,710) - (1
Finanaal instruments carried at fair value through
profit or loss
Embedded foreign exchange denvatives 5,248 - - (67)
Non-current derivative financial instruments 3,052 (9,710} - (178)
Current denvative financial instruments 2,196 - 27 -
16 Deferred tax
The deferred tax asset comprises
2016 2015
£°000 £'000
Depreciation 1n excess of capital allowances 850 956
Short-term tinung differences 15,000 7,509
15,850 8,465
The movement 1n the deferred tax asset was as follows
2016 2015
£ £
At 1 July 8,465 643
Credited to income statement (note 9) 930 932
Credited to other comprehensive income 6,455 6,890
At 30 June 15,850 8,465
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17 Trade and other receivables

2016 2015
£°000 £7000
Trade receivables 62,975 25,727
Less provision for impairment of trade receivables (3,352) (2,124)
Net trade receivables 59,623 23,603
Amounts owed by group undertakings 950,762 815,436
Other receivables - 2
Accrued revenue 6,797 28,678
Prepayments 13,255 12,834
Current trade and other receivables 1,030,437 880,553
Amounts owed by group undertakings are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand
18 Share capital
2016 2015
£'000 £7000
Allotted and fully pard
265,192,483 (2015 265,192,483) ordinary shares of £0 10 each 26,519 26,519
19  Trade and other payables
2016 2015
£°000 £000
Trade payables 2,820 3,544
Amounts owed te group undertakings 167,288 159,385
Loans owed to group undertakings 487,534 413,697
Accruals 25,101 25,081
Taxation and social secunty 2,787 2,497
685,530 604,204
Less non-current portion
Loans owed to group undertakings 487,534 413,697
Non-current trade and other payables 487,534 413,697
Current trade and other payables 197,996 190,507

Amounts owed to group undertakings are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand

Loans owed to group undertakings compnse

- An unsecured loan of US dollar 225 0 million (2015 US dollar 225 0 mullion) owed to MU Finance plc MU Finance
plc can demand repayment in accordance with the terms of the inter-group loan agreement, however, the Company
currently expects the loan to be repayable in June 2025 Interest 15 charged at US dollar LIBOR plus an apphcable
margin of between 1 75% and 2 25%, and

- An unsecured loan of US dotlar 425 0 mullien (2015 US dollar 425 0 mitlion) owed to MU Finance ple MU Finance
plc can demand repayment in accordance with the terms of the inter-group loan agreement, however, the Company
currently expects the loan to be repayable in June 2027 Interest 1s charged at a fixed coupon of 4 04%
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20 Contingencies
At 30 June 2016, the Company had no material contingent habilities 1n respect of legal claims arising in the ordinary course of
business (2015 none)

21 Operating lease arrangements

21.1 The Company as lessee

The Company leases various premuses and plant and equipment under non-cancellable operating lease agreements The
majority of the lease agreements are renewable at the end of the lease penod at market rate The operating lease cxpenditure
charged to the income statement during the year 1s disclosed wn note 5 The future aggregate minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases are as follows

2016 2015

£000 £000

No later than 1 year 2,357 1,934
Later than | year and no later than 5 years 4,198 1,230
6,555 3,164

21.2 The Company as lessor
The Company leases out its investment properties The future aggregate minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable
operating leases are as follows

2016 2015
£000 £'000
No later than | year 739 305
Later than | year and no later than 5 years 1,320 I 595
Later than 5 years - 170
2,059 2,270

22 Capital commitments
At 30 June 2016, the Company had capital commitments relating to property, plant and equipment amounting to £ml (2015
£nil)

23 Debt of subsidiary undertaking

MU Finance plc, a subsidiary of the Company, has 1ssued semor secured notes that are secured by a first-ranking hien over all
shares and substantially all property and assets of the 1ssuer and guarantors, which by definition incorporates Red Football
Limited, Red Football Jumor Limited, Manchester Umited Football Club Limited and the Company The pnncipal amount
outstanding at 30 June 2016 was the sterling equrvalent of £318 8 mullion (3425 0 nullion)

MU Finance plc also has a secured term loan facihity The loan 1s secured against substantially all of the assets of each of the
guarantors, which by defimition incorporates Red Football Limited, Red Football Junior Limited, Manchester United Limuited,
MU Finance plc and the Company The pnincipal amount outstanding at 30 June 2016 was the sterling equivalent of £168 8
mllion ($225 0 million)
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24 Financial instruments
An explanation of the Company’s financial instrument risk management objectives, policies and strategies are set out 1n the

Directers’ report on page 4
241 Fmanaal risk factors

Currency risk

The Company has a number of embedded foreign exchange denvatives in host Commercial revenue contracts These are
separately recogmsed 1n the financial statements at fair value since they are not closely related to the host contract Fair value
1s determined as the change 1n the fair value of the embedded derivative at the contract inception date and the fair value of the
embedded derivative at the balance sheet date, fair value 1s determined using forward exchange rates with the resulting value
discounted to present value As at 30 June 2016 the fair value of such denvatives was a net asset of £5,248,000 (2014 net
liability of £40,000)

Interest rate risk

The Company has no significant interest bearing assets other than cash on deposit which attracts interest al a small margin
above UK base rates

The Company's interest rate nisk arises from its loans owed to group undertakings Loans 1ssued at variable interest rates
expose the Company to cash flow interest rate risk Loans issued at fixed rates expose the Company to fair value interest rate
risk The Company’s loans owed to group undertakings are denominated in US dollar Full details of the Company’s loans
owed to group undertakings and assoctated interest rates can be found in note 19

The Company manages 1ts cash flow interest rate risk where appropnate using interest rate swaps at contract lengths consistent
with the repayment schedule of the loans owed to group undertakings Such interest rate swaps have the economic effect of
converting the loans from floating rates to fixed rates Consequently, the impact on equity and post-tax profit of a 1 0% shuft (n
interest rates would not be matenal to any periods presented

The Group has entered 1nto a number of swap agreements The following table details the interest rate swaps commutted to at
the balance sheet date

2016 2015
Principal Principal
value of loan Rate value of loan Rate
outstanding recerved Rate paid Expiry date outstanding recerved Rate paid  Expiry date
000 000
1 month US$ 1 month US$
$225,000 LIBOR  Fixed 2032% 30 June 2024 $225,000 LIBOR Fixed 2 032% 30 June 2024

The fair value of interest rate swaps 1s calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows based on observable
yield curves As at 30 June 2016 the fair value of these interest rate swaps was a habihity of £9,710,000 (2015 habihity of
£111,000)

Credit nsk

Credit nsk anses from cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables {excluding amounts owed by group
undertakings and prepayments) — the maximum credit exposure 1s £140,652,000 (2015 £137,841,000) Management does not
expect any material losses from non-performance by these counterparties
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24 Financial instrements (confinued)

242 Hedging activities
The Company uses denvative financial mstruments to hedge certain exposures, and has designated certain derivatives as
hedges of cash flows {cash flow hedge)

The Company hedges the foreign exchange risk on contracted future US dollar revenues whenever possible using the
Company’s US dollar net borrowings as the hedging mstrument The foreign exchange gains or losses arising on re-translation
of the Company’s US dollar net borrowings used in the hedge are imtially recogmzed 1n other comprehensive income, rather
than being recognized in the income statement immediately Amounts previously recognized 1n other comprehensive income
and accumulated 1n the hedging reserve are subsequently reclassified into the income statement tn the same accounting period,
and within the same income statement line (1 ¢ Commercial revenue), as the underlying future US dollar revenues, which
given the varying lengths of the commercial revenue contracts will be between January 2016 to June 2021 The foreign
exchange gains or losses ansing on re-translation of the Group’s unhedged US dollar borrowings are recognized in the income
statement immediately The table below details the net borrowings being hedged at the balance sheet date

2016 2015

$°000 $'000

USD borrowings 650,000 650,000
USD cash (2,900) (50,000)
Net USD debt 647,100 600,000
Hedged future USD revenues (393,477) (470,274)
Unhedged USD borrowings 253,623 129,726
Closing USD exchange rate (3 £) 1.3332 15712

Details of movements on the hedging reserve are as follows
Future US

dollar Total,

revenues Tax after tax

£°000 £000 £000

Balance at ! July 2014 - -
Foreign exchange loss on hedged US dollar net borrowings (34,353) 6,926 (27,427)

Reclassified to income statement 177 (36) 141
Movement recogmised 1n other comprehensive income (34,176) 6,890 (27,286)
Balance at 30 June 2015 (34,176) 6,890 (27,286)
Foreign exchange loss on hedged US dollar net borrowings (49,447) 7,770 (41,677
Reclassified to income statement 8,367 (1,315) 7,052
Movement recognised 1n other comprehensive income (41,080) 6,455 (34,625)
Balance at 30 June 2016 (75,256) 13,345 (61,911)
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Manchester United Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)

25 Immediate parent undertaking and ultimate controlling party
The immediate parent undertakung 15 Red Football Limited

The ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party 1s Red Football Limited Partnershup, a hmited partnership formed 1n the
state of Nevada, United States of America whose general partner 1s Red Football General Partner, Inc, a corporation formed 1n
the state of Nevada, United States of Amenca Red Football Limited Partnership and Red Football General Partner, Inc are
controlled by famuly trusts affiliated with the Glazer family

Manchester United plc, a company tncorporated 1n the Cayman [slands and histed on the New York Stock Exchange, 1s the
parent undertaking of the largest group of undertakings to consolidate these financial statements as at 30 June 2016 The
consolidated financial statements of Manchester United plc can be obtained from the website www manutd com

Red Football Limited 1s the parent undertaking of the smallest group of undertakings to consolidate these financial statements

as at 30 June 2016 The consolidated financial statements of Red Football Limited can be obtained from the Company
Secretary, Red Football Limited, Old Trafford, Manchester, M16 ORA
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GENERAL INFORMATION

In this annual report on Form 20-F (“Annual Report”) references to

PR AN 1Y 23 &

* “Manchester United,” “the Company,” “our Company,” “our business,” “we,” “us” and “our”
are, as the context requires, to Manchester United plc together with its consohdated subsidiaries
as a consohdated entity, for all periods following the reorganization transactions (see below),
and

 “we,” “us” and “our” for periods prior to the reorganization transactions are to Red Football
Shareholder Limited together with 1its consolidated subsidianes as a consohdated entity

Throughout this Form 20-F, we refer to the following footbail leagues and cups
* the Football Association Premier League (the “Premier League™),

» the Emirates FA Cup (the “FA Cup”),

+ the English Football League Cup (the “EFL Cup™),

* the Umion of European Football Associations Champions League (the “Champions League”),
and

» the Umon of European Football Associations Europa League (the “Europa League”)

The term “Matchday” refers to all domestic and European football match day activities from
Manchester United games at Old Trafford, the Manchester United football stadium, along with receipts
for domestic cup (such as the EFL Cup and the FA Cup) games not played at Old Trafford Fees for
arranging other events at the stadium are also included as Matchday revenue

REORGANIZATION TRANSACTIONS AND INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

Before 9 August 2012, we conducted our business through Red Football Shareholder Limited, a
private limited company incorporated i England and Wales, and 1ts subsidianies  Prior to the
reorganization transactions, Red Football Shareholder Limited was a direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of
Red Football LLC, a Delaware limited liabihty company On 30 Apnl 2012, Red Football LLC formed
a wholly-owned subsidiary, Manchester United Ltd , an exempted company with himited hability
incorporated under the Companies Law (2011 Revision) of the Cayman Islands, as amended and
restated from time to tme On 8 August 2012, Manchester United Ltd changed 1ts legal name to
Manchester United plc

On 9 August 2012, Red Football LLC contributed all of the equity interest of Red Footbali
Shareholder Limited to Manchester United plc As a result of these transactions, Red Football
Shareholder Limited became a direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of Red Football Holdings Limited,
which 1s 1 turn, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Manchester United plc and our business 1s now
conducted through Manchester United plc and its subsidiaries We refer to these events throughout this
Annual Report collectively as the “reorgamization transactions

Immediately following the reorgamization transactions, Manchester Umited plc had in issue
124,000,000 Class B ordmary shares and 31,352,366 Class A ordinary shares, totaling 155,352,366
ordinary shares with a total subscribed capital of £75,000 As a result, historic earmings per share
calculations reflect the capital structure of the new parent The reorgamzation transactions have been
treated as a capital reorgamzation In accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”), historic earnings per share calculations and the balance sheet as of 30 June 2012 were
restated retrospectively to reflect the capital structure of the new parent rather than that of the former
parent, Red Football Shareholder Limited




On 10 August 2012, the Company 1ssued 8,333,334 Class A ordmary shares and histed such shares
on the New York Stock Exchange at a price of $14 00 per share (the “IPO™)

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL AND OTHER DATA

We report under IFRS, as 1ssued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the “1ASB”),
and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee interpretations None of the financial
statements were prepared m accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United
States Prnor to the reorganization transactions, we conducted our business through Red Football
Shareholder Limited and its subsidiaries Unless otherwise specifically stated, the historical financial
mformation presented 1n this Annual Report 15 presented for the following entities

+ with respect to the financial information presented as of and for the year ended 30 June 2012,
Red Football Shareholder Limited and 1its consolhidated subsidiaries, and

* with respect to the inancial information presented as of and for the years ended 30 June 2016,
2015, 2014 and 2013, Manchester United plc and 1ts consohidated subsidiaries

(AT E)

All references 1n this Annual Report to (1) “pounds sterhing,” “pence,” “p” or “£” are to the
currency of the United Kingdom, (n) “US dollar,” “USD" or “3” are to the currency of the United
States, and (1) “Euro” or “€” are to the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of
Europecan cconomic and monetary umon pursuant to the treaty establishing the European Community,
as amended

IMPLICATIONS OF BEING AN EMERGING GROWTH COMPANY

We qualify as an “emerging growth company” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups
Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”) An emerging growth company may take advantage of specified reduced
reporting and other burdens that are otherwise applicable generally to public companies These
provisions 1nclude an exemption from the auditor attestation requirement 1n the assessment of our
internal control over financial reporting pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Sarbanes-
Oxley Act”)

We may take advantage of these provisions until we are no longer an emerging growth company
We will cease to be an emerging growth company as of 30 June 2018 or such earlier time 1f we have
more than $1 0 bilhon 1 annual revenue, have more than $700 milhon in market value of our ordinary
shares held by non-affiliates, or ssue more than $1 0 bilion of non-convertible debt over a three-year
period We may choose to take advantage of some but not all of these reduced burdens We have not
taken advantage of any of these reduced reporting burdens 1n this filing other than the exemption from
the auditor attestation requirement pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, although we may choose to do
so 1n future filings

The JOBS Act permits an “emerging growth company” to take advantage of an extended transition
period to comply with new or revised accounting standards applicable to public companies We
previously chose to “opt out” of this provision and, as a result, we are complying, and will continue 10
comply, with new or revised accounting standards as required when they are adopted This decision to
opt out of the extended transition period 1s irrevocable

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report contains estimates and forward-looking statements Our estimates and
forward-looking statements are mainly based on our current expectations and estimates of future events
and trends, which affect or may affect our businesses and operations Although we believe that these
estimates and forward-looking statements are based upon reasonable assumptions, they are subject to
numerous risks and uncertamties and are made 1n light of information currently available to us Many
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important factors, in addition to the factors described n this Annual Report, may adversely affect our
results as indicated 1n forward-looking statements You should read this Annual Report completely and
with the understanding that our actual future results may be matenally different and worse from what
we expect

All statements other than statements of historical fact are forward-looking statements The words
may,” “might,” “will,” “could,” “would,” “should,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “seek,”
“believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential,” “continue,” “contemplate,” “possible” and similar words
are intended to 1dentify esimates and forward-looking statements

“
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Our estimates and forward-looking statements may be influenced by vanous factors, including
without limitation

* our dependence on the performance and populanty of our first team,

« mamtainmg, enhancing and protecting our brand and reputation, particularly in new markets, in
order to expand our follower and sponsorship base,

* our reliance on European competitions as a source of future mcome,
* the negotiation and pricing of key media contracts outside our contral,
* actions taken by other Premier League clubs that are contrary to our interests,

* the potential impact of the United Kingdom’s decision to exit from the European Union on the
movement of players or other regulations,

* our ability to attract and retain key personnel, including players, in an increasingly competitive
market with increasing salarnies and transfer fees,

« our abilty to execute a digital media strategy that generates the revenue we anticipate,
* our ability to meet growth expectations and properly manage such anticipated growth,

* our ability to maintain, train and build an effective mternational sales and marketing
mfrastructure, and manage the risks associated with such an expansion,

« our ability to renew or replace key commercial agreements on sumilar or better terms, or attract
new sponsors,

* pur exposure to credit related losses in connection with key media, commercial and transfer
contracts,

* our relationship with the various leagues to which we belong and the application of their
respective rules and regulations,

* our relationship with merchandising, licensing, sponsor and other commercial partners,
* maintaining our match attendance at Old Trafford,

* our exposure to increased competition, both 1n football and the various commercial markets 1n
which we do business,

*» any natural disastets, terrorist incidents or other events beyond our control that adversely affect
our operations,

the effect of adverse economic conditions on our operations,

uncertainty with regard to exchange rates, our tax rate and our cash flow,

our ability to adequately protect agamnst media piracy and 1dentity theft of our follower account
information,

v




* our exposure to the effects of seasonality 1n our business,
* the effect of our indebtedness on our financial health and competitive position,
* our ability to compete 1n our industry and with innovation by our competitors,

* estimates and estimate methodologies used 1n preparnng our consolidated financial statements,
and

*+ the future trading prices of our Class A ordinary shares and the impact of securities analysts’
reports on these prices

Other sections of this Annual Report include additional factors that could adversely impact our
business and financial performance, principally “Item 3 Key Information—D Rusk Factors ” Moreover,
we operate 1n an evolving environment New nisk factors and uncertainties emerge from time to time
and 1t 15 not possible for our management to prechct all nisk factors and uncertamties, nor can we
assess the impact of all factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of
factors, may cause actual results to differ matenally from those contamned 1n any forward-looking
statements Therefore, you are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking
statements We qualify all of our forward-locking statements by these cautionary statements

MARKET AND INDUSTRY DATA

This Annual Report contains industry, market, and competitive position data that are based on the
mdustry publications and studies conducted by third parties histed below as well as our own internal
estimates and rescarch These industry publications and third-party studies generally state that the
informatron that they contamn has been obtained from sources belicved to be rehable, although they do
not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information While we beheve that each of these
publications and third-party studies 1s rehable, we have not independently venified the market and
industry data obtained from these third-party sources While we believe our internal research 1s reliable
and the definition of our market and industry are appropriate, neither such research nor these
defimtions have been verified by any independent source

References to our “659 million followers” are based on a survey conducted by Kantar Media (a
dvisicn of WPP pic) 1n 2011 and paid for by us As i the survey conducted by Kantar Media, we
define the term “followers” as those individuals who answered survey questions, unprompted, with the
answer that Manchester United was either thewr favorite football team 1n the world or a football team
that they enjoyed followimg 1n addition to thewr favorite football team For example, we and Kantar
Media included in the definition of “follower™ a respondent who either watched hive Manchester
United matches, followed highlights coverage or read or talked about Manchester United regularly
Although the survey solicited unprompted responses, we do not distinguish between those respondents
who answered that Manchester United was their favorite football team 1n the world and those who
enjoy following Manchester United 1n addition to therr favorite football team Since we believe that
cach of our followers engage with our brand in some capacity, including through watching matches on
television, attending matches live, buying retaill merchandise or momtoring the team’s highlights on the
internet, we believe 1dentifying our followers i this manner provides us with the best data to use for
purposes of developing our business strategy and measuring the penetration of our brand However, we
expect there to be differences in the level of engagement with our brand between individuals, including
among those who consider Manchester United to be their favorite team, as well as between those who
enjoy following Manchester United We have not idenufied any practical way to measure these
differences in consumer behavior and any references to our followers in this Annual Report should be
viewed 1n that hight

This nternei-based survey 1dentified Manchester United as a supported team of 659 milhon
followers (and the favorite football team of 277 million of those followers} and was based on 53,287




respondents from 39 countries around the world In order to calculate our 659 million followers from
the 53,287 responses, Kantar Media applied estimates and assumptions to certain factors including
population size, country specific characteristics such as wealth and GDP per cap:ta, affinity for sports
and media penetration Kantar Media then extrapolated the results to the rest of the world,
representing an extrapolated adult population of 5 bilion people However, while Kantar Media
believes the extrapolation methodology was robust and consistent with consumer research practices, as
with all surveys, there are mherent hmitations 1n extrapolating survey results to a larger population than
those actually surveyed As a result of these limitations, our number of followers may be significantly
less or significantly more than the extrapolated survey results Kantar Media also extrapolated survey
results to account for non-mternet users in certain of the 39 countries, particularly those with low
internet penetration To do so, Kantar Media had to make assumptions about the preferences and
behaviors of non-internet users n those countrics These assumptions reduced the number of our
followers in those countries and there 1s no guarantee that the assumptions we applied are accurate
Survey results also account only for claimed consumer behavior rather than actual consumer behavior
and as a result, survey results may not reflect real consumer behavior with respect to footbal! or the
consumption of our content and products

In addition to the survey conducted by Kantar Med:a, this Annual Report references the following
mdustry publications and thitrd-party studies

* television viewership data compiled by futures sports + entertainment—Mediabrands
International Limuted for the 2015/16 season (the “Futures Data”), and

* a paper published by AT Kearney, Inc 1n 2014 entitled “Winning 1n the Business of Sports”
(“AT Kearney™)
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PART I
ITEM 1. IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND ADVISERS
Not applicable

ITEM 2. OFFER STATISTICS AND EXPECTED TIMETABLE
Not applicable

ITEM 3. KEY INFORMATION
A. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

We prepare our consohidated financial statements i accordance with IFRS as 1ssued by the 1ASB
The selected conselidated financial data (including income statement, other and balance sheet data)
presented as of and for the years ended 30 June 2016, 2015, 2014, 2013 and 2012 has been derived
from our audited consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto (our audited consolidated
financial statements as of 30 June 2014, 2013 and 2012 and for the years ended 30 June 2013 and 2012
are not included n this Annual Report) Our histonical results for any prior perniod are not necessarily
indicative of results expected 1n any future period

Before 9 August 2012, we conducted our business through Red Football Shareholder Limited and
its subsidhanes, and therefore our historical financial statements as of and for the year ended 30 June
2012 present the results of operations and financial position of Red Football Shareholder Limited
unless otherwise specifically noted Following the reorganization transactions, we have conducted our
business through Manchester United ple and 1ts consolidated subsidianies, and therefore our historical
financial statements as of and for the years ended 30 June 2016, 2015, 2014 and 2013 present the
results of operations and financial position of Manchester United plc and 1ts consolidated subsidiaries
Manchester United plc’s historical financial statements prior to the reorganization transactions are the
same as Red Football Sharcholder Limited’s financial statements prior to the reorganization
transactions, as adjusted for the reorganization transactions The reorganization transactions have been
reflected retroactively in Manchester United plc’s earmings/{loss) per share calculations

The selected historical financial information presented 1n the tables below should be read 1n
conmjunction with, and 1s qualified n 1ts entirety by reference to, our audited consohdated financial
statements and accompanying notes The audited consclidated financial statements and the
accompanying notes as of 30 June 2016 and 2015 and for the years ended 30 June 2016, 2015 and 2014
have been included 1n this Annual Report




Unless otherwise specified, all financial information included n this Annual Report has been

stated 1n pounds sterling

Income Statement Data:
Revenue

Analyzed as
Commercial revenue
Broadcasting revenue
Matchday revenue

Operating expenses—before exceptional items

Analyzed as
Employee benefit expenses
Other operating expenses
Depreciation
Amortization
Operating expenses—exceptional rems

Total operating expenses

Operating profit before (loss)/profit on disposal
of mtangible assets

(Loss)/profit on disposal of intangible assets

Operating profit

Finance costs
Finance income

Net finance costs

Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before tax
Tax (expense)/credit

Profit/(loss) for the year

Attributable to
Owners of the parent
Non-controlhing interest
Weighted average number of ordinary sharcs
{thousands)
Diluted weighted average number of ordmary
shares (thousands)
Basic earmings/(loss) per share (pence)
Diluted earnmings/(toss) per share (pence}(2)

Year ended 30 June

2016

2015

2014

2013

2012

(£'000, unless otherwise indicated)

515,345 395,178 433,164 363,189 320,320
268,318 196,931 189,315 152,441 117,611
140,440 107,664 135,746 101,625 103,991
106,587 90,583 108,103 109,123 98,718

(421,574) (384,843) (367,056) (304,120) (274,411)

(232,242) (202,561) (214,803) (180,523) (161,688)
(91,244) (72,271) (88,298) (74,114) (66,983)
(10,079) (10,324)  (8665) (7,769)  (7.478)
(88,009) (99,687) (55200) (41,714) (38,262)
(15135)  (2.336)  (5,184)  (6217) (10,728)

(436,709) (387,179) (372,240) (310,337) (285,139)

78,636 7,999 60924 52852 35,181
(9,786) 23,649 6,991 9,162 9,691
68,850 31,648 67915 62,014 44,872
(20,459) (35,419) (27,668) (72,082) (50,315)
442 204 256 1,275 779
(20017) (35215) (27,412) (70,807) (49,536)
48,833 (3,567) 40503  (8,793)  (4.664)
(12,462) 2,672  (16,668) 155212 27,977
36,371 (895) 23,835 146419 23,313
36,371 (895) 23,835 146250 22,986
_ _ — 169 327
163,890 163,795 163,814 162,895  155,352(1)
164,319 164,132 163,893 162,895  155,352(1)
219 (055) 1455 89 78 14 80(1)
2213 (055) 1454 89 78 14 80(1)

(1) As adjusted to retroactively reflect the reorgamzation transactions described on page u of this

Annual Report

(2) For the year ended 30 June 2015, potenuial ordinary shares are anti-dilutive, as thewr inclusion 1n
the diluted loss per share calculation would reduce the loss per share, and hence have been
excluded For the years ended 30 June 2016, 2014, 2013, and 2012, potential ordinary shares have




been treated as dilutive, as their inclusion mn the dituted earnings per share calculation decreases

earnings per share

Other Data:

Commercial revenue 268,318 196,931 189,315 152,441 117,611
Analyzed as
Sponsorship revenue 160,110 154,840 135,835 90,865 63,121
Retail, merchandising, apparel & products
licensing revenue 97,338 31,652 37,512 38,609 33,787
Mobile & Content revenue 10,870 10,439 15,968 22,967 20,703
Dividends declared per share ($) 018 - — — -—
Dimvidends declared per share (£) 012 — — — —
As of 30 June
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
(£'000, unless otherwise indicated)
Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents 229,194 155,752 66,365 94,433 70,603
Total assets 1,451,903 1,301,588 1,215,711 1,118,311 947,148
Total habilihies 993,621 823,670 717,061 670,351 712,051
Total equity 458,282 477,918 498,650 447,960 235,097
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 458,282 477,918 498,650 447,960 237,100
Season
2015/16  2014/15  2013/14  2012/13 201112
Games Played:
Premier League 38 38 38 38 38
European Games 12 — 10 8 10
Domestic Cups 9 6 6 8 5

Exchange Rate Information

Our functional and reporting currency 1s pounds sterling and substantially all of our costs are
denominated 1n pounds sterling However, any Broadcasting revenue from our participation
European competitions, as well as certain other revenue, 1s generated 1n Euros We aiso occasionally
enter 1nto transfer agreements which are payable 1n Euros In addition, we have currency exposure

agamnst the US dollar relating to our US dollar denominated secured term loan facility and our 3 79%
senior secured notes due 2027 (the “2027 Notes”) and our Commercial revenue from certain spansors
For all dates and periods, the exchange rate refers to the exchange rate as set forth i the H 10
statistical release of the Federal Reserve Board The rates represent the noon buying rate 1n New York
for cable transfers payable 1n foreign currencies These rates may differ from the actual rates used in
the preparation of the financial statements and other financial information appearing in this Annual
Report Inclusion of these exchange rates 1s not meant to suggest that the US dollar amounts actually
represent such pounds sterling amounts or that such amounts could have been or could be converted
into US dollars at any particular rate, or at all On 7 September 2016, the exchange rate was $1 33 to
£100




The following table sets forth information concerning exchange rates between the pounds sterling
and the US dollar for the perieds indicated These rates are provided solely for convenience

Noon Buying Rate

Penod Period End  Average(l) Low  High

Gpergloo)
Fiscal Year 2012 157 159 153 166
Fiscal Year 2013 152 157 149 163
Fiscal Year 2014 170 163 148 171
Fiscal Year 2015 157 157 146 172
Fiscal Year 2016 1327 147 132 157
March 2016 144 142 139 145
Apnl 2016 146 143 141 146
May 2016 145 145 144 147
June 2016 132 142 132 148
July 2016 133 131 129 133
August 2016 . 131 131 129 133
September 2016 (through 8 September 2016) 133 133 132 133

Source Federal Reserve Bank of New York and Federal Reserve Statistical Release

(1) Fiscal year averages were calculated by using the average of the exchange rates on the last day of
each month during the relevant period Monthly averages are calculated by using the average of
the daily rates during the relevant month

B. CAPITALIZATION AND INDEBTEDNESS
Not applicable

C. REASONS FOR THE OFFER AND USE OF PROCEEDS
Not applicable

D RISK FACTORS

Investment in our Class A ordinary shares involves a ligh degree of nsk We expect to be exposed to
some or all of the nsks descnbed befow 11 our future operations Any of the nsk factors described below, as
well as addiional risks of which we are not currently aware, could affect our business operations and have
a matenal adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financwal condion, cash flow and prospects
and cause the value of our shares to decline Moreover, tIf and to the extent that any of the risks described
below matenalize, they may occur in combination with other nsks which would compound the adverse effect
of such nsks on our business, results of operations, financial condition, cash flow and prospects

Risks Related to Our Business

If we are unable to maintain and enhance our brand and reputation, particularly tn new markets, or if events
occur that damage our brand and reputation, our ability to expand our follower base, sponsors, and
commercial partners or to sell significant quantities of our products may be mpaired.

The success of our business depends on the value and strength of our brand and reputation Qur
brand and reputation are also mtegral to the implementation of our strategtes for expanding our
follower base, sponsors and commercial partners To be successful in the future, particularly outside of
Europe, we believe we must preserve, grow and leverage the value of our brand across all of our
revenue streams For instance, we have in the past experienced, and we expect that 1n the future we




will continue to receive, a hugh degree of media coverage Unfavorable pubhicity regarding our first
team’s performance 1n league and cup competitions or their behavior off the field, our ability to attract
and retain certain players and coaching staff or actions by or changes i our ownership could negatively
affect our brand and reputation Failure to respond effectively to negative publicity could also further
erode our brand and reputation In addition, events 1n the football industry, even if unrelated to us,
may negatively affect our brand or reputation As a result, the size, engagement and loyalty of our
follower base and the demand for our products may decline Damage to our brand or reputation or
loss of our followers’ commitment for any of these reasons could mmpair our ability to expand our
follower base, sponsors and commercial partners or our ability to selt sigmificant quantities of our
products, which would result in decreased revenue across our revenue streams and have a matenal
adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flow, as well as
require additional resources to rebuld cur brand and reputation

In addition, maintaining and enhancing our brand and reputation may require us to make
substantial investments We cannot assure you that such mnvestments will be successful Failure to
successfully maintain and enhance the Manchester United brand or our reputation or excessive or
unsuccessful expenses 1n connection with this effort could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flow

Our business 1s dependent upon our ability to attract and retain key personnel, including players

We are highly dependent on members of our management, coaching staff and our players
Competition for talented players and staff 15, and will continue to be, intense Our ability to attract and
retain the highest quality players for our first team, reserve team and youth academy as well as
coaching staff 1s critical to our first team’s success n league and cup competitions and increasing
popularnty and, consequently, critical to our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash
flow Qur success and many achievements over the last twenty years does not necessarilly mean that we
will continue to be successful i the future, whether as a result of changes in player personnel, coaching
stafl or otherwise A downturn n the performance of our first teamn could adversely affect our ability to
attract and retain coaches and players Further, there could be potential changes to European
regulations relating to the movement of players between the UK and the European Union as a result
of the recent national referendum 1n the United Kingdom where a majority of voters elected to
withdraw from the European Umon In addition, our popularity in certain countries or regions may
depend, at least 1n part, on fielding certain players from those countries or regions While we enter into
employment contracts with each of our key personnel with the aim of secuning their services for the
term of the contract, the retention of their services for the full term of the contract cannot be
guaranteed due to possible contract disputes or approaches by other clubs Our failure to attract and
retain key personnel could have a negative mmpact on our ability to effectively manage and grow our
business

We are dependent upon the performance and popularity of our first team

Our revenue streams are driven by the performance and populanty of our first team Significant
sources of our revenue are the result of historically strong performances 1n English domestic and
European competitions, specifically the Premier League, the FA Cup, the EFL Cup, the Champions
League and the Europa League Our income varies sigmficantly depending on our first team’s
participation and performance n these competitions Qur first team’s performance affects all five of
Qur revenue streams

* sponsorship revenue through sponsorship relationships,

* retail, merchandising, apparel & product licensing revenue through product sales,




* mobile & content revenue through distnbunion via cur own media platforms and pariner media
platforms,

* broadcasting revenue through the frequency of appearances and performance based share of
league broadcasting revenue and Champions League/Europe League prize money, and

e Matchday revenue through ticket sales

Qur first team currently plays 1n the Premier League, the top football league 1n England Our
performance n the Premier League directly affects, and a weak performance in the Premuier League
could adversely affect, our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flow For
example, our revenue from the sale of products, media rights, tickets and hospitality would fall
considerably 1f our first team were relegated from (or otherwise ceased to play in) the Premier League,
the Champions League or the Europa League

We cannot ensure that our first team will be successful in the Premier League or 1n the other
leagues and tournaments m which it plays Relegation from the Premier League or a general decline 1n
the success of cur first team, particularly in consecutive seasons, would negatively affect our ability to
attract or retain lalented players and coaching staff, as well as supporters, spensors and other
commercial partners, which would have a matenal adverse effect on our business, results of operatons,
financial condition and cash flow

It may not be possible to renew or replace key commercral agreements on sumlar or better terms, or attract
new sponsors

Our Commercial revenue for cach of the years ended 30 June 2016, 2015 and 2014 represented
32 1%, 49 8% and 43 7% of our total revenue, respectively The substantial majority of our Commercial
revenue 1s generated from commercial agreements with our sponsors, and these agreements have finite
terms When these contracts do expire, we may not be able to renew or replace them with contracts on
similar aor better terms or at all Qur most important commercial contracts include contracts with
global, regional, mobile, media and supplier sponsors representing mdustries including financial
services, automotive, beverage, airline, umepiece, betting and telecommunications, which typically have
contract terms of two to five years

If we fail to renew or replace these key commercial agreements on stmilar or better terms, we
could experience a material reduction in our Commercial revenue Such a reduction could have a
material adverse effect on our overall revenue and our ability to continue to compete with the top
football clubs 1n England and Europe

As part of our business plan, we mtend to continue to grow our commercial portfolio by
developing and expanding our geographic and product categorized approach, which will include
partnering with additional sponsors and mobile and media operators We may not be able to
successfully execute our business plan in prometing our brand to attract new sponsors We cannot
assure you that we will be successful 1n implementing our business plan or that our Commercial
revenue will continue to grow at the same rate as it has in the past or at all Any of these events could
negatively affect our ability to achieve our development and commercialization goals, which could have
a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flow

Negotwation and pricing of key media contracts are outside our control and those contracts may change in the

Juture

For each of the years ended 30 June 2016, 2015 and 2014, 22 3%, 1 9% and 29 0% of our
Broadcasting revenue, respectively, was generated from the media nghts for UEFA matches, and
68 2%, 89 7% and 65 5% of our Broadcasting revenue, respectively, was generated from the media
nghts for Premier League matches Contracts for these media nights and certain other revenue for




those competstions (both domestically and internationally) are negotiated collectively by the Premuer
League and the Umon of European Football Associations (“UEFA”) respectively We are not a party to
the contracts negotiated by the Premier League and UEFA Further, we do not participate 1n and
therefore do not have any direct influence on the outcome of contract negotiations As a result, we
may be subject to media nghts contracts with media distributors with whom we may not otherwise
contract or media rights contracts that are not as favorable to us as we might otherwise be able to
negotiate mdividually with media distributors Furthermore, the hmited number of media distributors
bidding for Premier League and Champions League meda rights may result in reduced prices paiwd for
those rights and, as a result, a decline in revenue received from our meda contracts

In addition, although an agreement has been reached for the sale of Premuer League domestic
broadcasting rights through the end of the 2018/19 football season and for the sale of Champions
League broadcasting rights through the end of the 2017/18 football seasaon, future agreements, may not
maintain our current level of Broadcasting revenue Moreover, if international broadcasting revenue
becomes an increasingly large portion of total revenue for the Premier League, a single club’s domestic
success and resulting revenue may be outweighed by international media nights, which are distributed
among all Premuer League clubs in even proportion As a result, aside from facilitating access to the
Champions League, success of our first team 1n the Premier League could become less of an overall
competitive advantage !

Future intervention by the European Commuisston, the European Court of Justice (the “ECJ”), UK
authorities, or other competent authonties and courts having jurisdiction may also have a negative
effect on our revenue from media nights in the European Economic Area (“EEA’) It 1s likely that
there will be future regulatory mtervention by the European Comnussion relating to the grant of
exclusive licenses of content on a ternitorial basis within the EEA 1nsofar as they prohibit or Iimit the
cross-border provision by satellite or internet transmussion of retail pay-TV services (so-called “passive
sales”) Following the cases of the Premuer League & others vs QC Lewsure & Others / Karen Murphy
vs Media Protection Services (under which the ECJ ruled that any agreement designed to guarantee
absolute terntonal exclusivity within the European Union (1e by stopping any cross-border provision of
broadcasting services m response to unsolicited requests from consumers) was deemed to be
anti-competitive and prohibited by EU law including, 1n particular, competition rules), the EU began
an investigation 1n January 2014 into exclusive licensing arrangements as between the US Studios and
various platforms in Europe (the major platform m each of the five largest EU Member States}) On
23 July 2015, the EU followed up with a Statement of Objections in Case 40023 “Cross-border access
to pay-TV” which set out 1ts preliminary view that 1n relation to these studios and Sky UK, where there
are provisions which require Sky UK to block or himit access to films through geo-blocking 1ts online
services or through 1ts satellite pay-TV services 1o consumers outside of the UK and Ireland {and thus
prevent Sky UK from responding to passive sales requests), these provisions would ehiminate cross-
border competition and constitute a violation of EU rules While the Statement of Objections 15 aimed
at the US Studios and Sky UK, the European Commission 1s carrying out parallel investigations 1nto
cross-border access to pay-TV services 1n France, Italy, Germany and Spain Equally, while the
mvestigations have been targeted at film content, the decision 1s very likely to be applicable to any
pay-TV content, including sport More recently, on 22 Apnl 2016, the Commission announced that
Paramount, while not agreeing with the concerns expressed mn the Statement of Objections, had offered
to settle the case by offering a series of commutments, including an undertaking not to enter into
pay-TV agreements that prohibit their licensees from responding to passive sales requests The
commitments cover both hinear pay-TV services and, to the extent included in the license (or separate
hicense(s)) with a broadcaster, subscription videc-on-demand services Interested parties were given
until 21 May 2016 to comment on the proposed settlement In addition to this regulatory action, the
EU as part of 1ts Digital Single Market (“DSM”} strategy, an element of which 1s to ensure that users
who buy access to audio-visual content onhine, has proposed a regulation designed to enable consumers
to access their content services while travelling across Europe (so-called “portability”) The Portabihity




Regulation will likely be adopted by the end of 2016 or early 2017 and enter into force 12 months later
As part of the DSM mtauve, the EC s also looking to modernize EU copynight rules to allow for
wider access to online content across the EU, including by extending rights clearance mechamisms n
the Satellite and Cable Durective In particular 1t 1s expected that the Commussion will propose that the
country of ornigin principle be extended to online broadcast services In practice this would mean that
licenses for simulcast and catch-up nights, for example, for the UK would be construed as covering the
entire EEA This draft legislation 1s expected for 21 September 2016 A change of sales model could
negatively affect the amount which copyright holders, such as the Premier League, are able 1o derive
from the exploitation of rights within the EU  As a result, our Broadcasting revenue from the sale of
those nghts could decrease

In November 2014, following a complaint by Virgin Media, Ofcom (the communications regulator
m the UK) opened an investigation under section 25 of the Competitton Act 1998 1nto the joint selling
arrangements by the Premier League for live, UK audio-visual media rights for Premuer League
football matches In August 2016, Ofcom decided to close the investigation, with immediate effect, on
the basis that it no longer met their admimstrative priorities

European competitions cannot be relied upon as a source of tncome.

Qualification for the Champions League 1s dependent upon our first team’s performance i the
Premier League and, 1in some circumstances, the Champions League utself in the previous season
Qualification for the Champions League cannot, therefore, be guaranteed Failure to quahfy for the
Champions League would result in a matenal reduction in revenue for each season in which our first
team did not participate To help mitigate this impact the majority of playing contracts for our first
team squad include step-ups 1 remuneration which are contingent on participation 1n the group stage
of the Champion League As a result of our first team performance during the 2013/14 season, our first
team did not participate 1n the 2014/15 Champions League or 2014/15 UEFA Europa League Inclusive
of broadcasting revenue, prize money and Matchday revenue, our combined broadcasting and
Matchday revenue from participation m European competitions was £41 6 million, £1 9 mullion (being
distnibutions from UEFA relaung to the previous season’s competition} and £49 4 million for each of
the years ended 30 June 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively As a result of our first team performance
during the 2015/16 season, our first team will not participate 1n the 2016/17 Champions League but will
participate 1 the 2016/17 UEFA Europa League

In addition, our participation 1n the Champions l.eague or Europa League may be influenced by
factors beyond our control For example, the number of places in each league available to the clubs of
each national football association in Europe can vary from year to year based on a ranking system If
the performance of English clubs in Europe declines, the number of places in each European
competition available to English clubs may decline and 1t may be more difficult for our first team to
qualify for European competition in future seasons Further, the rules governing qualification for
European competitions (whether at the European or national level) may change and make 1t more
difficult for our first team to qualify for European competition 1n future seasons

We are a founder member and our Executive Vice Chairman has a seat on the executive board of
the European Club Associaticn (“ECA”), an independent organization set up to work with football
governing bodies to protect and promote the interests of football clubs at European level

On August 26, 2016, following consultation between UEFA, the ECA and other stakeholders,
UEFA announced certain changes to the format of the UEFA Champions League and UEFA Europa
League to take place with effect from the 3 year cycle 2018/19 to 2020/21 The key changes relate to
the access list for both competitions and the methodology for financiat distributions With respect 1o
the Champions League, the top four clubs from the four top-ranked national associations {(of which
England 1s currently one) will now qualify automatically for the group stage of the Champions League




which compares (for England) to only three qualifying automaucally at the moment with a fourth
entering the final play-off round With respect to the financial distnbution methodelogy, in addition to
the current three-pillar system (starting fee, performance fees and market pool), UEFA 1s introducing a
fourth pillar being the individual club coefficient The individual club coefficient will be determmed by
reference to past performance in UEFA competitions over a ten year period but also acknowledging
historical success as winners of UEFA competitions

In addition, a new subsidiary company will be created by UEFA with the aim of determining the
strategy for the management of UEFA club competitions 1n the future Half of the board of directors
will be appointed by UEFA and the other half by the ECA

Moreover, because of the prestige associated with parucipating in the European competitions,
particularly the Champions League, failure to qualify for any European competition, particularly for
consecutive seasons, would negatively affect our ability to attract and retamn talented players and
coaching staff, as well as supporters, sponsors and other commercial partners Failure to participate in
the Champions League for two or more consecutive seasons would also reduce annual payments under
the agreement with adidas by 30% of the applicable payment for the year in which the second or other
consecutive season of non-participation falls Any one or mere of these events could have a matenal
adverse effect on our business, results of operation, financial condition and cash flow

Our business depends in part on relatonships with certain third parties.

We consider the development of our commercial assets to be central to our ongoing business plan
and a dniver of future growth For example, our current contract with adidas that began with the
2015/16 season provides them with certain global technical sponsorship and dual-branded licensing
nghts While we expect 10 be able to continue to execute our business plan in the future with the
support of adidas, we remain subject lo these contractual provisions and our business plan could be
negatively impacted by non-complhiance or poor execution of our strategy by adidas Further, any
interruption 1n our ability to obtain the services of adidas or other third parties or deterioration in thesr
performance could negatively impact this portion of our operations Furthermore, if our arrangement
with adidas 15 terminated or modified against our interest, we may not be able to find alternative
solutions for this portion of our business on a timely basis or on terms favorable to us or at all

In the future, we may enter into additional arrangements permitting third parties to use our brand
and trademarks Although we take steps to carefully select our partners, such arrangements may not be
successful Our partners may fail to fulfil their obligations under their agreements or have nterests that
differ from or conflict with our own For example, we are dependent on our sponsors and commercial
partners to effectively implement quality controls over products using our brand and/or trademarks
The matlity of such sponsors and commercial partners to meet our quahty standards could negatively
affect consumer confidence 1n the quality and value of our brand, which could result in lower product
sales Any one or more of these events could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operation, financial condition and cash flow

We are exposed to credit related losses in the event of non-performance by counterparties to Premier League
and UEFA meda contracts as well as our key commercial and transfer contracts

We derive the substantial majonty of our Broadcasting revenue from media contracts negotiated by
the Premier League and UEFA with media distributers, and although the Premier League obtans
guarantees to support certam of its media contracts, typically 1n the form of letters of credit 1ssued by
commercial banks, 1t remains our single largest credit exposure We denve our Commercial and
sponsorship revenue from certam corporate sponsors, including global, regional, mobile, media and
supplier sponsors {which includes new businesses operating in emerging markets) 1n respect of which
we may manage our credit risk by secking advance payments, installments and/or bank guarantees




where appropriate The substantial majority of this revenue 15 derived from a limited number of
sources During the year ended 30 June 2016, those sources that represented greater than 10% of our
total revenue were

* Premuer League 19 4% of our total revenue
* adidas 14 1% of our total revenue
* General Motors (Chevrolet) 11 4% of our total revenue

We are also exposed to other football clubs globally for the payment of transfer fees on players
Depending on the transaction, some of these fees are paxd to us 1n mnstallments We try to manage our
credit risk with respect to those clubs by requirning payments i advance or, in the case of payments on
installment, requiring bank guarantees on such payments 1n certain circumstances However, we cannot
ensure these efforts will eliminate our credit exposure to other clubs A change 1n credit quality at one
of the media broadcasters for the Premier League or UEFA, one of our sponsors or a club to whom
we have sold a player can increase the risk that such counterparty 1s unable or unwilling to pay
amounts owed to us The failure of a major television broadcaster for the Premier League or
Champions League to pay outstanding amounts owed to 1ts respective league or the faillure of one of
our key sponsors or a club 10 pay outstanding amounts owed to us could have a matenal adverse effect
on our business, results of operations, financial conditton and cash flow

Matchday revenue from our supporters is a significant portion of overall revenue.

A significant amount of our revenue derives from ticket sales and other Matchday revenue for our
first team matches at Old Trafford and our share of gate receipts from domestic cup matches In
particular, the revenue generated from ticket sales and other Matchday revenue at Old Trafford will be
highly dependent on the continued attendance at matches of our individual and corporate supporters as
well as the number of home matches we play each season During each of the 2015/16, 2014/15 and
2013/14 seasons, we played 29, 21 and 28 home maiches, respectively, and our Matchday revenue was
£106 6 mullion, £90 6 million and £108 1 million for the years ended 30 June 2016, 2015 and 2014,
respectively Match attendance 1s influenced by a number of factors, some of which are partly or wholly
outstde of our control These factors include the success of our first team, broadcastung coverage and
general economic conditions m the Unmited Kingdom, which affect personal disposable income and
corporate marketing and hospitality budgets A reduction 1n Matchday attendance could have a
matenal adverse effect on our Matchday revenue and our overall business, results of operations,
financial condition and cash flow

The markets 1n which we operate are highly competitive, both within Europe and internationally, and
tncreased competition could cause our profitabiity to dechine.

We face competition from other football ctubs 1n England and Europe In the Premier League,
recent investment from wealthy team owners has led 1o teams with deep financial backing that are able
to acquire top players and coaching staff, which could result in smproved performance from those
ieams 1 domestic and European competitions As the Premier League continues to grow in populanty,
the interest of wealthy potential owners may increase, leading to additional clubs substanually
improving their financial posiion Competition from European clubs also remains strong Despite the
adoption of the UEFA financial fair play imitiative, a set of financial monitoring rules on clubs
participating 1n the Champions League and Europa League, and the Premier League’s profitability and
sustamability regulations, a simslar set of rules monitoring Premier League clubs, European and
Premier League football clubs are spending substantial sums on transfer fees and player salaries
Competition from mnside and outside the Premuer League has led to higher salanies for our players as
well as increased competittion on the field The increase in competition could result in our first team
fimishing lower 1n the Premier League than we have in the past and jeopardizing our qual:fication for
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or results in European competitions Competition within England could also cause our first team to fail
to advance m the FA Cup and EFL Cup

In addition, from a commercial perspective, we actively compete across many different industries
and within many different markets We believe our primary sources of competition, both in Europe and
internationally, include, but are not hmted to

* other businesses secking corporate sponsorships and commercial partners such as sports teams,
other entertainment events and television and digital media outlets,

* providers of sports apparel and equipment seeking retail, merchandising, apparel & product
llcensmg opportumtles,

» digital content providers seeking consumer attention and leisure time, advertiser income and
consumer e-commerce activity,

* other types of television programnung seeking access to broadcasters and advertiser income, and

*» alternative forms of corporate hospitality and live entertainment for the sale of matchday tickets
such as other live sports events, concerts, festivals, theater and similar events

All of the above forms of competiion could have a matenal adverse effect on any of our five
revenue streams and our overall business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flow

We are subject to special rules and regulations regarding insolvency and bankruptcy.

We are subject to, among other things, special mnsolvency or bankruptcy-related rules of the
Premuer League and the Football Association (the “FA”} Those rules empower the Premier League
board to direct certain payments otherwise due to us to the FA and 1ts members, associate members
and affiliates, certain other English football leagues and certain other entities if 1t 1s reasonably
satisfied that we have failed to pay certan creditors including other football clubs, the Premier League
and the Football League

If we experience financial difficulty, we could also face sanctions under the Premier League rules,
including suspension from the Premier League, European competitions, the FA Cup and certain other
competitions, the deduction of league pomnts from us in the Premier League or Football League and
loss of control of player registrations For example, the Premier League could prevent us from playing,
thereby cutung off our income from ticket sales and putting many of our other sources of revenue at
risk Any of these events could have a materntal adverse effect on our business, results of operation,
financial condition, or cash flow, as well as our ability to meet our financial obhgations

Premier League voting rules may allow other clubs to take action contrary to our interests

The Premuer League 1s governed by 1ts 20 club shareholders with most rule changes requiring the
support of a mimmum of 14 of the clubs This allows a minority of clubs to block changes they view as
unfavorable to thewr mterests In addition, it allows a concerted majonity of the clubs to pass rules that
may be disadvantageous to the remaining six clubs As one of the larger clubs 1n the Premier League 1n
terms of revenue and follower base, we can exert some influence on the rulemaking process, however,
our mterests may not always align with the majonity of clubs and it may be difficult for us to eifect
changes that are advantagecous to us At the same time, 1t 15 possible that other clubs may take action
that we view as contrary to our mterests If the Premier League clubs pass rules that limit our ability to
operate our business as we have planned or otherwise affect the payments made to us, we may be
unable to achieve our goals and strategies or increase our revenue
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Our digital media strategy 1s unproven and may not generate the revenue we anticipate,

We maintain contact with, and provide entertainment to, our global follower base through a
number of digital and other media channels, including the internet, mobile services and social media
While we have attracted a sigmficant number of followers to our digital media assets, including our
website, the future revenue and income potential of our mobile & content business 1s uncertain You
should consider our business and prospects in hght of the challenges, nsks and difficulies we may
encounter 1n this new and rapidly evolving market, including

* our digital media strategy requiring us to provide offerings such as video on demand, highhghts
and nternational memberships that have not previously been a substanuial part of our business,

* our ability to retain our current global follower base, build our follower base and increase
engagement with our followers through our digital media assets,

* our ability to enhance the content offered through our digital media assets and increase our
subscriber base,

* our ability to effectively generate revenue from interaction with our followers through our digial
media assets,

* our ability to attract new sponsors and advertisers, retamn existing sponsors and advertisers and
demonstrate that our digital media assets will delver value to them,

* our ability to develop our digital media assets in a cost effective manner and operate our digital
media services profitably and securely,

* our ability to identfy and capitalize on new digital media busmess opportunities, and
* our ability to compete with other sports and other media for users’ time

In addition, as we expand our digital and other media channels, including the internet, mobile
services and social media, revenue from our other business sectors may decrease, including our
Broadcasting revenue Moreover, the increase 1n subscriber base 1in some of these digital and other
media channels may hmit the growth of the subscniber base and populanty of other channels Failure to
successfully address these risks and difficulties could affect our overall business, financial condition,
results of operations, cash flow, hquidity and prospects

Serious tnyuries to or losses of playing staff may affect our performance, and therefore our results of
operations and financial condition

Inmurnies to members of the playing staff, particularly if career-threaterung or career-ending, could
have a detrimental effect on our business Such 1mjuries could have a negative effect upon our first
team’s performance and may also result in a loss of the income that would otherwise have resulted
from a transfer of that player’s registration In addition, depending on the circumstances, we may write
down the carrymng value of a player on our balance sheet and record an impairment charge 1n our
operating expenses to reflect any losses resulting from career-threatening or career-ending injures to
that player Our strategy 1s to mantam a squad of first team players sufficient to mitigate the risk of
player injunies However, this strategy may not be sufficient to mitigate all financial losses 1n the event
of an mjury, and as a result such mjury may affect the performance of our first team, and therefore our
business, results of operations financial condition and cash flow

Inability to renew our wnsurance policies could expose us to significant losses

We insure agamst the death, permanent disablement and travel-related injunies of members of our
first team, although not at such player’s market value Moreover, we do not carry insurance against
career-ending njuries to our players sustained while playing or training We also carry non-player
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related msurance typical for our business (including habibity, business mterruption and terrorism
mnsurance) When any of our insurance policies expire, it may not be possible to renew them on the
same terms, or at all In such circumstances, some of our businesses andfor assets may be umnsured If
any of these umnsured businesses or assets were to suffer damage, we could suffer a financial loss Our
most valuable tangible asset 1s Old Trafford An nab:ility to renew nsurance policies covening our
players, Old Trafford, the Aon Traiming Complex or other valuable assets could expose us to significant
losses

Furthermore, although the Fédération Internationale de Football Association (“FIFA™} now
provides mnsurance coverage for loss of wages for players injured while playing for their senior national
team m a match played under the FIFA international match calendar, our msurance policies do not
cover our players duning those penods and, under FIFA rules, national football associations are not
obliged to provide insurance coverage for players on international duty

Our international expansion and operations n foreign markets expose us to risks associated with international
sales and operations

We intend to continue to expand internationally and operate 1n select foreign markets Managing a
global orgamization 1s difficult, time consuming and expensive Our nexperience in operating the club’s
businesses globally increases the risk that any future international expansion efforts that we may
undertake will not be successful In addition, conducting international operations subjects us to risks
such as the lack of familiartty with and unexpected changes n foreign regulatory requirements,
difficulties in managing and staffing international operations, fluctuations in currency exchange rates,
potentially adverse tax consequences, including foreign value added tax systems, and restrictions on
repatriation of earmings, the burdens of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws and legal
standards, increased financial accounting and reporting burdens and complexities, the lack of strong
intellectual property regimes and political, social and economic instability abroad Operating in
international markets also requires significant management attention and financial resources The
investment and additional resources required to establish operations and manage growth in other
countries may not produce desired levels of revenue or profitability

Fluctuations in exchange rates may adversely affect our results of operations

Our functional and reporting currency 1s pounds sterhing and substantially all of our cosis are
denominated 1n pounds sterling However, Broadcasting revenue from our participation in UEFA
competitions, as well as certain other revenue, 1s generated 1n Euros We also occasionally enter into
transfer agreements or commercial partner agrecments which are payable in Euros In addition, we
have US dollar currency exposure relating to our secured term loan faciity and semor secured notes as
well as Commeraial revenue from certain sponsors We hedge the foreign exchange risk on a portion of
our future US dollar revenues using a portion of our US dollar denominated secured term loan facihity
and semor secured notes as the hedging mstrument For the year ended 30 June 2016, we recorded a
foreign exchange loss 1n our mmcome statement on our unhedged US dollar denominated secured term
loan fac:lity and semor secured notes of £4 1 milhon (2015 loss of £0 3 million, 2014 loss of
£2 7 milhon) For the years ended 30 June 2016, 2015 and 2014 approximately 7 0%, 1 2% and 9 1% of
our total revenue was generated in Euros, respectively, and approximately 24 0%, 30 3% and 19 7% of
our total revenue was generated 1 US dollars, respectively 'We may also enter into foreign exchange
contracts to hedge a portion of this transactional exposure We offset the value of our non-sterling
revenue and the value of the corresponding hedge before including such amounts 1n our overall
revenue Qur results of operations have i the past and will in the future fluctuate due to movements
In cxchange rates

13




Fatlure to adequately protect our intellectual property and curb the sale of counterfeit merchandise could
injure our brand

Like other popular brands, we are suscepuible to instances of brand infringement (such as
counterferting and other unauthorized uses of our intellectual property rights) We seek to protect our
brand assets by ensuring that we own and control certamn ntellectual property rights 1n and to those
assets and, where appropnate, by enforcing those intellectual property rnights For example, we own the
copynight 1 our logo, and our logo and trade name are registered as trademarks (or are the subject of
applications for registration) 1n a number of junisdictions 1in Europe, Asia Pacific, Africa, North
Amenca and South America However, 1t 15 not possible to detect all instances of brand infringement
Additionally, where mnstances of brand infringement are detected, we cannot guarantee that such
instances will be prevented as there may be legal or factual circumstances which give nise to uncertainty
as to the validity, scope and enforceabtulity of our intellectual property rights in the brand assets
Furthermore, the laws of certain countries in which we hicense our brand and conduct operanions,
particularly those in Asia (such as China) may not offer the same level of protection to intellectual
property rights holders as those in the United Kingdom, the rest of Europe and the United States, or
the time required te enforce our intellectual property nghts under these legal regimes may be lengthy
and delay recovery For example, the unauthonzed use of intellectual property 1s common and
widespread in China and enforcement of mtellectual property rights by Chinese regulatory agencies 1s
inconsisient If we were to fail or be unable to secure, protect, maintam and/or enforce the intellectual
property rights which vest 1in our brand assets, then we could lose our exclusive right to exploit such
brand assets Infringement of cur trademark, copyright and other intellectual property rights could have
an adverse effect on our business We also license our intellectual property rights to third parties In an
effort to protect cur brand, we enter into licensing agreements with these third parties which govern
the use of our ntellectual property and which require our licensees to abide by quabty control
standards with respect to such use Although we make efforts to police our licensees’ use of our
intellectual property, we cannot assure you that these efforts will be sufficient to ensure their
compliance The failure of our licensees to comply with the terms of their licenses could have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flow

We could be negatively affected 1f we fail to adequately protect follower account wnformation

We collect and process personal data (including name, address, age, bank details and other
personal data) from our followers, customers, members, suppliers, business contacts and employees as
part of the operation of our business (including online merchandising), and therefore we must comply
with data protection and privacy laws 1n the United Kingdom and, in certain situatrons, other
jurisdictions where our followers reside Those laws impose certain requirements on us in respect of the
collection, use and processing of personal information relating to our followers In addition, we are
exposed to the risk that the personal data we control could be wrongfully accessed and/or used,
whether by employees, followers or other third parties, or otherwise lost or disclosed or processed in
breach of data protection regulations If we or any of the third party service providers on which we rely
fail to process such personal data in a lawful or secure manner or if any theft or loss of personal
follower data were to occur, we could face hability under data protection laws, including requirements
to destroy customer 1nformation or notify the people to whom such information relates of any
non-compliance as well as civil or ciminal sanctions This could also result in the loss of the goodwill
of our followers and deter new followers Each of these factors could harm our business reputation, our
brand and have a matenal adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition,
cash flow and prospects
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Priracy and llegal live streaming may adversely tmpact our broadcasting and mobile & content revenue

For each of the years ended 30 June 2016, 2015 and 2014, Broadcasting revenue constituted
273%, 27 3% and 31 3%, respectively, of our total revenue Our Broadeasting revenue 1s principally
generated by the broadcasting of our matches on pay and free-to-air television channels as well as
content delivered over the mternet and through our own television channel, MUTV In recent years,
prracy and illegal hve streaming of subscription content over the internet has caused, and 1s continuing
to cause, lost revenue to media distributors showing our matches For example, the Premier League
previously imtiated litigation aganst Google and YouTube for facilitating piracy and 1iltegal streaming of
subscription content While this hitigation matter has been settled there can be no guarantee that this
or similar actions will prevent or limit future piracy or illegal streamung of subscniption content If these
trends increase or continue unabated, they could pose a risk to subscription tetevision services The
result could be a reduction in the value of our share of football broadcasting rights and of our online
and MUTYV services, which could have a matenal adverse effect on our business, results of operations,
financial condition and cash flow

Our operating results may fluctuate due to seasonality

Our operating results are subject to seasonal vanation, limiting the overall comparability and
predictability of interim financial periods The seasonality of our operating results 1s primarily
attributable to the number of games played in each financial period and therefore Matchday and
Broadcasting revenue recognized Similarly, certain of our costs derive from hosting games at Qld
Trafford, and these costs will also vary based on the number of games played in the period We have
historically generated higher revenue in the second and third quarters of our fiscal year Our business
might be affected by our first team reaching the later stages of European and domestic competitions,
which would generate significant additional Broadcasting and Matchday revenue during the fourth
quarter of our fiscal years Our cash flow may also vary among interim periods due to the timing of
significant payments from major commercial agreements As a result, our mtenm results and any
quarterly financial information that we publish should not be viewed as an indicator of our
performance for the fiscal year

We are subject to a greater tax rate than in previous years

During the year ended 30 June 2012, our principal operating subsidiaries were tax residents in the
United Kingdom For the year ended 30 June 2012, we were subject to a weighted UK statutory tax
rate of 25 5% Following the reorganization transactions in 2012, although we are orgamzed as a
Cayman Islands exempted company, we report as a US domestic corporation for US federal mncome tax
purposes and we are subject to US federal income tax (currently at a statutory rate of 35%) on the
majority of our worldwide 1ncome

In addition, we are subject to mcome and other taxes in various other jurisdictions The amount of
tax we pay 1s subject to our interpretation and application of tax laws n jurisdictions m which we
operate Changes in current or future laws or regulations, or the imposition of new or changed tax laws
or regulations or new related interpretations by taxing authonties in the US or foreign jurisdictions,
could adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flow

Business interruptions due to natural disasters, terrorist incidents and other events could adversely affect us
and Old Trafford

Qur operations can be subject to natural disasters, terronst incidents and other events beyond our
control, such as earthquakes, fires, power failures, telecommunication losses and acts of war Such
events, whether natural or manmade, could cause severe destruction or interruption to our operations,
and as a result, our business could suffer sertous harm Our first team regularly tours the world for
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promotional matches, visiting various countries with a history of terrorism and civil unrest, and as a
result, we and our players could be potential targets of terrorism when visiting such countries In
addition, any prolonged business mterruption at Old Trafford could cause a decline 1n Matchday
revenue Qur business interruption mnsurance only covers seme, but not all, of these potential events,
and even for those events that are covered, 1t may not be sufficient Lo compensate us fully for losses or
damages that may occur as a result of such events, including, for example, loss of market share and
diminution of our brand, reputation and client loyalty Any one or more of these events could have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operation, financial condition or cash flow

If we fuil to properly manage our anticipated growth, our business could suffer.

The planned growth of our commercial operations may place a significant stram on our
management and on cur operational and financial resources and systems To manage growth effectively,
we will need to maintain a system of management controls and attract and retain qualified personnel,
as well as, develop, train and manage management-level and other employees Failure to manage our
growth effectively could cause us to over-invest or under-invest 1 infrastructure, and result i losses or
weaknesses in our infrastructure, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, financial condiion and cash flow Any faillure by us to manage our growth effectively could
have a negative effect on our ability to achieve our development and commerciahzation goals and
strategies

If we are unable to mawntain, train and build an effective international sales and marketing infrastructure, we
will not be able to commercialize and grow our brand successfully

As we grow, we may nol be able to secure sales personnel or organizations that are adequate n
number or expertise to successfully market and sell our brand and products on a global scale If we are
unable to expand our sales and marketing capability, train our sales force effectively or provide any
other capabilities necessary to commercialize our brand internationally, we will need to contract with
third parties to market and sell our brand If we are unable to establish and maintain compliant and
adequate sales and marketing capabilities, we may not be able to increase our revenue, may generate
increased expenses, and may not continue to be profitable

Risks Related to Our Industry
An econormic downturn and adverse economic conditions may harm our business

An economic downturn and adverse conditions 1n the United Kingdom and global markets may
negatively affect our operations in the future Our Matchday and Broadcasting revenue 1n part depend
on personal disposable income and corporate marketing and hospiality budgets Further, our
Commercial and sponsorship revenue arc contingent upon the expenditures of busmesses across a wide
range of mdustries, and 1f these industries were to cut costs in response to an economic downturn, our
revenue may similarly decline Weak economic conditions could also cause a reduction in our
Commerctal and sponsorship, as well as our Broadcasting and Matchday revenue, each of which could
have a material adverse effect on cur business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flow

The departure of the Unuted Kingdom from the European Union may adversely affect our operations and
financial results

On 23 June 2016, the United Kingdom (UK) held a referendum in which voters approved an exit
from the European Umon {EU), commonly referred to as “Brexit” As a result of the referendum,
which was advisory 1n nature, 1t 1s expected that the Bniish government will begin negouiating the terms
of the UK’s future relationship with the EU, mcluding any potential withdrawal This negotiation
period could last at least two years after the Bniish government formally imuates a withdrawal process
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Nevertheless, the referendum has created significant uncertamnty about the future relationship between
the UK and the EU, and has given nise to calls for certan regions within the UK to preserve their
place i the EU by separating from the UK, as well as for the governments of other EU member states
to consider withdrawal

These developments, or the perception that any of them could occur, have had and may continue
to have a matenal adverse effect on global economic conditions and the stability of global financial
markets, and could sigmificantly reduce global market liquidity and restrict the ability of key market
participants {0 operate in certain financial markets Asset valuations, currency exchange rates and credit
ratings may be especially subject to mcreased market volatiity Lack of clanty about future UK laws
and regulations as the UK determines which EU laws to replace or replicate in the event of withdrawal
could decrease foreign direct investment in the UK, increase costs, depress econemuc activity and
restrict our access to capital If the UK and the EU are unable to negotiate acceptable withdrawal
terms or if other EU member states pursue withdrawal, barrier-free access between the UK and other
EU member states or among the European economic ar¢a overall could be dimmmished or eliminated
Any of these factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations, financial condition and cash flow

Furthermore, although 1t 15 unknown what the terms of the UK’s future relationship with the EU,
if any, will be, or which EU laws the UK will replace or replicate in the event of withdrawal, 1t 1s
possible that there will be greater restrictions on 1mports and exports between the UK and EU member
states, greater restrictions on the movement of players between the UK and EU member states, and
other mncreased regulatory complexities These changes may have a matenal adverse effect on our
business, results of operatons, financial condition and cash flow and our ability to continue to compete
with the top football clubs in Europe

An increase in the relative size of salaries or transfer costs could adversely affect our business

Our success depends on our abihity to attract and retan the highest quality players and coaching
staff As a result, we are obliged to pay salanes generally comparable to our main competitors in
England and Europe Any increase in salaries may adversely affect our business, results of operations,
financial condition and cash flow

Other factors that affect player salaries, such as changes in personal tax rates, changes to the
treatment of income or other changes o taxation in the Umted Kingdom and the relative strength of
pounds sterling, may make 1t more difficult to attract top players and coaching staff from Europe or
elsewhere or require us to pay higher salaries to compensate for higher taxes or less favorable exchange
rates In addition, if our revenue falls and salaries remain stable (for example as a result of fixed player
or coaching staff salaries over a long period) or increase, our results of operations would be materially
adversely affected

An increase in transfer fees would require us to pay more than expected for the acquisition of
players’ registrations m the future In addition, certain players’ transfer values may dimnish after we
acquire them, and we may sell those players for transfer fees below their net book value, resulting 1n a
loss on disposal of players’ registrations Net transfer costs could also increase 1if levies imposed by
FIFA, the Premier League or any other orgamzation m respect of the transfer of players’ registrations
were (o ncrease

We remain committed to attracung and retainng the highest quality players for our first team Our
average annual net player capital expenditure over the last 10 years has been £39 6 milhon (excluding
the sale of a player 1n the year ended 30 June 2009 that generated sigmficant cash inflow, the average
annual net player capital expenditure over the same period would have been £47 6 milion), and we
continue to expect 1t to vary significantly from period to period We may explore new player
acquisitions n connectton with future transfer periods that may matenally increase the amount of our
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net player capnal expenditure As part of any matenal increase in net player capital expenditure, we
may also experience a matenal increase 1n our expenditure for player salanes The actual amount of
cash we use on player acquisitions will also depend, in part, on the amount of any cash we recerve as a
result of the sale of any players Any increase i net player capital expenditure compared to historic
levels will also result 1n an increase in amortization expenses in future penods

UEFA and Premier League regulations could negatively affect our business

As the pnimary governing body of European football, UEFA continually evaluates the dynamucs 1n
the football industry and considers changes to the regulatory framework goverming European football
clubs As an example, clubs participating in the Champions League and Europa League competiions
are subject to the UEFA Club Licensing and Financial Fair Play reguiations (“FFP regulations™)
Breaches n the rules may result in, among other things, withholding of prize money, transfer bans and
ultumately disquabfication from European competitions Amongst other things, these rules are intended
to discourage clubs from continually operating at a loss and to ensure that clubs settle their football,
staff and tax creditors on tune Breaches of FFP regulations, for example, where relevant costs (which
mcludes all wage costs and the amortization of player capital expenditures, but excludes depreciation of
tangible fixed assets, youth development and community expenditure) exceed revenues on a cumulative
basis over a three-year period, or serious delays in setthing creditors, have resulted 1n clubs being
punished by way of significant fines and even exclusion from UEFA competitions

The Premier League has also introduced regulations that aim to promote sustainability through
profitability A break-even test, similar to that contained i1 UEFA's FFP regulations has been
implemented, our first submuisston having been made during the 2015/16 Premer League competition
based on the fiscal years ended 30 June 2014 and 2015 In addition, the regulations introduced for the
three seasons ended 2015/16 which limited the annual increase in aggregate player remuneration unless
such mcreases are funded by addinonal revenue from sources other than Premier League broadcasting
revenue have been extended for a further three seasons beginning with the 2016/17 season
Wide-ranging sanctions, inctuding significant fines, player transfer restrictions and Premier League
pomts deduction, may be imposed for breaches of these regulations

There 15 a nisk that apphcation of the FFP regulations and Premier League profitability and
sustainability regulations could have a material adverse effect on the performance of our first team and
our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flow

We could be negatively affected by current and other future Premier League, FA, UEFA or FIFA regulations

Future changes to the Premier League, FA, UEFA, FIFA or other regulations may adversely affect
our results of operations These regulations could cover various aspects of our business, such as the
format of competitions, the chigibility of players, the operation of the transfer market and the
distribution of broadcasting revenue In addition, changes are being considered to address the financial
sustamability of clubs such as more robust ownership rules and tests 1n relation to board directors and
sigmificant sharcholders In particular, changes to football regulations designed to promate competition
could have a significant impact on our business Such changes could include changes to the distributon
of broadcasting income, changes to the relegation structure of English football and restrictions on
player spending In addition, rules designed to promote the development of local players, such as the
Home Grown Player Rule, which requires each Premier League club to mnclude at least eight “home
grown” (1e players that have been registered for at least three seasons at an English or Welsh club
between the ages of 16 and 21) players 1n their squads, could himit our ability to select players Any of
these changes could make 1t more difficult for us to acquire top quality players and, therefore,
adversely affect the performance of our first team
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Changes 1n the format of the league and cup competitions in which our first team plays, or might
i the future play, could have a negative impact on our results of operations In addition, in the event
that new competitions are mtroduced to replace existing competitions (for example, a Eurgpean
league), our results of operations may be negatvely affected

There could be a deciine in our popularity or the popularity of football,

There can be no assurance that football will retain 1ts popularity as a sport around the world and
1ts status 1 the Umted Kingdom as the so-called “national game,” together with the associated levels
of media coverage In addition, we could suffer a decline 1n populanty Any dechne in popularity could
result m lower ticket sales, broadcasting revenue, sponsorship revenue, a reduction 1n the value of our
players or our brand, or a dechine in the value of our securities, including our Class A ordinary shares
Any one of these events or a combination of such events could have a matenal adverse effect on our
business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flow

Risk Related to OQur Indebtedness
Our indebtedness could adversely affect our financial health and competitive position

As of 30 June 2016, we had total indebtedness of £490 1 million Qur indebtedness increases the
risk that we may be unable to generate cash sufficient to pay amounts due in respect of our
mdebtedness It could also have effects on our busmess For example, 1t could

= himit our ability to pay dividends,
* 1crease our vulnerability to general adverse economic and mdustry conditions,

* require us to dedicate a material portion of our cash flow from operations to make payments on
our mdebtedness, thereby reducing the availability of our cash flow to fund the hirng and
retention of players and coaching staff, working capital, capital expenditures and other general
corporate purposes,

* Limuit our flexibility in planming for, or reacting to, changes 1n our business and the football
ndustry,

» affect our abihity to compete for players and coaching staff, and
* limut our ability to borrow additional funds

In addition, our revolving facility, our secured term loan facility and the note purchase agreement
governing the 2027 Netes contain, and any agreements evidencing or governing other future
mdebtedness may contam, certain restrictive covenants that will limit our abihbty to engage in certain
activities that are n our long-term best interests (see “—Our mmdebtedness may restrict our ability to
pursue our business strategies” below) We have not previously breached and are not 1n breach of any
of the covenants under any of these facilities, however our failure to comply with those covenants could
result 1n an event of default which, if not cured or warwved, could result in the acceleration of all of our
indebtedness

To service our indebtedness, we require cash, and our ability to generate cash 1s subject to many factors
beyond our control

Our abihity 1o make payments on and to refinance our indebtedness and to fund planned capital
expenditures will depend on our ability to generate cash in the future Ths, to a certam extent, 15
subject to the performance and popularity of our first team as well as general economic, financial,
competitive, regulatory and other factors that are beyond our control
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We cannot assure you that our business will generate sufficient cash flow from operations or that
future borrowings will be available to us in an amount sufficient 1o enable us to pay our indebtedness
or to fund cur other hquidity needs We may need to refinance all or a portion of our indebtedness on
or before maturity We cannot assure you that we will be able to refinance any of our indebtedness on
commercially reasonable terms or at all Failure to refinance our indebtedness on terms we beheve to
be acceptable could have a matenal adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations and cash flow

Our indebtedness may restrict our ability to pursue our business strategies

Our revolving facility, our secured term loan facihity and the note purchase agreement governing
the 2027 Notes imit our ability, among other things, to

s ncur additional indebtedness,

* pay dividends or make other distributions or repurchase or redeem our shares,

* make nvestments,

* sell assets, including capital stock of restricted subsidiaries,

* enter 1to agreements restricting our subsichanes’ ability to pay dividends,

* consohdate, merge, sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets,
* enter 1nto sale and leaseback transactions,

* enter into transactions with our affibates, and

* incur hiens

Our ability to comply with these covenants and restrictions may be affected by events beyond our
control If we breach any of these covenants or restrictions, we could be in default under our revolving
facility, our secured term loan facility and the 2027 Notes This would permit the lending banks under
our revolving facihity and our secured term loan facility to take certam actions, including declaring all
amounts that we have borrowed under our revolving facility, our secured term loan facility and other
mdebledness to be due and payable, together with accrued and unpaid interest This would also result
m an event of default under the note purchase agreement governing the 2027 Notes Furthermore,
lending banks could refuse to extend further credit under the revolving facility If the debt under our
revolving facility, our secured term loan facility, the 2027 Notes or any other matenal financing
arrangement that we enter into were to be accelerated, our assets, in particular liquid assets, may be
msufficient to repay our indebtedness The occurrence of any of these events could have a matenal
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations

Our vanable rate indebtedness subyects us to interest rate risk, which could cause our debt service obligations
to ncrease significantly

We are subject to interest rate risk 1n connection with borrowings under our revolving facility and
our secured 1erm loan facility, which bear interest at vaniable rates Interest rate changes could impact
the amount of our interest payments. and accordingly, our future earnings and cash flow, assuming
other factors are held constant We have entered into an interest rate swap related (o our secured term
loan facility that involves the exchange of floating for fixed rate interest payments i order to reduce
mterest rate volatility As of 30 June 2016, we had £166,018,000 of variable rate indebtedness
outstanding under our secured term loan facility We cannot assure you that any hedging activities
entered mnto by us will be effective 1n fully mitigating our mnterest rate risk from our variable rate
indebtedness
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Risks Related to Ownership of Our Class A Ordinary Shares

Because of us significant share ownership, our principal shareholder will be able to exert control over us and
our significant corporate decisions

Qur principal shareholder, Red Football LLC, controls 20 03% of our 1ssued and outstanding
Class A ordinary shares and 68 55% of our 1ssued and outstanding Class B ordinary shares,
representing 67 03% of the voting power of our outstanding caputal stock Each Class A ordinary share
1s entitled to one vote per share and 1s not convertible nto any other class of shares Each Class B
ordinary share 1s entitled to 10 votes per share and 1s convertible mnto one Class A crdinary share at
any ume In addition, our Class B ordimnary shares will automaticatly convert into shares of our Class A
ordinary shares upon certain transfers and other events, including upon the date when holders of all
Class B ordinary shares cease to hold Class B ordinary shares representing at least 10% of the total
number of Class A and Class B ordinary shares outstanding For special resolutions, which require the
vote of two-thirds of the votes cast, at any time that Class B ordinary shares remain outstanding, the
voting power permitted to be exercised by the holders of the Class B ordinary shares will be weighted
such that the Class B ordinary shares shall represent, in the aggregate, 67% of the voung power of all
shareholders As a result, our principal shareholder will have the ability to determine the ocutcome of
all matters submitied to our shareholders for approval, including the election and removal of directors
and any merger, consolidation, or sale of all or substantally all of our assets The nterests of our
principal shareholder might not comcide with the mnterests of the other sharcholders This
concentration of ownership may harm the value of our Class A ordinary shares, among other things

» delaying, deferning or preventing a change in contral of our Company,

* impeding a merger, consolidation, takeover or other business combination mvolving our
Company, or

* causing us to enter Into transactions or agreements that are not n the best interests of all
sharcholders

As a foreign private issuer and “controlled company” within the meaning of the New York Stock Exchange’s
corporate governance rules, we are permutted to, and we do, rely on exemptions from certain of the New York
Stock Exchange corporate governance standards, including the requirement that a mayjority of our board of
directors consist of independent directors Our reliance on such exemptions may afford less protection to
holders of our Class A ordinary shares

The New York Stock Exchange’s corporate governance rules require hsted companies to have,
among other things, a majority of independent board members and independent director oversight of
executive compensation, nomnation of directors and corporate governance matters As a foreign
private issuer, we are permitied to, and we do, follow home country practice 1 lieu of the above
requirements As long as we rely on the foreign private issuer exemption to certain of the New York
Stock Exchange corporate governance standards, a majority of the directors on our board of directors
are not required to be independent directors, our remuneration committee 15 not required to be
comprised entirely of independent directors and we are not required to have a2 nommating and
corporate governance committee Therefore, our board of directors’ approach to governance may be
different from that of a board of directors consisting of a majornity of independent directors, and, as a
result, the management oversight of our Company may be more himited than if we were subject to all
of the New York Stock Exchange corporate governance standards

In the event we no longer qualify as a foreign private 1ssuer, we mlend 1o rely on the “controlled
company” exemption under the New York Stock Exchange corporate governance rules A “controlled
company” under the New York Stock Exchange corporate governance rules is a company of which
more than 50% of the voting power 1s held by an ndividual, group or another company Our principal
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shareholder, Red Football LLC, controls a majority of the combined voting power of our outstanding
ordinary shares, making us a “controlled company” within the meanmng of the New York Stock
Exchange corporate governance rules As a controlled company, we are eligible to, and, in the event we
no longer qualify as a foreign private 1ssuer, we mtend to, elect not to comply with certain of the New
York Stock Exchange corporate governance standards, including the requirement that a majornty of
directors on our board of directors are independent directors and the requirement that our
remuneration committee and our nommating and corporate governance committee consist entirely of
independent directors

Accordingly, our shareholders do not have the same protection afforded to shareholders of
companies that are subject to all of the New York Stock Exchange corporate governance standards, and
the ability of our independent directors to influence our business policies and affairs may be reduced

We are an “emerging growth company’ and we cannot be certawn tf the reduced disclosure requirements
applicable to emerging growth compantes make our Class A ordinary shares less atiractive to investors

We are an “‘emerging growth company,” as defined 1n the JOBS Act, and, as such, we take
advantage of certamn exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other
public companies that are not “emerging growth companies” including, but not limited 1o, not being
required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act We cannot predict if mvestors will find our Class A ordinary shares less attractive because we rely
on these exemptions If some investors find our Class A ordinary shares less attractive as a result, there
may be a less active trading market for our Class A ordinary shares and our share price may be more
volatile

In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Act also provides that an “emerging growth company” can
take advantage of the extended transition period provided in Section 7(a)}(2)(B) of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended (the “Securnities Act”), for complying with new or revised accounting standards In
other words, an “emerging growth company” can delay the adoption of certain accounting standards
until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies However, we previously chose to
“opt out” of such extended transition penod, and as a result, we will comply with new or revised
accounting standards on the relevant dates on which adoption of such standards 15 required for
non-emerging growth companies Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that our decision to opt out of
the extended transition penod for complying with new or revised accounting standards 1s wrrevocable

We will cease to be an emerging growth company as of 30 June 2018 or such earlier time if we
have more than $1 0 billion 1n annual revenue, have more than $700 million m market value of our
ordinary shares held by non-affiliates, or 1ssue more than $1 0 billion of non-convertible debt over a
three-year period

The obligations associated with being a public company require significant resources and management
attention

As a public company 1n the United States, we incur legal, accounting and other expenses that we
did not previously ncur as a private company We are subject 1o the reporting requirements of the
Secunties Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the
listing requirements of the New York Stock Exchange and other applicable secunities rules and
regulations Compliance with these rules and regulations increases our legal and financial compliance
costs, make some activities more difficult, time-consuming or costly and increases demand on our
systems and resources, particularly after we are no longer an “emerging growth company " The
Exchange Act requires that we file annual and current reports with respect 1o our business, financial
condition and results of operations The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we
establish and maintain effective internal controls and procedures for financial reporting Furthermore,
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the demands of being a public company may divert management’s attention from implementing our
growth strategy, which could prevent us from improving our business, financial condition and results of
operations We have made, and will continue to make, changes to our internal controls and procedures
for financial reporting and accounting systems to meet our reporting obligations as a public company
However, the measures we have taken, and will continuve to take, may not be sufficient to satisfy our
obligations as a public company In addition, these rules and regulations increase our legal and
financial compliance costs and make some activities more time-consuming and costly For example,
these rules and regulations make 1t more difficult and more expensive for us to obtan director and
officer hability insurance, and we may be required to incur substantial costs to mamtain the same or
similar coverage These additional obligations could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations and cash flow

In addition, changing laws, regulations and standards relatng to corporate governance and public
disclosure are creating uncertainty for public companies, increasing legal and financial comphance costs
and making some activities more time consurmng These laws, regulations and standards are subject to
varying interpretations, in many cases due to theiwr lack of specificity, and, as a result, their apphcation
n practice may evolve over ime as new guidance 1s provided by regulatory and governing bodies This
could result 1n continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by
ongomg revisions to disclosure and governance practices We intend to invest resources to comply with
evolving laws, regulations and standards, and this investment may result 1n increased general and
administrative expenses and a diversion of management’s time and attention from revenue-generating
activities to compliance activities If our efforts to comply with new laws, regulations and standards
differ from the activities intended by regulatory or governing bodies due to ambiguities related to their
apphlication and practice, regulatory authorities may mnitiate legal proceedings agamnst us and our
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flow could be adversely aifected

For as long as we are an “emerging growth company” under the JOBS Act, our independent
registered public accounung firm will not be required to attest to the effectiveness of our nternal
control over financial reporting pursuant o Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act We will cease (o be
an emerging growth company as of 30 June 2018 or such earlier time if we have more than $1 0 billion
1n annual revenue, have more than $700 million 1n market value of our ordinary shares held by
non-affiliates, or 1ssue more than $1 0 billion of non-converuble debt over a three-year period

Furthermore, once we are no longer an emerging growth company, our independent registered
public accounting firm will be required to attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting Even if our management concludes that our internal controls over financial
reporting are effective, our independent registered public accounting firm may decline to attest to our
management’s assessment or may issue a report that 1s quahfied 1f it 1s not satisfied with our controls
or the level at which our controls are documented, designed, operated or reviewed, or if 1t interprets
the relevant requrements differently from us In addition, in connection with the implementation of the
necessary procedures and practices related to internal control over financial reporung, we may identify
deficiencies that we may not be able to remediate in ume to meet the deadline imposed by the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act for comphance with the requirements of Section 404 Failure 10 comply with
Section 404 could subject us to regulatory scrutiny and sanctions, impair our abihity to rase revenue,
cause mvestors to lose confidence m the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and
negatively affect our share price

We may lose our foreign private issuer status in the future, which could result in significant addironal costs
and expenses

We are a “foreign private 1ssuer,” as such term 1s defined i Rule 405 under the Secunties Act,
and therefore, we are not required to comply with all the penodic disclosure and current reporting
requirements of the Exchange Act and related rules and regulations Under Rule 405, the
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determinanion of foreign private 1ssuer status 1s made annually on the last business day of an 1ssuer's
most recently completed second fiscal quarter and, accordingly, the next determination will be made
with respect to us on 31 December 2016

In the future, we would lose our foreign private 1ssuer status iIf a majonity of our sharcholders,
directors or management are US citizens or residents and we fail to meet addiuonal requirements
necessary to avoid loss of foreign private 1ssuer status Although we have elected to comply with certain
US regulatory provisions, our loss of foreign private 1ssuer status would make such provisions
mandatory The regulatory and comphance costs to us under US securities laws as a US domestic
issuer may be significantly hugher If we are not a foreign private 1ssuer, we will be required to file
periodic reports and registration statements on US domestic 1ssuer forms with the US Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “SEC™), which are more detalled and extensive than the forms available to
a foreign private 1ssuer For example, the annual report on Form 10-K requires domestic 1ssuers to
disclose executive compensation information on an individual basts with specific disclosure regarding
the domestic compensation philosophy, objectives, annual total compensation (base salary, bonus,
equity compensation) and potential payments in connection with change 1n control, retirement, death
or disability, while the annual report on Form 20-F permits forergn private issuers to disclose
compensation information cn an aggregate basis We will also have 1o mandatorily comply with US
federal proxy requirements, and our officers, directors and principal sharcholders will become subject
to the short-swing profit disclosure and recovery provisions of Section 16 of the Exchange Act We may
also be required to modify certain of our policies to comply with good governance practices associated
with US domestic 1ssuers Such conversion and modifications will involve additional costs In addition,
we may lose our ability to rely upon exemptions from certain corporate governance requirements on
US stock exchanges that are available to foreign private 1ssuers

Anti-takeover provisions tn our orgamizational decuments and Cayman Islands law may discourage or prevent
a change of confrol, even if an acquisition would be beneficial to our shareholders, which could depress the
price of our Class A ordinary shares and prevent attempts by our shareholders to replace or remove our
current management

Our amended and restated memorandum and articles of association contam provisions that may
discourage unsolicited takeover proposals that shareholders may consider to be in their best interests
In particular, our amended and restated memorandum and articles of association permit our board of
directors to issue preference shares from time to time, with such nights and preferences as they
consider appropniate Our board of directors could also authonze the 1ssuance of preference shares
with terms and cond:tions and under circumstances that could have an effect of discouraging a takeover
or other transaction We are also subject to certain provisions under Cayman Islands law which could
delay or prevent a change of control In particular, any merger, conselidation or amalgamation of the
Company would require the active consent of our board of directors Our board of directors may be
appointed or removed by the holders of the majority of the voting power of our ordinary shares (which
1s controlled by our principal shareholder) Together these provisions may make more difficult the
removal of management and may discourage transactions that otherwise could involve payment of a
premium over prevailing market prices for our Class A ordinary shares

The price of our Class A ordinary shares might fluctuate sigmificantly, and you could lose all or part of your
investment

Volatility in the market price of our Class A ordinary shares may prevent investors from being able
to sell their shares of our Class A ordinary shares at or above the price they paid for such shares The
trading price of our Class A ordinary shares may be volatile and subject to wide price fluctuations in
response to vartous factors, including

+ performance of our first team,
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* the overall performance of the equity markets,

* industry related regulatory developments,

* 1ssuance of new or changed securities analysts’ reports or recommendations,
* additions or departures of key personnel,

« mvestar perceptions of us and the football industry, changes 10 accounting standards, policies,
guidance, interpretations or principles,

* sale of our Class A ordinary shares by us, our principal shareholder or members of our
management,

« general economic conditions,
= changes 1n nterest rates, and
« availability of capital

These and other factors might cause the market price of our Class A ordinary shares to fluctuate
substantially, which might limit or prevent investors from readily selling their shares of our Class A
ordinary share and may otherwise negatively affect the hquidity of our Class A ordinary shares In
addition, 1n recent years, the stock market has expenienced significant price and volume fluctuations
This volatility has had a significant impact on the market price of securities 1ssued by many companies
across many industries The changes frequently appear to occur without regard to the operating
performance of the affected companies Accordingly, the price of our Class A ordimmary shares could
fluctuate based upon factors that have little or nothing to do with cur Company, and these fluctuations
could matenally reduce our share price Securities class action hitigation has often been nsututed
against companies following periods of volatility 1n the overall market and in the market price of a
company’s securitics This hitigation, if instituted agamst us, could result 1n substantial costs, divert our
management’s attention and resources, and harm our busimness, operating results and financial
condition

Future sales of our Class A ordinary shares, or the perception in the public markets that these sales may
occur, may depress our stock price

Sales of substantial amounts of our Class A ordinary shares, or the perception that these sales
could occur, could adversely affect the price of our Class A ordinary shares and could impair our
ability to raise capital through the sale of additional shares As of 8 September 2016 we had 40,025,280
Class A ordinary shares outstanding The Class A ordinary shares are freely tradable without restriction
under the Securities Act, except for any of our Class A ordinary shares that may be held or acquired by
our directors, executive officers and other affihates, as that term 1s defined 1n the Securities Act, which
will be restricted secunties under the Securities Act Restricted securities may not be sold 1n the public
market unless the sale 1s registered under the Securities Act or an exemption from registration 1s
available

All of our Class A ordinary shares outstanding as of the date of this Annual Report may be sold in
the pubhc market by exisung shareholders, subject to applicable Rule 144 volume limitations and other
limitations 1mposed under federal securities laws

In the future, we may also 1ssue our securities if we need to raise capital in connection with a
capital raise or acquisition The amount of our Class A ordinary shares 1ssued in connection with a
capital raise or acquisition could constitute a material portion of our then-outstanding Class A ordinary
shares
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Our ability to pay regular dividends 1s subject to restrictions in our revolving faciity, our secured term loan
Jacitlity, the note purchase agreement goverming the 2027 Notes, results of operations, distributable reserves
and solvency requurements; our Class A ordinary shares have no guaranteed dividends and holders of our
Class A ordinary shares have no recourse if dividends are not declared.

In fiscal year 2016 we began paymng a regular quarterly cash dividend on cur Class A ordinary
shares and Class B ordinary shares of $0 045 per share Our board of directors recently approved
replacing the previous quarterly cash dividend with a regular semi-annual cash dividend of $0 09 per
share We expect to continue paying regular dividends to our Class A ordinary shareholders and
Class B ordinary sharcholders The declaration and payment of any future dividends, however, will be
at the sole discretion of our board of directors or a committee thereof and will depend upon our
results of operations, financial condition, distributable reserves, contractual restrictions, restrictions
imposed by applicable law, capital requirements and other factors our board of directors (or such
committee thereof) deems relevant Furthermore, neither of our Class A ordinary shares nor our
Class B ordmary shares have any guaranteed dividends and holders of our Class A ordinary shares and
holders of our Class B ordinary shares have no recourse if dividends are not declared Our ability to
pay dividends on the Class A ordinary shares and Class B ordinary shares 1s imited by our revolving
facility, our secured term loan facility and the note purchase agreement governing the 2027 Notes,
which contain restricted payment covenants The restricted payment covenants allow dividends in
certain circumstances, including to the extent dividends do not exceed 50% of the cumulative
consohdated net income of Red Football Limited and 1its restricted subsidiaries, provided there 1s no
event of default and Red Football Limited 1s able to meet the principal and interest payments on its
debt under a fixed charge coverage test Qur ability to pay dividends may be further restricted by the
terms of any of our future debt or preferred securities Additonally, because we are a holding
company, our ability to pay dividends on our Class A ordinary shares and Class B ordinary shares 18
hmited by restrictions on the abihity of our subsidianes to pay dividends or make disinibutions o us,
mcluding restrictions under the terms of the agreements govermng our indebtedness As a consequence
of these limitations and restrictions, we may not be able to make, or may have to reduce or elimnate,
the payment of dividends on our Class A ordinary shares Accordingly, you may have to sell some or all
of your Class A ordinary shares after price appreciation 1n order to generate cash flow from your
investment You may not recewve a gain on your iavestment when you sell your Class A ordinary shares
and you may lose the entire amount of the mvestment Additionally, any change n the level of our
dividends or the suspension of the payment thereof could adversely affect the market price of our
Class A ordinary shares See “Item 8 Fmancial Information—A Consolidated Financial Statements
and Other Financial Information—Dividend Pohcy

The rules of the Premier League and our amended and restated memorandum and articles of association
tmpose certain limgtations on shareholders’ ability to wnvest in more than one football club

The rules of the Premier League prohibit any person who holds an interest of 10% or more of the
total voting rights exercisable 1n a Premier League football club from holding an interest in voting
rights exercisable 1n any other Premier League football club As a result, our amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association prohibit the acquisition of (1) 10% or more of our Class A
ordinary shares if they hold any mterest 1n voting nights exercisable 1n another Prermer League football
club and (n) any Class A ordinary shares if they hold an interest of 10% or more of the total voung
nights excrcisable i another Premier League football club In addition, under our amended and
restated memorandum and artcles of association, if any sharcholder 1s determined by us, at our
absolute discreuon, to be holding any Class A ordinary shares in violation of this rule or the rules of
certain other relevant governing bodies, we have the right to repurchase shares from such person or
direct that shareholder to transfer those shares to another person
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Exchange rate fluctuations may adversely affect the forewgn currency value of the Class A ordinary shares and
any dvidends

Our Class A ordnary shares are quoted 1n US dollars on the New York Stock Exchange Our
financial statements are prepared in pounds sterling Fluctuations i the exchange rate between the
pounds sterling and the US dollar will affect, among other matters, the US doltar value of the Class A
ordinary shares and of any dividends

The rights afforded to shareholders are governed by the laws of the Cayman Islands

Qur corporate affairs and the rights afforded to shareholders are governed by our amended and
restated memorandum and articles of association and by the Companies Law (2011 Revision) of the
Cayman Islands, as amended and restated from time to time (the “Companies Law™) and common law
of the Cayman Islands, and these rights differ in certain respects from the nights of shareholders n
typical US corporations In particular, the laws of the Cayman Islands relating to the protection of the
interests of minority sharcholders differ in some respects from those established under statutes or
judicial precedent n existence 1n the Umted States The laws of the Cayman Island provide only
limited circumstances under which shareholders of companies may brning derivative actions and (except
in limited circumstances) do not afford appraisal nghts to dissenting shareholders in the form typically
available to shareholders of a US corporation other than 1n hmited circumstances m relation to certain
mergers A summary of Cayman Islands law on the protection of mionty shareholders 1s set out 1n
“Item 10 Additional Information—B Memorandum and Articles of Association and Other Share
Information ”

We report as a US domestic corporation for US federal income tax purposes

As discussed more fully under “Item 10 Additional Information—E Taxation,” due to the
circumstances of our formation and the application of Section 7874 of the US Internal Revenue Code
of 1986, as amended (the “Code™}, we report as a US domestic corporation for all purposes of the
Code As a result, we are subject to US federal income tax on the majority of our worldwide 1ncome
In addition, 1if we pay dividends to a Non-US Holder, as defined in the discussion “Item 10 Additional
Information—E Taxation,” we will be required to withhold US mmcome tax at the rate of 30%, or such
lower rate as may be provided 1n an applicable mcome tax treaty Each investor should consult its own
tax adviser regarding the US federal income tax position of the Company and the tax consequences of
holding the Class A ordinary shares

Withholding under the Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act may apply to our dividends and gross proceeds
Jrom the sale or other disposition of our Class A ordinary shares

Under legislation mcorporating provisions referred to as the Foreign Account Tax Comphance Act
(“FATCA™), a 30% withholding tax will generally apply to certain types of payments, including US
source dividends and gross proceeds from the disposition of equity securities that produce US source
dividends, made to “foreign financial institutions” (as defined under those rules) and certamn other
non-US entities, unless such foreign financial institutions or other entities comply with requirements
under FATCA or are otherwise exempt from such requirements Because we report as a US domestic
corporation for all purposes of the Code, including for purposes of FATCA, our dividends as well as
gross proceeds from the sale or other disposition of our Class A ordinary shares paid to a foreign
financiat mnstitution or other non-US entity may be subject to potential withholding under FATCA
Under the applicable Treasury regulations and administrative guidance, withholding under FATCA
generally apphies to payments of drvidends on our Class A ordinary shares, and also will apply on or
after 1 January 2019 to payments of gross proceeds from a sale or other disposiion of Class A ordinary
shares Prospective 1nvestors should consult their tax advisors regarding the potential application of
withholding under FATCA to an mvestment 1 our Class A ordinary shares
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If secunities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports or publish unfavorable research about our
business, our stock price and trading volume could declhine

The trading market for our Class A ordinary shares depends 1n part on the research and reports
that securities or industry analysts publish about us, our business or our industry If one or more of the
analysts who covers us downgrades our stock, our share price will hkely decline If one or more of
these anatysts ceases to cover us or fails 1o publish regular reports on us, interest 1n the purchase of
our Class A ordinary shares could decrease, which could cause our stock price or trading volume to
decline

It may be difficult to enforce a US judgment aganst us, our directors and officers and certain experts named
in this Annual Report outside the United States, or to assert US securities law claims outside of the United
States.

The majonty of our directors and executive officers are not residents of the United States, and the
majority of our assets and the assets of these persons are localed outside the United States As a result,
it may be difficult or impossible for nvestors to effect service of process upon us within the United
States or other junsdictions, including judgments predicated upon the civil hability provisions of the
federal secunties laws of the Unned States Additionally, 1 may be difficult to assert US securnities law
claims 1n acuons originally instituted outside of the United States Foreign courts may refuse to hear a
US secunities law claim because foreign courts may not be the most appropriate forums i which to
bring such a claim Even if a foreign court agrees to hear a claim, 1t may determine that the law of the
junsdicuon in which the foreign court resides, and not US law, 15 applicable to the claim Further, if
US law 1s found to be applicable, the content of applicable US law must be proved as a fact, which can
be a time-consuming and costly process, and certain matters of procedure would still be governed by
the law of the junisdiction 1in which the foreign court resides

In particular, investors should be aware that there 1s uncertainty as to whether the courts of the
Cayman Islands would recognize and enforce judgments of United States courts obtained against us or
our directors or management as well as against the selling shareholder predicated upon the civil liability
provisions of the securities laws of the United States or any state in the United States or entertain
original actions brought in the Cayman Islands courts agamst us or our directors or officers as well as
against the seiling shareholder predicated upon the secunities laws of the United States or any state in
the United States As a result of the difficulty associated with enforcing a judgment against us, you may
not be able to collect any damages awarded by either a US or foreign court

ITEM 4. INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY
Qur Company—Manchester United

We are one of the most popular and successful sports teams in the world, playing one of the most
popular spectator sports on Earth Through our 138-year heritage we have won 64 trophies, including a
record 20 English league titles, enabling us to develop what we believe is one of the world’s leading
sports brands and a global community of 659 million followers Our large, passionate commurnty
provides us with a worldwide plaiform to generate significant revenue from multiple sources, including
sponsorship, merchandising, product hicensing, mobile & content, broadcasting and matchday We
attract leading global companies such as adidas, Aon, and General Motors {Chevrolet) that want access
and exposure to our community of followers and association with our brand

Our global community of followers engages with us 1n a vanety of ways

* Premier League games at our home stadium, Old Trafford, have been sold out since the
1997/98 season In the 2015/16 season, our 29 home games were attended by over 2 1 million
people
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* We undertake exhibition games and promotional tours on a global basis, enabling our worldwide
followers to see our team play These games are in addition to our competitive matches and
take place during the summer months or during gaps n the football season Over the last
6 years, we have played 29 exhibition games in Austrahia, China, Germany, Hong Keng, Ireland,
Japan, Norway, South Africa, Sweden, Thailand and the United States, where 1n 2014, we set a
U S attendance record for a football match with 109,318 fans at Michigan stadium

* Our customer relationship management (“CRM?”) database, a propnietary data repository that
includes contact and transactional detais of followers and customers around the globe, enables
us to analyze and better understand prospects and customers to drive revenues As of 30 June
2016, the CRM database holds 1n excess of 43 7 million records, as compared to 40 7 million
records as of 30 June 2015, an increase of approximately 3 1 million, or 75%

* During the 2015/16 scason, our games generated a cumulative audience reach of over 3 2 bilhon
viewers, according to the Futures Data, across 200 terrnitories On a per game basis, our 59
games attracted an average cumulative audience reach of 54 million per game, based on the
Futures Data

* We have one of the strongest online global brands providing us with significant opportunities to
further engage with our followers and develop our medha assets and revenue streams

* As of 30 June 2016, we had close to 160 million digital connections

» Our website, www manutd com, 1s published 1n 7 languages and over the year ended 30 June
2016 attracted an average of approximately 36 nullion page views per month

» We have a very popular brand page on Facebook with over 69 8 millhon connections In
comparison, the New York Yankees have approximately 8 5 million Facebook connections and
the Dallas Cowboys have approximately 8 3 million Facebook connections Furthermore, we have
more Facebook connections than the NBA, NFL and MLB combined and we are the most
popular Facebook page registered in the Umited Kingdom according te www socralbakers com

« Qur Twitter account has more than 8 milhon followers, an increase of over 48% from 30 June
2015

* It took us just 22 days to become the top Premer League Club on Instagram in August 2013,
and we are stll the most-followed, fastest-growing, and most-engaged Premier League club on
the platiorm

* We also have a significant presence on Chinese social media, with 8 7 million followers on Sina
Weibo and 5 3 million followers on Tencent Weibo—topping all other football clubs on the
platforms

Our Business Model and Revenue Drivers

We operate and manage our business as a single reporting segment—the operation of a
professional sports team However, we review our revenue through three principal sectors—
Commercial, Broadcasung and Matchday

+ Commercial Within the Commercial revenue sector, we monetize our global brand via three
revenue streams sponsorship, retail, merchandising, apparel & product licensing, and mobile &
content

 Sponsorshup 'We monetize the value of our global brand and community of followers through
marketing and sponsorship relationships with leading international and regional companies
around the globe Tb better leverage the strength of our brand, we have developed a global,
regional and product segmentation spensorship strategy Our spensorship revenue was
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£160 1 million, £154 8 million and £135 8 million for each of the years ended 30 June 2016,
2015 and 2014, respectively

* Retar, Merchandising, Apparel & Product Licensing 'We market and sell sports apparel, training
and leisure wear and other clothing featuring the Manchester United brand on a global basis
In additzon, we also sell other licensed products, from coffee mugs to bed spreads, featuning
the Manchester United brand and trademarks These products are distributed through
Manchester United branded retail centers and e-commerce platforms, as well as our partners’
wholesale distribution channels All of our retail, merchandising, apparel & product licensing
business was previously managed by Nike up to the end of July 2015 Our retail,
merchandising, apparel & product licensing revenue was £97 3 mullion, £31 6 million and
£37 5 millien for each of the years ended 30 June 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively

* Mobile & Content Due to the strength of our brand and the quality of our content, we have
formed mobile telecom partnerships 1n numerous countries In addition, we market content
directly to our followers through our website, www manutd com, and associated mobile
properties Our mobile & content revenue was £10 9 milhion, £10 4 million and £16 0 mullhon
for each of the years ended 30 June 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively

Qur Commercial revenue was £268 3 million, £196 9 milhion and £189 3 millien for each of the
years ended 30 June 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and grew at a compound annual growth
rate of 19 1% from fiscal year 2014 through fiscal year 2016 Our histoncal growth rates do not
guarantee that we will achieve comparable rates in the future

Our other two revenue sectors, Broadcasting and Matchday, provide predictable cash flow and
global media exposure that enables us to continue to mnvest 1n the success of the team and
expand our brand

* Breadcasting. We benefit from the distribution of live football content directly from the revenue
we receive and indirectly through increased global exposure for our commercial partners
Broadcasting revenue 1s dernived from the global television rights relating to the Premier League,
European competitions and other competitions In addition, our wholly-owned global television
channel, MUTYV, dehvers Manchester United programming to over 56 countries and territories
around the world Broadcasting revenue including, 1n some cases, prize money received by us in
respect of various competitions, will vary from year to year as a result of variability n the
amount of available prize money and the performance of our first tecam in such competitions
Our Breadcasting revenue was £140 4 mulhon, £107 7 mulhion and £135 8 mullion for each of the
years ended 30 June 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively

* Matchday We believe Old Trafford 1s one of the world’s 1conic sports venues It currently seats
75,643 and 1s the largest football club stadium mn the UK We have averaged over 99% of
attendance capacity for our Premter League matches in each of the last 18 years Matchday
revenue will vary from year to year as a result of the number of home games played and the
performance of our first team 1n vartous competitons Our Matchday revenue was
£106 6 million, £90 6 milllon and £108 1 million for each of the years ended 30 June 2016, 2015
and 2014, respectively

Total revenue for the years ended 30 June 2016, 2015 and 2014 was £515 3 milhion, £395 2 million
and £433 2 milhon, respectively
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Our Competitive Strengths
We believe our key competitive strengths are

* One of the most successful sports teams wn the world- Founded in 1878, Manchester United 1s one
of the most successful sports teams in the world—playing one of the world’s most popular
spectator sports We have won 64 trophies i mune different leagues, competitions and cups since
1908 Cur ongoing success 1s supported by our haghly developed football infrastructure and
global scouting network

A globally recogrized brand with a large, worldwide following Our 138-year history, our success and
the global popularity of our sport have enabled us to become what we believe to be one of the
world’s most recognizable brands We enjoy the support of our worldwide community of

659 million followers The composition of our follower base 15 far reaching and diverse,
transcending cultures, geographies, languages and socio-demographic groups, and we beheve the
strength of our brand goes beyond the world of sports

» Abihity to successfully monetize our brand The populanty and quality of our globally recogmzed
brand make us an attractive marketing partner for companies around the world Our community
of followers 1s strong 1n emerging markets, especially in certain regions of Asia, which enables us
to deliver media exposure and growth to our partners 1n these markets

* Well established global media and marketing infrastructure driving Commercial revenue growth. We
have a large global team, working from our UK and Hong Kong offices, dedicated to the
development and monetization of our brand and to the sourcing of new revenue opportunitics
The team has considerable experience and expertise in sponsorship sales, customer relationship
management, marketing execution, advertising support and brand development In addition, we
have developed an increasing range of case studies, covermg multiple sponsorship categones and
geographies, which 1n combination with our many years’ experience enables us to demonstrate
and delver an effective set of marketing capabilities to our partners on a global and regional
basis Qur team 1s dedicated to the development and monetization of our brand and to the
sourcing of new revenue opportunities

* Sought-after content capitalizing on the proliferation of digital and social media: We produce content
that 15 followed year-round by our global community of followers Our content distribution
channels are international and diverse, and we actively adopt new media channels to enhance
the accesstbility and reach of our content We believe our ability to generate proprietary content,
which we distribute on our own global platforms as well as via popular third party social media
platforms such as Facebook, Twitter, Sina Weibo, Tencent Weibo and others, constitute an
ongoing growth opportunity

Seasoned management teamm and commutted ownership: Our senmior management has considerable
experience and expertise m the football, commercial, media and finance industries

Our Strategy

We aim to increase our revenue and prefitability by expanding our high growth businesses that
leverage our brand, global commmumity and marketing infrastructure The key elements of our strategy
are

» Expand our portfolio of sponsors: We are well-positioned to continue to secure sponsorships with
leading brands We have historically implemented a proactive approach to 1dentifying, securing
and supporting sponsors During fiscal year 2016 we announced six global sponsorship
partnerships, five regional sponsorship partnerships and three financial services and telecom
agreements We experienced an 8 6% compound annual growth rate in our sponsorship revenue

31



from fiscal year 2014 through fiscal year 2016 (the growth rate from fiscal year 2014 to fiscal
year 2015 was 14 0% and from fiscal year 2015 to fiscal year 2016 was 3 4%) Our histonical
growth rates do not guarantee that we will achieve comparable rates 1n the future In addition to
developing our global sponsorship portfolio, we are focused on segmenting new opportunities by
product category and territory As part of this strategy, we opened an office in Hong Kong 1n
August 2012, which has successfully completed multipie sponsorship contracts This 1s 1n addition
to our London and Manchester offices

* Further develop our retail, merchandising, apparel & product licensing business: Prior to the end of
July 2015, all of our retail, merchandising, apparel & product licensing business was managed by
Nike Currently, we have a 10-year agreement with adidas with respect to our globat technical
sponsorship and dual-branded licensing rights, which began on 1 August 2015 The agreement
with adidas does not include the nights with respect to mono-branded lhicensing nights or the
right to create and operate Manchester United branded soccer schools, physical retail channels
and e-commerce retail channels These are business areas that were previously operated by Nike
and the reversion of these rights to Manchester United provides us with increased commercial
opportunities and control In the future, we plan to invest to expand our portfcho of product
licensees to enhance the range of product offerings available to our followers Additionally, we
may also seek to refine how we segment the different elements of this business We may also
increase our focus on developing these rights more proactively, alone or with other partners

* Continue to invest in our team, facilities and other brand enhancing wutuatives. Dating back to our
first league championsh:p in 1908 through present day, where we have earned a record number
of English League titles, we have enjoyed a rich tradition of football excellence We believe our
many years of on field success coupled with an 1comic stadium and high level of fan engagement
has driven our leading global brand We are well positioned to continue rewnvesting our free cash
flow 1n brand enhancing mitiatives Our brand begins with strong on-field performance, and we
remain committed to attracting and retaining the highest quabity players for our first team and
coaching staff To mamntain our high standard of performance we anticipate a higher level of net
player capital expenditures and player wages to retan talent and enhance the caliber of our
team 1n the near term We will also continue to invest in our facilities, including the Old
Trafford Stadium, to mamntamn the quabty of service, enhance the fan experience and drive therr
high level of engagement and loyalty We have undertaken several recent imitiatives at Old
Trafford to enhance our Matchday revenue, profitability and the fan experience including
restructuring the composition of our stadium, with a particular emphasis on developing premium
seating and hospitality facilities Qur commutment to the fan expenence has resulted 1n strong
fan loyalty with over two million 1n annual attendance and 99% average attendance for all of
our Premier League Games since the 1997/98 season Furthermore, we continue to invest in
several other areas including our mobile & content assets and emerging markets to grow our
global fan base and mncrease our abibty to engage with our fans in multiple ways We remain
committed to mvesting n our team, our facilitics and other mitiatives o continue our many
years of success and enhance our brand globally We expect these mitiauves will continue to be
key drivers of our sales, profit and leading brand recogmition going forward

* Exploit mobile & content opportunities The rapid shift of media consumption towards internet,
mobile and social media platforms presents us with multiple growth opportunities and new
revenue streams QOur digital media platforms, such as mobile sites, applications and social
media, are expected to become one of the primary methods by which we engage and transact
with our followers around the world We conunue to evolve our media team’s capability to
address these opportumities In January 2013, we also acquired the remaining one-third stake in
MUTYV Together these actions help to ensure that we have both a greater degree of control over
the production, distnbution and quahty of our proprietary content and better msight into how to
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evolve our mobile & content strategy as we continue to develop and roll out carefully targeted
new products and services

In addition to developing our own digital properties, we miend to leverage third party media
platforms and other social media as a means of further engaging with our followers and creating
a source of traffic for our digital media assets Our mobile & content offerings are 1n the early
stages of development and present opportunities for future growth We believe we have the
opportunity to further leverage our extensive CRM database, which includes over 43 7 mullion
CRM records, our more than 69 8 milhion Facebook connections and more than 8 million
Twitter account followers, We plan to implement a carefully considered strategy to target these
individuals as part of our overall digital media rollout plan

= Enhance the reach and distribution of our broadcasting rights 'We are well-positioned to benefit
from the mncreased value and the growth 1n distribution associated with the Premier League, the
Champions League and other competitions In February 2013, the Premier League announced a
new UK television nights contract with Sky Sports and BT Sport worth £5 136 hillion for the
three seasons commencing with the 2016/17 season for 1ts live domestic nghts The deal marked
a significant increase of over 70% on the current contract and represents the largest UK TV
rights deal ever signed Coming on the heels of the current deal, which also represented an
mcrease of over 60% on the nights for the three seasons commencing with the 2010/11 season,
we beheve this affirms the increasing demand for live sports and football in particular Unlike
other television programming, the unpredictable outcomes of live sports ensures that individuals
consume sports programmung 1n real time and 1n full, resulting 1n higher audiences and
mncreased imterest from television broadcasters and advertisers

Furthermore, MUTYV, our global broadcasting platform, delivers Manchester United
programming to over 56 countrics and territories arcund the world We plan to continue to
expand the distribution of MUTYV supported by improving the quality of its content and 1ts
production capabilities

Duwversify revenue and improve margins. We aim to increase the revenue and operating margins of
our business as we further expand our high growth commercial businesses, including sponsorshep,
retail, merchandising, heensing and mobile & content

Our Market Opportunity

We believe that we are one of the world’s most recogmizable global brands with a community of
659 milhen followers Manchester United 1s at the forefront of live football, which 15 a key component
of the global sports market

Other markets driving our business include the global advertising market, the global pay television
market and the global apparel market

While our business represents only a small portion of our addressable markets and may not grow
at a corresponding rate, we behieve our global reach and access to emerging markets position us for
continued growth

Our Team’s History

Founded 1n 1878 as Newton Heath L& YR Football Club, our club has operated for over
138 years The team first entered the English First Diviston, then the highest league 1n English football,
for the start of the 1892-93 season Qur club name changed to Manchester United Football Club 1n
1902, and we won the first of our 20 Enghsh League titles in 1908 In 1910, we moved to Old Trafford,
our current stadium
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In the late 1940s, we returned to on-field success, winming the FA Cup 1n 1948 and fimshing within
the top four league positions during each of the first five seasons immediately following the Second
World War During the 1950s, we continued our on-field success under the leadership of manager Sir
Matt Busby, who built a popular and famous team based on youth players known as the “Busby
Babes ”

In February 1958, an awrplane crash resulted in the death of eight of our first team players Global
support and tnbutes followed this disaster as Busby galvanmized the team around such popular players as
George Best, Bobby Charlton and Denis Law Rebwmlding of the club culminated with a victory 1n the
1968 European Cup final, becoming the first English club to win this title

This storied history preceded the highly successful modern era of Manchester Umited which began
in earnest 1n 1986 when the club appointed Sir Alex Ferguson as manager In 1990, we won the FA
Cup and began a period of success that has continued until the present day Since 1992, we have won
the Premier League 13 times In total, we have won a record 20 English League titles, 12 FA Cups,

4 EFL Cups, 3 European Champions Cups and 1 FIFA Club World Cup, making us cne of the most
successful clubs m England At the end of the 2012/13 season, Sir Alex Ferguson retired as team
manager Sir Alex remains a key member of the club as he 1s a director of Manchester Umted FC
More recently, Lows van Gaal was manager for the 2014/15 and 2015/16 seasons, winmng the FA Cup
in the 2015/16 season

On 27 May 2016, we announced Jose Mourninho as the new team manager of Manchester United
under a three-year contract Jose Mourinho has managed at the top level of European football for over
a decade and 1n that time has won league titles and cups in four countries {(Portugal, England, Italy and
Spaimn} as well as winning the UEFA Champions League twice—in 2004 with FC Porto and 1n 2010 with
Inter Milan

Since the inception of the Premuer League 1n 1992, our club has enjoyed consistent success and
growth with popular players such as Enc Cantena, David Beckham, Ryan Giggs, Paul Scholes, Bryan
Robson, Cnstiano Ronaldo and Wayne Rooney The popularity of these players, our disingumshed
traditzon and history, and the on-field success of our first team have allowed us to expand the club into
a global brand with an international follower base
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The following graph shows the success of our first team 1n the Premier League over the last
24 seasons

FA Premier League Finishing Positions
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Our Old Trafford stadium, commonly known as “The Theatre of Dreams,” was orniginally opened
on 19 February 1910 with a capacity of approximately 80,000 During the Second World War, Old
Trafford was used by the military as a depot, and on 11 March 1941 was heavily damaged by a German
bombing raid The stadium was rebuiit following the war and reopencd on 24 August 1949 The
addition of floodlighting, permitting evenung matches, was completed m 1957 and a project to cover the
stands with roofs was completed 1n 1959 After a series of additions durning the 1960s, 1970s and early
1980s, capacity at Old Trafford reached 56,385 1n 1985 The conversion of the stadium to an all-seater
reduced capacity to approximately 44,000 by 1992, the lowest 1n us histery Thercafter, we began to
expand capacity throughout the stadum, bringing capacity to approximately 58,000 by 1996,
approximately 68,000 by 2000, and approximately 76,000 1n 2006 Current capacily at Old Trafford
15 75,643
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The following chart shows the historical success of our first team by trophies won
TROPHIES WON

FA Premier League/Football League

Division One FA Charity/Commumty Shield
19068 1965 1997 2007 1908 1967 1996 2011
1911 1967 1999 2008 1911 1977 1997 2013
1952 1993 2000 2009 1952 1983 2003 2016
1956 1994 2001 2011 1956 1990 2007
1957 1996 2003 2013 1957 1993 2008
1965 1994 2010
FA Cup EFL/Football League Cup
1909 1977 1990 1999 1992 2006 2009 2010
1948 1983 1994 2004
1963 1985 1996 2016 European Cup/Champions League
1968 1999 2008
FIFA Club World Cup UEFA Super Cup
2008 1991
European Cup Winners’ Cup Intercontinental Cup
1991 1999

Industry Overview

Football s one of the most popular spectator sports on Earth and global follower interest has
enabled the sport to commercialize 1ts activities through sponsorship, retail, merchandising, apparel &
product licensing, mobile & content, broadcasting, and matchday As a consequence, [ootball
constitutes a significant portion of the overall global sports industry, according to AT Kearney

Football’s growth and increasing popularty 1s primarily a product of consumer demand for and
interest 1n live sports, whether viewed 1n person at the venue or through television and digital media
The sport’s revenue growth has been driven by the appetite among consumers, advertisers and media
distributors for access to and association with these live sports events, 1n particular those featuring
globally recognized teams

The major football leagues and clubs 1n England, Germany, Spain, Italy and France have
established themselves as the leading global entities due to their history as well as therr haghly
developed television and advertising markets, according to AT Kearney The combination of historical
success and media development in the core European markets has helped to drive revenue, which in
turn enables those leagues to attract the best players in the world, further strengthening their appeal 1o
followers

As televiston and digital media such as broadband internet and mobile extend their reach globally, ‘
the availability of and access to live games and other content of the leading European leagues has ‘
increased and live games are now viewed worldwide In addition, advances in new technology continue ‘
to both improve the television and digital media user expenence and the effectiveness of sponsorships ‘
and advertising on these platforms These trends further strengthen the commercial benefit of ‘
associating with football for media distributors and advertisers and increase the global opportunities for ‘
the sport ‘
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League Structure

Manchester United 15 a member of the English Premier League, the top league in the UK and
perenmally one of the elite leagues 1n the world

The Premier League 1s a private company wholly owned by 1ts 20 member clubs, with responsibility
for the competition, 1ts Rule Book, the centralized broadcasting nghts and other commercal rights
The Premier League works proactively with the member clubs and other football authorities
domestically and internationally including the Football Association, UEFA and FIFA Each member
club 1s an independent shareholder of the Premier League and works within the rules of football
defined by the various governing bodies

Governing Bodies

Manchester United operates under three different levels of governing bodies, ranging from
worldwide to continental to national junisdiction

FIFA 1s the international governing body of football around the world Headquartered in Zunich,
Switzerland, FIFA 1s respensible for the regulation, promotion and development of football worldwide
All football played at any level must abide by the Laws of the Game, as set forth by FIFA FIFA’s rules
and regulations are decided by the International Football Association Board (“IFAB”) and reviewed on
an annual basis FIFA also sets the mnternational fixture calendar which, along with European and
domestic cup dates, takes precedence over the domestic football league

UEFA 15 a competition orgamzer and 1s responsible for the orgamzation and regulation of cross-
border football in Europe UEFA 15 primanly known for 1ts European club competitions, the
Champions League and the Europa League Currently the Premuer League gets four teams mnto the
Champions League and another three into the Europa League The representative structures for UEFA
are primanly national association-based with the FA representing English football on numerous
commuittees

The FA 1s the national goverming body for football in England and 1s responsible for sanctioning
competition Rule Books, including the Premier League’s, and regulating on-field matters The FA also
organizes the FA Cup competition, in which the 20 Premier League member clubs participate The FA
15 a special shareholder of the Premier League that has the ability to exercise a vote on certain specific
1ssues, but has no role 1n the day-to-day running of the league Each year the Premier League submits
its rules to the FA for approval and sanction For the Premier League, the FA ensures that throughout
the scason the Laws of the Game are applied on the field by officials, clubs and players including on-
and off-field discipline The FA 1s also mnvolved 1n refereeing, youth development and the UK's largest
sports chanty, the Football Foundation

Our Football Operations

Qur football operations are primarily compnised of the following activiies our first team, our
reserve team, our youth academy, our global scouting networks and other operations such as our sport
science, medical and fitness operations at the Aon Traiming Complex

First team

Qur first team plays professional football 1n the Premier League, domestic cup competitions n
England including the FA Cup and EFL Cup and, subject to qualifying, international cup competutions,
mncluding the Champions League

Our first team 15 led by our manager, supported by an assistant team manager and a club
secretary, who 1n turn are supported by a team of over 90 individuals, including coaches and scouts for
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both our first team and youth academy, medical and physiotherapy staff, sports science and
performance and match analysis staff

We have 59 players under contract of whom 36 have made an appearance for our first team The
remainmng players may play for the reserve team or youth academy teams but are being developed such
that they may make 1t to a starting position on our first team or the first team of other clubs This
structure has been put 1n place with the aim of developing some of the world’s best football players
and maximizing our first team’s chances of winning games, leagues and tournaments

Domestic transfers of players between football clubs are governed by the Premuer League Rules
and the FA Rules, which allow a professional player to enter mnto a contract with and be registered to
play for any club, and to receive a signing-on fee 1n connection with such contract Players are
permitted to move to another club during the term of their contract if both clubs agree on such
transfer In such circumstances a compensation fee may be payable by the transferee club FIFA
Regulations on the Status and Transfer of Players (the “FIFA Regulations’”) govern international
transfers of players between clubs and may require the transferee club to distnbute 5% of any
compensation {ee to the clubs that trained the relevant player The transferor club n an international
transfer may also be entitled to receive payment of “traiming compensation” under the FIFA
Regulations when certain conditions are met If an out-of-contract player (1€, a player whose contract
with a club has expired or has been terminated) wishes to play for another club, the player’s former
club will only be entitled to a compensation fee 1n a domestic transfer, or a payment of training
compensation under the FIFA Regulations 1n an mternational transfer, if certain conditions are
sausfied, including conditions regarding the player’s age and requiring the former club to offer the
player a new contract on terms which are no less favorable than his current contract Subject to limited
exceptions, transfers of professional players may only take place during one of the “transfer windows,”
which for the Premier League 1s the month of January and the period begining on the day following
the last Premier League match of the season and ending on 31 August (or the following Monday if the
31 August falls on a weekend or the following day if 31 August 1s a bank holiday 1n the UK) of that
year

Our players enter into contracts with us that follow a prescribed model based on Football
Association Premier League Limited rules Players on our [irst team typically also enter into an 1mage
nghts agreement with us, which grants us enhanced nghts and protections with respect to use of their
image Our first team players generally enter into contracts of between two and five years’ duration
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As of 2 September 2016, our first team(1) was comprised of the following players

Player Position Natwonahty Age Apps(2) Caps(3)
Dawvid de Gea Goalkeeper Spanish 25 228 13
Sergio Romero Goalkeeper Argentinlan 29 10 79
Sam Johnstone Goalkeeper English 23 0 0
Eric Bailly Defender Ivorian 22 4 15
Daley Blind Defender Dutch 26 89 36
Cameron Borthwick-Jackson({4) Defender English 19 14 0
Matteo Darmian Defender Itahan 26 39 26
Phil Jones Defender English 24 141 20
Regan Poole Defender Welsh 18 1 0
Joe Riley Defender English 19 2 0
Marcos Rojo Defender Argentinian 26 55 49
Luke Shaw Defender Enghsh 21 32 6
Chris Smalling Defender English 26 209 29
Guillermo Varela(4) Defender Uruguayan 24 1 0
Michael Carrick Mudfielder  English 35 422 34
Marouane Fellain Midfielder  Belgian 28 90 71
Tomothy Fosu-Mensah Mudfielder  Dutch 18 10 0
Ander Herrera Midfielder  Spamsh 27 75 H
Adnan Januza)(4) Midfielder  Belgian 21 63 6
Jesse Langard Mudfielder  English 23 42 0
Juan Mata Midfielder  Spamsh 28 108 40 |
Henrikh Mkhitaryan Midfielder  Armenian 27 4 59 |
Andreas Pereira(4) Midhelder  Belgian 20 3 0 '
Paul Pogba Midfielder  French 23 4 38
Morgan Schneiderlin Midfielder  French 26 41 15
Antonio Valencia Miudfielder  Ecuadonan 31 252 84
Ashley Young Midficlder  English 31 141 30
Memphis Depay Forward Dutch 22 46 24
Zlatan Ibrahimovic Forward Swedish 34 4 116
Anthony Martial Forward French 20 33 12
Marcus Rashford Forward English 18 20 3
Wayne Rocney Forward English 30 528 115
James Wilson(4) Forward English 20 20 0

(1} The table includes all first-team players
(2) Apps means appearances for our first team through 2 September 2016
(3) Caps means appearances for senor national football team through 2 September 2016

(4) Currently out on loan at other clubs

Youth academny

Our youth academy 1s a rich source of new talent for our first team as well as a means of
developing players that may be sold to generate transfer income The aim of our youth academy 1s Lo
create a flow of talent from the youth teams up to our first team, thereby saving us the expense of
purchasing those players n the transfer market Players in our youth academy and reserve tcams may
be loaned to other clubs in order to develop and gam first team expenience with those other clubs and
enhance their transfer value Players from our youth academy who do not make 1t into our first team
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frequently achieve a place at another professional football club, thereby generating income from player
loans and transfer fees

Our youth academy program consists of 11 junior teams ranging from under 9s to under 18s Each
team consists of 15 to 23 players, each of whom 15 assessed dunng the season
Scouting network

Together with our youth academy, our scouting system 1s another source of our football talent
Through our scouting system, we recruit players for both our first team and youth academy Our
scouting system consists of a professional network of staff who scout 1n general and for speafic
positions and age groups

Qur scouting system was traditionally onented towards the Umited Kingdom, but our focus has
mcreasingly shifted toward a more international approach in order to wdentify and attract football
players from the broadest talent pool possible
Traiming facilittes

We have mvested significant resources into developing a performance center which contains
advanced sports and science equipment We have highly experienced tramning staff working at the
performance center, where we provide physiotherapy, bro-mechanical analysis and nutritional gurdance
to our players as part of our drive to ensure that each player 1s able to achieve peak physical condition
We believe the quahiy of our performance center differentiates our club from many of our competitors

We spent approximately £2 3 mullion 1n the year ended 30 June 2016 1n connection with further
updating our traiming facility, the Aon Training Complex
Revenue Sectors
Commercial

Within the Commercial revenue sector, we monetize our brand via three revenue streams
sponsorship, retail, merchandising, apparel & product licensing, and mobile & content The primary
source of revenue 1n this sector comes from sponsorship, which allows highly diverse and global
companies to partner with Manchester United, regionally or internationally, n order to realize
sponsorship benefits and associate themselves with our brand

Sponsorship

Our sponsorship agrecments are negotiated directly by our commercial team Our sponsors are
granted vanous nights, which can nclude

* nights in respect of our brand, logo and other intellectual property,
* rights i respect of our player and manager imagery,

* exposure on our televisien platform, MUTV,

* exposure on our website,

* exposure on digital perimeter advertising boards at Old Trafford,

* exposure on mterview backdrops, and

* the night to admimster promotions targeted at customers whose details are stored on our CRM
database
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Any use of our intellectual property nights by sponsors s under hcense However, we retain the
ownership rights 1n our ntellectual property

Sponsorship development and strategy

We pursue our global and regional sponsorship deals through a developed infrastructure for
commercial activities We have a dedicated sales team, recruited from three continents, located n
Europe that focuses on developing commercial opportumities and sourcing new sponsors We target
potential sponsors we believe will benefit from association with our brand and have the necessary
financial resources to support an integrated marketing relationship By cultivating strong relationships
with our sponsors, we generate sigmficant revenue and leverage our sponsors co-branded marketing
strategies to further grow our brand We are successful in executing a geographic and product
categorized approach to selling our sponsorship rights

We offer category exclusivity on a global basis to companies within particular industnes, such as
arrhine, beverage, logistics and watches We also offer sponsorship exclusivity within a particular
geography for certain industries, such as motorcycles, soft drinks and tires

In seeking any individual partnership, we aim to establish an indicative value for that sponsorship
based on the prospective sponsor’s industry and marketing objectives We will only pursue a
sponsorship 1f we behieve 1t reflects the value we deliver

We believe that certain key sectors play an active role in sports sponsorship We have sponsors in a
number of these sectors and we beheve that there 1s sigmficant potential to expand this platform by
selectively targeting companies within the remaming sectors and by growing revenue 1n existing sectors
through additional sponsorship arrangements

We ntend to continue to grow our sponsorship portfolio by developing and expanding our
geographic and product category segmented approach, which will include partnering with additional
global and regional sponsors Emergmg markets such as Asia, which we expect to be a key focus for
many of our prospective sponsors, are an important element of our sponsorship efforts

Qur current sponsors

The following graph shows our annual sponsorship revenue for each of the last five fiscal years
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Note Sponsorship revenue does not include revenue generated from our agreement with Nike, which
was 1n effect through the end of July 2015
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The table below highlights some of our global and regional sponsors as of 1 July 2016

Spoasor

20t Century Fox
Abengoa

adidas

Aeroflot

Aon

Aperol Spritz

Apollo Tyres

Concha y Toro

DHL

Electronic Arts

Epson

General Motors (Chevrolet)
Gulf Oil International
HCL

Kansai Paint
Marathonbet

Missin Foods Group
Swissquote

Toshiba Medical Systems
Yanmar

Aland

CHI

Cho-A Pharm

Donaco

EurcFood

Hong Kong Jockey Club
IvC

Manda

Nexon

You-C1000

Shurt sponsor

Type of sponsorship

Product category

Global sponsor
Global sponsor
Global sponsor
Global sponsor
Glebal sponsor
Global spensor
Global sponsor
Global sponsor
Global sponsor
Global sponsor
Global sponsor
Global sponsor
Global sponsor
Global sponsor
Global sponsor
Global sponsor
Global sponsor
Global sponsor
Global sponsor
Global sponsor
Regional sponsor
Regional sponsor
Regional sponsor
Regional sponsor
Regional sponsor
Regional spensor
Regional sponsor
Regiconal sponsor
Regional spensor
Regtonal sponsor

Feature Film
Sustamable Technology
Sports apparel/footwear
Aurline

Insurance

Spints

Tyres

Wine

Logsstics

Computer Games
Printing

Shirt (Automotive)
Lubricant Onl and Fuel Retail
Digital Transformation
Paint

Betting

Noodles

Forex & Online Trading Services
Medical Sysiems

Diesel Engines
Vitamins

Soft Drinks

Dietary Supplements
Casino Resort
Confectionary

Jockey Club

Wellness Products
Nutritional Supplements
Social Football Gaming
Soft Drinks

Qur current shirt sponsor 1s General Motors (Chevrolet) The shirt sponsorship agreement began
mn the 2014/15 season and runs through to the end of the 2020/21 season, with total fees payable of
approximately $559 million We recewved approximately $18 6 million in each of the 2012/13 and
2013/14 seasons relating to pre-sponsorship support and exposure, with the remaining $521 8 mullion to
be received and recogmzed over seven years through to the end of the 2020/21 season The shirt
sponsorship agreement gives each party typical termination nights for a contract of this nature 1n

respect of a matenal breach
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The following chart shows the dramatic growth n shirt sponsorships revenue since 2000

Average Annual Payments Under
Recent Shirt Sponsorship Contracts

600

559

500

400

300 W £ mihion

196
200
141
N - .

Vodafcne (2000-2006} AlG (2006-2010) Aon (2010-2014) Chevrolet {2014-2021)

Note The Aon and Chevrolet shirt sponsorship agreements do not include sponsorship rights for our
trainmg kit The Chevrolet annual payment does not include pre-spensorship payments and assumes a
£ § exchange rate of 13332 as of 30 June 2016

Trawung facthities partner and traiming kit partner

Our tramning facihities at Carrington are sponsored by Aon and are named the Aon Training
Complex Acn are also our trammng kit partner, and our agreement with them provides that our players
and coaching staff wear adidas-branded training kits with Aon advertising at all domestic matches, as
well as durmg traimmg sessions Under the agreement, Aon are also the presenting partner of all
pre-season tours The agreement with Aon runs through to the end of the 2020/21 season

Affintty insurance pariner

We are in the seventh season of an affinity insurance agreement with Aon that covers the
nsurance category of our financial services affinity program The onginal agreement was entered mnto
on 27 May 2009 and, on 21 December 2012, was extended through to the 2020/21 season The
agreement, as amended, guarantees a mmmum of approximately £28 8 milhon i payments to the club,
with a mimmum payment of £3 2 millhion due each fiscal year The agreement gives each party typical
termination rights for a contract of this nature n respect of a material breach

Global, regional and supplier sponsors

In addition to revenue from our shirt sponsor, traimng kit partner, trammng facilities partner and
affinity insurance partner, we generated a further £83 4 million n the year ended 30 June 2016 from
other global, regional and other sponsors The length of these sponsorship deals 15 generally between
two and five years The majorty of these sponsorship deals have mimmum revenue guarantees and
some have additional revenue sharing arrangements

Global sponsors are granted certain marketing and promotion rights with respect to our brand and
intellectual property as well as exposure on our media, such as digital perimeter boards at Old Trafford,
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MUTYV and our website These rights are granted on a global basis and are exclusive by category
Regional sponsors are granted certain marketing and promotion rights and media exposure, however,
these rights are granted for a mited number of territories Reglonal sponsors are able to use the rights
m their designated terntory on an exclusive basis, however they are not granted global category
exclusivity

Financial services affinuty sponsorship

There 15 a significant growth opportunity to further develop Manchester United branded financiat
services products These financial services products include credit cards and debit cards We believe
there are key commercial opportumities with credit and debit cards, which are particularly attractive as
credit and debit cards also serve as a means of follower expression and loyalty Depending on the
product category, we pursue affinity agreements on a terntory specific or regional basis Examples of
our financial services affimty sponsors include Maybank (Malaysia), Shinser Bank (Japan), Santander
(Norway), Denizbank (Turkey), Danamon (Indcnesia), and BIDV (Vietnam)

Extubttion games and promotional tours

We conduct exhibition games and promotional tours on a global basis Our promotional tours
enable us to engage with our followers, support the marketing objectives of our sponsars and extend
the reach of our brand in strategic markets These promotional tours are in addition 10 our competitive
matches and take place during the summer months or during gaps mn the football season Over the last
6 years, we played 29 exhibition games 1n Austraha, China, Germany, Hong Kong, Ireland, Japan,
Norway, South Africa, Sweden, Thailand and the Umited States, where mn 2014, we set a U S
attendance record for a football match with 109,318 fans at Michigan stadium

We normally recewve a share of the ucket revenue as well as license fees for the television
broadcast and digital media distribution of each exhibition game We alse generate revenue from tour
sponsorship opporturuties sold to existing and new partners Duning the 2015/16 season, our
promotional extibition games and promotional tours generated £9 5 million of revenue (excluding any
related sponsorship revenue) We believe promotional tours represent a growth opportunity as we
continue to play exhibiion games around the world

Commerctal income from the Premier League

In addition to revenue from contracts that we negotiate ourselves, we receive revenue from
commercial arrangements negotiated collectwvely by the Premmer League on behalf of its member teams
Income from these commercial contracts negotiated by the Premier League 15 shared equally between
the clubs that are to be 1n the Premier League for the season to which the income relates Our pro
rata income recerved from the other commercial contracts negotiated by the Premier League 1s not
matenal to the Company’s results of operations

Retail, Merchandising, Apparel & Product Licensing

Unhke Amencan teams in the NFL, MLB and NHL, Manchester Umted retains full control of the
use and monetization of us intellectual property rights worldwide 1n the areas of retail, merchandising,
apparel & product licensing

Our retail, merchandising, apparel & product licensing business includes the sale of sports apparel,
traiming and leisure wear and other clothing featuring the Manchester United brand as well as other
licensed products from coffee mugs to bedspreads These products arc distributed on a global basis
through Manchester Umited branded retail stores and e-commerce platform, as well as through our
partners’ wholesale distribution channels
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We have a 10-year agreement with adidas with respect to our global technical sponsorship and
dual-branded hicensing nghts, which began on 1 August 2015 The mimmum guarantee payable by
adidas over the term of the agreement 15 equal to £750 million, subject to certain adjustments
Payments due in a particular year may increase if our {irst team wins the Premier League, FA Cup or
Champions League, or decrease if our first team fails to parucipate in the Champions League for wo
or more consecutive seasons starting with the 2015/16 season, with the maximum possible increase
being £4 million per year and the maximum possible reduction being 30% of the applicable payment
for that year If the first tcam fails to participate 1in the Champions League for two or more consecutive
seasons, then the reduction 1s applied as from the year in which the second consecutive season of
non-participation falls In the event of a reduction 1n any year due to the failure to participate in the
Champions League for two or more consecutive seasons, the payments revert back 1o the onginal terms
upen the first team participating agamn 1n the Champions League Any increase or decrease n a
particular year would have the effect of increasing or decreasing the mmmmum guarantee amount of
£750 million payable over the 10-year term of the agreement

The mimmum guarantee from adidas does not include the nights with respect to mono-branded
licensing rights or the nght to create and operate Manchester United branded soccer schools, physical
retail channels and e-commerce retail channels, which rights may generate additional revenue for the
club We may also benefit from additional royalty payments upon exceeding a threshold of sales

The agreement with adidas 1s subject to reciprocal termination provisions in respect of matenal
breach and nsolvency adidas may reduce the applicable payments for a year by 50% if the first team 1s
not participating in the Enghish Premier League during that year In addition, adidas may terminate the
agreement by giving one full-season’s notice 1f the first team 1s relegated from the English Premuer
League or 1f 1t 15 otherwise determuned that the first team shall not be participating 1n the Premuer
League ar the top Enghsh league

Retail

In addition to our flagship retail store at Old Trafferd (which we operate ourselves), we have
Manchester United branded retail locations ir Macau and Thailand (which are operated by third party
licensees) We have recently appointed a Head of US Retall to explore possible retall opportunities in
the US market

Merchandising & product licensing

Following the transfer of the product hicensing business back to us from Nike, which became
effective on 1 August 2015, we have conducted a strategic review of the hicensing portfolio This review
has led to many deals not bemng renewed at expiry, as we seek to maximize revenue over a longer
period The licensees that are being extended produce a wide range of Manchester United products
which are highly sought after by our followers around the world Under our product licensing
agreements, we will receive royalties from the sales of specilic Manchester Umted branded products
Under some product licensing agreements, we will receive a mimmimum guaranteed payment from the
licensee The majonty of licensees will be granted on a non-exclusive nights basis for specific product
categories, withun a specific country or geographic region

Wholesale apparel—replica uniforms, training wear

The Manchester Umited jersey and training wear are completely redesigned for each scason The
annual launch of the new jersey 15 always a much-anucipated day for our global community of
followers The result 1s a robust wholesale apparel business
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E-commerce

We currently have an arrangement whereby Fanatics 1s granted a hicense 1o use our brand and/or
trademarks to operate the official onhine store, branded as “United Direct ” The online store sells a
range of Manchester United branded merchandise including official replica kit and other clothing from
adidas In addition, the online store offers a broad range of other apparel, equipment such as balls,
luggage and other accessories, homewares such as bedroom, kitchen and bathroom accessories, and
collectibles, souvenirs and other gifts We currently receive a percentage of net sales from the online
store as a royalty payment

We believe there 1s a significant opportunity for us to expand our e-commerce capabilities through
improved leverage of our digital media platform, and focusing on delivering a tailored digital shopping
experience at a regional level Specifically, we intend to improve our ability to offer targeted
merchandise to our followers, complemented by more efficient fulfilment mechanics, including product
delivery, availability and payment methods

Mobile & Content
Digual media

Due to the power of cur brand and the quality of our content, we have formed mobile telecom
partnerships 1 numerous countrtes Our website, www manutd com, 1s published 1n 7 languages and
over fiscal year 2016 attracted an average of approximately 34 3 million page views per month We use
our website, which incorporates e-commerce services, to communicate with our followers, promote the
Manchester Umited brand and provide a platform for our sponsors to reach our global audience

We beheve our 659 milhon global followers put us 1n prime position to capitalize on social media
outlets to further our brand A portion of this following has already taken to sccial media, as our
Facebook page had over 69 8 milhon connecuions and over one billion interacuions as of 30 June 2016
and 15 one of the most highly followed and user engaged brand pages The following graph shows the
growth 1n the number of Facebook connections since June 2012 (im millions)
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Our historical growth 1 Facebook connections does not guarantee that we will achieve comparable
growth n Facebook connections n the future

The proliferation of digital television, broadband internet, smartphones, mobile applications and
social media globally provides our business with many opportunities to extend the reach of our content
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Specifically, we intend to use our digital media platforms to generate value through extended sponsor
positioning, driving e-cormerce, and direct-to-consumer opportunities, including selling premium
services such as international digital memberships, video and exclusive content subscriptions We will
also continue to leverage our digital media platform to generate customer data and information as well
as follower profiles of commercial value (0 us, our sponsors and our media partners We beheve that 1n
the future, digital media will be one of the primary means through which we engage and interact with
our follower base

Content and localization

QOur digital media properues are an increasingly important means through which we engage with
our mternational fan base In the Umted Kingdom, coverage of Manchester United and the Premier
League 1s prevalent i prnt, television and digital media We believe we face less competition 1n
mternational markeis for Manchester Umted coverage and can therefore aitract and retain a greater
portion of our followers to our own digital media offerning To take advantage of that opportumty, we
will increasingly seek to develop additional premium and exclusive content to enhance the proposition
for our followers, members and paid subscribers around the world Qur followers generally prefer to
consume our content in their language and context We believe we can effectively deliver taillored
services to our followers globally through various language offerings, geographic targeting and
persenalized content We currently have international tanguage websites in Enghsh, Spanish, French,
Arabic, Mandann Chinese, Korean and Japanese, which enable us to engage with our followers in their
natwve language

Mobile services and applications

We currently offer digital content to mobile devices under our “MU Mobile” brand, and have
developed a mobile “Club App” that 1s currently available in 26 terntories with over 1 million
downloads to date The Club App has been developed to support a ‘test and learn’ strategy that
enables us to opumize the development of future products, with a focus on tracking the consumption of
different features and content types

We have entered nto regional agreements with mobile operators to whom we grant rights lo
operate our “MU Mobile” service in numerous countries These nights include the permission to deliver
Manchester United content to customers on a terntory-exclusive basis and certain intellectual property
nghts to market and promote the service 1n the relevant region The content provided 1ncludes
highlight clips, match and news text alerts, ringtones and wallpapers Qur mobile and
telecommunications partners operate the service on a geographically exclusive basis and use our
intellectual property to drive awareness of their brands and product offerings These partnerships are
based on contracts lasting from two to five years

There has been a significant increase 1n the prevalence of broadband mobile and video-enabled
mobile devices mn recent years Mobile devices runming the 10S or Android operating system enable
consumers to browse the internet, watch video, access dedicated applications and conduct e-commerce
As a consequence we are seeing the majornity of our followers now accessing our website and digital
content via their mobile devices

We ntend to continue developing mulu-platform mobile sites and mobile applications that will
facilitate access for our followers to our content across a range of devices and carriers in order (o meet
global demand

Video on demand

The proliferation of broadband internet and mobile access also allows us to offer video on demand
to our followers around the world Through our website and Club App, we provide video on demand to
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our followers 1 a varniety of formats and commercial models Some video on demand content 1s free to
all users, some content 15 only accessible upon registration and some content, as 1n the case of hve
preseason tour matches, has been available on a pay per view basis

Going forward, we intend to continue to leverage the strength of our video production assets to
generate improved and localized content such as high-defimuion match highlights, original studio
programs and 1n-depth features on the club’s players and history Depending on the market, we may
offer video on demand services via our media partners as part of a comprehensive suite of content
rights, as well as on a direct-to-consumer basis

Soctal media

With 659 million followers worldwide, we believe there 1s a significant opportumity to leverage the
capabilities of social media platforms to augment our relationships with our followers around the world
By establishing an official presence on these platforms, we behieve we will be able to deepen the
connections with our follower base and improve our abihty to market and sell products and services to
our followers

As of 30 June 2016 we had over 69 8 million connections on our Facebook page, over 8 million |
followers to our Twitter account and we were active on 18 platforms 1n over 20 languages We use our
social footprint as a means to communicate news and other updates, engage with our followers, 1dentify
active followers, solicit feedback from our users, tailor future digital media offerings and enhance the
overall follower expenience '

We intend to continue to expand our reach through different social media and mobile chat |
platforms by launching additional Manchester United branded presences on global platforms as well as
regional and language-specific platforms In the 2015/16 season we added Korean mobile messaging i
platform KakaoTalk to our existing roster of 18 social media feeds (7 global & 11 localised) and 7
language website versions

We believe this continuous expansion will enable us to broaden the reach of our brand and the
content we produce as well as enhance our engagement with followers in many of our key international
and emerging markets

While there 1s no guarantee that our soctal connections wili continue to grow at comparable rates
in the future, we believe the combination of platforms on which we have an official presence will
provide an ncreasing source of traffic 10 our club branded digital media services and e-commerce
properties, enhance our ability to convert users mto customers through mternational memberships,
content subscriptions and e-commerce, and continue to provide extensive positioning opportunities for
our partners

Customer relationship management

One of our ongoing strategic objectives 1s to further develop our understanding of and deepen the
relationships with our followers We operate a CRM database 1n order to better understand the size,
location, demographics and charactenstics of our follower base on an aggregated basis Our CRM
database enables us to more effectively target our product and service offerings such as digital
subscription services, merchandise and tickets A deep understanding of our follower base 1s also
valuable to sponsors and media partners who seek to access specific customer categones with targeted
and relevant advertising
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Broadcasting

We benefit from the distribution and broadeasting of live football content directly from the
revenue we receive and mdirectly through increased global exposure for our commercial partners
Broadcasting revenue 1s derived from the centrally negotiated domestic and international television and
radio rights to the Premier League, the Champions League and other competitions In addition, our
wholly-owned global television channel, MUTYV, delivers Manchester United programming to over 56
countries and territories around the world

The Prermer League and UEFA negotiate their own media rights contracts independently of the
participating clubs In respect of the Premier League, media agreements are typically three years n
duration and are centrally negonated and entered into with media distributors by the Premier League
on behalf of the member clubs Under the agreements, broadcasting revenue for each season 1s
typically shared between the clubs that are to be 1n the Premier League for the season and a part-share
for the clubs that were relegated from the Premier League 1n the previous four seasons After certain
deductions approved by the Premier League (for example, donations to “grass roots” development), the
mcome from the sale of the United Kingdom television rights 1s allocated to the current and relegated
clubs according to a formula based on, among other things, finishing position 1n the league and the
number of live television appearances Income from the sale of the nights to televise Premier League
matches by overseas broadcasters and radio 1s shared equally between the current clubs and a
part-share for the clubs that were relegated from the Premier League in the previous four seasons

In the Champions League and Europa League, media agreements are also typically three years in
duration and are collectively negotiated and entered mto by UEFA on behalf of the participating clubs
Each club receives a fixed amount for qualifying for the group stage, an additional amount for each
match played, and bonuses based on performance 1n the group and qualification for the round of 32
{Eurcpa League only), round of 16, quarter-finals and semi-finals The runner-up and winner of the
competitzon also carn additional amounts For the current 3-year agreement (which commenced i the
2015/16 scason) amounts are distributed to each club as follows

Champions Europa League
League (“UCL™) (“UEL”)
€mlhon €mllion

Bonus for group stage participation

(UCL—32 teams, UEL—48 teams) €12 70 € 260
Bonus for each group stage win (maximum 6) . € 150 € 036
Bonus for each group stage draw(1) € 050 €012
Bonus for group runners-up N/A € 030
Bonus for group winners N/A € 060
Bonus for round of 32 parucipation N/A € 050
Bonus for round of 16 participation €600 €075
Bonus for quarter-final participation € 650 €100
Bonus for semi-final participation € 750 € 160
Runner-up bonus (inclusive of ticketing revenue share) €11 00 €350
Winner bonus (inclusive of ticketing revenue share) €15 50 € 650
Maximum total of the above €57 20 €1571

(1) In the event of a draw, the non-distributed balance (UCL—€0 5 million, UEL—
€0 12 million) will be aggregated and split among the clubs that won matches at the group
stage 1n proportion to the number of matches won

In addition to the above fixed amounts, each group-stage club recerves a share of the market pool
which 1s specific to each country represented n the group-stage reflecting the relative value of its
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broadcasting agreements with UEFA 50% of each country market pool 1s distnbuted to 1ts group-stage
representatives based on cach club’s domestic performance in the previous season For the Champions
League this 1s based on league fimshing position For the Europa League this 1s based on league
fimshing position and potentially both domestic cup competitions (the winners of the FA Cup (if
participating n the Europa League) earn the highest share)

The remaining 50% of the market pool 1s distnibuted as follows

For the Champions League, based on the number of games played in the current competition
relative to teams from the same country The Enghsh market pool for the 2015/16 competition was
approximately €124 9 million This amount can vary from season to season subject to the composition
of the 32 clubs taking part in the group stage

For the Europa League, split across each round of the competihon (40% to group stage, 20% to
round of 32, 16% to round of 16, 12% to quarter-finals, 8% to semi-finals and 4% to the final) with
the revenue bewng distributed to teams who participate 1n the relevant round based on the relative
value of the country broadcasting nights The total market pool for the 2016/17 competition 1s
€160 milhon

Broadcasting revenue including, 1n some cases, prize money received by us 1n respect of various
competitions, will vary from year to year as a result of vanability 1n the amount of available prize
money and the performance of our first team 1 such competitions

MUTV

MUTYV 15 our wholly-owned global television channel and 1s broadcast in numerous countries
MUTYV broadcasts a wide variety of content which 1s compelling to our global community of followers,
including news, game highlights, and exclusive “behind the scenes” coverage our club

Depending on the market, we may offer our suite of media rights as a bundle giving exclusive
access o one multi-platform media provider or offer MUTYV as a single product to television
distnibutors MUTYV features a range of content generated from its own production facilities

In the Umited Kingdom, MUTYV 1s offered directly to consumers through the Sky and Virgin
Media distribution platforms Outside the Umited Kingdom, we offer MUTV through distnnbution
partners as part of a suite of media rights, which can be purchased on a bundled or selective basis and
can include certan promotional rights

MUTYV features a range of content, the primary categories of which are

* highhghts from games and other time-delayed game footage, both of which are subject to certan
holdback periods under the agreements between media distributors, the participating clubs and
the Premier League and UEFA,

* live coverage of promotional tours and exhibition games, and
* lifestyle programmng and other “behind the scenes” content profiling the ¢lub, our history, our
manager and our players
Matchday

Qur stadium, which we fully own, 15 called Old Trafford and 1s known as “The Theatre of
Dreams”’ We believe Old Trafford 1s one of the most famous and historic stadiums n the world
Football followers travel from all over the world to attend a match at Oid Trafford, which 15 the largest
football club stadium in the United Kingdom, with a capacity of 75,643 In the 2015/16 season, the
club’s 29 home games were attended by over 2 1 milhon people The stadium has been completely
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renovated and has all the modern luxuries of any new stadium, with approximately 8,000 executive club
seats, including 154 luxury boxes, 15 restaurants and 4 sports bars

We have one of the highest capacity utihizations among English clubs, with an average attendance
for our home Premier League matches of 99% for each season since the 1997/98 season The
substantial majority of our tickets are sold to both general admuission and executive season ticket
holders, the majority of whom pay for all their tickets 1n advance of the first game of the season We
also derive revenue from the sale of hospitality packages, food, drinks, event parking and programs on
matchdays

Other Matchday revenue includes matchday catering, event parking, program sales as well as
membership and travel, Manchester United Museum revenue and a share of the ticket revenue from
away matches in domestic cup competitions Matchday revenue also includes revenue from other events
hosted at Old Trafford, including other sporting events (including football matches as part of the
London 2012 Olympic Games and the annual Rugby Super League Grand Final}, music concerts and
cntertammment events

We operate a membership program Individuals who become official members have the
opportunity to apply for tickets to all home matches Adult official members pay £32 per season to join
the scheme while persons over the age of 65 and under the age of 18 receive a discount At the end of
the 2015/16 season we had over 141,000 members

The Manchester United Museum 1s located within Old Trafford It chronicles Manchester United’s
138-year history and houses the club’s most precious artifacts and trophies In 2015/16, we estimate that
approximately 306,000 people visited the Manchester United Museum, making 1t the most visited
football club museum 1n the United Kingdom

We aim {0 maximize ticket revenue by enhancing the mix of experiences available at each game
and providing a range of options from general admussion tickets to multi-seat facilities and hospitality
surtes In particular, we have recently increased overall Matchday revenue by restructurning the
composiiion of our stadium, with an emphasis on developing hosprtality faciliies which sell at a lmigher
price and improve our margins As part of this effort, we have invested 1n new and refurbished
multi-seat hospitahty suites as well as improvements to our single-seat facilities We expect our
enhancements to our hosputality faciities to continue to be a key dniver of our profit from Matchday
sales gowng forward

UEFA Club Licensmg and Financial Fair Play Regulations (“FFP regulations”)

In 2010, UEFA adopted the FFP regulations, which are intended to ensure the financial
self-sufficiency and sustainability of football clubs by discouraging them from continually operating at a
loss, mtroduce more discipline and rationality on club finances, ensure that clubs settle therr hiabihities
on a timely basis and encouragmg long term nvestment 1 youth development and sporting
infrastructure

The FFP regulations contain a “break-even” rule aimed at encouraging football clubs to operate
on the basis of their own revenue Therefore, owner mnvestments of equity will be allowed only within
the acceptable deviation thresholds, as described below In addiiion, the FFP regulanons provide that
football clubs who are granted a UEFA license by their national association, based largely on physical
infrastructure and personnel criteria set out by UEFA, and who then qualify for a UEFA competition
based con sporting grounds, will then be required to comply with a “monitoning” process The
monitoring process involves the submission of certain financial information (a break-even test and
payables analysis) to the Club Financial Control Body (“CFCB”) The CFCB 1s part of UEFA's Organs
for the Adminstration of Justice and compnses a team of independent financial and legal experts The
CFCB wili review financial submissions and decide what sanctions, if any, to apply to non-comphant
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clubs Any appeal must be made directly to the Court of Arbitration for Sport Potential sanctions for
non-compliance with the FFP regulations include a reprimand/warning, withholding of prize money,
fines, prohibition on registering new players for UEFA competitions and ultimately exclusion from
UEFA competitions

Ahead of registration for UEFA competitions for the 2016/17 season we submitted our payables
analysis and break-even assessment under the FFP regulations, based on our fiscal year 2015 and fiscal
year 2014 audited financial statements The break-even test result was positive 1€ a surplus The
break-even assessment 1s based on the sum of financial information for the three seasons prior to the
competition season The payables analysis 15 carned out at 30 June prior to the competition season and
1s required m tespect of payments to other clubs for transfer fees, payments to staff including players
and football staff and payments to tax authoriies UEFA has already imposed sanctions on clubs who
have breached the Licensing and FFP regulations, ranging from monetary fines, restrictions on wages
and first team squad size and hmitation on transfer expenditures, to exclusion from UEFA
competitions

Wiath respect to the break-even assessment, a club must demonstrate that its relevant “football”
income 15 equal to or exceeds 1ts “football” expenses The permitted level of deficit 1s limited over the
three year assessment period to just €5 milhion, although a larger deficit of up to €30 milion 1s
permitted provided 1t 1s reduced to the €5 milhon acceptable deviation by equity contributions from
equity participants and/or related parties Any club which exceeds the €30 milhon himat will
automatically be 1n breach of the break-even rule, unless 1t has sufficient surpluses 1n the two years
prior to the assessment period, irrespective of any equity contributions

The combined net losses of European clubs has fallen by 80% 1n the four seasons to 2014/15
compared to the three secasons to 2010/11 which would suggest that the UEFA Licensing and Financial
Fair Play Regulations are achieving thetr objectives However, UEFA has recently announced some
changes to the FFP regulations aimed pnmanly at clubs undergoing a business restructuring Instead of
breaching the FFP regulations and being subject to sanctions, the amended regulations enable clubs to
voluntanly approach the CFCB with a business plan which demonstrates how they are going to remedy
their short-term breach of FFP regulations and achieve break-even comphance over a four year time
period If the busmess plan 1s approved by the CFCB the club would not be subject to sanctions for the
restructuring year which results in a breach of the FFP regulations

We support and operate within the financial fair play regulations, and do not believe 1t will
adversely impact our ability to continue to attract some of the best players in the coming years

Premier League Short Term Costs Controls (*STCC”) and Profitability and Sustainability Regulations

In 2013, the Premier League agreed to adopt STCC and Profitability and Sustamability regulations
The STCC was introduced for an imtial period of three seasons ending 1n 2015/16 but has recently
been extended for a further three seasons through the 2018/19 season For the first three-year cycle,
Premier League teams were required to imut annual increases in aggregate player wage costs,
compared to the 2012/13 season, to £4 millhion per season for each of the three seasons, and no more
than a £12 million aggregate increase over such period, except if funded by increases in such team’s
total revenue compared to the 2012/13 season, excluding increases from Premier League broadcasting
revenue For the next three-year cycle, annual player wage cost increases will be himited to £7 mullion
per season, again as compared to the 2012/13 season, except if funded by increases n lotal revenue
from sources other than Premier League broadcasting contracts

The profitability and sustamnability regulations were mtroduced durning the 2015/16 season,
mplementing a break-even rule similar to the break-even test of the UEFA Club Licensing and
Financial Fair Play Regulations and aimed at encouraging Premier League clubs to operate withun their
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means Potential sanctions for non-comphance with the profitability and sustaimability regulations
include significant fines, player transfer restrictions and Premier League points deduction

Our first break-even assessment under the Premier League profitability and sustainability
regulations was submitted 1n March 2016, based on our fiscal year 2014 and fiscal year 2015 audited
financial statements The break-even test 1s based on a club’s audited pre-tax earnings If the
break-even test results are positive, no further action 1s required until the next break-even test If the
mmit1al test ts negative, a club 1s re-tested, using the UEFA defimtion of “adjusted earnings before tax,”
which allows credit for depreciation of tangible lxed assets and expenditure on youth development and
commumty programs If these second test results are negative by £15 million or less, no further action
15 required If a club’s losses exceed £15 million but are not mere than £105 million, the club’s
ownership must provide secure funding to avoid sanctions If these results are negative by more than
£105 milhon, regardless of ownership funding, Premier League sanctions will apply Our break-even test
result submitted 1n March 2016 was positive

As with the UEFA Club Licensing and Financial Fair Play Regulations, we support and operate
within the Premier League profitabihity and sustainability regulations, and do not believe 1t will
adversely impact our ability to continue to attract some of the best players in the coming years

Social Responsibility
The Manchester United Foundation

We are committed to a wide-ranging corporate social responsibility program through Manchester
United Foundation The charnty arm of the club, Manchester United Foundation uses football to
engage and inspire young people to build a better fe for themselves and unite the commumies 1n
which they hive Dedicated staff deliver football coaching, educational programs and personal
development, providing young people with opportunities to change their lives for the better The
Foundation has partnerships with over 20 high schools across Greater Manchester, 1n which full-time
coaches are based to work with the pupils, feeder primary schools and within the local commumty to
build lasting relationships Other mitiatives, such as Street Reds evening football provision, girls-only
sessions, and disability program, provide free football, alternative activities, qualifications and work
experience opportunitics to the young people of Greater Manchester The Foundation fulfils all
chantable activity for Manchester United, including managing the club’s long-term partnership with
UNICEEF, which operates under the United for UNICEF banner Since the start of the partnership in
1999, Manchester United and UNICEF have had a positive impact on the hves of over 3 4 million
children 1n countries across the globe, most recently i disaster-stricken Bangladesh and Vietnam

Intellectual Property

We consider intellectual property to be important to the operation of our business and cntical to
driving growth 1n our Commercial revenue, particularly with respect to sponsorship revenue Certain of
our commercial partners have rights to use cur intellectual property In order to protect our brand we
generally have contractual rights to approve uses of our mtellectual property by our commercial
partners

We consider our brand to be a key business asset and therefore have a portfolio of Manchester
United related registered trademarks and trademark applications, with an emphasis on seeking and
maintaining trademark registrations for the words “Manchester United” and the club crest We also
actively procure copyright protection and copyright ownership of matenals such as hterary works, logos,
photographic images and audio visual foolage

Enforcement of our trademark rights 1s important 1n maintamning the value of the Manchester
United brand There are numerous instances of third parties infringing our trademarks, for example,
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through the manufacture and sale of counterfent products While 1t would be cost-prohibitive to take
action 1n all instances, our aim 1s to consistently reduce the number of Manchester United related
trademark infringements by carrying out coordinated, cost-effective enforcement action on a global
basis following investigation of suspected trademark infringements Enforcement action takes a variety
of forms In the United Kingdom, we work with enforcement authonties such as trading standards and
customs authorities to seize counterfeit goods and to stop the activities of unauthorized sellers
Overseas enforcement action 1s taken by approved lawyers and investigators Those lawyers and
investigators are instructed to work with, where feasible, representatives of other football clubs and
brands that are experiencing similar 1ssues within the relevant country in order that our enforcement
action costs can be muumized as far as possible We also wark with the Premier League 1n respect of
infringements that affect multiple Premier League clubs, 1n particular in Asia We also take direct legal
action agamst infringers, for example, by 1ssuing cease and desist letters or seeking compensation when
we consider that 1t 15 appropniate (o do so

In relation to matenals for which copynght protection 1s available (such as hiterary waorks, logos,
photograpluc 1mages and audio visual footage), our current practice 1s generally to secure copyright
ownership where possible and appropriate For example, where we are working with third parues and
copyright protected maternals are being created, we generally try to secure an assignment of the
relevant copyright as part of the commercial contract However, 1t 1s not always possible to secure
copynight ownerstup For example, in the case of audio visual footage relating to football competitions,
copynight will generally vest 1n the competition organizer and any exploitation by Manchester United
Limited of such footage will be the subject of a license from the competition organizer

As part of our ongotng mvestment 1nto ntellectual property, we have implemented a program Lo
detect intellectual property infringement in a digital environment and which facihtates taking action
against infringers

Competition

From a business perspective, we compete across many different indusiries and within many
different markets We believe our prnimary sources of competition include, but are not hmited to

* Football clubs. We compete agamst other football ctubs in the Premier League for match
attendance and Matchday revenue We compete agamst football clubs around Europe and the
rest of the world to attract the best players and coaches 1n the global transfer and football staff
markets

* Television media. We recerve media income primarily from the Premier League and Champions
League media contracts, each of which 1s collectively negotiated Further details of such
arrangements are set out in the section headed “—Revenue Sectors—Broadcasting ” On a
coliecuive level, and 1n respect of those media rights we retain, we compele against other types
of televiston programming for broadcaster attention and advertiser income both domesucally and
in other markets around the world

* Dugital media  We compete agamnst other digital content providers for consumer attention and
leisure time, advertiser income and consumer e-commerce activity

* Merchandise and apparel. We compete aganst other providers of sports apparel and equipment

Sponsorshup. As a result of the international recogmitton and quality of our brand, we compete
agamnst many different outlets for corporate sponsorship and advertising income, including other
sports and other sports teams, other entertainment and events, television and other traditional
and digital media outlets
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* Liwve entertminment 'We compete against alternative forms of live entertainment for the sale of
matchday tickets, including other live sports, concerts, festivals, theatre and similar events

As a result, we do not believe there 1s any single market for which we have a well-defined group of
competitors

Real Property

We own or lease property dedicated to our football and other operations The most sigmficant of
our real properties 15 Old Trafford The following table sets out our key owned and leased properties
In connectton with our revolving facihty, our secured term loan facility and the 2027 Notes, several of
our owned properties, including Old Trafford are encumbered with land charges as secunty for all
obligations under those agreements, although (a) Manchester International Freight Terminal 1s not
encumbered as 1t has already been given as security under the Alderley Facility, and (b) the Aon
Training Complex 15 not encumbered

Key propesty and location Primary function Owned/leased Owner/lessee Area
(approx m?)
Old Trafford Football Stadium Manchester Football stadium Owned (frechold) Manchester Umted Limited 205 000
Aon Traimng Complex, Carrington ‘Trafford Foothall traiming facily  Owned (frechold)  Manchesier Unued Limated 440 000
Linleton Road Training Ground Salford Football training facibity  Owned (frechold)  Manchester United Limited 84,000
The Clff, Lower Broughton Road, Salford Football trmning factty  Owned (frechold)  Manchester United Limited 28000
Manchester International Freight Termanal,
Westinghouse Road Trafford Park, Manchester Investment Property Lcased (through Alderley Urban 107,000
March 2071) Investments Limted
Land and buildings at Wharfside, Trafford Park,
Manchester Investment Property Owned (frechold)  Manchester United Limuted 27,100
Land and buildings on the southwest side of
Trafford Whatf Road, Manchester Offices and Car Owned (frechold)  Manchester Umted Limited 23,060
Parking
Land and buildings at Canalside, Trafford Park,
Manchester Invesiment Property Owned (frechold)  Manchester United Limited 10,800
Office spuace, Chester Road, Manchester Qffices Leased (through Manchester United Limited 1176
November 2018)
Office space central London Offices Leased (through Muanchesier United Limited L1vu
March 2021)
Office space Washington D C, United States Offices Leased (through Manchester United Lemited 658
Febroary 2020)
Office space, central Hong Kong Offices Lcased (through Manchester United Limuted 500

August 2020)

Legal Proceedings

We are nvolved 1n various routine legal proceedings incident to the ordinary course of our
business We believe that the outcome of all pending legal proceedings, 1n the aggregate, will not have
a matenal adverse effect on our business, financial condition or operating results Further, we believe
that the probability of any material losses ansing from these legal proceedings 1s remote

Subsidiaries

Our directly or indirectly wholly-owned principal subsidiaries are Red Football Finance Limited,
Red Football Holdings Limited, Red Football Shareholder Limited, Red Football Joint Venture
Limited, Red Football Limited, Red Football Jumor Limited, Manchester United Limited, Alderley
Urban Investments Limited, Manchester United Commercial Enterprises (Ireland) Limited, Manchester
United Football Club Limited, Manchester United Interactive Limited, Manchester Umted Commercial
Holdings Limited, Manchester United Commercial Holdings Jumor Limited, MU Finance plc, MU
RAML Limited, and MUTYV Limited All of the above are incorporated and operate in England and
Wales, with the exception of Red Football Finance Limited which 1s incorporated and operates in the
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Cayman Islands and Manchester United Commercial Enterprises (Ireland) Limited which 15
incorporated and operates mn Ireland

Customers

Our top five customers represented 54 4%, 54 9% and 51 1% of our total revenue n each of the
years ended 30 June 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively Qur top five customers n the year ended
30 June 2016 were the Premier League, adidas, General Motors (Chevrolet), UEFA and Aen See
“Item 3 D Rusk Factors—Risks Related to Our Busimess—We are exposed to credit related losses 1in
the event of non-performance by counterparties to Premer League and UEFA media contracts as well
as our key commercial and transfer contracts ¥ Qur top customer was the Premier League, who
represented 19 4%, 25 4% and 21 4% of our total revenue 1n each of the years ended 30 June 2016,
2015 and 2014, respectively Our second largest customer was adidas, who represented 14 1%, of our
total revenue in the year ended 30 June 2016 Our third largest customer was General Motors
(Chevrolet), who represented 11 4%, 14 8% and 4 6% of our total revenue in each of the years ended
30 June 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively

ITEM dA. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None

ITEM 5. OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

The following discussion should be read in conyunction with our consolidated financial statements and
notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report

Overview

We are one of the most popular and successful sports teams in the world, playmng one of the most
popular spectator sports on Earth Through our 138-year heritage we have won 64 trophies, including a
record 20 English league utles, enabling us to develop what we believe 1s one of the world’s leading
sports brands and a global communty of 659 mithon followers Qur large, passionale commumty
provides Manchester United with a worldwide platform to generate sigmificant revenue from multiple
sources, including sponsorship, merchandising, product licensing, mobile & content, broadcasting and
matchday We attract leading global companies such as adidas, Aon and General Motors (Chevrolet)
that want access and exposure to our community of followers and association with our brand

How We Generate Revenue

We operate and manage our business as a single reporting segment—the operation of a
professional sports team We review our revenue through three principal sectors—Commercial,
Broadeasting and Matchday—and withuin the Commercial revenue sector, we have three revenue
streams which monetize our global brand sponsorship revenue, retail, merchandising, apparel &
product licensing revenue, and mobile & content revenue

Revenue Drivers

Commeraal

Our fastest growing source of revenue 15 derived from sponsors and commercial partners We
generate our Commercial revenue with low fixed costs and small mcremental costs for each additional
sponsor, making our commercial operations a relatively high margin and scalable part of our business
and a pnincipal dnver of growth for our overall profitabiity Total Commercial revenue for the year
ended 30 June 2016 was £268 3 million
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Sponsorship

We monetize the value of our global brand and community of followers through sponsorship
relationshups with leading international and regional companies around the globe To better capitalize
on the strength of our brand, we have developed a global, regional and product segmentation strategy
Global sponsors include leading brands such as 20t Century Fox, adidas, Aeroflot, Aon, Aperol Spritz,
Apollo Tyres, Concha y Toro, DHL, Electronic Arts, Epson, General Motors (Chevrolet), Gulf Oil,
Kansa1 Paint, Nissin Foods Group, Toshiba Medical Systems and Yanmar In addition, we also have
regicnal sponsors such as Cho-A Pharm, EuroFood, Hong Kong Jockey Club, Manda, Nexon and
You-C1000 who are sponsors across a vanety of products and categones 1n certain regions and local
markets around the world

The growing appeal of our brand 1s evident 1n the increase 1n sponsorship revenues n recent years,
which show a 8 6% compound annual growth rate from fiscal year 2014 through fiscal year 2016 (the
growth rate from fiscal year 2015 to fiscal year 2016 was 3 4% and from fiscal year 2014 to fiscal year
2015 was 14 0%) A partnership with Manchester Umted provides corporations with the ability to
associate themselves with the highly successful Manchester United brand and a global marketing
platform to quickly and effectively amphfy thewr brand and message to their potential customers

Our current shirt sponsor 1s General Motors (Chevrolet) The shirt sponsorship agreement began
m the 2014/15 seascn and runs through to the end of the 2020/21 season, with total fees payable of
approximately $559 million We received approximately $18 6 million 1n each of the 2012/13 and
2013/14 seasons relating to pre-sponsorship support and exposure, with the remaming $521 8 million to
be receved and recogmzed over seven years through to the end of the 2020/21 season

QOur current traiming facilities and traiming kit partner 15 Aon Aon are also the presenting partner
for all our pre-season tours Our agreement with Aon runs through to the end of the 2020/21 season

Total sponsorship revenue for the year ended 30 June 2016 was £160 1 million

Retarl, Merchandising, Apparel & Product Licensing

Our retail, merchandising, apparel & product licensing busmess includes the sale of sports apparel,
training and leisure wear and other clothing featuring the Manchester United brand as well as other
licensed products from coffee mugs to bedspreads These products are distnibuted on a global basis
through Manchester United branded retail stores and e-commerce platform, as well as through our
partners’ wholesale distribution channels

We have a 10-year agreement with adidas with respect to our global technical sponsorship and
dual-branded heensing rights, which began on 1 August 2015 See “Item 4 Information on the
Company—Revenue Sectors—Commercial—Retail, Merchandising, Apparel & Product Licensing”
above for additional nformation regarding our agreement with adidas

Total retail, merchandising, apparel & product licensing revenue for the year ended 30 June 2016
was £97 3 milhon
Mobile & Content

Due to the strength of our brand and the quality of our content, we have formed mobile telecom
partnerships in numerous countries In addition, we market content directly to our followers through
our website, www manutd com, and associated mobile properties Total mobile & content revenue for
the year ended 30 June 2016 was £10 9 million
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Broadcasting

We benefit from the distribution of live football content directly from the revenue we receve and
mndirectly through mcreased global exposure for our commercial partners Broadcasting revenue 18
derived from our share of the global television nghts relating to the Premier League, UEFA
Champions League and other competitions The growing populanty of the Premier League and UEFA
Champions League 1n international markets and the associated increases in media rights values have
been major dovers of the increase in our overall Broadcasting revenue 1n recent years The Premuer
League’s new UK television nights contract with Sky Sports and BT Sport 1s worth £5 136 billion from
the 2016/17 season to the 2018/19 season for its live domestic nights The deal marked a sigmficant
increase of over 70% on the previous contract, which was worth £3 018 billion and ran from the
2013/14 season through the 2015/16 season, and represents the largest UK TV rights deal ever signed
In addition, the value of the mternational broadcast nights for the seasons 2016/17 through to 2018/19
has also increased significantly to £3 2 bilhon which represents an increase of over 40% compared to
the £2 2 billion generated from the previous three-year cycle ended 1n season 2015/16 Our share of the
revenue under the Premuer League broadcasting rights contract amounted to £95 7 million,
£96 6 milhon and £88 9 million for the 2015/16, 214/15 and 2013/14 seasons, respectively, and our
share of the revenue from broadcasting rights for UEFA competitions amounted to £31 3 milhon,
£2 1 milhion (being distnbutions from UEFA relating to the previous season’s competition) and
£39 3 milion for the 2015/16, 2014/15 and 2013/14 seasons, respectively Our partictpation n the
Premier League and UEFA Champions League and/or Europa League (and consequently, our receipt
of the revenue generated by these broadcasting contracts) 1s predicated on the success of our first
team, and 1f our first team fails to qualify for these UEFA competitions or 1s relegated from the
Premier League in any given season, our Broadcasting revenue for that and subsequent fiscal years will
be adversely impacted, partially offset by lower operating expenses As a result of our first team
performance dunng the 2015/16 season, our first team will not participate 1n the 2016/17 Champions
League but will participate m the 2016/17 UEFA Europa League In addition, our global television
channel, MUTYV, delivers Manchester United programming to over 56 countries and territories around
the world MUTYV generated total revenue of £9 0 milhon, £7 7 milhon and £6 7 million for each of the
years ended 30 June 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively Total Broadcasting revenue for the year ended
30 June 2016 was £140 4 mulhon

Matchday

Matchday revenue 1s a function of the number of games played at Old Trafford, the size and
seating compesition of Old Trafford, attendance at our matches and the prices of tickets and hospitality
sales A sigrificant driver of Matchday revenue 15 the number of home games we play at Old Trafford,
which 1s based on 19 Premier League matches and any additional matches resulung from the success of
our first team 1n the FA Cup, EFL Cup and European competitions QOur participation n the Premier
League and European competitions (and consequently, our receipt of the revenue generated by these
matches) 1s predicated on the success of our first team, and 1f our first team fails to quahfy for
European competitions or 1s relegated from the Premier League in any given season, our Matchday
revenue for that and subsequent fiscal years will be adversely impacted, parually offset by lower
resulting expenses Average attendance for our home Premier League matches has been approximately
99% for each season since the 1997/98 season, with strong attendance for European competitions, FA
Cup and EFL Cup matches Total Matchday revenue for the year ended 30 June 2016 was
£106 6 million, which primarily included £52 3 milhon from gate receipts and £34 3 million from
hospitality
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Other Factors That Affect Qur Financial Performance
Employee benefit expenses

Player and staff compensation comprise the majority of cur operating costs Of our total operating
costs, player costs, which consist of salaries, bonuses, benefits and national wsurance contributions are
the primary component Compensation to non-player staff, which includes our manager and coaching
staff, also accounts for a sigmificant portion Competition from top clubs 1n the Premier League and
Europe has resulted 1n increases 1n player and manager salaries, forcing clubs to spend an increasing
amount on player and staff compensation, and we expect this trend to continue In addition, as our
commercial operations grow, we expect our headcount and related expenses to increase as well

Other operating expenses

Our other operating expenses include certan variable costs such as matchday catering, policing,
security stewarding and cleaning at Old Trafford, visitor gateshare for domestic cups, and costs related
to the delivery on media and commercial sponsorship contracts Other operating expenses also include
certain fixed costs, such as operating lease costs and property costs, matntenance, human resources,
traiming and developments costs, and professional fees

Amortization and depreciation

We amortize the capitabized costs associated with the acquisition of players’ and key football
management staff registrations These costs are amortized over the period of the employment contract
agreed with a player/key football management staff If a player or key football management staff
extends his contract prior to the end of the pre-existing period of employment, the remaining
unamortized portion of the acquisition cost 15 amortized over the period of the new contract Changes
in amorhization of the costs of players’ and key football management staff registrations from year to
year and period to period reflect additional fees paid for the acqusition of players and key football
management staff, the umpact of contract extensions and the disposal of registrations As such,
mncreased players’ and key football management stall registration costs 1n any period could cause higher
amortization 1n that period and mn future penods and have a negative impact on our results of
operations Moreover, to the extent that the player and key football management staff registration costs
vary from penod to penod, this may drive vanability 1n our results of operations We also amortize the
capitalized costs associated with the acquisition of other intangible assets over their estimated useful
lives, which 1s typically between 5 and 10 years

Depreciation primanly reflects a straight-line depreciation on mvestments made 1n property, plant
and equipment Depreciation over the periods under review results primarily from the depreciation of
Old Trafford, including incremental improvements made to Old Trafford each season

Excepnional items

Excepticnal operating costs are those costs that in management’s judgment need to be disclosed by
virtue of therr size, nature or incidence 1n order to provide a proper understanding of our results of
operations and financial condition

(Loss)/profit on disposal of intangible assets

We recognize profits or losses on the disposal of intangible assets (primanly players’ registrations)
1n our mcome statement Acquisitions and disposals of players are discretionary and we make transfer
decisions based upon the requirements of our first team and the overall availability of players These
requirements and the availability of players, and resulting profits or losses on disposals, may vary from
peniod to period, contributing to variability 1n our results of operations between periods

59




Finance costs

A key component of our expenses during each of the past three fiscal years has been nterest costs
We expect mnterest expense to continue to be a significant component of our expenses Net finance
costs were £20 0 million for the year ended 30 June 2016 See “ltem 5 B Liquidity and Capital
Resources—Indebtedness ™

On 26 June 2015, we 1ssued $425 0 mullion n aggregate principal amount of the 2027 Notes The
proceeds from the sale of the 2027 Notes were used to redeem the $269 2 nullion 1n aggregate
principal amount of our outstanding 8%% US dollar senior secured notes due 2017 (the “2017 Dollar
Notes”) at a redemption price equal to 102 09375% of the principal amount of such notes plus accrued
and unpaid interest to the date of such redemption and to repay $90 7 mullion of our existing secured
term loan

Taxes

During each of the three years ended 30 June 2016, 2015 and 2014, our principal operating
subsidiaries were tax residents in the UK Durning the year ended 30 June 2016, we were subject to a
weighted UK statutory tax rate of 20 0%, during the year ended 30 June 2015, we were subject to a
weighted statutory tax rate of 20 75% and during the year ended 30 June 2014, we were subject to a
weighted statutory tax rate of 22 5%

Although we are orgamized as a Cayman Islands exempted company, we report as a US domestic
corporation for US federal income tax purposes As a result, our worldwide income 1s also subject to
US taxes at the US statutory rate of 35% We expect to utihze a credit in the United States for the UK
taxes paxd and thercfore we do not expect to be double taxed on our income Over the next few years,
our effective tax rate may be velatile primanly due to the potential mismatch in the recognition of UK
current tax habilities and US deferred tax assets During the same period we expect our total cash tax
rate to be lower than the US statutory rate of 35% due to future US tax deductions related to
differences 1n the book and tax basis of our assets as of the date of the reorgamzation Thereafter, we
expect our cash tax rate to align more closely with US statutory rate of 35%

We may alse be subject to US state and local income (franchise) taxes based generally upon where
we are doing business These tax rates vary by junisdiction and the tax base Generally, state and local
taxes are deductible for US federal income tax purposes Furthermore, because most of our subsidianes
are disregarded from their owner for US federal income tax purposes, we arc not able to control the
timing of much of our US federal income tax exposure In calculating our hability for US federal
income tax, however, certain of our deductible expenses are higher than the amount of those same
expenses under UK corporation tax rules, owing to differences in the relevant rules of the two
junisdictions and the related difference 1n the opening book versus tax basis of our assets and habilities
Finally, our UK tax hability can be credited against our US federal income tax habilities, subject to US
rules and hhmitations Nevertheless, over time we expect to pay higher amounts of tax than had we
remained solely hiable to tax in the United Kingdom As a result, over ime we do not expect our
future taxation, either with respect to nomnal tax rates, effective tax rates or total hability, to be
comparable to those we experienced 1n the three fiscal years preceding the reorganizauon transactions

Seasonality

We experience seasonality in our sales and cash flow, hmiting the overall comparabihity and
predictability of interim financial periods In any given mterim period, our total revenue can vary based
on the number of games played 1n that peniod, which affects the amount of Matchday and Broadcasting
revenue recogmzed Simularly, certan of our costs derve from hosting games at Old Trafford, and these
costs will also vary based on the number of games played in the period We histonically recognize the
most revenue 1n our second and third fiscal quarters due to the scheduling of matches However, a
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strong performance by our first team 1n the Champions League and domestic cups could result mn
sigmficant additional Broadcasting and Matchday revenue, and consequently we may also recognize the
most revenue 1n our fourth fiscal quarter 1n those years Our cash flow may also vary among mterim
pertods due to the timing of significant payments from major commercial agreements As such, though
we report mterim results of operations for our first, second and third fiscal quarters, in managing our
business, setting goals and assessing performance we focus primarily on our full-year results of
operations rather than our mnterim results of operations

A. OPERATING RESULTS

The following table shows selected audited consolidated mncome statement data for the years ended
30 June 2016, 2015 and 2014

Year ended 30 June

2016 2015 2014
(£7000)

Income Statement Data
Revenue 515,345 395,178 433,164

Analyzed as

Commercial revenue 268,318 196,931 189,315

Broadcasting revenue 140,440 107,664 135,746

Matchday revenue 106,587 90,583 108,103
Operating expenses—before exceptional items (421,574) (384,843) (367,056)

Analyzed as

Employee benefit expenses (232,242) (202,561) (214,803)

Other operating expenses (91,244) (72,271) (88,298)

Depreciation . (10,079) (10,324}  (8,665)

Amortization (88,009) (99,687) (55,290)
Operating expenses—exceptional 1tems (15,135)  (2,336)  (5,184)
Total operating expenses (436,709) (387,179) (372,240)
Operating profit before profit on disposal of intangible assets 78,636 7,999 60,924
(Loss)/profit on disposal of intangible assets (9,786} 23,649 6,991
Operating profit 68,850 31,648 67,915
Finance costs (20,459) (35,419) (27,668)
Finance income 442 204 256
Net finance costs (20,017) (35,215) (27,412)
Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before tax 48,833 (3,567) 40,503
Tax (expense)/credit {12,462) 2,672  (16,668)
Profit/(loss) for the year 36,371 (895) 23,835
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Year Ended 30 June 2016 as Compared to the Year Ended 30 June 2015

Year ended
_30_"_ une % Change
2016 2015 2016 over 2015
(in £ milhons)

Revenue 5153 3952 304%
Commercial revenue 2683 1969 363%
Broadcasuing revenue 1404 1077 304%
Matchday revenue 106 6 906 17 7%

Toltal operating expenses (436 6) (3872) 12 8%
Employee benefit expenses (2322) (2026) 14 6%
Other operating expenses (912) (723) 261%
Depreciation (101) (103) (1 9%
Amortization (880) (997) A1 7N %
Exceptional items (151) (23) 556 5%

(Loss)/profit on disposal of mtangible assets . (98) 2306 —_

Net finance costs (200) (352) (43 2)Y%

Tax (expense)/credit (125) 27 —

Revenue

Our consolidated revenue for the year ended 30 June 2016 was £515 3 million, an increase of
£120 1 mulhon, or 30 4%, compared to the year ended 30 June 2015, as a result of an mcrease n
revenue 1n all our sectors, as described below

Commercial revenue

Commercial revenue for the year ended 30 June 2016 was £268 3 million, an increase of
£71 4 million, or 36 3%, over the year ended 30 June 2015

+ Sponsorship revenue for the year ended 30 June 2016 was £160 1 milhon, an increase of
£5 2 mullion, or 3 4%, over the year ended 30 June 2015, primanly due to the activation of
several new global and regional sponsorship deals

* Retail, merchandising, apparel & product hicensing revenue for the year ended 30 June 2016 was
£97 3 million, an mcrease of £65 7 million, or 207 9%, over the year ended 30 June 2015,
primartly due to the commencement of the new agreement with adidas on 1 August 2015, which
included a step-up on minimum guaranteed revenues and contribution from several businesses
previously operated by Nike

* Mobile & Content revenue for the year ended 30 June 2016 was £10 9 mullion, an ncrease of
£0 5 mullion, or 4 8%, over the year ended 30 June 2015

Broadcasting revenue

Broadcasting revenue for the year ended 30 June 2016 was £140 4 million, an increase of
£32 7 million, or 30 4%, over the year ended 30 June 2015, pnimanly due to participation in UEFA
competitions

Matchday revenue

Matchday revenue [or the year ended 30 June 2016 was £106 6 million, an increase of
£16 0 mullien, or 17 7%, over the year ended 30 June 2015, pnmanly due to parucipation in UEFA
competitions plus domestic cup progression
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Total operanng expenses

Total operanng expenses (defined as employee benefit expenses, other operating expenses,
depreciation, amortization and exceptional 1tems) for the year ended 30 June 2016 were £436 6 million,
an mcrease of £49 4 milhion, or 12 8%, over the year ended 30 June 2015

Employee benefit expenses

Employee benefit expenses for the year ended 30 June 2016 were £232 2 mullion, an increase of
£29 6 milhion, or 14 6%, over the year ended 30 June 2015, prmarnly due to renewals of existing player
contracts, coupled with an uplift in annual player salaries due to participation i the UEFA Champions
League

Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses for the year ended 30 June 2016 were £91 2 milhion, an increase of
£18 9 mulhion, or 26 1%, over the year ended 30 June 2015, pnmanly due to retail, merchandising,
apparel and licensing costs now being recognized internally, plus an increase in matchday costs as a
result of playing eight additional home games 1n the current year

Depreciation

Depreciation for the year ended 30 June 2016 amounted to £10 1 mullion, a decrease of
£0 2 million, or 1 9%, over the year ended 30 June 2015

Amortization

Amortization, primarily of players’ registrations, for the year ended 30 June 2016 was
£88 0 million, a decrease of £11 7 million, or 11 7%, over the year ended 30 June 2015 The decrcase in
amortization was primanly due to player disposals during fiscal year 2016 (mainly D1 Marna and
Falcao) The unamortized balance of registrations as of 30 June 2016 was £241 7 million, of which
£110 1 mulhion s expected to be amortized 1n the year ending 30 June 2017 The remaimming balance 1s
expected to be amortized over the three years ending 30 June 2020 This does not take 1nto account
player acquisitions afier 30 June 2016, which would have the effect of increasing the amortization
expense n future perieds, nor does 1t consider player departures subsequent to 30 June 2016, which
would have the effect of decreasing future amortization charges Furthermore, any contract
renegotiations would also impact future charges

Exceptional ttems

Exceptional items for the year ended 30 June 2016 were £15 1 milhon, of which £8 4 mullion
related Lo compensation to the former manager and certain members of the coaching staff for loss of
office and £6 7 million related to a registrations’ impairment charge regarding a reduction n the
carrying value of a player no longer considered to be a member of the first team playing squad
Excepticnal tems for the year ended 30 June 2015 were £2 3 million, of which £1 2 million related to
the present value of the additicnal contributions we are expected to pay to remedy the revised deficit
of the Football League pension scheme as per the latest trienmal actuarnial valuation at 31 August 2014
and £1 1 milhon related to professional adviser fees related to public sales of our Class A ordinary
shares

(Laoss)/profit on disposal of intangible assets

Loss on disposal of intangible assets for the year ended 30 June 2016 was £9 8 million, compared
to a profit of £23 6 mullion for the year ended 30 June 2015 The loss on disposal of intangible assets
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for the year ended 30 June 2016 primanly related to the disposal of D1 Mana (Pans St-Germain) The
profit on disposal of intangible assets for the year ended 30 June 2015 primarily related to the disposals

of Welbeck (Arsenal) and Nam (Fenerbache)

Net finance costs

Net finance costs for the year ended 30 June 2016 were £20 0 milhion, a decrease of £15 2 mulhion,
or 43 2%, over the year ended 30 June 2015, including a reduction n nterest payable on our secured
term loan faciity and semor secured notes following the refinancing m June 2015

Tax

The tax expense for the year ended 30 June 2016 was £12 5 nmuthon, compared to a tax credit of
£2 7 million for the year ended 30 June 2015, primarnly due to the result before tax in the respective
years and foreign exchange gains on the re-measurement of deferred tax assets denominated in US

dollars

Year Ended 30 June 2015 as Compared to the Year Ended 30 June 2014

Year ended
___.,_________30 June % Change
2015 2014 2015 over 2014
(in £ millions)

Revenue 3952 4332 (8 8)%
Commercal revenue 1969 1893 4 0%
Breoadcasting revenue 1077 1358 (20 Y%
Matchday revenue 906 1081 (16 2)%

Total operating expenses (3872) (3723) 4 0%
Employee benefit expenses {202 6) (214 8) (5 N%
Other operating expenses (723) (883) (18 %
Depreciation (10 3) (87) 18 4%
Amortizalion (997) (553) 80 3%

(23)  (52)  (558)%

236 70 237 1%

(352) (274) 28 5%
27 (167 —

Exceptional items
Profit on disposal of intangible assets
Net finance costs
Tax credit/(expense)

Revenue

Our consohidated revenue for the year ended 30 June 2015 was £395 2 million, a decrease of
£38 0 million, or 8 8%, compared to the year ended 30 June 2014, as a result of a decrease 1n revenue
in our Broadcasting and Matchday sectors, which was partially offset by an increase n revenue 1n our
Commeracial sector, as described below

Commercial revenue

Commercial revenue for the year ended 30 June 2015 was £196 9 milhon, an increase of
£7 6 mullion, or 4 0%, over the year ended 30 June 2014

* Sponsorship revenue for the year ended 30 June 2015 was £154 9 million, an increase of

£19 1 million, or 14 1%, over the year ended 30 June 2014, primanly due to the commencement
of the seven-year General Motors (Chevrolet) shirt sponsorship and the activation of several

new global and regional sponsorship deals
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* Retail, merchandising, apparel & product hicensing revenue for the year ended 30 June 2015 was
£31 6 million, a decrease of £5 9 mithon, or 15 7%, over the year ended 30 June 2014, pnimanly
due to reduced Nike guaranteed revenue due to non-participation in UEFA competitions n the
current season

* Mobile & Content revenue for the year ended 30 June 2015 was £10 4 milhion, a decrease of
£5 6 muillion, or 35 0%, over the year ended 30 June 2014, due to the expiration of a few of our
mobile partnerships

Broadcasting revenue

Broadcasting revenue for the year ended 30 June 2015 was £107 7 million, a decrease of
£28 1 mallion, or 20 7%, over the year ended 30 June 2014, primarily due to non-participation in UEFA
competitions, partially offset by an increase in merit payments due to a higher Premier League finish

Matchday revenue

Matchday revenue for the year ended 30 June 2015 was £90 6 million, a decrease of £17 5 mallion,
or 16 2%, over the year ended 30 June 2014, primanly due to non-participation in UEFA competitions

Total operanting expenses

Total operating expenses (defined as employee benefit expenses, other operating expenses,
depreciation, amortization and exceptional stems) for the year ended 30 June 2015 were £387 2 mullion,
an wncrease of £14 9 milhon, or 4 0%, over the year ended 30 June 2014

Employee benefit expenses

Employee benefit expenses for the year ended 30 June 2015 were £202 6 nullion, a decrease of
£12 2 mullion, or 5 7%, over the year ended 30 June 2014, primarily due to lower player wages

Qther operating expenses

Other operating expenses for the year ended 30 June 2015 were £72 3 million, a decrease of
£16 0 mullion, or 18 1%, over the year ended 30 June 2014, primarily due to non-participation in UEFA
competitions

Depreciation

Depreciation for the year ended 30 June 2015 amounted to £10 3 million, an increase of
£1 6 million, or 18 4%, over the year ended 30 June 2014, pnimanly due to capital expenditure at the
Aon Tramnmg Complex and the Old Trafford stadium

Amontization

Amortization, primarily of players’ registrations, for the year ended 30 June 2015 was
£99 7 million, an increase of £44 4 mullion, or 80 3%, over the year ended 30 June 2014 The increase n
amortization wdas primarily due 1o player acqusitions during the year {mainly Dt Mana, Falcao and
Shaw) The unamortized balance of registrations as of 30 June 2015 was £238 1 mullion, of which
£92 6 mulhion 15 expected to be amortized 1n the year ending 30 June 2016 The remaining balance 15
expected to be amortized over the three years ending 30 June 2019 This does not take into account
player acquisitions after 30 June 2015, which would have the effect of increasing the amortization
expense 1n future penods, nor dees 1t consider player departures subsequent to 30 June 2015, which
would have the effect of decreasing future amortization charges Furthermore, any contract
renegotiations would also impact future charges
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Exceptional items

Exceptional items for the year ended 30 June 2015 were £2 3 million, of which £1 2 million refated
to the present value of the addional contributions we are expected to pay to remedy the revised
deficit of the Football League pension scheme as per the latest trienmal actuanial valuation at
31 August 2014 and £1 1 million related to professional adviser fees related to public sales of our
Class A ordinary shares by Red Football LLC and the Edward S Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Trust
Exceptional items for the year ended 30 June 2014 were £5 2 milhion, of which £4 9 million related to
compensation pard to the former manager and certain members of the coaching staff on toss of office
and £0 3 milhon related to mvestment property impairment charges

Prafit on disposal of intangible assets

Profit on disposal of intangible assets for the year ended 30 June 2015 was £23 6 million, an
increase of £16 6 milhion, or 237 1%, over the year ended 30 June 2014 The profit on disposal of
intangible assets for the year ended 30 June 2015 primarnly related to the disposal of Welbeck
(Arsenal) and Nam (Fenerbache) The profit on disposal of intangible assets for the year ended
30 June 2014 related to the disposals of Buttner (Dynamo Moscow), Cole (Fulham), Tunmcliffe
(Futham), James (Leicester), Dachli (Molde) and Wooton {Leeds)

Net finance costs

Net finance costs for the year ended 30 June 2015 were £35 2 million, an mncrease of £7 8 million,
or 28 5%, over the year ended 30 June 2014 The increase was primarily due to a £3 6 milhon premum
on the repurchase of our 2017 Dollar Notes and £3 8 million of non-cash accelerated amortization of
finance and 1ssue costs primarily related to the repurchase of our 2017 Dollar Notes The debt
refinancing in June 2015 included the ssue of $425 0 million 1n aggregate principal amount of 2027
Notes, the redemption of the remaining $26% 2 million 1n aggregate principal amount of our
outstanding 2017 Dollar Notes and the repayment of $90 7 million of our existing secured term loan

Tax

The tax credit for the year ended 30 June 2015 was £2 7 million, compared to a tax expense of
£16 7 mullion for the year ended 30 June 2014, primarily due to the result before tax in the respective
years

Cnitical Accounting Estimates and Judgments

The preparation of our financial information requires management to make estimates, judgments
and assumptions concermng the future Estimates, judgments and assumptions are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results

For a summary of all of our significant accounting policies, see note 2 to our audited consolidated
financial statements as of 30 June 2016 and 2015 and for the years ended 30 June 2016, 2015 and 2014
mcluded elsewhere in this Annual Report

The JOBS Act permuits an “emerging growth company” like us to take advantage of an extended
transition period to comply with new or revised accounting standards applicable to public companies
At the effective date of our PO, we chose to “opt out” of this provision and, as a result, we are
complying with, and will continue 1o comply with, new or revised accounting standards as required
when they are adopted Our decision to opt out of the extended transition peniod 1s irrevocable
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We believe that the following accounting policies reflect the most critical judgments, estimates and
assumptions and are significant to the consolidated financial statements

Revenue recognition
Commercal

Commercial revenue comprises revenue recetvable from the exploitation of the Manchester United
brand through sponsorship and other commercial agreements, including minimum guaranteed revenue,
revenue recewvable from retailing Manchester Umted branded merchandise in the UK and hcensing the
manufacture, distnbution and sale of such goods globally, and fees for the Manchester United first
team undertaking tours

Mimmum guaranteed revenue 15 recognized over the term of the sponsorship agreement 1n line
with the performance obligations mcluded within the contract and based on the sponsorship benefits
enjoyed by the individual sponsor In instances where the sponsorship rights remain the same over the
duration of the contract, revenue 1s recognized on a straight-line basis

The mimmmum guarantee payable by adidas over the term of our agreement with them 1s equal to
£750 milhion, subject to certain adjustments Payments due 1in a particular year may increase if our first
tcam wins certain competitions or decrease 1if our first team fails to participate in the Champions
League for two or more consecutive seasons starting with the 2015/16 season, with the maximum
possible reduction being 30% of the apphcable payment for the second season of non-participation In
the event of a reduction in any year due to the fallure to parucipate m the Champions League for two
or more consecutive seasons, the payments revert back to the original terms upon the first team
participating again in the Champions League Any increase or decrease in a particular year would have
the effect of increasing or decreasing the mimmmum guarantee amount of £750 million payable over the
term of the agreement A cnitical judgment 1n future financial years therefore will be management’s
assessment as to whether or not our first team 1s likely to fail to participate in the Champions League
for two or more consecutive seasons during the term of the agreement Such assessments of future
partictpation may differ from actual participation, which could result in a difference in the revenue
recogmzed 1n a given year

Certain sponsorship contracts include additional profit share arrangements based on cumulative
profits earned from the utilization of the Manchester United brand Any additional profit share on
such arrangements 1s only recogmzed when a rehable estimate of the future performance of the
contract can be obtamed and only to the extent that the revenue 1s considered probable In assessing
whether any additional profit share 1s probable and should therefore be recogmzed, management
carries out regular reviews of the contracts and future financial forecasts, having regard to the
underlymg risk factors such as team performance and general economic conditions Such forecasts of
future financial performance may differ from actual financial performance, which could result 1n a
difference 1n the revenue recognized n a given year

Broadcasting and Matchday

For our accounting policies relating to Broadcasting revenue and Matchday revenue, which
management does not consider to nvelve critical estimates and judgments, see note 2 to our audited
consolidated financial statements as of 30 June 2016 and 2015 and for the years ended 30 June 2016,
2015 and 2014 included elsewhere 1n this Annual Report

Impairment of goodwill and non-current assets

The Company annually tests whether goodwill has suffered any impairment and more frequently
tests whether events or changes 1n circumstances indicate a potential imparrment An impairment loss 1s
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recognized when the carrying value of goodwill exceeds ils recoverable amount Its recoverable amount
1s the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use The recoverable amount has been
determined based on value-in-use calculations These calculations require the use of estimaltes, both 1n
arriving at the expected future cash flow and the application of a suitable discount rate 1n order to
calculate the present value of these flows See note 15 to our audited consohdated financial statements
as of 30 June 2016 and 2015 and for the years ended 30 June 2016, 2015 and 2014 included elsewhere
in this Annual Report

All other non-current assets, including property plant and equipment and mvestment property, are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable Any impairment charges ansing are recognized 1n the income
statement when the carrying amount of an asset 1s greater than the estimated recoverable amount,
which 1s the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value n use, and are calculated with
reference to future discounted cash flows that the asset 1s expected to generate when considered as part
of a cash-generating unit An impairment review trigger event would include, for example, our failure
to quahfy for the Champions League for a sustained perniod In respect of player registrations, a further
mmpairment review trigger event would occur when the player 1s excluded from our revenue generation,
for example, as a result of a career-ending 1njury, and conditions indicate that the amortized carrying
value of the asset 15 not recoverable

The impairment review of goodw:ll and other non-current assets considers estimates of the future
ecenomuc benefits attributable to them Such estimates involve assumptions 1n relation to future,
recoverable amount of the asset, ticket revenue, broadcasting and sponsorship revenue and on-field
performance Any estimates of future economic benefits made 1n relation to non-current assets may
differ from the benefits that ultimately arise, and matenally affect the recoverable value of the asset

Intangible assets—registrations

The costs associated with the acquisiton of players’ registrations and key football management
staff are capitalized as intangible assets at the fair value of the consideration payable, including an
estimate of the fair value of any contingent consideration Subsequent reassessments of the amount of
contingent consideration payable are also included in the cost of the individual’s registration The
estimate of the fair value of the contingent consideration payable requires management to assess the
likelthood of specific performance conditions bemng met which would trigger the payment of the
contingent consideration such as the number of player appearances This assessment 1s carried out on
an individual basis Costs associated with the acquisition of players’ registrations and key football
management staff include transfer fees, Premier League levy fees, agents’ fees and other directly
attributable costs These costs are amortized over the period covered by the individual’s contract To
the extent that an individual’s contract 1s extended, the remaimng book value 1s amortized over the
remaining revised contract lhife

Tax

Tax 15 calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date in the countries where the Company and 1ts subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income
Management establishes provisions where appropnate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to
(or recovered from) the tax authorities From time to time the Group 1s involved 1n discussions with tax
authorities 1n relation to ongoing tax matters and, where appropriate, provisions are made based on
management’s assessment of each case Future tax expense or credit may be higher or lower than
estimates made when determiming whether 1t 1s appropriate to record a prov1s1on and the amount to be
recorded Furthermore, changes 1n the legislative framework or applicable tax case law may result in
management reassessing the recognition of tax provisions 1n future peniods
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Recogrution of deferred tax assets

We recognize deferred tax effects of temporary differences between the financial statement
carrying amounts and the tax basis of our assets and habilites

Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that 1t 1s probable that the associated
deductions will be available for use agamnst future profus and that there will be sufficient future taxable
profit available against which the temporary differences can be utihzed, provided the asset can be
rehably quantified In estimating future taxable profit, management use “base case” approved forecasts
which incorporate a number of assumptions, including a prudent level of future uncontracted revenue
n the forecast period In arnving at a judgment in relation to the recogmition of deferred tax assets,
management considers the regulations applicable to tax and advice on their interpretation Future
taxable income may be higher or lower than estimates made when determining whether 1t 15
appropriate to record a tax asset and the amount to be recorded Furthermore, changes in the
legislative framework or applicable tax case law may result 1n management reassessing the recognition
of deferred tax assets in future periods

B LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our primary cash requirements stem from the payment of transfer fees for the acquisition of
players’ registrations, capital expenditure for the improvement of facihues at Old Trafford and the Aon
Training Complex, payment of interest on our borrowings, employee benefit expenses, other operating
expenses and dividends on our Class A ordinary shares and Class B ordinary shares Historically, we
have met these cash requirements through a combination of operating cash flow and proceeds from the
transfer fees from the sale of players’ registrations Qur existing borrowings primarily consist of our
secured term loan facility and our 2027 Notes Additionally, although we have not needed to draw any
borrowings under our revolving facility since 2009, we have no intention of retiring our revolving facility
and may draw on 1t m the future n order to satisfy our working capital requirements We manage our
cash flow nterest rate risk where appropriate using interest rate swaps at contract lengths consistent
with the repayment schedule of our long term borrowings Such mnterest rate swaps have the economic
effect of converting borrowings from floating to fixed rates We have US dollar borrowings that we use
to hedge a portion of our US dollar commercial revenue exposure See “—Indebledness” below We
continue to evaluate our [inancing options and may, from time to time, take advantage of opportunities
to repurchase or refinance all or a portion of cur existing indebtedness to the extent such opportunities
arse

In fiscal year 2016 we began paying a regular quarterly cash divadend on our Class A ordinary
shares and Class B ordmary shares of $0 045 per share Our board of directors recently approved
replacing the previous quarterly cash dividend with a regular semi-annual cash divaidend of $0 09 per
share We expect to continue paying regular semi-annual dividends to our Class A ordinary
shareholders and Class B ordinary shareholders out of our operating cash flows The declaration and
payment of any future dividends, however, will be at the sole discretion of our board of directors or a
commuttee thereof, and our expectations and policies regarding dividends are subject to change as our
business needs, capital requirements or market conditions change

Our business generates a sigmficant amount of cash from our Matchday revenues and commercial
contractual arrangements at or near the beginning of our fiscal year, with a steady flow of other cash
received throughout the fiscal year In addition, we generate a sigmficant amount of our cash through
advance receipts, including season tickets {which include genecral admission season tickets and scasonal
hospitality tickets), most of which are receved pnior to the end of June for the following season Our
broadcasting revenue from the Premier League and UEFA are paid periodically throughout the season,
with primary payments made m late summer, December, January and the end of the football season
Our sponsorship and other Commercial revenue tends to be paid erther quarterly or annually in
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advance However, while we typically have a high cash balance at the beginming of each fiscal year, this
1s largely attributable to deferred revenue, the majority of which falls under current habihities m the
consolidated balance sheet, and this deferred revenue 15 unwound through the income statement over
the course of the fiscal year Over the course of a year, we use our cash on hand to pay employee
benefit expenses, other operating expenses, interest payments and other habilities as they become due
This typically results 1n negative working capital movement at certain times during the year In the
event 1t ever became necessary to access additional operating cash, we also have access to cash through
our revolving facility As of 30 June 2016, we had no borrowings under our revolving facility

Pursuant to our contract with adidas, which became effective on 1 August 2015, the minimum
guarantee payable by adidas over the 10-year term of the agreement 1s equal to £750 million, subject to
certain adjustments See “Item 4 Information on the Company—Revenue Sectors—Commercial—
Retail, Merchandising, Apparel & Product Licensing” above for additional information regarding our
agreement with adidas

We also maintain a mxture of long-term debt and capacity under our revolving facility in order to
ensure that we have sufficient funds available for short-term working capital requirements and for
mvestment 1n the playing squad and other capital projects

Qur cost base 1s more evenly spread throughout the fiscal year than our cash inflows Employee
benefit expenses and fixed costs constitute the majority of our cash outflows and are generally pad
throughout the 12 months of the fiscal year Our working capital levels tend to be at their lowest in
November, mn advance of Prermmier League and UEFA broadcasting receipts in December

In addition, transfer windows for acquiring and disposing of players’ registrations occur 1n January
and the summer During these periods, we may require additional cash to meet our acquisition needs
for new players and we may generate additional cash through the sale of existing players’ registrations
Depending on the terms of the agreement, transfer fees may be paid or receved by us 1n multiple
mstallments, resulting in deferred cash paid or received Although we have not histoncally drawn on
our revolving facility during the summer transfer window, 1If we seek to acquire players with values
substantially in excess of the values of players we seek to sell, we may be required to draw on our
revolving facihity to meet our cash needs

Acquisition and disposal of registrations also affects our current trade recevables and payables,
which affects our overall working capital Our current trade recervables include accrued revenue from
sponsors as well as transfer fees recevable from other football clubs, whereas our trade payables
mclude transfer fees and other associated costs m relation to the acquisition of registrations

Capital expendritures at Old Trafford

Qur stadium, Old Trafford, remains cne of our key assets and a sigmificant part of the overall
experience we provide to our followers Old Trafford has been our home stadium since 1910 and has
undergone sigmificant changes over the years To maintain the quality of service, enhance the fan
expenence and increase Matchday revenue, we continually invest 1n the refurbishment and regeneration
of Old Trafford Following a substantial development prior to the 2006/07 season, we expanded seating
capacity at Old Trafford from approximately 68,000 to 75,643 In addition, we have continued (o mvest
in improving hospitality suites and catering facilities through refurbishment programs We record these
mnvestments as capital expenditures Capital expenditure at Old Trafford was £2 7 milhion, £2 3 milhon
and £4 1 mulhon for the years ended 30 June 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively We typically mnvest
approximately £3 nullion per year in refurbishment capital expenditure with further investments n
expansion capital expenditure as required
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In addition, we spent approximately £2 3 million mn fiscal year 2016 and approximately £3 7 milhon
m fiscal year 2015 in connection with updaung and expanding the Aon Training Complex, our tramning
facility

Mobie & Content capital expenditure !

We ntend to continue mnvesting 1n our mobile & content assets, including our website and digital
media capabilities

Net intangible asset—registrations capiial expenditure

Our average net intangible asset—registrations capital expenditure over the last 10 years has been
a cash outflow of £39 6 million per fiscal year (excluding the sale of a player 1n the year ended 30 June
2009 that generated a significant cash nflow, average net intangible asset—registrations capital
expenditure over the same period would have been a cash outflow of £47 6 milhon per fiscal year)
However, net intangible asset—registrations capital expenditure has varied significantly from pernod to
period, as shown in the table below, and while we expect that trend to continue, competition for
talented players may force clubs to spend ncreasing amounts on player registration fees We may
explore new player acquisitions in connection with future transfer periods that may materially increase |
the amount of our net mtangible asset—registrations capital expenditure Actual cash used or generated
from net mtangible asset—registrations capital expenditure 1s recorded on our statement of cash flow
under net cash used or generated n 1nvesting activities

Last 10 Years Net Intangible Asset—Registrations Capital Expenditure(1)

£ million

989

100 - 972
90
80 -
70
60 -

o 496
363
40 ~ a6 5 304
30 -
20 1 105 11 4
10 -
0 "'_- T T T J T T T

(10) .
{20} 4 -
(30) -
{40) 1 .
(50) - {44 0} -
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
(Fiscal year ended 30 lune)

(1) The net intangible asset—registrations capital expenditure data presented 1s the sum of all cash
used for purchases of ntangible assets—registrations and all cash generated from sales of
intangible assels—registrations as disclosed n our consolrdated annual financial statements For
the years ended 30 June 2013 1o 30 June 2016, the data above was derived from the annual
financial statements of Manchester United plc For the years ended 30 June 2007 to 30 June 2012,
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the above data was derived from the annual financial statements of Red Football Shareholder
Limited The annual financial statements for periods prior to our transttion to IFRS on 1 July 2008
were prepared 1n accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in the United Kingdom

Working Capital

Our directors confirmed that, as of the date of this Annual Report, after taking into account our
current cash and cash equivalents and our anticipated cash flow from operating and financing activities,

we beheve that we have sufficient working capital for our present requirements

Cash Flow

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the years ended 30 June 2016, 2015 and 2014

Cash flow from operating activities

Cash generated from operations

Interest paid

Debt finance costs relating to borrowings
Interest recerved

Tax paid

Net cash generated from operating activities

Cash flow from investing activities

Payments for property, plant and equipment {net of proceeds)
Payments for intangible assets

Proceeds from sale of intangible assels

Net cash used i mvesting activities

Cash flow frem financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Dividends paid

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Net cash generated from operating activities

Year ended 30 June

20l6 2015 2014
(1n £ millions)
2008 1950 1017
(132) (426) (217)
— (65 (01)
05 05 03
20) 25y (14
1861 143 9 728
(51) (55) (108)
(1381) (1174) (929)
384 206 140
(1048) (1023) (897)
— 2725 —_
(04) (2279) (50)
(201) — @ —
(205) 44 6 (50}
608 82 (219)

Net cash generated from operations represents our operating results and net movements tn our
working capital Qur working capital 15 generally impacted by the uming of cash received from the sale
of uckets and hospitality and other Matchday sales, broadcasting revenue from the Premier League and
UEFA and sponsorship and Commercial revenue Cash generated from operations for the year ended
30 June 2016 produced a cash inflow of £200 8 million, an increase of £5 8 million from a cash inflow
of £195 (0 mullion for the year ended 30 June 2015 Cash generated from operations for the year ended

30 June 2014 was £101 7 million

Additional changes in net cash generated from operating activities generally reflect our finance
costs We currently pay fixed rates of interest on our 2027 Notes and vanable rates of interest on our
secured term loan facility We use interest rate swaps to manage the cash flow interest rate nisk The
swaps have the economic effect of converting interest on our secured term loan facility from vanable
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rates to a fixed rate Our revolving facility 15 also subject to varnable rates of interest Interest paid was
£13 2 million n the year ended 30 June 2016, a decrease of £29 4 milhon compared to £42 6 million 1n
interest pard 1n the year ended 30 June 2015 The decrease of £29 4 million was primarily due to a
reduction 1n interest on our 2027 Notes, as compared to the 2017 Dollar Notes, and on our secured
term loan facihity following the debt refinancing in June 2015 Interest paid was £27 7 million for the
year ended 30 June 2014

Net cash generated from operating activities was £186 1 mullion 1n the year ended 30 June 2016,
compared to net cash generated from operating activities of £143 9 milhon for the year ended 30 June
2015 Net cash generated from operating activities was £72 8§ milhon for the year ended 30 June 2014

Net cash used in 1nvesting activities

Capital expenditure for the acquisition of intangible assets as well as for improvements to property,
principally at Old Trafford and the Aon Tramnng Complex, are funded through cash flow generated
from operations, proceeds from the sale of intangible assets and, il necessary, from our revelving
facility Capital expenditure on the acquisition, disposal and trading of intangible assets tends to vary
significantly from year to year depending on the requirements of our first team, overall availlability of
players, our assessment of their relative value and compet:tive demand for players from other clubs By
contrast, capital expenditure on the purchase of property, plant and equipment tends to remain
relatively stable as we continue to make improvements at Old Trafford and invest in the expansion of
our traming facility, the Aen Training Complex

Net cash used 1n investing activities for the year ended 30 June 2016 was £104 8 nullion, an
increase of £2 5 million from £102 3 million for the year ended 30 June 2015 Net cash used
mvesting activities for the year ended 30 June 2014 was £8%9 7 mullion

For the year ended 30 June 2016, net capital expenditure was £5 1 million, a decrease of
£0 4 mullion from net expenditure of £5 5 million for the year ended 30 June 2015 Net capital
expenditure for the year ended 30 June 2016 related mainly to refurbishment work at Old Trafford and
the Aon Training Complex Net capital expenditure for the year ended 30 June 2015 related mainly to
refurbishment work at Qld Trafford and new pitches at the Aon Traiming Complex

For the year ended 30 June 2016, net expenditure on intangible assets was £99 7 million, an
ncrease of £29 million from net expenditure of £96 8 million for the year ended 30 June 2015 Net
expenditure on intangible assets for the year ended 30 June 2016 mainly compnsed payments made f[or
the acquisitions of D1 Maria, Martial and Schneiderhn, less payments received relating to the disposal
of D1 Marnia and Welbeck Net expenditure on intangible assets for the year ended 30 June 2015 mamly
comprised payments made for the acquisitions of D1 Mana, Rojo, Fellaimi, Depay and Shaw, less
payments receved relating to the disposal of Welbeck and Kagawa

For the year ended 30 June 2014, net capital expenditure on the purchase of property, plant and
equipment was a cash outflow of £10 8 million related mainly to general development at Old Trafford
and the Aon Tramming Complex Net expenditure on intangible assets was £78 9 milbion mainly
comprised of expenditures for the acquisitions of Fellaini, Herrera, Mata, van Persie and Zaha less
paymenls received relating to the disposal of Berbatov, Brady, Buttner and O’Shea As a result, net
cash used in investing activities was £89 7 mullion

Net cash generated from/{used 1n) financing activities

Net cash used n financing activities for the year ended 30 June 2016 was £20 5 million, an increase
of £65 1 mullion compared to net cash generated of £44 6 milhon for the year ended 30 June 2015
During the year ended 30 June 2016, we repaid borrowings of £0 4 million relating to the Alderley
facility and paid four quarterly dividends amounting to $0 18 per share in the aggregate
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Dunng the year ended 30 June 2015, we 1ssued £267 8 mullion ($425 0 million) 1n aggregate
principal amount of the 2027 Notes We used the proceeds to repurchase all of our outstanding 2017
Dollar Notes, compnsing a principal value of £169 6 milhon ($269 2 million) and a premwum on
repurchase of £3 6 million (85 6 milhon) We also amended the terms of our secured term loan facility,
reducing the outstanding principal amount by £57 2 nullion ($90 7 million), reducing the interest rate to
LIBOR plus an applicable margin between 1 75% per annum and 1 25% per annum, and extending the
term of the facility to June 2025

Net cash used 1in financing activities for the year ended 30 June 2014 was £5 0 mulhon During the
year ended 30 June 2014, we repaid £5 0 million of borrowings, primanly relating to the secured term
loan facility

Indebtedness

Our primary sources of indebtedness consist of our secured term loan facility and our 2027 Notes
As part of the secunty for our secured term loan facility, our 2027 Notes and our revolving facility,
substantially all of our assets are subject to hiens and mortgages

Description of principal indebtedness
Secured term loan facility

Our wholly-owned finance subsidiary, MU Finance plc, has a secured term loan facility with Bank
of America, N A as lender As of 30 June 2016 the sterling equivalent of £166 0 milhicn {net of
unamortized 1ssue costs of £2 7 million) was outstanding The outstanding principal amount was
$225 0 mullion We have the option to repay the loan at any ime The remaining balance of the loan 15
repayable on 26 June 2025

Loans under the secured term loan facihity bear interest at a rate per annum equal to US dollar
LIBOR (provided that if the rate 15 less than zero, LIBOR shall be deemed to be zero) plus the
applicable margin The apphcable margin, if no event of default has occurred and 1s continuing, means
the following

Margin %
Total net leverage ratio (as defined in the secured term loan facility agreement} (per annum)
Greater than 3 5 175
Greater than 20 but less than or equal to 35 150
Less than or equal to 20 125

While any event of default 1s continuing, the applicable margin shall be the highest level set forth
above

Our secured term loan facility 1s guaranteed by Red Football Limited, Red Foetball Junior
Limited, Manchester United Limited, Manchester United Football Club Limited and MU Finance ple
and secured against substantially all of the assets of those entities

The secured term loan facility contains a financial maintenance covenant requiring us to maintain
consolidated profit/loss for the period before depreciation, amortization of, and (loss)/profit on disposal
of, intangible assets, exceptional nems, net finance costs, and iax (“EBITDA") of not less than
£65 milhion for each 12 month testing period We are able to claim certain dispensations from
complymg with the consolidated EBITDA floor up to twice (1n non-consecutive years) during the life of
the secured term loan facility if we fail to qualify for the first round group stages (or i1ts equivalent
from time to time) of the Champions League

Our secured term loan facility contains events of default typical in facilities of this type, as well as
typical covenants including restrictions on incurring additional indebtedness, paying dividends or
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making other distributions or rcpurchasing or redeeming our stock, selling assets, including capital
stock of restricted subsidianes, entering into agreements restricting our subsidharies’ ability to pay
dwvidends, consolidating, merging, selling or otherwise disposing of all or substantially all of our assets,
entermg nto sale and leaseback transactions, entering mnto transactions with our affiliates and mcurring
liens Certain events of default and covenants in the secured term loan facility are subject to certamn
thresholds and exceptions described 1n the agreement governing the secured term loan facility

Sentor secured notes

Qur wholly-owned finance subsidiary, MU Finance plc, 1ssued $425 million in aggregate principal
amount of 3 79% senior secured notes due 2027 (which we refer to throughout this Annual Report as
the #2027 Notes™) As of 30 June 2016 the sterling equivalent of £314 3 milhon (net of unamortized
1ssue costs of £4 4 milhon) was outstanding The outstanding principal amount was 3425 0 milhon The
2027 Notes mature on 25 June 2027

The 2027 Notes are guaranteed by Red Football Limited, Red Football Jumor Limited,
Manchester United Linuted, and Manchester United Football Club Limited and are secured against
substantially all of the assets of those entities and MU Finance plc

The note purchase agreement goverming the 2027 Notes contams a financial maintenance covenant
requinng us to maintain consolidated EBITDA of not less than £65 millon for each 12 month testing
period We are able to claim certain dispensations from complying with the consohidated EBITDA floor
up to twice (1n non-consecutive years} during the life of the 2027 Notes if we fail to qualify for the {irst
round group stages (or 1ts equivalent from time to time) of the Champions League

The note purchase agreement goverming the 2027 Notes contains events of default typical for
securities of this type, as well as customary covenants and restrictions on the activities of Red Football
Limited and each of Red Football Limited’s subsidiaries, including, but not hmited to, the incurrence of
addiuional indebtedness, dividends or distnibutions 1n respect of capital stock or certain other restncted
payments or investments, entering into agreements that restrict distributions from restricted
subsidiaries, the sale or disposal of assets, including capital stock of restricted subsidiaries, transactions
with affiliates, the incurrence of iens, and mergers, conschdations or the sale of substantially all of Red
Football Limited’s assets The covenants 1n the note purchase agreement governing the 2027 Notes are
subject to certain thresholds and exceptions described 1n the note purchase agreement governing the
2027 Notes

The 2027 Notes may be redeemed wn part, in an amount not less than 5% of the aggregate
principal amount of the 2027 Notes then outstanding, or in full, at any time at 100% of the principal
amount plus a “make-whole” premium of an amount equal to the discounted value (based on the US
Treasury rate) of the remaining mterest payments due on the 2027 Notes up to 25 June 2027

Revolving facility

Our revolving facilities agreement allows MU Finance plc (or any direct or indirect subsidiary of
Red Football Limited that becomes a borrower thereunder) to borrow up to £125 million, plus (subject
to certain conditions) the ability to incur a further £25 million by way of incremental facilities, from a
syndicate of lenders with Bank of America Mernll Lynch International Limited as agent and security
trustee As of 30 June 2016, we had no outstanding borrowings and had £125 mullion (exclusive of
capacity under the incremental facilities) in borrowing capacity under our revolving facilities agreement

Our 1ntial revolving facility 1s scheduled to expire on 26 June 2021 (although 1t may be possible
for any subsequent incremental facihty thereunder to expire at a later date) Any amount sull
outstanding at that time will be due in full immediately on the applicable expiry date
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Subject to certain conditions, we may voluntanly prepay and/or permanently cancel all or part of
the available commitments under the revolving facility by giving not less than three business days’ prior
notice to the Agent under the faciity Any loan drawn under the revolving facility 1s required to be
repaid on the last day of each of its interest periods Amounts repaid may (subject to the terms of the
revolving facihities agreement) be re-borrowed

Loans under the revolving facility bear interest at a rate per annum equal to LIBOR (or 1n
relation to a loan in euros, EURIBOR) (provided that if that rate s less than zero, LIBOR or, as the
case may be, EURIBOR, shall be deemed to be zero) plus the applicable margin

The apphcable margin 1f no event of default has occurred and 1s continuing, 1t means the
following

Margin %
Total net leverage ratio (as defined in the revolving facihiies agreement) (per annum)
Greater than 3 5 175
Greater than 2 0 but less than or equal to 3 5 150
Less than or equal to 20 125

While any default 1s continuing, the applicable margin shall be the highest level set forth above

A commitment fee 1s payable on the available but undrawn amount of the revolving facihity, at a
rate equal to 40% per annum of the applicable margin

Our revolving facihity 15 guaranteed by Red Football Limited, Red Football Junior Limated,
Manchester United Limuted, Manchester Umited Football Club Limited and MU Finance plc and
secured against substantally all of the assets of those entiiies

In addition to the general covenants described below, the revolving facility contains a financial
maintenance covenant requiring us to mamntain consolidated EBITDA of not less than £65 mallion for
each 12 month testing pertod We are able to claim certamn dispensations from complying with the
consolidated EBITDA floor up to twice (In nen-consecutive years) during the hife of the revolving
facility if we fail to quahfy for the first round group stages (or its equivalent from time to time) of the
Champions League In addition, in the event that the financial covenant 1s not complied with, such
non-compliance may also be cured with the cash proceeds of additional shareholder funding or
subordinated shareholder funding no later than the end of the peniod 20 business days following the
carhier of the date on which the comphiance certificate setting out the calculations n respect of the
rclevant covenant determination 15 required to be delivered and the date on which 1t 1s delivered under
the terms of the revolving facilities agreement, and no equity cures may be made 1n consecutive
financial quarters

Qur revolving facility contains events of defauit typical in facilities of this type, as well as typical
covenants including restnictions on mcurring additional indebtedness, paying dividends or making other
distributions or repurchasing or redeeming our stock, making investments, selling assels, including
capital stock of restricted subsidiaries, entering into agreements restricting our subsidianies’ ability to
pay dividends, consohdating, merging, seling or otherwise disposing of all or substantially all of our
assets, entering into sale and leaseback transactions, entering into transactions with our affiliates and
mcurring liens Certain events of default and covenants in the revolving facility are subject to certain
thresholds and exceptions described in the agreement governing the revolving facility

Alderley faciity

The Alderley facility consists of a bank loan to Alderley Urban Investments Limited, a subsidiary
of Manchester United Limited The loan autracts interest at LIBOR plus 1% As of 30 June 2016,
£4 6 million was outstanding under the Alderley facihity £0 9 million of the loan 1s repayable in
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quarterly installments through July 2018. and the remaiming balance of £3 7 milhon s repayable at par
on 9 July 2018 The loan 1s secured against the Manchester International Freight Terminal which 1s
owned by Alderley Urban Investments Limited

As of 30 June 2016, we were 1n compliance with all covenants n relation to indebtedness

C. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT, PATENTS AND LICENSES, ETC

We do not conduct research and development activities

D. TREND INFORMATION

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in this Annual Report, we are not aware of any trends,
uncertainties, demands, commitments or events since 30 June 2016 that are reasconably likely to have a
material adverse effect on our revenues, income, profitability, liquidity or capital resources, or that
would cause the disclosed finanoal information 1o be not necessanly indicative of future operating
results or financial conditions

E. OFF BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
Transfer fees payable

Under the terms of certain contracts with other football clubs 1n respect of player transfers,
additional amounts would be payable by us if certain specific performance conditions are met As noted
above, we estimate the fair value of any contingent consideration at the date of acquisition based on
the probability of conditions being met and monitor this on an ongoing basis The maximum additional
amount that could be payable as of 30 June 2016 1s £41 6 million

Transfer fees receivable

Similarly, under the terms of contracts with other football clubs for player transfers, additional
amounts would be payable to us if certamn specific performance conditions are met In accordance with
the recognition ¢riteria for contingent assets, such amounts are only disclosed by the Company when
probable and recogmzed when virtuaily certain As of 30 June 2016, we believe receipt of £1 6 million
to be probable

Other commuitments

In the ordinary course of business, we enter into operating lease commitments and capital
commitments These transactions are recognized 1n the consolidated financial statements in accordance
with IFRS, as 1ssued by the IASB, and arc more fully disclosed therein

As of 30 June 2016, we had not entered into any other off-balance sheet transactions
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F. CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of 30 June 2016

Payments due by period(l)
Less than More than

1 year 1-3years 3 -S5years (ive years Total
(in £ thousands)
Long-term debt obligations(2) 18,967 41,245 18,498 519,921 598,631
Finance lease obligations — — — — —
Operating lease obligations(3) 2,635 4,512 175 4,028 11,350
Purchase oblhigations(4) 214,566 20,366 488 — 235,420
Other long-term habilities — — — — —_
Total 236,168 66,123 19,161 523,949 845,401

(1) This table reflects contractual non-dervative financial obligations including interest and operating

(2)

)

@)

lease payments and therefore differs from the carrying amounts i our consolidated financial
statements

As of 30 June 2016, we had $225 0 million of our secured term loan facility outstanding and

$425 0 million of our 2027 Notes outstanding QOther long-term indebtedness consists of a bank
loan to Alderley Urban Investments Limuted, a subsidiary of Manchester United Limited As of

30 June 2016, we had £4 6 million outstanding under the Alderley facihty See “Item 5 B Liquidity
and Capital Resources—Indebtedness—Description of principal indebtedness” and note 24 to our
audited consolidated financial statements as of 30 June 2016 and 2015 and for the years ended

30 June 2016, 2015 and 2014 included elsewhere 1n this Annual Report

We enter mnto operating leases in the normal course of business Most lease arrangements provide
us with the option to renew the leases at defined terms The future operating lease obligations
would change if we were to exercise these options, or if we were (o enter inte additional new
operating leascs See note 28 1 to our audited consohdated financial statements as of 30 June 2016
and 2015 and for the years ended 30 June 2016, 2015 and 2014 included elsewhere in this Annual
Report

Purchase obligations include current and non-current obligations related to the acquisition of
registrations, inventory and capital comnutments Purchase obligations do not include contingent
transfer fees of £41 6 million which are potentially payable by us if certain specific performance
conditions are met

Except as disclosed above and 1n note 29 2 to our audited consolidated financial statements as of

30 June 2016 and 2015 and for the years ended 30 June 2016, 2015 and 2014 included elsewhere n this
Annual Report, as of 30 June 2016, we did not have any material contingent liabiliies or guarantees

G.

SAFE HARBOR

See the Section entitled “*Forward-Looking Statements” at the beginning of this Annual Report
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ITEM 6. DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES
A. DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The following table lists each of our current executive officers and directors and their respective
ages and positions as of the date of this Annual Report

Name Age Position

Avram Glazer 55 Executive Co-Chairman and Director

Joel Glazer 49  Executive Co-Chairman and Director

Edward Woodward 44  Executive Vice Chairman and Director
Group Managing Director and

Richard Arnold 45  Director

Jamieson Reigle 39 Commercial Director and Director

Chif Baty 46  Chief Financial Officer

Kevin Glazer 54 Darector

Bryan Glazer 51 Durector

Darcie Glazer Kassewitz 48 Director

Edward Glazer 46  Director

Robert Lenao 53 Independent Director

Manu Sawhney 49  Independent Director

John Hooks 60 Independent Director

The following 1s a brief brography of each of our executive officers and directors

Avram Glazer, aged 55, 1s Executive Co-Chairman and a Director of the Company He 1s currently
a director of Red Football Limited and Co-Chairman of Manchester United Limited Mr Glazer served
as President and Chief Executive Officer of Zapata Corporation, a US public company between from
March 1995 to July 2009 and Chairman of the board of Zapata Corporation from March 2002 to July
2009 Mr Glazer recewved a business degree from Washington University 1n St Louis i 1982 He
receved a law degree from Amencan University, Washington College of Law 1 1985

Joel Glazer, aged 49, 15 Executive Co-Chairman and a Director of the Company HMe 15 currently a
direcior of Red Football Limited and Co-Chatrman of Manchester United Limued Mr Glazer 1s
Co-Chairman of the Tampa Bay Buccaneers Mr Glazer 15 a member of the NFL Fimance and
International Committees Mr Glazer graduated from Amernican University in Washington, D C,
1989 with a bachelor’s degree

Edward Woodward, aged 44, 1s Executive Vice Chairman and a Director of the Company He was
appointed to our board of directors on 30 April 2012 and 1s currently Executive Vice Chairman of
Manchester United Limited, having been elected to 1ts board of directors i February 2008 He 15 also
a director of MUTV Limited In 2015 he was elected to the Board of Directors of the European Clubs
Association (ECA)—the sole independent body directly representing football clubs at a European level
He also chairs the ECA Marketing and Communications Working Group Mr Woodward represents
the Club at meetings of the English Premier League’s sharcholders He oversees the strategy and
planning for the football club, including the world-renowned Academy for young players and the
development of world class training facilities at the Aon Traiming Complex On joining the club in 2005
he mitially managed the capital structure of the group and advised on the overall financial business
plan In 2007 he assumed responsibility for the commercial and media operations and developed and
mmplemented a new overall commercial strategy for the Club This resulted 1o a new structured
approach to commercializing the brand, including developing the sponsorship strategy, led out of the
London office Mr Woodward formerly worked as a senior investment banker within J P Morgan’s
mternational mergers and acquisitions team between 1999 and 2005 Pnor to joimng J P Morgan,

Mr Woodward worked for PricewaterhouseCoopers 1n the Accounting and Tax Advisory department
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between 1993 and 1999 He received a Bachelor of Science degree in physics from Bristol University
1993 and qualified for his Chartered Accountancy in 19%6

Richard Arnold, aged 45, 15 the Group Managing Director and a Director of the Company In his
capacity as Group Managing Director, Mr Arnold oversees all commercial and operational aspects of
the Company Mr Arnold also serves as Chairman of the Manchester United Foundation In his
previous role as Commercial Director (untl 30 June 2013) he was responsible for the management and
growth of the Company’s sponsorship business, retail, merchandising, apparel & product hcensing
business, and mobile & content business In this capacity he was nominated for SportBusiness
International’s Sports innovator of the year list in 2011 Mr Arnold 1s on the board of Manchester
Umited Merchandising Limited and MUTV Limited Mr Arnold was previously Deputy Managing
Director of InterVoice Ltd responsible for the international channel sales and marketing division of
InterVoice Inc, a NASDAQ listed technology company, between 2002 and 2007 He was nominated as
a finahst for Young Director of the Year by the Umted Kingdom Institute of Directors in 2004 and
2005 Pror to InterVoice, he worked at Global Crossing Europe Ltd, a company 1n the technology
sector, on 1ts restructure between 1999 and 2002 Prnor to this he was a senior manager 1n the
telecommunications and med:a practice at PricewaterhouseCoopers from 1993 to 1999, including
working on the privatization of the Saudi Telecommunications Corporation and the Imtial Public
Offering of Orange 1 the United Kingdom He received an honors Bachelor of Science degree
biology from Bristol University in 1993 and recerved his Chartered Accountancy qualification 1in 1996

Jamieson Reigle, aged 39, 1s the Company’s Commercial Director and a Director of the Company
He 1s responsible for managing the sponsorship and hcensing sales, relationship marketing, tours,
events and commercial strategy teams globally From 2012 to 2015, Mr Reigle served as the Company’s
Managing Director, Asia Pacific responsible for the management and growth of the Company’s business
in the Asia Pacific region Mr Reigle joined Manchester United 1n 2007 and previously served as
Director of Corporate Development with responsibility for the Company’s capital structure, investor
relations and growth strategy Prior to Manchester United Limited, Mr Reigle worked 1 private equity
with The Carlyle Group and 10 investment banking with J P Morgan He recewved a Bachelor of Arts
degree 1n Economucs from Dartmouth College and a Master of Business Adminmistration from Stanford
University’s Graduate School of Business

CIiff Baty, aged 46, 15 the Company’s Chief Financial Officer He was appointed in March 2016
He 15 responsible for managing all aspects of financial reporting and financial control of the Company
Prior to joming the Company, Mr Baty served as Chief Financial Officer and member of the Board of
Directors of Sportech plc, a leading pool betting operator and technology supplier, from 2013 to 2016
Prior to Sportech, he worked at Ladbrokes plc from 2006 to 2013 1n a number of semor finance roles
including Finance Director of its eGaming and International businesses, as well as Ladbrokes
businesses 1n Spain, Italy and South Africa Before that he was Group Financial Controller of Hilton
Group plc from 2004 to 2006 He quahified as a Chartered Accountant with Ernst & Young, where he
worked for 10 years He receved a Bachelor of Arts degree :in Chemustry from Onel College, Oxford
University in 1992

Kevin Glazer, aged 54, 1s a Director of the Company He 1s currently a director of Red Football
Limited and a director of Manchester United Limited He 1s currently the Co-Chairman of First Allied
Corporation Mr Glazer graduated from Ithaca College 1n 1984 with a Bachelor of Arts degree

Bryan Glazer, aged 51, 1s a Director of the Company He 15 currently a director of Red Football
Limited and Manchester Umted Limited He is the Co-Chairman of the Tampa Bay Buccaneers and
also serves on the NFL’s Digital Mcdia Commuttee Mr Glazer serves on the board of directors of the
Glazer Children’s Museum He received a bachelor’s degree from the American University in
Washington, D C, in 1986 and recewved his law degree from Whittier College School of Law in 1989
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Darcte Glazer Kassewitz, aged 48, 1s a Dhirector of the Company She 1s currently a director of Red
Football Limited Ms Glazer 15 the Co-President of the Glazer Family Foundation She graduated cum
laude from the Amernican University 1n 1990 and received a law degree in 1993 from Suffolk Law
School

Edward Glazer, aged 46, 15 a Director of the Company He 1s currently a non-executive director of
Red Football Limited He is Co-Chairman of the Tampa Bay Buccaneers Mr Glazer received a
bachelor’s degree from Ithaca College

Robert Leitao, aged 53, 15 an Independent Director of the Company He 1s Head of Rothschild’s
Global Financial Advisory busimess Mr Leitao jomned Rothschild 1n 1998 as a Director and was
appointed Managing Drrector m 2000, Head of Mergers and Acquisiions tn 2001 and Head of UK
Investment Banking 1n 2008 Prior to joiming Rothschild, Mr Leitao worked for Morgan
Grenfell & Co Limited in London, where he was appointed a Director 1n 1995 He also serves as
Chairman of the Trustees of The Pennies Foundation Mr Leitdo recerved a Bachelor of Science
degree in engineering from the University of London tn 1984 He recerved tus Chartered Accountancy
qualification 1n 1988

Manu Sawhney, aged 49, 1s an Independent Director of the Company With over 25 years of rich
experience 1n the Asian media, entertainment and consumer products industry, Mr Sawhney 1s the
Chief Executive Officer of the Singapore Sports Hub, one of the largest sporting Public-Private
Partnerships 1n the world, and the city-state’s premuer sporting, hifestyle and entertainment destination
Prior to his current role, Mr Sawhney was the Managing Director of ESPN STAR Sports (ESS), a
50 50 joint venture for Asia between ESPN and News Corp, and reported directly to the Board He
was responsible for the overall business leadership & P&L of the company across 24 countnies in Asia
Mr Sawhney led ESS’s growth and cxpansion across multiple platforms in various markets across Asia
mncluding business expansion 1n Taiwan, start-up of a new joint venture in Korea, consolidauon of
business in China and securing long terms strategic partnerships in India, Malaysia, Indenesia and
Singapere Prior 1o heading ESS’s Asia operations, Mr Sawhney served as the Executive Vice President
of Programming/Event Management/Marketing/ Network Presentation, wheremn he negotiated and
secured various multi-year renewals of key global and regional rights & affibate deals Mr Sawhney
also previously served as the Managing Director of ESS’s South Asia business based cut of India
Before joining ESS, he worked for 3 years with ITC Global Holdings, a subsidiary of British Amencan
Tobacco After completing his engineering degree, Mr Sawhney worked at Eicher Motors, a leading
Indian farm equipment company Mr Sawhney holds a Bachelor’s degree in Mechanical Engineering
from the Birla Institute of Technology & Science, Pilani, India, and received his Masters n
International Business from Indian Institute of Foreign Trade, New Delhi, India Mr Sawhney also
served on the Steering Committee of the 28" South East Asian Games and was an advisor to STAR
India (a wholly owned subsidiary of 21% Century Fox}

John Hooks, aged 60, 1s an Independent Director of the Company He has been n the luxury
fashion industry for over 35 years and has held positions 1n some of the sector’s most influenual
companies Having graduated from Oxford Unwversity, he entered the fashion industry through Gruppo
Finanziario Tessile (GFT) in Turin For three years he was the commercial director for the
pret-a-porter collection of Valentino From 1988 to 1994, based in Hong Kong, he was responsible for
the establishment of GFT’s regional subsidianies 1n Japan, South Korea, Taiwan, Hong Kong, Australia
as well as in mainland China (in 1988, the first major foreign fashion company to establish a direct
presence mn that country) From 1995 to 2000 he was Commercial and Regional Director of Jil Sander
m Hamburg, Germany In 2000, Mr Hooks joimned Giorgio Armani as Group Commercial and
Marketing Director, considerably expanding the company’s global wholesale and retail network He was
subsequently appointed Deputy Chairman of the Giorgio Armam Group From 2011 to 2(14, he was
Group President of Ralph Lauren Europe and Middle East Mr Hooks 15 currently CEO of Pacific
Glabal Management He 1s Executive Chairman and CEO of Elite World and serves as a member of
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the Board of Directors of La Perla He 1s also on the board of Miroghio Fashion and 1s a senior adviser
to McKinsey & Company

Family Relationships

Our Executive Co-Charrmen and Directors Avram Glazer and Joel Glazer, and Directors Bryan ‘
Glazer, Kevin Glazer, Darcie Glazer Kassewitz and Edward Glazer are siblings ‘

Arrangements or Understandings

None of our executive officers or directors have any arrangement or understanding with our
principal shareholder, customers, suppliers or other persons pursuant to which such executive officer or
director was sclected as an executive officer or director

B. COMPENSATION

We set out below the amount of compensation paid and benefits 1o kind provided by us or our
subsidianes to our directors and members of the exccutive management for scrvices in all capacities to
our Company or our subsidiaries for the 2016 fiscal year, as well as the amount contributed by our
Company or our subsidiaries to retirement benefit plans for our directors and members of the
executive management board

Directors and Executive Management Compensation

The compensation for each member of our executive management 1s comprised of the following
elements base salary, bonus, contractual benefits and pension contributions The total amount of |
compensation (including share-based payments) paid or payable and benefits in kind provided to the |
members of our board of directors and our executive management employees for the fiscal year 2016
was £11 1 milion We do not currently mamtain any bonus or profit-sharing plan for the benefit of the \
members of our executive management, however, certain members of our executive management are
ehgible to receive annual bonuses (including share-based awards) pursuant to the terms of their service
agreements The total amount set aside or accrued by us to provide pension, retirement or simtlar
benefits to cur directors and our executive management employees with respect to the fiscal year 2016
was £0 1 milhon

Employment or Service Agreements

We have entered 1nto wntten employment or service agreements with each of the members of our
executive management, which agreements provide, among other things, for benefits upon a termination
of employment In order to align the interests of our executive management with our shareholders,
members of our executive management are eligible to recerve annual share-based awards (or cash and
share-based awards) pursuant to our 2012 Equity Incentive Award Plan (the “Equity Plan) The
amount of the awards will generally be subject to the discretion of our board of directors and our
remuneration committee In order to encourage retention, the awards are eligible to become vested
over a multui-year period following the date of grant In connection with their receipt of the awards,
each member of our executive management will agree to hold a munimum of that number of Class A
ordinary shares with a value equal to such member’s annual salary for so long as such member 15 \
employed by us

We have not entered into written employment or service agreements with our outside directors,
including any member of the Glazer family However, we may 1n the future enter 1nto employment or
services agreements with such individuals, the terms of which may provide for, among other things, cash
or equity based compensation and benefits
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Share-Based Compensation Awards

We currently have one share-based compensation award plan, namely the 2012 Equity Incentive
Award Plan, established in 2012 (the “Equity Plan™)

The Equuty Plan

The principal purpose of the Equity Plan 15 to attract, retain and motivate selected employees,
consultants and non-employee directors through the granting of share-based and cash-based
compensation awards The principal features of the Equity Plan are summarized below

Durning the year ended 30 June 2016 certamn directors and members of executive management were
awarded Class A ordinary shares, pursuant to the Equity Plan These shares are subject to varying
vesting schedules over a multi-year pennod The fair value of these shares was the quoted market price
on the date of award Details of the share awards cutstanding and therefore potentially 1ssuable as new
shares are as follows

Number of Class A
ordinary shares

Outstanding at beginming of the year 259,155
Awarded during the year 186,626
Vested dunng the year (152,206)
Outstanding at the end of the year 293,575

The fair value of shares awarded during the year was $15 75 (£11 81) per share

Share reserve

Under the Equity Plan, 16,000,000 shares of our Class A ordinary shares are rescrved for 1ssuance
pursuant to a variety of share-based compensation awards, including share options, share appreciation
nights, or SARs, restricted share awards, restricted share unit awards, deferred share awards, deferred
share umt awards, dividend equivalent awards, share payment awards and other share-based awards Of
these reserved shares, assuming the above outstanding share awards fully vest, 15,366,845 remam
available for 1ssuance as of 8 September 2016

Adrmurustration

The remuneration committee of our board of directors (or other commuittee as our board of
directors may appoint) admimsters the Equity Plan unless our board of directors assumes authorty for
administration Subject to the terms and conditions of the Equity Plan, the administrator has the
authority to select the persons to whom awards are to be made, determines the types of awards to be
granted, the number of shares to be subject to awards and the terms and conditions of awards, and
makes all other determinations and can take all other actions necessary or advisable for the
admimstration of the Equity Plan The administrator is also authonized to adopt, amend or rescind
rules relating to the administration of the Equity Plan Our board of directors has the authority at all
times to remove the remuneration committee (or other applicable commuttee) as the admimstrator and
remstate 1self as the authonity to adminster the Equuty Plan

Elgibility

The Equity Plan provides that share options, share appreciation nights (“SARs™), restricted shares
and all other awards may be granted to individuals who will then be our nen-employee directors,
officers, employees or consultants or the non-employee directors, officers, employees or consultants of
certain of our subsidianes

83




Awards

The Equity Plan provides that the administrator may grant or 1ssue share options, SARs, restricted
shares, restricted share umits, deferred shares, deferred share units, dividead equivalents, share
payments and other share-based awards, or any combination thereof Each award will be set forthin a
separate agreement with the person receiving the award and will indicate the type, terms and
conditions of the award

* Share Opuaons provide for the right to purchase Class A ordinary shares at a specified price, and
usually will become exercisable (at the discretion of the admnstrator) in one or more
installments after the grant date, subject to the participant’s continued employment or service
with us and/or subject to the satisfaction of corporate performance targets and/or individual
performance targets established by the administrator

* Restncted Shares may be granted to any eligible individual selected by the admimstrator and are
made subject to such restrictions as may be determined by the admimstrator Restricted shares,
typically, are forfeited for no consideration or repurchased by us at the onginal purchase price
(if applicable) if the conditions or restrictions on vesting are not met The Equity Plan provides
that restricted shares generally may not be sold or otherwise transferred until the apphcable
restrictiions are removed or expire Recipients of restricted shares, unhke recipients of share
options, have voting rights and have the nght to receive dividends, if any, prior to the time when
the restnictions lapse, however, extraordinary dividends will generally be placed n escrow, and
will not be released until the restrictions are removed or expire

* Restnicted Share Units may be awarded to any eligible individual selected by the administrator,
typically without payment of consideration, but subject to vesting conditions based on continued
employment or service or on performance critera established by the admimstrator The Equity
Plan provides that, like restricted shares, restricted share units may not be sold, or otherwise
transferred or hypothecated, until vesting conditions are removed or expire Unlike restricted
shares, Class A ordinary shares underlying restnicted share units are not 1ssued until the
restricted share units have vested, and recipients of restricted share units generally have no
voting or dividend nights prior to the tme when vesting conditions are satisfied and the Class A
ordinary shares are 1ssued

* Deferred Share Awards represent the right to receive Class A ordinary shares on a future date
The Equity Plan provides that deferred shares may not be sold or otherwise hypothecated or
transferred until 1ssued Deferred shares are not issued untl the deferred share award has
vested, and recipients of deferred shares generally have no voting or dividend nights prior to the
time when the vesting conditions are satisfied and the Class A ordmary shares are 1ssued
Deferred share awards generally will be forfeited, and the underlying Class A ordinary shares of
deferred shares will not be 1ssued, if the applicable vesting condittons and other restrictions are
not met

* Deferred Share Unit Awards may be awarded to any ehigible individual selected by the
administrator, typically without payment of consideration, but subject to vesting conditions based
on continued employment or service or on performance criteria established by the administrator
Each deferred share unit award entitles the holder thereof to receive one share of our Class A
ordinary shares on the date the deferred share unit becomes vested or upon a specified
settlement date thereafter The Equity Plan provides that, like deferred shares, deferred share
units may not be sold or otherwise hypothecated or transferred unul vesting conditions are
removed or expire Unlike deferred shares, deferred share units may provide that Class A
ordinary shares 1in respect of underlying deferred share umits will not be 1ssued unul a specified
date or event following the vesting date Recipients of deferred share units generally have no
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votng or dividend rights prior to the time when the vesting conditions are satisfied and the
Class A ordinary shares underlying the award have been 1ssued to the holder

* Share Appreciation Rights, or SARs, may be granted in the administrator’s discretion separately
or 1n connection with share options or other awards SARs granted in connection with share
options or other awards typically provide for payments to the holder based upon increases 1n the
price of our Class A ordinary shares over a set exercise price There are no restrictions specified
m the Equity Plan on the exercise of SARs or the amount of gan realizable therefrom, although
the Equity Plan provides that restrictions may be imposed by the adminustrator 1n the SAR '
agreements SARs under the Equity Plan may be settled n cash or Class A ordinary shares, or
in a combmation of both, at the election of the administrator

Dwvidend Equivalents represent the value of the dividends, if any, per Class A ordinary share paid
by us, calculated with reference to the number of Class A ordinary shares covered by the award
The Equity Plan provides that dividend equivalents may be settled 1n cash or Class A ordinary
shares and at such times as determined by the admimstrator

* Share Payments are payments made to employees, consultants or non-employee directors n the
form of Class A ordinary shares or an option or other right to purchase Class A ordinary shares
Share payments may be made as part of a bonus, deferred compensation or other arrangement
and may be subject to a vesting schedule, including vesting upon the attainment of performance
critenta, 1n which case the share payment will not be made unul the vestuing criteria have been
satisfied Share payments may be made 1n lieu of cash compensation that would ctherwise be
payable to the employee, consultant or nen-employee director or share payments may be made
as a bonus payment 1n addition to compensation otherwise payable to such imdividuals

Change 1n conirol

The Equity Plan provides that the administrator may, 1n its discretion, provide that awards 1ssued
under the Equity Plan are subject 10 acceleration, cash-out, termination, assumption, substitution or
conversion of such awards 1n the event of a change n control or certain other unusual or nonrecurring
events or transactions In addition, the administrator also has complete discretion to structure one or
more awards under the Equity Plan to provide that such awards become vested and exercisable or
payable on an accelerated basis in the event such awards are assumed or replaced with equivalent
awards but the individual’s service with us or the acquinng entity 15 subsequently terminated within a
designated period following the change 1 control event A change in control event under the Equity
Plan 1s generally defined as a merger, consolidation, reorganization or business combination i which
we are mvolved, directly or indirectly (other than a merger, consolidation, reorganization or business
combmation which results in our cutstanding voting securnities immediately before the transaction
continuing to represent a majonty of the voting power of the acquiring company’s outstanding voting
securities) after which a person or group (other than our existing equity-holders) beneficially owns
more than 50% of the outstanding voting securities of the surviving entity immediately after the
transacuion, or the sale, exchange or transfer of all or substantially all of our assets

Adpustments of awards

In the event of any stock dividend, stock split, combination or exchange of shares, merger,
consolidation, spin-off, recapitalization, distribution of our assets to sharehelders (other than normal
cash dividends) or any other corporate event affecting the number of outstanding Class A ordinary
shares in our capital or the share pnice of our Class A ordinary shares that would require adjustments
to the Equity Plan or any awards under the Equity Plan 1n order to prevent the dilution or enlargement
of the potential benefits intended o be made available thereunder, the Equity Plan provides that the
administrator may make equitable adjustments, as determined n 1ts discretion, to the aggregate number
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and type of shares subject to the Equity Plan, the number and kind of shares subject to outstanding
awards and the terms and conditions of outstanding awards (including, without hmitation, any
applicable performance targets or criterta with respect to such awards), and the grant or exercise price
per share of any outstanding awards under the Equity Plan

Amendment and termination

The Equity Plan provides that our board of directors or the remuneration committee (with the
approval of the board of directors) may terminate, amend or modify the Equity Plan at any time and
from time to time However, the Equity Plan generally requires us to obtain sharcholder approval te
the extent required by applicable law, rule or regulation (including any applicable stock exchange law),
mncluding 1n connection with any amendments to increase the number of shares available under the
Equity Plan (other than in connection with certain corporate events, as described above)

Secunities laws

The Equity Plan 1s designed to comply with all applicable provisions of the Secunties Act and the
Exchange Act and, to the extent applicable, any and all regulations and rules promulgated by the SEC
thereunder The Equity Plan 1s admunstered, and stock options will be granted and may be exercised,
only 1n such a manner as to conform to such laws, rules and regulations On 13 August 2012, we filed
with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-8 covering Class A ordinary shares 1ssuable under the
Equity Plan

UK Subplan

Our board of directors approved the 2012 UK Company Share Option UK Sub-Plan on
10 September 2013 This 15 a sub-plan to the Equity Plan which allows for the grant of stock options in
a tax efficient manner to employees who are UK residents It derives its powers and authority from the
Equity Plan and does not create any enhanced or additional nghts This sub-plan does not increase the
share reserve under the Equity Plan

C. BOARD PRACTICES
Board of Directors

We currently have 12 directors, three of whom are independent directors, on our board of
directors Any director on our board may be removed by way of an ordinary resolutton of shareholders
or by our shareholders holding a majonty of the voting power of our outstanding ordinary shares by
notice 1 writing to the Company Any vacancies on our board of directors or additions to the existing
board of directors can be filled by our shareholders holding a majority of the voting power of our
outstanding ordinary shares by notice 1n wrniting to the Company Each of our directors holds office
until he resigns or 1s recused from office as discussed above

Comnuttees of the Board of Directors and Corporate Governance

Our board of directors has established an audit committee and a remuneratton committee The
composition and responsibilities of each commitiee are described below Members will serve on these
commuttees until their resignation or until otherwise determined by our board of directors In the
future, our board of directors may establish other commuttees, as 1t deems appropriate, to assist with 1ts
responsibilities
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Audit commutiee

Our audit committee consists of Messrs Robert Leutao, Manu Sawhney and John Hooks Qur
board of directors determined that Messrs Robert Leitdo, Manu Sawhney and John Hooks satisly the
“independence” requirements set forth in Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act Mr Robert Leitao acts
as chairman of our audit commuttee and satisfies the criteria of an audit commttee financial expert as
set forth under the applicable rules of the Exchange Act A copy of our audit commuttee charter 1s
available on our website The inclusion of our website 1n this Annual Report does not include or
incorperate by reference the information on our website mto this Annual Report The audit committee
oversees our accounting and financial reporting processes and the audits of our financial statements
The audit commuttee is responsible for, among other things

* selecting our independent registered public accounting firm and pre-approving all auditing and
non-auditing services permitted to be performed by our independent registered public
accounting firm,

* reviewing with our independent registered public accounting firm any audit 1ssues or difficulties
and management’s response,

* discussing the annual audited financial statements with management and our independent
registered public accounting firm,

* reviewing major 1ssues as to the adequacy of our internal controls and any special audit steps
adopted 1n light of sigmficant control deficiencies,

* annually reviewing and reassessing the adequacy of our audit commuttee charter,

* such other matters that are specifically delegated to our audit committee by our board of
directors from time to time, and

* meeting separately and periodically with management, our infernal auditors and our independent
registered public accounting firm

Remuneration commiitee

Our remuneration commuitiee consists of Messrs Joel Glazer, Avram Glazer and Robert Leitao
Mr Jeel Glazer 1s the chairman of our remuneration committee A copy of our remuneration
commuttee charter 1s available on our website The inclusion of our website 1n this Annual Report does
not nclude or incorporate by reference the information on our website into this Annual Report The
remuneration committee 15 responsible for, among other things

* determining the levels of remuneration for each of our executive officers and directors, however,
no member of the remuneration committee will participate in decisions relating to his or her
remuneration,

*» establishing and reviewing the objectives of our management compensation programs and
compensation policies,

* reviewing and approving corporate goals and objectives relevant to the remuneration of semor
management, including annval and long-term performance goals and objecuves,

= evaluaung the performance of members of senior management and recommending and
monitoring the remuneration of members of sensor management, and

* reviewing, approving and recommending the adoption of any equity-based or non-equity based
compensation plan for our employees or consultants and adminstening such plan
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We have availed ourselves of certain exemptions afforded to foreign private 1ssuers under New
York Stock Exchange rules, which exempt us from the requirement that we have a remuneration
committee composed entirely of independent directors
D EMPLOYEES
Employees

The average monthly number of employees during the years ended 30 June 2016, 2015 and 2014,
including directors, was as follows

2016 2015 2014
Number Number Number

Average number of employees

Football—players 74 73 79
Football—technical and coaching 94 89 92
Commercial 111 122 138
Media 94 89 9
Administration and other 426 440 469
Average monthly number of employees 799 813 869

We are not a signatory to any labor union collective bargaining agreement We also engaged
approximately 2,124, 2,275 and 2,323 lemporary employces in fiscal years 2016, 2015 and 2014,
respectively, on a regular basis to perform, among other things, catering, security, ticketing, hospitality
and marketing services during Matchdays at Old Trafford Compensation to full-time and temporary
employees 15 accounted for in our employee benefit expenses

E. SHARE OWNERSHIP

The following table shows the number of shares owned by our directors and members of our
executive management as of 8 September 2016

Class A Class B % of Total
Ordinary Ordinary Voting
Shares % Shares % Power(1}
Avram Glazer(2)(3) — — 7,000,000 565% 547%
Joel Glazer(2)(4) — — 7,000,000 565% 547%
Edward Woodward ") ') — — *)
Richard Arnold ™) " — — (*)
Jamieson Reigle *) ™ — — *}
Chiff Baty *) (*) — - (*)
Kevin Glazer(2)(5) — — 7,000,000 565% 547%
Bryan Glazer(2){6) — — 7,000,000 565% 547%
Darcie Glazer Kassewitz(2)(7) — — 7,000,000 565% 547%
Edward Glazer(2)(8) — — 4,000,000 323% 312%

Robert Leitdo — _— — — _
Manu Sawhney - — — — —
John Hooks — — — — —

(1) Percentage of total voting power represents voting power with respect to all of our Class A and
Class B ordinary shares, as a single class The holders of our Class B ordmary shares are entitled
to 10 votes per share, and holders of our Class A ordinary shares are entitled to one vote per
share
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(6)
(7
@)

™*)

Red Football LLC 1s a wholly-owned substcdhary of Red Football Limited Partnership The general
partner of Red Football Tamuted Partnership 1s Red Football General Partner Inc Trusts controlled
by six lineal descendants of Mr Malcolm Glazer each own an equal number of shares of Red
Football General Partner Inc, as well as an equal percentage of the limited partnership interests in
Red Football Limited Partnership These lineal descendants of Mr Glazer are also directors of
Red Football General Partner Inc The six lineal descendants of Mr Glazer are Avram Glazer,
Joel Glazer, Bryan Glazer, Edward Glazer, Darcic Glazer Kassewitz and Kevin Glazer Joel Glazer
1s the president of Red Football General Partner Inc The hneal descendants of Mr Malcolm
Glazer may be deemed to share beneficial ownership of the shares held by Red Football Limited
Partnership as a result of their status as sharcholders of Red Football General Partner Inc,
President of Red Football General Partner Inc (with respect to Joel Glazer) and holders of hrmited
partnership interests m Red Football Limited Partnership Information on Red Football LLC’s
shareholding in the Company can be found in “Item 7 Major Shareholders and Related Party
Transactions—A Majer Shareholders”

Shares owned by Avram Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Trust, of which Avram Glazer 1s the sole
trustee

Shares owned by Joel M Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Trust, of which Joel Glazer 1s the sole trustee

Shares owned by Kevin Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Family Trust, of which Kevin Glazer 1s the sole
trustee

Shares owned by Bryan G Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Trust, of which Bryan Glazer 1s the sole
trustee

Shares owned by Darcie § Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Trust, of which Darcie Glazer Kassewitz 1s
the sole trustee

Shares owned by Edward § Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Trust, of which Edward Glazer 1s the sole
frustee

These directors and members of our executive management individually own less than 1% of our
Class A ordinary shares
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ITEM 7. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
A. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

The following table shows our major shareholders (shareholders that are beneficial owners of 5%
or more of each class of the Company’s voting shares) as of 8§ September 2016, based on notifications
made to the Company or public fiings

Class A Class B % of Total

Ordinary Ordinary Yoting

Shares % Shares % Power(l)
Red Football LLC(2) 8,019,033 20 03% 85,000,000 6855% 6703%
Baron Captital Group, Inc 15,089,806 37 70% — — 118%
Lansdowne Partners Limited 4941,440 1235% — — 039%
Jupiter Asset Management Limited 2,806,959 701% — - 022%
FMR LLC 2,436,475 609% — — 019%
Avram Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Trust — — 7,000,000 565% 547%
Joel M Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Trust — — 7,000,000 565% 547%
Kevin Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Famuly Trust —_ —_ 7,000,000 565% 547%
Bryan G Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Trust — — 7,000,000 565% 547%
Darcie S Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Trust — — 7,000,000 565% 547%

(1) Percentage of total voing power represents voting power with respect to all of our Class A and
Class B ordinary shares, as a single class The holders of our Class B ordinary shares are entitled
to 10 votes per share, and holders of our Class A ordinary shares are entitled to one vote per
share

(2) See “Controlling Sharcholder” below for further information on Red Football LLC

Since 8 September 2013, the only significant changes of which we have been noufred in the
percentage ownership of our shares by our major shareholders described above were that

* on 14 August 2014, Tybourne Capital Management (HK) Limited made a public filing that 1t
held 3,060,052 of our Class A ordinary shares, representing ¢ 24% of total voting power,

* on 6 August 2014, Blackrock Inc made a public filing that 1t held 2,965,726 of our Class A
ordwnary shares, representing 0 23% of total voting power,

* on 14 August 2014, Lansdowne Partners Limited made a public filing that 1t held 2,731,445 of
our Class A ordinary shares, representing 0 219 of total voting power,

* on 9 September 2014, FMR LLC made a public filing that 1t held 3,981,000 of our Class A
ordinary shares, representing 0 31% of total voung power,

* on 10 September 2014, Baron Capual! Group, Inc made a public filing that it held 15,026,190 of
our Class A ordinary shares, representing 1 17% of total voting power,

* on 12 December 2014, the Edward S Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Trust made a public filing that
1t held 450,000 of our Class A ordmary shares and 50,000 of our Class B ordinary shares,
representing 0 07% of total voting power,

* on 30 January 2015, Blackrock, Inc made a public filing that 1t heid 2,411,645 of our Class A
ordinary shares, representing 0 19% of total voting power,

* on 13 February 2015, Tybourne Capital Management (HK) Limited made a public filing that 1t
no longer held any of our Class A ordinary shares,
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on 13 February 2015, FMR LLC made a public filing that 1t held 3,977,700 of our Class A
ordinary shares, representing 0 31% of total voting power,

on 17 February 2015, Lansdowne Partners (UK) LLP made a public filing that it held 3,931,445
of our Class A ordinary shares, representing 0 31% of total voting power,

on 17 February 2015, Baron Capital Group, Inc made a public filing that 1t held 16,094,792 of
our Class A ordinary shares, representing 1 26% of total voung power,

on 17 February 2015, Red Football LLC made a public filing that 1t held 7,569,033 of our
Class A ordinary shares and 106,450,000 of our Class B ordinary shares, representing 83 77% of
tetal voting power,

on 20 February 2015, Jupiter Asset Management Limited made a public filing that 1t held
2,172,182 of our Class A ordinary shares, representing 0 17% of total voling power,

on 10 March 2015, Blackrock, Inc made a public iling that it held 908,760 of our Class A
ordmary shares, representing 0 07% of total voting power,

on 13 August 2015, Lansdowne Partners (UK) LLP made a publc filing that it held 3,931,445 of
our Class A ordinary shares, representing O 31% of total voting power,

on 14 August 2015, Avram Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Trust made a public filing that 1t held
7,000,000 of our Class B ordinary shares, representing 5 47% of total voting power,

on 14 August 2015, Joel M Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Trust made a public filing that 1t held
7,000,000 of our Class B ordinary shares, representing 5 47% of total voting power,

on 14 August 2015, Kevin Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Family Trust made a public filing that 1t
held 7,000,000 of our Class B ordinary shares, representing 5 47% of total voting power,

on 14 August 2015, Bryan G Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Trust made a public filing that 1t held
7,000,000 of our Class B ordinary shares, representing 5 47% of total voting power,

on 14 August 2015, Darcie § Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Trust made a public filing that 1t held
7,000,000 of our Class B ordinary shares, representing 5 47% of total voting power,

on 14 August 2015, Edward S Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Trust made a public filing that 1t held
4,000,000 of our Class B ordmary shares, representing 3 13% of total voung power,

on 14 August 2015, Baron Capital Group Inc made a public filing that 1t held 16,149,730 of our
Class A ordinary shares, representing 126% of total voting power,

on 25 August 2015, FMR LLC made a public filing that 1t held 3,979,700 of our Class A
ordinary shares, representing 0 31% of total voting power,

on 8 January 2016, Lansdowne Partners (UK) LLP made a public fihng that 1t held 4,941,440 of
our Class A ordinary shares, representing 0 39% of total votuing power,

on 12 February 2016, FMR LLC made a pubhc filing that it held 2,912,144 of our Class A
ordinary shares, represenung (0 23% of total vouing power,

on 12 February 2016, Jupiter Asset Management Limited made a public iiling that 1t held
2,723,839 of our Class A ordinary shares, representing 0 21% of total voting power,

on 12 February 2016, Red Football LLC made a public filing that 1t held 8,019,033 of our
Class A ordinary shares and 85,000,000 of our Class B ordinary shares, representing 67 03% of
total voting power,
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* on 16 February 2016, Baron Capital Group Inc made a public filing that 1t held 15,748,438 of
our Class A ordinary shares, representing 1 23% of total voting power,

* on 10 August 2016, Jupiter Asset Management Limited made a pubhc filing that 1t held
2,806,959 of cur Class A ordinary shares, representing 0 22% of total voting power,

* on 11 August 2016, FMR LLC made a public iling that 1t held 2,436,475 of our Class A
ordinary shares, representing ¢ 19% of total voting power, and

« on 15 August 2016, Baron Capital Group Inc made a public filing that 1t held 15,089,806 of our
Class A ordinary shares, representing 1 18% of total voung power

U.S. Resident Sharehoiders of Record

As a number of our shares are held in book-entry form, we are not aware of the identity of all our
shareholders As of 8 September 2016, we had 40,023,157 Class A ordinary shares held by 2,589 U S
resident shareholders of record, representing approxmmately 3 13% of total voting power and
124,000,000 Class B ordmary shares held by seven U S resident shareholders of record, representing
approximately 96 87% of total voung power

Controlling Shareholder

Our controlling shareholder 1s Red Football LLC, a Delaware limited hability company Red
Football LLC 1s a wholly-owned subsidiary of Red Football Limited Partnership The general partner of
Red Football Limited Partnership 1s Red Football General Partner Inc Trusts controlled by six hineal
descendants of Mr Malcolm Glazer each own an equal number of shares of Red Football General
Partner Inc, as well as an equal percentage of the hmted partnershup interests in Red Football Limited
Partnership These lineal descendants of Mr Glazer are also directors of Red Football General
Partner Inc The six lincal descendants of Mr Glazer are Avram Glazer, Joel Glazer, Bryan Glazer,
Edward Glazer, Darcie Glazer Kassewitz and Kevin Glazer Joel Glazer 15 the president of Red
Football General Partner Inc The hneal descendants of Mr Malcolm Glazer may be deemed to share
beneficial ownership of the shares held by Red Football Limited Partnership as a result of their status
as shareholders of Red Football General Partner Inc, President of Red Football General Partner Inc
(with respect ta Joel Glazer) and holders of limited partnership interests in Red Football Limited
Parinership

As of & September 2016, Red Football LLC owned 8,015,033 of our Class A ordmnary shares and
85,000,000 of our Class B ordinary shares, representing 1n total 67 03% of total voung power
Shareholders’ Arrangements

As of 8 September 2016, the Company was not aware of any sharcholders’ arrangements which
may result 1n a change of control of the Company
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Consolidated Financial Statements

See “Item 18 Financial Statemenis ”

Legal and Arbitration Proceedings

There have been no governmental, judicial or arbitration proceedings (including any such
proceedings which are pending or threatened of which we are aware) during the penod between 1 July
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2013 and the date of this Annual Report which may have, or have had in the recent past, sigmficant
effects on our financial position and profitability

Dividend Policy

In fiscal year 2016 we began paying a regular quarterly cash dividend on our Class A ordinary
shares and Class B ordinary shares of $0 045 per share Our board of directors recently approved
replacing the previous quarterly cash dividend with a regular semi-annual cash dividend of $0 09 per
share We expect to continue paymg regular dividends to our Class A ordinary shareholders and
Class B ordinary shareholders from our operating cash flows The declaration and payment of any
future dividends, however, will be at the sole discretion of our board of directors or a commutiee
thereof based on 1ts consideration of numerous factors, including our operating results, financial
condition and anticipated capital requirements, in addiuon to the varnous other considerations discussed
below

If we do pay a cash dividend on our Class A ordinary shares and Class B ordinary shares 1n the
future, we will pay such dividend out of our profits or share premium (subject to solvency
requirements) as permitted under Cayman Islands law Our board of directors has complete discretion
regarding the declaration and payment of dividends, and our principal shareholder will be able to
influence our dividend pohcy

The decision by our board of directors (or a commuttee thereof} to declare and pay dividends 1n
the future and the amount of any future dividend payments we may make will depend on, among other
factors, our strategy, future earnings, financial condition, cash flow, working capital requirements,
capital expenditures and applicable provisions of our amended and restated memorandum and articles
of association Any profits or share premium we declare as dividends will not be available to be
remvested in ocur operations Moreover, we are a holding company that does not conduct any business
operations of our own As a result, we are dependent upon cash dividends, distributions and other
transfers from our subsidianes to make dividend payments, and the terms of our subsidianes’ debt and
other agreements restrict the ability of our subsidiaries to make dividends or other distributions to us
Specifically, pursuant to the our revolving facility, our secured term loan facility and the note purchase
agreement governing our 2027 Notes, there are restrictions on our subsidiartes’ ability to distribute
dividends to us, and dividend distributions by our subsidianies are the principal means by which we
would have the necessary funds te pay dividends on our Class A ordinary shares and Class B ordinary
shares for the foreseeable future See “lItem 5 Operating and Financial Review and Prospects—

B Liquidity and Capital Resources— Indebtedness ™" As a consequence of these limitations and
restriciions, we may not be able to make, or may have to reduce or ehiminate, the payment of dividends
on our Class A ordinary shares and Class B ordinary shares

Any dividends we declare 1n the future on our ordinary shares will be 1n respect of both our
Class A ordinary shares and Class B ordinary shares, and will be distributed such that a holder of one
of our Class B ordinary shares will recerve the same amount of the dividends that are received by a
holder of one of our Class A ordinary shares We will not declare any dividend with respect to the
Class A ordinary shares without declaring a dividend on the Class B ordinary shares, and vice versa

B. SIGNIFICANT CHANGES

Registrations

The playing registrations of certain footballers have been disposed of, subsequent to 30 June 2016,
for total proceeds, net of associated costs, of £7,717,000 The associated net book value was £126,000

Subsequent to 30 June 2016 the playing registrations of certain players were acquired or extended
for a total consideration, including associated costs, of £160,565,000
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ITEM 9. THE OFFER AND LISTING
Price History of Stock
Ordnary shares listed on the New York Stock Exchange

Our shares were approved for listing on the New York Stock Exchange on 10 August 2012 Prior
to this listing, no public market existed for our ordinary shares The table below shows the quoted high
and low closing sales prices in US dollars on the New York Stock Exchange for our shares for the
indicated periods

Per Share
High Low
i USD)
Annual
FY 2016 1899 1333
FY 2015 1963 1478
FY 2014 1878 1447
FY 2013 (10 August 2012 through 30 June 2013) 1904 1218
Quarterly
FY 2017
First Quarter (through 7 September 2016) 1731 1572
FY2016
First Quarter 1880 1716
Second Quarter 1899 17 30
Third Quarter 1750 1333
Fourth Quarter 1773 1379
FY2015
First Quarter 1963 1519
Second Quarter 1658 1478
Third Quarter 1741 1526
Fourth Quarter 1842 1515
Monthly
2016
March i444 1333
Apnl 1773 1379
May 1718 1620
June 1701 1567
July 1620 1549
August 1681 1572
September (through 7 September 2016) 1731 1704

Markets

We are incorporated under the Companies Law (2011 Revision) of the Cayman Islands, as
amended and restated from time to time and our shares are histed on the New York Stock Exchange
under the symbol “MANU” As of 8 September 2016 we had 164,025,280 ordinary shares listed
(compnising 40,025,280 Class A ordinary shares and 124,000,000 Class B ordinary shares)

ITEM 10. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
A. SHARE CAPITAL

Not applicable
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B. MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION AND OTHER SHARE INFORMATION

A copy of our amended and restated memorandum and articles of association is attached as
Exhibit 11 to this Annual Report The wiformation called for by this Item has been reported previously
in our Registration Statement on Form F-1 (File No 333-182535), filed with the SEC on 3 July 2012,
as amended, under the heading “Descripuion of Share Capital,” and 1s incorporated by reference mto
this Annual Report

C. MATERIAL CONTRACTS

The following 1s a summary of each matertal contract, other than matenal contracts entered nto in
the ordinary course of business, to which we are or have been a party, for the two years immediately
preceding the date of this Annual Report

*» Agreement, daled 19 May 2008, between The Royal Bank of Scotland plc, as agent for National
Westminster Bank plc, and Alderley Urban Investments A copy of the Agreement 1s included as
Exhibit 4 1 to this Annual Report

s Amendment and Restatement Agreement relating to the Secured Term Facility, dated 11 August
2014, between Red Football Limited and Bank of America, N A, as Agent and Original Lender
A copy of the Agreement 15 included as Exhibit 4 2 to this Annual Report

+ Amendment and Restatement Agreement relating to the Secured Term Facihity, dated 15 May 2015,
among Red Football Limited, Bank of Amenica, N A, as Onginal Agent, and Bank of America
Merrill Lynch International Limited, as Agent and Lender A copy of the Agreement 1s included
as Exhibit 4 3 to this Annual Report

* New Revolving Facilities Agreement, dated 22 May 2015, among Red Football Limited, MU
Finance ple, the guarantors party thereto, Bank of America, N A, as Arranger, the Ongnal
Lenders named theremn, and Bank of America Mernll Lynch International Linuted, as Agent
and Security Trustee A copy of the Agreement 1s included as Exlbit 4 4 to this Annual Report

* Note Purchase Agreement, dated 27 May 2015, among MU Finance plc, the guarantors party
thereto, the purchasers Listed therein and the Bank of New York Mellon, as Paying Agent A
copy of the Agreement 15 included as Exhibit 4 5 to this Annual Report

» Term Facility Amendment Letter, dated 26 June 2015, between Red Football Limited and Bank of
Amenca Mernll Lynch International Limuted, as Agent and Lender A copy of the Letter 15
included as Exhibit 4 6 to this Annual Report

» Second Term Facihity Amendment Letter, dated 11 September 2015, between Red Football Limuted
and Bank of America Mernll Lynch International Limited, as Agent and Lender A copy of the
Letter 15 included as Exhibit 4 7 to this Annual Report

Revolving Facthites Amendment Letter, dated 7 October 2015, between Red Football Limited and
Bank of America Mernll Lynch International Limited, as Agent and Lender A copy of the
Agreement 1s included as Exhibit 4 8 to this Annual Report

o Premuer League Handbook, Season 2015/16 As a member of the Football Association Premier
League, we are subject to the terms of the Premier League Handbook, Season 2015/16 A copy
of the Handbook 1s included as Exinbit 4 10 to this Annual Report

* Prenuer League Handbook, Season 2016/17 As a member of the Football Association Premier
League, we are subject to the terms of the Premier League Handbook, Season 2016/17 A copy
of the Handbook 1s included as Exhibit 4 11 to this Annual Report
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D. EXCHANGE CONTROLS

There are no Cayman Islands ¢xchange control regulations that would affect the import or export
of capital or the remittance of dividends, interest or other payments to non-resident holders of our
shares

E. TAXATION

The following 15 a summary of material US federal income tax consequences relevant to US
Holders and Non-US Holders (each as defined below) acquiring, holding and disposing of the
Company’s Class A ordmary shares This summary 1s based on the Code, final, temporary and proposed
US Treasury regulations and administrative and judicial interpretations, all of which are subject to
change, possibly with rctroactive effect Furthermore, we can provide no assurance that the tax
consequences contained in this summary will not be challenged by the Internal Revenue Service (the
“IRS”} or will be sustained by a court if challenged

This summary docs not discuss all aspects of US federal income taxation that may be relevant to
investors 1 light of therr particular circumstances, such as nvestors subject to special tax rules,
including without hmitation the following, all of whom may be subject to tax rules that differ
significantly from those summarized below

* [inancial istitutions,

* 1nsurance Compames,

* dealers 1n stocks, securities, or currencies or notional principal contracts,
* regulated mvestment companies,

* real estate investment trusts,

¢ tax-exempt organizations,

s partnerships and other pass-through entities, or persons that hold Class A ordinary shares
through pass-through entities,

* mnvestors that hold Class A ordinary shares as part of a straddle, conversion, constructive sale or
other ntegrated transaction for US federal mncome tax purposes,

* US holders that have a functional currency other than the US dollar, and
* US expatriates and former long-term residents of the Umited States

This summary does not address alternative minimum tax consequences Or non-income tax
consequences, such as estate or gift tax consequences, and does not address state, local or non-US tax
consequences This summary only addresses mvestors that hold Class A ordinary shares and not
Class B ordinary shares, and 1t assumes that investors hold their Class A ordinary shares as capital
assets (generally, property held for mmvestment)

For purposes of this summary, a “US Holder” 1s a beneficial owner of the Company’s Class A
ordinary shares that 1s, for US federal income tax purposes

s an individual who 1s a citizen or resident of the United States,

* a corporation created in, or organized under the laws of, the United States, any state thereof or
the District of Columbia,

* an estate the income of which 15 includible in gross income for US federal income tax purposes
regardless of its source, or
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* a trust that (1) 1s subject to the primary supervision of a US court and the control of one or
more US persons or (1) has a valid election 1n effect under applicable Treasury regulations to be
treated as a US person

A “Non-US Holder” 1s a beneficial owner of the Company’s Class A ordinary shares that 1s not a
US Holder

If an entity treated as a partnership for US federal income tax purposes holds the Company’s
Class A ordinary shares, the tax treatment of a partner 1n the partnership generally will depend upon
the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership Partners of partnerships considering an
mvestment 1n the Class A ordinary shares are encouraged to consult their tax advisors regarding the tax
consequences of the ownership and disposition of Class A ordinary shares

Treatment of the Company as a Domestic Corporation for US Federal Income Tax Purposes

Even though the Company 15 orgamzed as a Cayman Islands exempted company, due to the
crcumstances of its formation and the application of Section 7874 of the Code, the Company reports
as a domestic corporation for US federal income tax purposes This has implications for all
shareholders, the Company 1s subject to US federal income tax as if 1t were a US corporation, and
distributions made by the Company are generally treated as US-source dividends and generally subject
to US dividend withholding tax

US Holders
Distributrons

Distributions made by the Company in respect of its Class A erdinary shares will be treated as
US-source dividends includible 1n the gross income of a US Holder as ordinary income to the extent of
the Company’s current and accumulated earnings and profits, as determined under US federal income
tax principles To the extent the amount of a distribution exceeds the Company’s current and
accumulated earnmings and profits, the distribution will be treated first as a non-taxable return of capital
to the extent of a US Holder’s adjusted tax basis in the Class A ordinary shares and thereafter as gam
from the sale of such shares Subject to applhcable hmitations and requirements, dividends received on
the Class A ordinary shares generally should be eligible for the “dividends received deduction”
available to corporate sharcholders A dmvidend paid by the Company to a non-corporate US Holder
generally will be eligible for preferential rates if certain holding period requirements are met

The US dollar value of any distribution made by the Company 1n foreign currency will be
calculated by reference to the exchange rate n effect on the date of the US Holder’s actual or
constructive receipt of such distribution, regardless of whether the foreign currency 1s 1n fact converted
mto US dollars If the foreign currency 1s converted into US dollars on such date of receipt, the US
Holder generally will not recogmze foreign currency gain or loss on such conversion If the foreign
currency 1s not converted into US dollars on the date of receipt, such US Helder will have a basis 1n
the foreign currency equal to its US dollar value on the date of receipt Any gain or loss on a
subsequent converston or other taxable disposition of the foreign currency generally will be US-source
ordinary mcome or loss to such US Holder

Sale or other disposition

A US Holder will reccgnize gain or loss for US federal income tax purposes upon a sale or other
taxable disposition of uts Class A ordinary shares 1n an amount equal to the difference between the
amount realized from such sale or disposition and the US Holder’s adjusted tax basis in the Class A
ordinary shares A US Holder's adjusted tax basis in the Class A ordinary shares generally will be the
US Holder’s cost for the shares Any such gain or loss generally will be US-source capital gain or loss
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and will be long-term capital gain or loss 1f, on the date of sale or disposition, such US Holder held the
Class A ordinary shares for more than one year Long-term capital gains derived by non-corporate US
Holders are eligible for taxation at reduced rates The deductibility of capital losses 1s subject to
sigmficant limitations

Information reporting and backup withholding

Payments of dividends on or proceeds ansing from the sale or other taxable disposition of Class A
ordinary shares generally will be subject to information reporting and backup withholding 1f 2 US
Holder (1) fails to furnmish such US Holder's correct US taxpayer identification number (generally on
IRS Form W-9), (1) furnishes an incorrect US taxpayer 1dentification number, (1u) 15 noufied by the
IRS that such US Holder has previously failed to properly report items subject to backup withholding,
or (1v) fails to certify under penalty of perjury that such US Holder has furmished its correct US
taxpayer identification number and that the IRS has not notified such US Holder that 1t 1s subject to
backup withholding

Backup withholding 1s not an additional tax Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding
rules generally will be allowed as a credit against a US Holder’s US federal income tax hiability or will
be refunded, if the US Holder furnishes the required information to the IRS 1n a timely manner

Non-US Holders
Distributions

Subject to the discussion under “—Foreign Account Tax Comphance Act” below, distributions
treated as dividends (see “—US Holders—Distributions” above) by the Company to Non-US Holders
will be subject to US federal withholding tax at a 30% rale, except as may be provided by an applicable
income tax treaty To obtain a reduced rate of US federal withholding under an applicable income tax
treaty, a Non-US Holder will be required to certify its entitlement to benefits under the treaty,
generally on a properly completed IRS Form W-8BEN or W-8BEN-E, as applicable

However, dividends that are effectively connected with a Non-US Holder’s conduct of a trade or
business within the Umited States and, where required by an mcome tax treaty, are attributable to a
permanent establishment or fixed base of the Non-US Holder, are not subject 1o the withholding tax
described 1n the previous paragraph, but instead are subject to US federal net income tax at graduated
rates, provided the Non-US Holder complies with applicable certification and disclosure requirements, |
generally by providing a properly completed IRS Form W-8ECI Non-US Holders that are corporations [
may also be subject to an additional branch profils tax at a 30% rate, except as may be provided by an
applicable income tax treaty

Sale or other disposition

Subject to the discussion under “—Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act” below, a Non-US
Holder will not be subject to US federal income tax 1n respect of any gain on a sale or other
disposition of the Class A ordinary shares unless

¢ the gam 15 effectively connected with the Non-US Holder’s conduct of a trade or business within
the United States and, where required by an income tax treaty, 1§ attnibutable to a permanent
establishment or fixed base of the Non-US Holder,

» the Non-US Holder 1s an mdividual who 1s present i the United States for 183 days or more 1n
the taxable year of the sale or other disposition and certain other conditions are met, or
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* the Company s or has been a “US real property holding corporation” during the shorter of the
five-year penod preceding the disposition and the Non-US Holder’s holding period for the
Class A ordinary shares

Non-US Holders described 1n the first bullet point above will be subject to tax on the net gain
derived from the sale under regular graduated US federal income tax rates and, if they are foreign
corporations, may be subject to an additional “branch profits tax” at a 30% rate or such lower rate as
may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty Non-US Holders described 1n the second bullet
point above will be subject to a flat 30% tax on any gamn derived on the sale or other taxable
disposition, which gain may be offset by certain US-source capital losses The Company 15 not, and
does not anticipate becorming, a “US real property holding corporation” for US federal income tax
purposes

Information reporting and backup withholding

Generally, the Company musl report annually to the IRS and to Non-US Holders the amount of
distnbutions made to Non-US Holders and the amount of any tax withheld with respect to those
payments Copies of the information returns reporting such distributions and withholding may also be
made available to the tax authorities in the country in which a Non-US Holder resides under the
provisions of an applicable income tax treaty or tax information exchange agreement

A Non-US Holder wili generally not be subject to backup withholding with respect to payments of
dividends, provided the Company receives a properly completed statement to the effect that the
Non-US Holder 15 not a US person and the Company does not have actual knowledge or reason to
know that the holder 15 a US person The requirements for the statement will be met if the Non-US
Holder provides 1ts name and address and certifies, under penalties of perjury, that it 1s not a US
person {which certification may generally be made on IRS Form W-8BEN or W-8BEN-E) or if a
financial institution holding the Class A ordinary shares on behalf of the Non-US Holder cerufies,
under penalties of perjury, that such statement has been received by 1t and furnishes the Company or
its paying agent with a copy of the statement

Except as described below under “—Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act”, the payment of
proceeds from a disposition of Class A ordinary shares to or through a non-US office of a non-US
broker will not be subject to information reporting or backup withholding unless the non-US broker
has certan types of relationships with the United States In the case of a payment of proceeds from the
disposition of Class A ordinary shares to or through a non-US office of a broker that 1s either a US
person or such a US-related person, US Treasury regulations require information reporting (but not
backup withholding) on the payment unless the broker has documentary evidence 1 its files that the
Non-US Holder 1s not a US person and the broker has no knowledge to the contrary

Backup withholding 1s not an additional tax Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding
rules will be allowed as a refund or a credit against a Non-US Holder's US federal income tax hability,
provided the required information 15 timely furmshed to the IRS

Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act

Legslation incorporating provisions referred to as the Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act
(“FATCA”) was enacted on 18 March 2010 Pursuant to FATCA, withholding taxes may apply to certain
types of payments made to “foreign financial mstitutions” (as defined under those rules) and certamn
other non-US entiies The failure to comply with additional certification, information reporting and
other specified requirements could result in a withholding tax being imposed on payments of dividends
and sales proceeds to foreign mntermediaries and certain Non-US Holders A 30% withholding tax may
be 1mposed on dividends on, or gross proceeds from the sale or other disposition of, our Class A
ordinary shares paid to a foreign financial institution or to a non-financial foreign entity, unless (1) the
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foreign financial institution undertakes certamn diligence and reporting obligations, {n} the non-financial
foreign entity exther cerufies 1t does not have any substantial US owners or furnishes 1dentifying
information regarding each substantial US owner, or (i) the foreign financial institution or
non-financial foreign entily otherwise qualifies for an exempuon from these rules If the payee 15 a
foreign financial mstitution and 1s subject to the diligence and reporting requirements 1n clause (1)
above, 1t generally must enter into an agreement with the US Treasury requiring, among other things,
that 1t undertake to 1dentify accounts held by certain US persons or US-owned foreign entities,
annually report certamn information about such accounts and withhold 30% on payments to
non-complhant foreign financial stitutions and certain other account holders Foreign financial
mstitutions located 1n junsdictions that have an intergovernmental agreement with the United States
concerning FATCA may be subject to different rules

Under the applicable Treasury regulations and administrative guidance, the wathholding provisions
described above generally apply to payments of dividends on our Class A ordinary shares, and also will
apply on or after 1 January 2019 to payments of gross proceeds from a sale or other disposition of
Class A ordinary shares Prospectlive investors are encouraged to consult their tax advisors regarding
the potential application of withholding under FATCA to an nvestment in our Class A ordinary shares

Materal Cayman Islands Tax Considerations

There 15, at present, no direct taxation 1n the Cayman Islands and interest, dividends and gains
payable to the Company will be received free of all Cayman Islands taxes The Company has received
an undertaking from the Governor in Cabinet of the Cayman Islands to the effect that, for a penod of
twenty years from the date of such undertaking, no law that thereafter 1s enacted m the Cayman
Islands imposing any tax or duty to be levied on profits, Income or on gains or appreciation, or any tax
m the nature of estate duty or inheritance tax, will apply to any property compnsed n or any mcome
ansing under the Company, or to the shareholders thereof, 1n respect of any such property or income

F. DIVIDENDS AND PAYING AGENTS ;

American Stock Transfer & Trust Company 1s the paying agent for any dividends payable on our
Class A ordmary shares and Class B ordinary shares 1n the United States

While cur dividend policy contemplates a semi-annual dividend, we have no specific procedure for
setung the date of any dividend entitlement, though we will set a recard date for stock ownership to [
determme entitlement to any dividends that may be declared from time to time, 1n accordance with
applicable laws, rules and regulations The declaration and payment of future semi-annual dividends, 1f
any, will be at the sole discretion of our board of directors or a commuittee thereof based on 1ts
consideration of numerous factors, includ:ng cur operating results, financial condition and anticipated
capital requirements and the additional factors discussed above See “Item 8 Financial Information—
A Consolidated Financial Statements and Other Financial Information—Dividend Policy ”

G. STATEMENTS BY EXPERTS
Not applicable

H. DOCUMENTS ON DISPLAY

You may read and copy any reports or other information that we file at the SEC’s Pubhc
Reference Room at 100 F Street, N E, Washington, D C 20549 Information cn the operation of the
Public Reference Room may be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 In addwion, the SEC
mamntamns an Internet website that contains reports, proxy statements and other information about
1ssuers, like us, that file electronically with the SEC The address of that site 1s www sec gov
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We also make avarlable on our website, free of charge, our annual reports on Form 20-F and the
text of our reports on Form 6-K, including any amendments to these reports, as well as certain other
SEC fihings, as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electromically filed with or furnished to the
SEC Qur website address 1s www manutd com The information contamed on our website is not
incorporated by reference in this document

ITEM 11. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Market Risk

Our operations are exposed to a varnety of financial risks that include currency nisk, interest rate
risk and cash flow nisk We review and agree policies for managing these risks, which are then
implemented by our finance department Please refer to note 31 to our audited consolidated financial
statements as of 30 June 2016 and 2015 and for the years ended 30 June 2016, 2015 and 2014 inciuded
elsewhere 1n this Annual Report for a fuller quantitative and qualitative discussion on the market risks
to which we are subject and our policies with respect to managing those risks The policies are
summarized below

Currency risk

We are exposed to both translational and transactional nisk of fluctuations in foregn exchange
rates A sigmficant currency nisk we face relates to the revenue received 1n Euros as a result of
parucipation i European competitions We seek to hedge economically the majority of the currency
nsk of this revenue by placing forward contracts at the pomnt at which 1t becomes reasonably certain
that we will receive the revenue

We also receive a sigmficant amount of sponsorship revenue denominated in US dollars We seek
to hedge the foreign exchange nisk on future US dollar revenues whenever possible using our US dollar
net borrowings as the hedging mstrument The foreign exchange gains or losses arising on retranslation
of our US dollar net borrowings used n the hedge are imtially recognized 1n other comprehensive
income, rather than being recognized 1n the income statement immediately Amounts previously
recognized n other comprehensive income and accumulated 1n a hedging reserve are subsequently
reciassified into the income stalement in the same accounting period, and within the same mncome
statement line (1e¢ Commercial revenue), as the underlying future US dollar revenues The foreign
exchange gans or losses ansing on re-translation of our unhedged US dollar borrowimngs are recogmzed
n the income statement immed:ately

As of 30 June 2016, the amount accumulated 1n the hedging reserve relating to the above hedge
was a debit of £41 0 million (this amount 1s stated gross before deducting related tax)

Based on exchange rates existing as of 30 June 2016, a 10% appreciation of pounds sterling
compared to the US dollar would have resulted 1n a credit to the hedging reserve of approximately
£26 9 mullion for the year ended 30 June 2016 Conversely, a 10% depreciation of pounds sterhing
compared to the US dollar would have resulted 1n a debit to the hedging reserve of approximately
£32 9 million for the year ended 30 June 2016

Payment and receipts of transfer fees may also give rise to foreign currency exposures Due to the
nature of player transfers we may not always be able to predict such cash flow unul the transfer has
taken place Where possible and depending on the payment profile of transfer fees payable and
recevable we will seek to economically hedge future payments and receipts at the pomnt it becomes
reasonably certain that the payments will be made or the revenue will be received When hedging
revenue to be received, we also take account of the credit nisk of the counterparty
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Interest rate risk

Our interest rate risk relates to changes i mterest rates for borrowings Borrowings 1ssued at
variable interest rates expose us to cash flow interest rate risk Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose
us to farr value mterest rate rsk Qur borrowings under our revolving facility, our secured term loan
faciity and our Alderley facility bear interest at vanable rates As of 30 June 2016, we had
£166 0 million of variable rate indebtedness outstanding under our secured term loan facility and
£4 6 million of vanable rate indebtedness outstanding under our Alderley credit facihty We manage
our cash flow nterest rate nisk, where appropnate, using mterest rate swaps at contract lengths
consistent with the repayment schedule of the borrowings Such nterest rate swaps have the economic
effect of converting borrowings from floating rates to fixed rates Consequently, a hypothetical one
percentage point increase In interest rates on our vanable rate indebtedness would not have a matenal
immpact on our annual interest expense

Other than as disclosed herein, we have no additional hedging policies

Derivative Financial Instruments
Foreign currency forward confracts

‘We enter into foreign currency forward contracts to purchase and sell foreign currency 1n order to |
minimize the impact of currency movements on our financial performance primanly for cur exposure to
Breadcasting revenue receved in Euros for our participation in European compelitions and
Commercial revenue received 1n US dollars for certain sponsorship contracts
Interest rate swaps
We have interest rate swaps in place in respect of our secured term loan facility As of 30 June
2016, the fair value of outstanding imterest rate swaps was a net habilhity of £9 7 million

Embedded foreign exchange derwvatives

We have a number of currency based embedded derivatives 1in host Commercial revenue contracts
These are separately recogmized in the financral statements at fair value since they are not closely
related to the host contract As of 30 June 2016, the fair value of such derivatives was a net asset of
£5 2 million

ITEM 12. DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES OTHER THAN EQUITY SECURITIES
A, DEBT SECURITIES
Not applicable

B. WARRANTS AND RIGHTS
Not applicable

C., OTHER SECURITIES
Not applicable

D. AMERICAN DEPOSITARY SHARES
Not applicable
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PART 11
ITEM 13. DEFAULTS, DIVIDEND ARREARAGES AND DELINQUENCIES

None

ITEM 14 MATERIAL MODIFICATICNS TO THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HOLDERS AND USE
OF PROCEEDS

None

ITEM 15. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

We have carried out ar evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operauon of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as such term 1s defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(¢) under the
Securnities Exchange Act of 1934) under the supervision and the participation of the executive board of
management, which 1s responsible for the management of the mternal controls, and which in¢ludes the
Principal Executive Officer and the Principal Financial Officer There are inherent himitations to the
effectiveness of any system of disclosure controls and procedures, including the possibility of human
error and the circumvention or overriding of the controls and procedures Accordingly, even effective
disclosure controls and procedures can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving their control
objectives Based upon our evaluation as of 30 June 2016, the Principal Executive Officer and Principal
Financial Officer have concluded that the disclosure contrels and procedures (1) were effective at a
reasonable level of assurance as of the end of the perntod covered by this Annual Report on Form 20-F
1in ensuring that information required to be recorded, processed, summarized and reported m the
reports that are filed or submutted under the Exchange Act, 1s recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the ume penods specified in the Commuission’s rules and forms and (n) were effective
at a rcasonable level of assurance as of the end of the period covered by this Annua! Report on
Form 20-F 1n ensuring that information 1o be disclosed in the reports that are filed or submitted under
the Exchange Act 15 accumulated and communicated to the management of the Company, including the
Principal Executive Officer and the Principal Financial Officer, to allow tumely decisions regarding
required disclosure

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our executive board of management 1s responsible for establishing and mamntaining adequate
internal control over financial reporting Our tnternal control over financial reporting 15 a process
designed, under the supervision of the Principal Executive Officer and the Principal Financial Officer,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
our financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles

Our 1nternal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and faurly, reflect transactions and
dispositions of assets, provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded n the manner
necessary to permit the preparation of financial statements 1n accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures are only carned out 1n accordance with the
authorization of our executive board of management and directors, and provide reasonable assurance
regarding the prevention or timely detection of any unauthonzed acquisition, use or disposition of our
assets and that could have a material effect on our financial statements

Because of its inherent hmitations, nternal control over financial reporting may not prevent or
detect all misstatements Moreover, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control
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to future periods are subject to a nisk that controls may become inadequate because of changes 1n
conditions and that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorale

Our executive board of management has assessed the effectiveness of internal control over !
financial reporting based on the Internal Control—Integrated Framework 1ssued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Orgamzations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) 2013 Based on this assessment, our
executive board of management has concluded that our nternal control over financial reporting as of
30 June 2016 was effective

This Annual Report does not include an attestation report of the Company’s registered public
accounting firm because we qualify as an emerging growth company and, as such, are exempt from such
attestation

Changes n Internal Contro) over Financial Reporting

Durning the period covered by this report, we have not made any change to our mternal control
over financial reporting that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to matenally affect, our
internal control over financial reporting

ITEM 16A. AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT

Our board of directors has determuned that Mr Robert Leitdo satisfies the “independence”
requirements set forth in Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act Qur board of directors has also
determined that Mr Robert Leitao 1s an “audit commuttee financial expert” as defined in Item 16A of
Form 20-F under the Exchange Act

ITEM 16B. CODE OF ETHICS

We have adopted a Cede of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all our employees,
officers and directors, including our prinaipal executive, principal financial and principal accounting
officers Qur code of Business Conducl and Ethics addresses, among other things, competiton and fair
dealing, conflicts of interest, financial matters and external reporting, company funds and assets,
conlidentiahty and corporate opportunity requirements and the process for reporting violations of the
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, employee misconduct, conflicts of interest or other violations
Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics 1s mtended to meet the definition of “code of ethics” under
Item 16B of 20-F under the Exchange Act

Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics 15 available on our website at http //ir manutd com/ The
mformation contamed on our website 1s not incorporated by reference 1n this Annual Report

ITEM 16C. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PwC”’) acted as our independent auditer for the fiscal years ended
30 June 2016 and 2015 The table below sets out the total amount billed to us by PwC, for services
performed n the years ended 30 June 2016 and 2015, and breaks down these amounts by category of
service

2016 2015
£000 £000
Audit Fees 462 405
Tax Fees 690 243
All Other Fees 143 609
Total 1,295 1,257
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Audit Fees

Audit fees for the years ended 30 June 2016 and 2015 were related to the audit of our
consohdated and subsidiary financial statements and other audit or interim review services provided n
connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements

Tax Fees

Tax fees for the years ended 30 June 2016 and 2015 were related to tax comphance and tax
planning services
All Other Fees

All other fees in the year ended 30 June 2016 related to services in connection with corporate
compliance matters

All other fees 1n the year ended 30 June 2015 were related to professional services rendered 1n
connection with public sales of our Class A ordinary shares by Red Football LI1.C and the Edward S
Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Trust, the debt refinancing in June 2015 and other corporate compliance
matters

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

The advance approval of the Audit Commuttee or members thereof, to whom approval authonty
has been delegated, 1s required for all audit and non-audit services provided by our auditors

All services provided by our auditors are approved mn advance by either the Audit Committee or
members thereof, to whom authority has been delegated, 1n accordance with the Audit Committee’s
pre-approval policy

ITEM 16D. EXEMPTIONS FROM THE LISTING STANDARDS FOR AUDIT COMMITTEES
Not apphcable

ITEM 16E. PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER
Not apphicable

ITEM 16F. CHANGE IN REGISTRANT’S CERTIFYING ACCOUNTANT

None

ITEM 16G. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Our Class A ordinary shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange We believe the following
to be the significant differences between our corporate governance practices and those applicable to US
companies under the New York Stock Exchange listing standards

In general, under the New York Stock Exchange corporate governance standards, foreign private
1issuers, as defined under the Exchange Act, are permitted to follow home country corporate
governance practices nstead of the corporate governance practices of the New York Stock Exchange
Accordingly, we follow certain corporate governance practices of our home country, the Cayman
Islands, in lieu of certain of the corporate governance requirements of the New York Stock Exchange
Specifically, we do not have a board of directors composed of a majority of independent directors or a
remuneration commitlee or nomimnating and corporate governance committee composed entirely of
independent directors
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In the event we no longer qualify as a foreign private 1ssuer, we intend to rely on the “controlled
company” exemption under the New York Stock Exchange corporate governance rules A “controlled
company” under the New York Stock Exchange corporate governance rules 1s a company of which
more than 50% of the voting power 1s held by an individual, group or another company Our principal
shareholder controls a majority of the combined voting power of our outstanding ordinary shares, and
our principal shareholder 1s able to nominate a majonty of directors for election to our board of
directors Accordingly, we are eligible to, and, in the event we no longer qualify as a foreign private
issuer, we mtend to, take advantage of certain exemptions under the New York Stock Exchange
corporate governance rules including exemptions from the requirements that a majonty of the directors
on our board of directors are independent directors and the requirement that our remuneration
committee and our nommating and corporate governance committee consist entirely of independent
directors

The foreign private 1ssuer exemption and the “controlled company” exemption do not modify the
independence requirements for the audit committee, and we comply with the requirements of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the New York Stock Exchange rules, which require that our audit commuitee
be composed of three independent directors

If at any time we cease to be a “controlled company” or a “foreign private 1ssuer” under the rules
of the New York Stock Exchange and the Exchange Act, as applicable, our board of directors will take
all action necessary to comply with the New York Stock Exchange corporate governance rules

Due to our status as a foreign private issuer and our ntent toe follow certain home country
corporate governance practices, our shareholders do not have the same protections afforded to
shareholders of companies that are subject to all the New York Stock Exchange corporate governance
standards

ITEM 16H. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE
Not apphcable
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PART 111
ITEM 17. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Not applicable

ITEM 18. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The audited consolidated financial statements as required under Item 18 are attached hereto
starting on page F-1 of this Annual Report The audit report of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLF,
mmdependent registered public accountuing firm, 1s included heremn preceding the audited consolidated
financial statements

ITEM 19. EXHIBITS

The following exhibits are filed as part of this Annual Report

11 Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Assoctation of Manchester United plc
dated as of 8 August 2012 (included as Exhibit 3 1 to our Registration Statement on Form F-1/A
(File No 333-182535), filed with the SEC on 30 July 2012, as amended)

21 Specimen Ordinary Share Certificate of Manchester United ple (included as Exhibit 4 1 to our
Registration Statement on Form F-1/A (File No 333-182535), filed with the SEC on 30 July
2012, as amended)

41 Agreement, dated 19 May 2008, between The Royal Bank of Scotland ple, as agent for National
Westminster Bank plc, and Alderley Urban Investments (included as Exhibit 10 3 to our
Registration Statement on Form F-1/A {File No 333-182535), filed with the SEC on 16 July
2012, as amended)

42 Amendment and Restatement Agreement relating to the Secured Term Facility, dated 11 August
2014, between Red Football Lumited and Bank of America, N A, as Agent and Orniginal Lender
(included as Exhitnt 4 1 to our Report on Form 6-K (File No 001-35627), filed with the SEC on
12 August 2014)

43 Amendment and Restatement Agreement relating to the Secured Term Facility, dated 15 May
2015, among Red Football Limited, Bank of Amenca, N A, as Oniginal Agent, and Bank of
America Mernll Lynch International Limited, as Agent and Lender (included as Exhibit 101 to
our Registration Statement on Form F-3 (File No 333-206985), filed with the SEC on
17 September 2015)

44 Revolving Facilities Agreement, dated 22 May 2015, among Red Football Limited,
MU Finance ple, the guarantors party thereto, Bank of Amernica, N A, as Arranger, the Onginal
Lenders named theremn, and Bank of America Mernil Lynch International Limited, as Agent and
Secunty Trustee (included as Exhibit 10 2 to our Registration Statement on Form F-3 (File
No 333-206985), filed with the SEC on 17 September 2015)

45 Note Purchase Agreement, dated 27 May 2015, among MU Fmance plc, the guarantors party
thereto, the purchasers listed therein and the Bank of New York Mellon, as Pay:ng Agent
(included as Exhibit 4 3 to our Registration Statement on Form F-3 (File No 333-206985), filed
with the SEC on 17 September 2015)

46 Term Facility Amendment Letter, dated 26 June 2015, between Red Fooiball Limited and Bank
of America Merrill Lynch International Limited, as Agent and Lender (included as Exhubit 10 3
to our Registration Statement on Form F-3 (File No 333-206985), filed with the SEC on
17 September 2015)
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Second Term Facility Amendment Letter, dated 11 September 2015, between Red Football
Limited and Bank of America Mernlil Lynch International Limited, as Agent and Lender
(included as Exhibit 4 7 to our Annual Report on Form 20-F (File No 333-183277), filed with
the SEC on 15 October 2015)

Reveolving Facilities Amendment Letter, dated 7 October 2015, between Red Football Limited
and Bank of Amenica Mernll Lynch International Limited, as Agent and Lender (included as
Exhibit 4 8 to our Annual Report on Form 20-F (File No 333-183277), filed wath the SEC on
15 October 2015)

2012 Equity Incentive Award Plan (included as Exhibit 4 2 to cur Registration Statement on
Form S-8 (File No 333-183277), filed wath the SEC on 13 August 2012)

Premier League Handboeok, Season 2015/16 (included as Exhibit 4 6 to our Annual Report on
Form 20-F (File No 001-35627), filed with the SEC on 15 October 2015)

Premier League Handbook, Season 2016/17

List of sigmificant subsidiaries (included in note 33 to our audited consolidated financial
statements included 1n this Annual Report)

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Ceruficauon of Principal Executive Officer
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a} Cerufication of Principal Financial Officer

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U S C Section 1350, as adopted pursuant
1o Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U S C Section 1350, as adopted pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Manchester United plc

In our opimion, the accompanying conscolhidated balance sheet and the related consohdated income |
statement, consolidated statements of comprehensive income, of changes 1in equity and of cash flows |
present fairly, 1n all matenal respects, the financral position of Manchester United ple and 1ts |
subsidiaries as of 30 June 2016 and 2015, and the results of their operatons and their cash flows for
cach of the three years in the period ended 30 June 2016 n confermity with International Financial
Reporung Standards as 1ssued by ihe International Accounting Standards Board These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management Our responsibility 1s to express an
opimnion on these financral statements based on our audits We conducted our audits of these statements
m accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of matenal misstatement An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 1n the financial statements, assessing the
accounting prnciples used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Manchester, United Kingdom
15 September 2016




Consolidated 1ncome statement

Revenue
Operating expenscs
(Loss)/profit on disposal of intangible assets

Operating profit

Finance costs
Finance income

Net finance costs

Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before tax
Tax (expense)/credit

Note
4
5
8

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to owners of the parent

Earnings/(loss) per share attributable to owners of the parent

during the year
Basic earnings/(loss) per share (pence)
Diluted earmings/(loss) per share {pence)(1)

11
11

Year ended 30 June

2016 2015 2014
£000 £000 £000
515345 395178 433,164
(436,709) (387,179) (372,240)
(9,786) 23,649 6,991
68,850 31,648 67,915
(20,459) (35419) (27,668)
442 204 256
(20,017)  (35215) (27,412)
48,833  (3,567) 40,503
(12,462) 2,672  (16,668)
36,371 (895) 23,835
22.19 (055) 1455
22.13 (055) 1454

(1) For the year ended 30 June 2015, potential ordinary shares are anti-dilutive, as their inclusion in

the diluted loss per share calculation would reduce the loss per share, and hence have been

excluded For the years ended 30 June 2016 and 2014, potental ordinary shares have been treated
as dilutive, as their inclusion 1n the diluted earnings per share calculation decreases carnings per

share

See accompanying notes to the consohdated financial statements
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Profit/(loss) for the year

Other comprehensive (loss)/income:

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Fair value movements on cash flow hedges (note 31 2)

Tax credit/(expense) relating to cash flow hedges (note 31 2)
Exchange gain on translation of overseas subsidhary

Tax expense relating to translation of overseas subsidiary

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year attributable to owners of
the parent

Year ended 30 June

2016 2015 2014
£000 £000 £'000

36,371 (895) 23,835

(58,025) (32,602) 39,643
20,307 11,413 (13,956)
— — 46
— - (16)

(37,718) (21,189) 25,717

(1,347) (22,084) 49,552

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Investment property

Intangible assets

Dervative financial instruments
Trade and other receivables
Deferred tax asset

Current assets

Inventories

Denvauve financial instruments
Trade and other receivables
Tax recervable

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Consohdated balance sheet

Note

13
14
15
18
19
25

16
18
19

20

As of 30 June

2016 2015

£000 £000
245,714 250,626
13,447 13,559
665,634 660,397
3,760 -
11,223 3,836
145460 133,640
1,085,238 1,062,058
926 —
7,888 27
128,657 83,627
— 124
229194 155,752
366,665 239,530
1,451,903 1,301,588

See accompanying notes to the consol:dated financial statements

F-5




EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity

Share capital

Share premium

Merger reserve

Hedging reserve

Retained earnings

Non-current liabilities
Denvative financial instruments
Trade and other payables
Borrowings

Deferred revenue

Deferred tax liabilines

Current liabilities

Denvative financial instruments
Tax habihities

Trade and other payables
Borrowings

Deferred revenue

Total equity and habilities

Consolidated balance sheet (continued)

Note

21

18
23
24

25

18

23
24

As of 30 June

2016 2015

£000 £000
52 52
68,822 683822
249,030 249,030
(32,989) 4,729
173367 155,285
458,282 477,918
10,637 2,769
41,450 48,078
484,528 410,482
38,899 21,583
14364 17311
589,878 500,223
2,800 2,966
6,867 2,105
199,668 131,283
5,564 485
188,844 186,608
403,743 323,447
1,451,903 1,301,588

See accompanymng notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Conschidated statement of changes 1n equuty

Balance at 1 July 2013

Profit for the year

Cash flow hedges

Tax expense relating to cash flow hedges

Currency translation differences

Tax expense relating to currency translation
differences

Total comprehensive income for the year
Equity-settled share-based payments
(note 22)

Balance at 30 June 2014

Loss for the year
Cash flow hedges
Tax credit relating to cash flow hedges

Total comprehensive loss for the year
Equity-settled share-based payments
(note 22)

Balance at 30 June 2015

Profit for the year
Cash flow hedges
Tax credit relating to cash flow hedges

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the
year

Equity-settled share-based payments
{note 22}

Dividends paid (note 12)

Balance at 30 June 2016

Share Share Merger Hedging  Retained Total

capital  premum reserve reserve earnings equity

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

52 68,822 249,030 231 129,825 447960
— — - — 23,835 23,835
_ — — 39,643 — 39643
— — —  (13,956) —  (13,956)
— — — — 46 46
— — — = _a9 __9
— — — 25,687 23,865 49,552
— — — — 1,133 1,138
52 68,822 249,030 25918 154,828 498,650
— — — — (895)  (895)
— — — (32,602 —  (32,602)
— — — 11413 — 11,413
— — — (21,189)  (895) (22,084)
— — — — 1,352 1,352
52 68,822 249,030 4,729 155,285 477918
— — — 36,371 36,371
— — —  (58,025) —  (58,025)
— — — 20,307 — 20,307
— — — (37,718) 36371  (1,347)
— — — —_ 1,795 1,795
— — — —  (20,084) (20,084)
52 68,822 249,030 (32,989) 173,367 458,282

Movements on the hedging reserve are provided in note 31 2

See accompanying notes to the consohdated financial statements
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Consohdated statement of cash flows

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations

Interest paid

Debt finance costs relating to borrowings
Interest receved

Tax pad

Net cash generated from operating activities

Cash flows from 1nvesting activities

Payments for property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equupment
Payments for intangible assets

Proceeds from sale of intangible assets

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Dwvidends paid

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) 1n cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginmng of year
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Year ended 30 June

2016 2015 2014

_No_le £000 £000 £000
26 200,864 195021 101,704
(13,219)  (42,624) (27,669)
—  (6,508) (123)

487 502 254
(2,040)  (2,466) (1,375)
186,092 143925 72,791
(5101)  (5,466) (10,847)

19 — 50
(138,095) (117,446) (92,942)
38,357 20,649 14,025
(104,820) (102,263) (89,714)

— 272,539 —
(371) (227.950)  (4.997)
(20,084) — —
(20,455) 44589  (4,997)
60,817 86,251 (21,920)
155,752 66365 94,433
12,625 3,136 (6,148)

20 229,194 155,752 66,365




Notes to the conschdated financial statements

1 General information

Manchester United plc (the “Company”) and 1ts subsidiaries (together the “Group™) 1s a
professional football club together with related and ancillary activities The Company incorporated
under the Companies Law (2011 Revision) of the Cayman Islands, as amended and restated from time
to time The address of 1ts principal executive office 1s Sir Matt Busby Way, Old Trafford,

Manchester M16 ORA, United Kingdom The Company’s shares are listed on the New York Stock
Exchange

These financial statements are presented 1n pounds sterling and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand (£°000) except when otherwise indicated

These financial statements were approved by the Audit Commuttee on 15 September 2016

2 Summary of significant acconnting policies

The principal accounting policies applied 1n the preparation of these conschidated financial
statements are set out below These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of Manchester Umited plc have been prepared on a going
concern basis and 1n accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS™), as issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“1ASB”} and IFRS Interpretations Commuittee
(“IFRS IC") interpretattons The consohidated financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of certain financial assets and habilities
(including dervative financial instruments) which are recogmzed at fair value through profil and loss,
unless cash flow hedge accounting apples

2.1 1 Changes 1n accounting policy and disclosures

a) New and amended standards and interpretations adopted by the Group.

The Group has adopted the following new and amended IFRS standards and interpretations for
the first ime for the financial year beginming on 1 July 2015 None of these had a matenal impact on
the consolidated financial statements of the Group

* Amendment to IAS 32, “Financial Instruments Presentation”

* Annual improvements to IFRSs 2012 - 2014

b) New and amended standards and interpretations not yet adopted

The following new standards, amendments (o standards and interpretations are not yet effective
and have not been applied i preparing these consolidated financial statements Adoption may affect
the disclosures 1n the Group’s financial statements 1n the future The adoption of these standards,
amendments and interpretations 15 not expected to have a matenal impact on the consohidated financial
statements of the Group, except as set out below

* IFRS 9, “Financial instruments” While the Group has yet to undertake a detailed assessment it
does not expect the new standard to have a significant impact on the classification and
measurement of financial assets and financial habihties and 1t would appear that the Group’s
current hedge relationships would quahfy as continuing hedges upon the adoption of IFRS 9
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Notes to the consohdated financial statements (Continued)

2 Summary of significant accounting pehcies (Continued)

The new standard also mtroduces expanded disclosure requirements and changes in
presentation These are expected to change the nature and extent of the Group’s disclosures
about 1ts financial instruments particularly in the year of adoption of the new standard The
Group expects to adopt IFRS 9 from 1 July 2018

* IFRS 15, “Revenue from contracts with customers” Management 1s currently assessing the
effects of applymg the new standard At this stage, the Group 1s not able te estimate the impact
of the new rules on the Group’s financial statements The Group will make more detailed
assessments of the impact over the next twelve months The Group expects to adopt IFRS 15
from 1 July 2018

* IFRS 16, “Leases” The new standard will affect primarily the accounting for the Group's
operating leases As at the reporting date, the Group has non-cancellable operating lease
commitments of £11,351,000, see note 28 1 However, the Group has not yet determined to what
extent these commitments will result 1n the recognition of an asset and a Liability for future
payments and how thus will affect the Group’s profit and classiiication of cash flows The Group
expects to adopt IFRS 16 from 1 July 2019

* Amendment to IAS 12, “Income taxes”™
* Amendment to IAS 7, “Cashflow statements”

There are no other IFRSs or IFRS IC interpretations that are not yet effective that would be
expected to have a material smpact on the Group

2.2 Basis of consohdation

Subsidianes are all entitigs over which the Group has control The Group controls an entity when
the Group 15 exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through 1ts power over the entity Subsidianes are fully consolidated
from the date on which control 1s transferred to the Group They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary 1s the fair values of the assets transferred, the habilihes
meurred to the former owners of the acquirece and the equity interests 1ssued by the Group The
consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or hability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement Identifiable assets acquired and habilities and contingent habilities assumed
m a business combination are measured imtially at their fair values at the acquisition date The Group
recognizes any non-controlling interest 1n the acquiree on an acquistion by acquisition basis, esther at
farr value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recogmized amounts of the
acquiree’s 1identufiable net assets

Acquisiion costs are expensed as incurred

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of any previous interest 1n the acquiree over the fair value
of the 1dentifiable net assets acquired 1s recorded as goodwill If the total consideranion transferred,
non-controlling interest recognized and previously held interest measured 1s less than the fair value of
the net assets of the subsidiary acquired 1n the case of a bargain purchase, the difference 15 recogmzed
directly 1n the income statement
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Notes to the consohdated financial statements (Continued)

2 Summary of sigmficant accounting policies (Continued)

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealized gains and losses on transactions between
Group companies are ehminated Accounting policies of subsidianes have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group

2.3 Segment reporting

The Group has one reportable segment, being the operation of a professional football club The
Chief Operating Decision Maker (being the Board and executive officers of Manchester United plc),
who 1s responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance obtains financial information,
being the Consolidated income statement, Consolidated balance sheet and Consohidated statement of
cash flows, and the analysis of changes in net debt, about the Group as a whole The Group has
investment property, however, this 1s not considered to be a maternial business segment and 1s therefore
not reported as such

2.4 Foreign currency translation
a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included 1n the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment 1 which the entity operates (the “functional currency™)
The consohidated financial statements are presented in pounds sterling which 15 the Company’s and 1ts
subsidianies functional currency, with the exception of Manchester United Commercial Enterprises
(Ireland) Limited whose functional currency 1s the Euro

b} Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and habihties denominated 1n foreign currencies are recognized
the income statement, excepl when deferred in other comprehensive income as qualifying cash flow
hedges Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to unhedged borrowings are presented in the :
income statement within finance costs or income All other foreign exchange gains and losses are |
presented 1n the income statement within operating expenses

¢) Translation of overseas net assets

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a
hypernnflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentational curreacy
are transtated into the presentational currency as follows

(1) assets and habilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the
date of that balance sheet,

(1) mncome and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates
(unless this average 1s not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailling at the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the
rate on the dates of the transactions), and

F-11




Notes to the consolidated financial statements (Continued)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

(m) all resulting exchange differences are recognized in other comprehensive income and
accumulated 1 equity

On disposal of a foreign operation any cumulative exchange differences held 1n equity are
rectassified 1o the income statement
d) Exchange rates

The most important exchange rates per £1 00 that have been used in preparing the financial
statements are

Closing rate Average rate
2016 2015 2014 2016 2015 2014
Euro 1.2009 14102 12491 13363 13180 12002
US Dollar 1.3332 15712 17097 14774 15815 16275

2.5 Revenue recognition

Revenue 1s measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable from the Group’s
principal activities excluding transfer fees and value added tax The Group’s principal revenue streams
are Commercial, Broadcasting and Matchday The Group recognizes revenue when the amount of
revenue can be rehably measured, 1t 1s probable that future economic benefits will flow to the enuty
and when specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities as described below

a) Commercial

Commercial revenue (whether settled 1n cash or value in kind) comprises revenue receivable from
the explotation of the Manchester United brand through sponsorship and other commercial
agreements, including mimimum guaranteed revenue, revenue receivable from retailing Manchester
Umited branded merchandise 1n the UK and licensing the manufacture, distribution and sale of such
goods globally, and fees for the Manchester United first team undertaking tours

For sponsorship contracts any additional revenue recevable over and above the mmimum
guaranteed revenue contained 1n the sponsorship and licenstng agreements 1s taken to revenue when a
reliable esumate of the future performance of the contract can be obtained and 1t 1s probable that the
amounts will not be recouped by the sponsor 1n future years

Revenue 1s recogmzed over the term of the sponsorship agreement in line with the performance
obligations included within the contract and based on the sponsorship rights enjoyed by the individual
sponsor In instances where the sponsorship rights remain the same over the duration of the contract,
revenue 1s recogmzed on a straight-line basis In respect of contracts with multiple elements, the Group
allocates the total consideration recevable to each separately identifiable element based on their
relative fair values, and then recognizes the allocated revenue on a straight-line basis over the relevant
period of each element

The Group has a 10-year agreement with adidas which began on 1 August 2015 The mimmum
guarantee payable by adidas over the term of the agreement 1s £750 muillion, subject to certan
adjustments Payments due 1n a particular year may increase if the club’s first team wins the Premer
League, FA Cup or Champions League, or decrease if the club’s first team fails to participate 1n the
Champions League for two or more consecutive seasons with the maximum pessible increase bemg
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Notes to the consohdated financial statements (Continued)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

£4 million per year and the maximum possible reduction being 30% of the applicable payment for that
year Revenue 1s currently being recogmzed based on management’s estimate that the full mnmimum
guarantee amount will be receved, as management does not expect two consecutive seasons of
non-participation 1n the Champions League

Retail revenue 1s recognized at the point of sale while license revenue 1s recogmzed n the period
in which the goods and services are provided

Mobile & content revenue 1s recognized over the term of the commercial agreement 1n line with
the performance obligations included within the contract and based on the commercial nghts enjoyed
by the individual partner In instances where the commercial rights remain the same over the duration
of the contract, revenue 18 recogmized on a straight-line basis

Commercial revenue which 15 recerved 1 advance of a period end but relating to future periods 1s
treated as deferred revenue The deferred revenue 1s then released to revenue on an accruals basis 1in
accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements

b) Broadcasting

Broadcasting revenue represents revenue recewvable from all UK and overseas broadcasting
contracts, including contracts negotiated centrally by the FA Premier League and UEFA

Dustributions from the FA Premier League comprise a fixed element (which 1s recognized evenly as
domestic home league malches are played), facility fces for live coverage and highlights of domestic
home and away matches (which are recognized when the respective maich 1s played), and ment awards
(which are only recognized when they are known at the end of each football season)

Distnibutions from UEFA relating to participation in European cup competitions comprise market
pool payments (which are recogmzed over the matches played in the competition, a portion of which
reflects Manchester United’s performance relative to the other FA Premier League clubs 1n the
competition} and fixed amounts for participation 1n individual matches (which are recognized when the
matches are played)

Broadcasting revenue which 18 recewed 1n advance of a period end but relating to future pernods 1s
treated as deferred revenue The deferred revenue 1s then released to revenue on an accruals basis in
accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements

¢} Matchday

Matchday revenue 15 recogmzed based on matches played throughout the year with revenue from
each match being recogmzed only when the maich has been played Revenue from related activities
such as Conference and Events or the Museum is recognized as the event or service 1s provided or the
facility 15 used

Matchday revenue includes revenue recervable from all domestic and European match day
activitics from Manchester United games at Old Trafford, together with the Group’s share of gate
receipts from cup matches not played at Old Trafford (where applicable), and fees for arranging other
events at the Old Trafford stadum The share of gate receipts payable to the other participating club
and competition orgamiser for cup matches played at Old Trafford (where applicable) 1s treated as an
opcrating expense




Notes to the consolidated financial statements (Continued)

2 Summary of sigmficant accounting policies (Continued)

Maichday revenue which 1s received 1n advance of a penod end but relating to future penods
(mainly the sale of seasonal facilities for first team matches at Old Trafford) 1s trcated as deferred
revenue The deferred revenue 1s then released to revenue as the matches are played

d4) Fmance income

Finance income 15 recogmzed using the effective interest rate method

e} Accrued revenue

Revenue from Matchday activities, broadeasting and commercial contracts, which 1s received after
the period to which 1t relates, 1s accrued as carned

f) Deferred revenue

Revenue {rom Matchday activities, broadcasting and commercial contracts, received or receivable
prior to the period end 1n respect of future periods, 1s deferred

2.6 Operating leases

Leases 1n which a substantrally all of the nsks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor
are classified as operating leases Payments made under operating leases {net of any incentives recerved
from the lessor} are charged to the income statement on a straight line basis over the period of the
lease

Rentals recewvable under sub-tenancy agreements (net of any mcentives given to the lessec) are
credited to the income statement on a straight line basis over the lease term The nsk and rewards of
ownership on the sub-let property remain with the third party lessor

2.7 Exceptional 1tems

Exceptional items are disclosed separately in the financial statements where 1t 1s necessary to do so
to provide further understanding of the financial performance of the Group They are maternal items of
income or expense that have been shown separately due to the sigmificance of their nature or amount

2.8 Pensien costs

The Group 1s one of a number of participating employers in The Football League Limited Pension
and Life Assurance Scheme {‘the scheme'—see note 30 1) The Group 1s unable to idenufy 1ts share of
the asseis and Liabilines of the scheme and therefore accounts for 1ts contributions as if they were paid
to a defined coninbution scheme The Group’s contributions intc this scheme are reflected within the
income statement when they fall due Full provision has been made for the additional contributions
that the Group has been requested to pay to help fund the scheme deficit

The Group also operates a defined contrabution scheme The assets of the scheme are held
separately from those of the Group 1n an independently admimistered fund The Group’s contributions
mto this scheme are reflected within the income statement when they fall due
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Notes to the consohdated financial statements (Continued)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)
2.9 Share-based payments

The Group operates a share-based compensation plan under which the entity receives services
from employees as consideration for equity instruments of the Group

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments at the grant date The fair value excludes the effect of non-market based vesting
conditions The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settied share-based payments 1s
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting penod, based on the Group’s estimate of equity
instruments that will eventoally vest At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimate of the
number of equity instruments expected to vest as a result of the effect of non-market based vesting
conditions The impact of the revision of the oniginal estimates, if any, 1s recogmized 1n the income
statement such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity reserves

For cash-settled share-based payments to cmployees, a hability 1s recognized for the services
acquired, measured mmtially at the fair value of the Lhability At each balance sheet date until the
liability 15 settled, and at the date of settlement, the fair value of the hability 1s remeasured, with any
changes 1n fair value recognized in profit or loss for the year

Details regarding the determination of the fair value of share-based transactions are set out in
note 22

2.10 Current and deferred tax

The tax expense or credit for the period comprises current and deferred tax Tax 1s recognized in
the income statement, except to the extent that it relates to 1tems recogmzed in other comprehensive
mcome, m which case the tax 1s also recogmzed n other comprehensive iIncome

The current tax expense or credit 1s calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and
generate taxable immcome Although the Company 1s organized as a Cayman Islands corporation, 1t
reports as a US domestic corporation for US federal income tax purposes and 1s subject to US federal
income tax on the Group’s worldwide mncome In addition, the Group 1s subject to income and other
taxes in various other jurisdictions, including the UK Management periodically evaluates positions
taken n tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation 1s subject to
interpretation It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid
to (or recovered from) the tax authorities

Deferred tax 15 recogmized on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabihties and their carrying amounts i the financial statements Deferred tax is determined using tax
rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are
expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset 1s realised or the deferred hability 1s settled

Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that 1t 1s probable that future taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised

Deferred tax assets and Liabilities are offset when there 15 a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets agamst current tax habilities and when the deferred tax assets and hiabilities relate to
taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
where there is an ntention to settle the balances on a net basis
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Notes to the consolidated finanaal statements (Continued)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)
2.11 Dividend distribution

Dividend distnibutions to the Company’s shareholders are recognized when they become legally
payable In the case of interim dividends, this 1s when they are paid

2.12 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment 1s mitially measured at cost {comprising the purchase price, after
deducting discounts and rebates, and any directly attributable costs) and 1s subsequently carried at cost
less accumulated depreciation and any provision for impairment

Subsequent costs, for example, capital improvements and refurbishment, are included 1n the asset’s
carrying amount or recogmized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when 1t 1s probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured relrably Where appropriate, the carrying amount of the replaced part 15 derecognized All
other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial penod n
which they are incurred

Land 15 not depreciated With the exception of freehold property acquired before 1 August 1999,
depreciation 1s calculated using the straight-line method to write-down assets to their residual value
over the estimated useful lives as follows

Freehold property 75 years
Computer equipment and software (included within Plant and

machinery) . 3 years
Plant and machinery . 4 - 5 years
Fixtures and fittings 7 years

Freehold property acquired before 1 August 1999 1s depreciated on a reducing balance basis at an
annual rate of 133%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropniate, at the end of
each reporting penod

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 1ndicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable Any impairment charges arising are recognized n the income
statement when the carrying amount of an asset 15 greater than the estimated recoverable amount,
which 1s the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value 1n use, and are calculated with
reference to future discounted cash flows that the asset 1s expected to generate when considered as part
of a cash-generating umit Prior impatrments are reviewed for possible reversal at each balance sheet
date

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recogmzed within operating expenses within the income statement
2.13 Investment property

Property that 1s held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that 1s not
occupied by the Group, 1s classified as investment property
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Investment property 1s imtially measured at cost (compnsing the purchase price, after deducting
discounts and rebates, and any directly attnibutable costs) and 1s subsequently carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any provision for impairment Investment property 15 depreciated using
the straight-line method over 50 years

Investment properties are reviewed for impairment when there 1s a triggering event such as a
decline in the property market An impairment charge 1s recognized for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds us recoverable amount Prior impairments are reviewed for possible
reversal at each balance sheet date If an impairment charge subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset 15 mcreased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrymg amount that would have been determined had no
impairment charge been recogmized for the asset in prior years

2 14 Intangible assets—goodwill
a. Initial recognition

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisiion over the fair value of the Group’s
share of the net 1dentifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition

b. [mpairment

Management considers there to be one matenal cash generating unit for the purposes of annual
impairment review being the operation of a professional football club

Goodwill 1s not subject to amortization and 1s tested annually for impairment or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment An impairment loss 1s recognized
mn the income statement when the carrying value of goodwill exceeds 1ts recoverable amount Its
recoverable amount 1s the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value 1n use Prior impairments
are not subsequently reviewed for possible reversal at each balance sheet date

2.15 Intangible assets—registrations and football staff remuneration
a) Remuneration

Remuneration 1s charged 1o operating expenses on a straight-line basis over the contract periods
based on the amount payable to players and key footbali management staff for that period Any
performance bonuses are recognized when the Company considers that 1t 1s probable that the condition
related to the payment will be achieved

Signming-on fees are typically paid to players and key football management staff in equal anncat
instatlments over the term of the contract Installments are paid at or near the beginning of each
financial year and recogmized as prepayments within trade and other receivables They are subsequently
charged to the income statement (as operating expenses) on a straight-line basis over the financial year
Signmng-on fees paid form part of cash flows from operating activities

Loyalty fees are bonuses which are paid to players and key football management staff either at the
beginning of a renewed contract or in installments over the term of their contract 1n recogmtion for
erther past or future performance Loyalty bonuses for past service are typically paid in a lump sum
amount upon renewal of a contract These loyalty benuses require no future service and are not subject
to any claw-back provisions were the individual to subsequently leave the club during thetr new contract
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term They are expensed once the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to make the
payment Loyalty bonuses for ongoing service are typically paid 1n equal annual installments over the
term of the contract These are paid at the beginming of each financial year and the related charge 1s
recogmized within operating expenses in the mncome statement on a straight-line basis over that period

b) Initial recognition

The costs associated with the acquisiion of players’ and key football management staff
registrations are capitalized at the fair value of the consideration payable Costs include transfer fees,
FAPL levy fees, agents’ fees mcurred by the club and other directly attributable costs Costs also
include the fair value of any contingent consideration, which 1s primanly payable to the player’s former
club (with assoctated levy fees payable to the FAPL), once payment becomes probable Subsequent
reassessments of the amount of contingent consideration payable are also included 1n the cost of the
player’s registration The estimate of the fair value of the contingent consideration payable requires
management to assess the likellhood of specific performance conditions being met which would trigger
the payment of the contingent consideration This assessment 15 carried out ¢n an individual player
basis The additional amount of contingent consideration potentially payable, in excess of the amounts
included 1n the cost of registrations, is disclosed 1n note 29 2 Costs are fully amortized using the
straight-line method over the period covered by the player’s and key football management staff
contract

¢) Renegotiation

Where a contract 1s extended, any cosis associated with securing the extension are added to the
unamortized balance (at the date of the amendment) and the revised book value 1s amortized over the
remaining revised contract hie

d) Disposals

Assets available for sale (principally players’ registrations) are classified as assets held for sale
when their carrying value 1s expected to be recovered principally through a sale transaction and a sale
15 considered to be highly probable Highly probable 1s defined as being actively marketed by the club,
with unconditional offers having been received prior to a peniod end These assets would be stated at
the lower of the carrying amount angd fair value less costs to sell

Gams and losses on disposal of players’ and key football management staff registrations are
determmed by comparing the farr value of the consideration receivable, net of any transaction costs,
with the carrying amount and are recogmzed separately in the income statement within profit on
disposal of ntangible assets Where a part of the consideration recevable 1s contingent on specified
performance conditions, this amount 15 recognized in the income statement on the date the conditions
are met

Loan fee income on players temporanly lcaned to other football clubs 1s recognized separately n
the mcome statement within (loss)/profit on disposal of intangible assets
e} I[mpairment

Management does not consider that it 1s possible to determine the value 1n use of an individual
player or key football management staff in 1solation as that individual (unless via a sale or msurance
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recovery) cannot generate cash flows on his own While management does not consider any individual
can be separated from the single cash generating unit (“CGU”), being the operations of the Group as
a whole, there may be certain circumstances where an individual 1s taken out of the CGU, when 1t
becomes clear that they will not participate with the club’s first team again, for example, a player
sustaining a carcer threatening injury or 15 permanently removed from the first team playing squad for
another reason If such circumstances were to anse, the carrying value of the individual would be
assessed against the Group’s best estimate of the individual’s fair value less any costs to sell and an
impairment charge made 1n operating expenses reflecting any loss arising

2,16 Intangible assets—other

Other mtangible assets compnise website, maobile apphcations and trademark registration costs and
are mmtially measured at cost and are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortuzation and
any provision for imparrment

Amortization 1s calculated using the straight-hne method to write-down assets to their residual
value over the estimated useful lives as [ollows

Website and mobile applications 5 years
Trademark registrations 10 years

The assets’ residual values and useful hives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate at each
balance sheet date

2.17 Denvative financial instruments and hedging activities

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date a dervative contract 1s entered 1nto
and are subsequently re-measured at their fair value The resulting gain or loss 15 recognized in the
income statement immed:ately unless the denivauve 1s designated and effective as a hedgmg nstrument,
in which event the uming of the recogmition 1n the income statement depends on the nature of the
hedging relationship The Group designates certain derivatives as hedges of a particular nsk associated
with a recogmized asset or hability or a highly probable forecast transaction (cash flow hedge)

The Group hedges the foreign exchange nisk on a portion of contracted, and hence highly
probable, future US dollar revenues whenever possible using a portion of the Group’s US dollar net
borrowings as the hedging instrument Foreign exchange gains or losses arising on re-translation of the
Group’s US dollar net borrowings used 1n the hedge are mmtially recognized 1n other comprehensive
income, rather than being recogmized 1n the income statement immediately The foreign exchange gains
or losses ansing on re-translation of the Group’s unhedged US dollar borrowings are recognized in the
income statement immediately

The Group hedges 1ts cash flow interest rate nisk where appropriate using interest rate swaps at
contract lengths consistent with the repayment schedule of the borrowings Such interest rate swaps
have the economic effect of converting borrowings from floating rates to fixed rates The effective
portion of changes i the fair value of the interest rate swap are imtially recogmzed n other
comprehensive income, rather than being recogmzed 1n the income statement immediately The gan or
loss relating to any neffective portion 1s recognized n the income statement immediately

The Group documents at the mception of the transaction the relationship between hedging
mstruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking
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various hedging transactions The Group also documents 1ts assessment, both at hedge inception and on
an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used 1n hedging transactions are highly effective 1n
offsetting changes in the cash flows of the hedged items The Group uses a vanety of methods to assess
hedge effectiveness depending on the nature and type of the hedging relationship, including critical
terms comparison, dollar offset method and regression analysis

Dervatives embedded 1n other financial instruments or host contracts are treated as separate
dervatives when their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and
the host contracts are not measured at fair value through profit or loss

The fair values of various derivative mnstruments are disclosed 1n note 18 Movements on the
hedging reserve 1n other comprehensive income are shown n the statement of changes 1in equity The
full fair value of a hedging derivative 1s classified as a non-current asset or liability when the remaming
maturity of the hedged item 15 more than 12 months, and as a current asset or hiability when the
remaining maturity of the hedged 1tem 1s less than 12 months

The effective portion of changes 1n the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as
cash flow hedges 1s recognized in other comprehensive income The ga:in or loss relating to any
meffective portion 15 recogmzed immediately 1n the income statement

Amounts previously recogmzed m other comprehensive income and accumulated 1n the hedging
reserve within equity are reclassified to the income statement in the periods when the hedged item
affects the income statement (for example, when the forecast transaction that 1s hedged takes place)
When a hedging instrument expires or 1s sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge
accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains 1n equity and 1s
recogmized when the hedged item 15 ultimately recognized in the income statement When a forecast
transactton 15 no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported 1n equity 18
mmmediately transferred to the income statement

2.18 Inventories

Inventones are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value Cost 1s determuined using the
first-n, first-out (FIFO) method The cost of finished goods compnises cost of purchase and, where
appropnate, other directly attributable costs It excludes borrowing costs Net realizable value 1s the
estimated selling price in the ordmary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses

2.19 Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed
in the ordinary course of business Trade and other receivables are recognized mitially at fair value, and
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less provision for
mpairment If collection 1s expected 1n one year or less, they are classifted as current assets If not,
they are presented as non-current assets

2,20 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents inctudes cash 1n hand, deposits held at call with banks, and, if
applicable, other short-term highly hquid investments with original matunties of three months or less
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2.21 Share capital and reserves

Ordinary shares are classified as equity Incremental costs directly attributable to the 1ssue of new
shares are shown 1n equity as a deduction from the proceeds of the 1ssue

The merger reserve arose as a result of reorganization transactions and represents the difference
between the equity of the acquired company (Red Football Shareholder Limited) and the investment by
the acquinng company (Manchester United plc)

The hedging reserve 1s used to reflect the effective portion of changes in the fair value of
derivauves that are designated and quabfy as cash flow hedges

2 22 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are obligations to pay for goods and services that have been acquired n
the ordinary course of business from supphers Trade payables are recognized imtially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method Amounts payable are
classified as current habilities if payment 1s due within one year or less If not they are presented as
non-current habilities

2.23 Borrowings

Borrowings are recogmzed imtially at fair value, net of transaction costs mcurred Borrowings are
subsequently carried at amortized cost, any differences between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption value 1s recogmized n the income statement over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest rate method

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognized as transaction costs of the loan to
the extent that 1t 1s probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down In this case the fee 1s
deferred until draw-down occurs To the extent there 1s no evidence that 1t 1s probable that some or all
of the facility will be drawn down, the fee 1s capitalized as a prepayment for hquidity services and
amortized over the penod of the {acility to which 1t relates

3 Cniucal accounting estimates and judgments

The preparatcn of financial statements requires management to make esumates, judgments and
assumptions concerning the future Estimates, judgments and assumptions are continually evaluated and
ar¢ based on histonical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results The estimates, judgments and assumptions that have
a sigmficant nsk of causing a maternal adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and habilities
within the next financial year are addressed below

a) Revenue recogmtion—mimimum guarantee

Mimimum guaranteed revenue 15 recognized over the term of the sponsorship agreement 1n hne
with the performance obligations included within the contract and based on the sponsorship benefits
enjoyed by the indmvidual sponsor In mnstances where the sponsorship rights remain the same over the
duration of the contract, revenue 1s recogmized on a straight-line basis
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The minimum guarantee payable by adidas 1s subject to certain adjustments Payments due n a
particular year may increase if the club’s first team wins certain competitions or decrease 1if the club’s
first team fails to participate in the Champions League for two or more consecutive seasons with the
maximum possible reduction being 30% of the applicable payment for that year Management’s current
best estimate 1s that the full mimmum guarantee amount will be recewved, as management does not
expect two consecubive seasons of non-participation 1in the Champions League

b) Intangible assets—goodwll

The Group annually tests whether goodwill has suffered any impairment or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment, 1n accordance with 1its accounting
policy The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value-n-use
calculations These calculations require the use of estimates, both in arnving at the expected future
cash flows and the application of a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
these flows These calculations have been carried out mn accordance with the assumptions set out 1n
note 15

c¢) Intangible assets-—registrations

The costs associated with the acquisition of players’ and key football management staff
registrations are capitalized at the fair value of the consideration payable, including an estimate of the
fair value of any contingent consideration Subsequent reassessments of the amount of contingent
consideration payable are also included n the cost of the player’s and key football management staff
registration The estimate of the fair value of the contingent consideration payable requires
management to assess the likehhood of speaific performance conditions being met which would trnigger
the payment of the contingent consideration This assessment 1s carried out on an individual basis A
provision of £10 4 mullion relating to this contingent consideration has been recogmzed on the balance
sheet as of 30 June 2016 The maximum additrenal amount that could be payable as of that date 15
disclosed 1n note 29 2

The Group will perform an impairment review on intangible assets, including player and key
football management staff registrations, if adverse events indicate that the amortized carrying value of
the asset may not be recoverable While no individual can be separated from the single cash generating
unut (“CGU"), being the operations of the Group as a whole, there may be certain circumstances
where an individual 1s taken out of the CGU, when 1t becomes clear that they will not participate with
the club’s first team again, for example, a player sustaimng a career threatening injury or 18
permanently removed from the first team squad for another reason If such circumstances were to
arise, the carrying value of the individual would be assessed agamnst the Group’s best estimate of the
mdividual’s fair value less any costs to sell

d) Tax

Tax 1s calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date 1n the countries where the Company and 1ts subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income
Management establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to
(or recovered from) the tax authonties From time to tine the Group 15 involved in discussions with tax
authorities 1n relation to ongoing tax matters and, where appropriate, provisions are made based on
management’s assessment of each case Future tax expense or credit may be higher or lower than
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estimates made when determining whether 11 15 appropnate to record a provision and the amount to be
recorded Furthermore, changes in the legislative framework or applicable tax case law may result in
management reassessing the recogmition of tax provisions n future periods

e} Recognition of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that 1t 1s probable that the associated
deductions will be available for use against future profits and that there will be sufficient future taxable
profit available against which the temporary differences can be uvtihized, provided the asset can be
rehably quanufied In estimating future taxable profit, management use ‘ base case” approved forecasts
which incorporate a number of assumptions, including a prudent level of future uncontracted revenue
in the forecast period In arrving at a judgment n relation to the recogmtion of deferred tax assets,
management constders the regulations applicable to tax and adwvice on thetr interpretation Future
taxable mmcome may be higher or lower than estimates made when determining whether 1t 1s
appropnate to record a tax asset and the amount to be recorded Furthermore, changes in the
legislative framework or applicable tax case law may result 1n management reassessing the recognition
of deferred tax assets m future periods

4 Segment information

The principal activity of the Group 1s the operation of a professional football club All of the
activities of the Group support the operation of the football club and the success of the first team 15
cntical to the ongoing development of the Group Consequently the Chief Operaung Decision Maker
regards the Group as operating 1n one material segment, being the operation of a professional football
club

All revenue derves from the Group’s principal activity 1n the United Kingdom Revenue can be
analysed mto 1ts three main components as follows

2016 2015 2014

£000 £000 £000
Commercial 268,318 196,931 189,315
Broadcasting 140,440 107,664 135,746
Matchday 106,587 90,583 108,103

515,345 395,178 433,164

Revenue derived from entities accounting for more than 10% of revenue 1n either 2016, 2015 or
2014 were as follows

2016 2015 2014

£000 £000 £'000
Premier League 99,767 100,534 92,752
adidas 72,746 — —
General Motors (Chevrolet) . 58,896 58,534 <10%

All non-current assets, other than US deferred tax assets, are held within the United Kingdom
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5 Operating expenses

2016 2015 2014

£'000 £'000 £000
Employee benefit expense (note 7) (232,242) (202,561) (214,803)
Operating lease costs (2,392) (2,631) (2,352)

Auditors’ remuneration audit of parent company and consolidated

financial statements (26) (23) (17)
Auditors’ remuneration audit of the Company’s subsidiarnes (436) (382) (299)
Auditors’ remuneration tax compliance services (690) (243) (159)
Auditors’ remuneration other services (143) —_ (244)
Foreign exchange gains/(losses) 3,345 435 (4,103)
Fair value movements on forward foreign exchange contracts 8,230 (5,498) (59)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (126) (5) (24)
Depreciation--property, plant and equipment (note 13) 9,967y (10,212) (8,549)
Depreciaticn—investment property (note 14) (112) (112) (116)
Amortization {note 15) (88,009) (99,687) (55,290)
Other operating expenses (99,006) (63,924) (81,041)
Exceptional items (note 6) (15,135} (2,336) (5,184)

(436,709) (387,179) (372,240)

In addition to the auditors’ remuneration charges disclosed above for the year ended 30 June 2015
are amounts of £609,000 relating to tax planning advice, general assurance and other advice 1n
connection with the public sale of Class A ordinary shares and either charged as exceptional items
when they are not directly attributable to the 1ssue of new shares (see note 6) or offset against share
premium when they are directly attnibutable to the 1ssue of new shares, and advice 1n connection with
the debt refinancing 1in June 2015 and either charged as finance costs or carried forward in the balance
sheet as unamortized debt 1ssue costs

6 Exceptional items

2016 2015 2014
£000 £'000 £000
Compensation paid for loss of office (8,442) —  (4,891)
Impairment—registrations (note 15) (6,693) —_ —_—
Football League pension scheme deficit (note 30) — (1,247) —
Professional adviser fees relating to public sale of Class A
ordinary shares — (1,089) —
Impairment—investment property (note 14) — — (293)

(15,135) (2,336) (5,184)

Compensation paid for loss of office relates to amounts payable to former team managers and
certain members of the coaching staff

The registrations’ impairment charge represents a reduction 1n the carrying value of a player no
longer considered to be a member of the first team playing squad
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The Football League pension scheme deficit reflects the present value of the additional
contributions the Group 1s expected to pay to remedy the revised deficit of the scheme as per the latest
trienmal actuarial valuation at 31 August 2014

Professional adviser fees relating to the public sale of Class A ordinary shares are recognized as an
expense when they are not directly atiributable to the issue of new shares or when a particular offer 1s
no longer bemng pursued The fees for the year ended 30 June 2015 include £359,000 relating to
services provided by the Group’s auditors

The nvestment property impairment charge represents reductions 1n the market value of
investment properties held by the Group, based on external valuations undertaken
7 Employees
7.1 Employee benefit expense and average number of people employed

The average number of employees during the year, including directors, was as follows

2016 2015 2014
Number Number Number

By activity
Football—players 74 73 79
Football—techmcal and coaching 94 89 92
Commercial 111 122 138
Media 924 89 91
Admunistration and other 426 440 469
Average number of employees 799 813 869

The Group also employs approximately 2,124 temporary staff on match days (2015 2,275, 2014
2,323), the costs of which are included in employee costs below

Particulars of employee costs are as shown below

2016 2015 2014

£000 £000 £'000
Wages and salanes (1ncluding bonuses) (202,982) (178,637) (189,173)
Share-based payments (note 22) (3,334) (2,591) (1,852)
Social sccurity costs (23,499) (18,869) (21,396)

Other pension costs—defined contribution (note 30) 2,427 (2,464) (2,382)
(232,242) (202,561) (214,803)

Details of the pension arrangements offered by the Company and the Group are disclosed 1n
note 30

72 Key management compensation

Key management ncludes directors (executive and non-executive) of the Company and executive
directors and officers of the Group’s main operating company, Manchester Umted Limited The
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compensation paid or payable to key management for employee services, which 1s included n the

employee costs table above, 1s shown below

Short-term employee benefits
Share-based payments
Post-employment benefits

8 (Loss)/profit on disposal of intangible assets

(Loss)/profit on disposal of registrations
Player loan fee income

9 Net finance costs

Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts

Interest payable on secured term loan facility and semor secured notes

Amortization of 1ssue costs on secured term loan facility and senior
secured notes

Premium on repurchase of senior secured notes (note 24}

Costs associated with debt financing

Foreign exchange losses on retranslation of unhedged US dollar
borrowings

Unwinding of discount factors relating to player transfer fees

Fair value movements on derwvative Ninancial instruments
Embedded foreign exchange dervatives
Interest rate swaps

Total finance costs
Total finance mcome—interest receivable on short-term bank deposits

Net finance costs

2016 2015 2014
£000 £000 £'000
(7,908) (7.324) (5,796)
(3,131) (2,366) (1,852)
(700 (61) (132)
(11,109) (9,751) (7,780)
2016 2015 2014
£000 £'000 £'000
(9,786) 19,675 6,991
— 3974 —
(9,786) 23,649 6,991

2016 2015 2014

£600 £000 £000

(1,381)  (1,840) (2,402)

(17,306) (21,055) (19,350)

(544) (5978) (1,936)

—  (3,552) -

—  (1,443) —

(4,136)  (288) (2,712)

(2,380) (2,708)  (334)

5288 1,280  (1,320)

— 165 386

(20,459) (35,419) (27,668)

442 204 256

(20,017) (35215) (27,412)
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10 Tax
2016 2015 2014
£000 £000 £'000
Current tax:
Current tax on profit/(loss) for the year 4,633) (223) (22)
Adjustment 1n respect of previous years(1) (2,476) (547) (128)
Foreign tax (1,279) (684) (1,472)
Total current tax expense (8,388) (1,454) (1,622)
Deferred tax:
US deferred tax
Ongmation and reversal of temporary differences (3,879)  (978) (9,959)
Adjustment 1n respect of previous years(1) 5,039 152 297
Total US deferred tax credit/(expense) (note 25) 1,160 (826) (9,662)
UK deferred tax
Ongmation and reversal of temporary differences (5,258) 4,790  (7,457)
Adjustment 1n respect of previous years(1) (2,687) 162 (191)
Impact of change in UK corporation tax rate 2,711 — 2,264
Total UK deferred tax (expense)/credit (note 25) (5,234) 4,952  (5,384)
Total deferred tax (expense)/credit (4,074) 4,126 (15,046)
Total tax (expense)/credit (12,462) 2,672 (16,668)
A reconcthation of the total tax {expense)/credit 15 as follows
2016 2015 2014
£'000 £000 £000
Profit/(loss) before tax 48,833 (3,567) 40,503
Profit/(loss) before tax multiplied by weighted average US corporate tax
rate of 350% (2015 350%, 2014 350%) (17,092) 1,249 (14,176)
Tax effects of
Adjustment 1n respect of previous years(1) (124)  (233) (22)
Difference 1n tax rates on non US operations (612) 48 (247)
Foreign exchange gains/(losses) on US dollar denominated tax basis(2) 5755 1,783  (1,942)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (389) (175 (281)
Total tax (expense)/credit (12,462) 2,672 (16,668)

(1) From time to time, the Group 1s mvelved 1n discussions in relation to ongoing matters with the
relevant authonties Where appropriate, the Directors make provisions based on their assessment
of each case In the year a provision was made 1n respect of ongoing enguiries relating to prior
years The impact 1n respect of the ongoing enquiries 15 to increase the UK current tax expense by
£2,302,000 and UK deferred tax expense by £2,702,000 This 1s fully offset by a corresponding
increase 1n the US deferred tax credit of £5,004,000 The overall prior year adjustment expense of

£124,000 relates to standard provision to return true ups

(2) Foreign exchange gains/(losses) on US dollar denominated tax basis anise because the associated

deferred tax asset has to be retranslated at each balance sheet date
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In addition to the amount recognized in the income statement, the following amounts relating to
tax have been recognized directly in other comprehensive income

2016 2015 2014
£000 £000 £000
Current tax 1,466 4  (1,836)
US deferred tax (note 25) 10,660 4,835  (5,835)
UK deferred tax (note 25) 8,181 6,574  (6,285)
Total tax credit/(expense) recogmzed n other
comprehensive income 20,307 11,413 (13,956)

11 Earnings/(Joss) per share
(a) Basic

Basic earnings/(loss) per share 1s calculated by dividing the profit/(loss) attributable to owners of
the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 1n 1ssue during the year

2016 2015 2014
Class A ordinary shares (thousands) 39,899 39,795 39,814
Class B ordinary shares (thousands) 124,000 124,000 124,000

163,890 163,795 163,814

Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the parent
(£000) 36,371 (895) 23,835
Basic earnings/(loss) per share (pence) 22.19 (0 55) 14 55

(b) Diluted

Diluted earnings/(loss) per sharc 1s calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of
ordimary shares in 1ssue during the year to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares
The Company has one category of dilutive potential ordinary shares share awards pursuant to the 2012
Equity Incentive Plan (the “Equity Plan”) Share awards pursuant to the Equity Plan are assumed to
have been converted into ordinary shares at the beginming of the financial year

2016 2015 2014
Class A ordinary shares (thousands) 39,890 39,795 39,814
Adjustment for assumed conversion mto Class A
ordinary shares (thousands) 429 —(1) 79
Class B ordinary shares (thousands) 124,000 124,000 124,000

164,319 163,795 163,893

Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the parent
(£°000) 36,371 (893) 23,835
Diluted earmings/(loss) per share (pence) 22.13 (055) 14 54

(1) For the year ended 30 June 2015, potential ordinary shares are anti-dilutive, as their
inclusion 1n the diluted loss per share calculation would reduce the loss per share, and
hence have been excluded For the years ended 30 June 2016 and 2014, potential ordinary
shares have been treated as dilutive, as their inclusion in the diluted earmings per share
calculation decreases earnings per share
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12 Dhvidends

Dwidends paid in the year ended 30 June 2016 amounted to $0 18 per share, the pounds sterling
equivalent of which was £0 12 per share Dividends paid 1n the year ended 30 June 2015 amounted to
£ml per share Dividends paid 1n the year ended 30 June 2014 amounted to £nil per share

13 Property, plant and equipment

At 1 July 2014

Cost

Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

Year ended 30 June 2015
Opening net book amount
Additions

Transfers

Disposals

Depreciation charge

Closing net book amount

At 3¢ June 2015
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Year ended 30 June 2016
Opening net book amount
Additions

Transfers

Disposals

Depreciation charge

Closing net book amount

At 30 June 2016
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Freehold Plant and Fuxtures
property  machinery and fithings Total
£000 £000 £000 £000
270,319 39,761 35,427 345,507
(36,895) (32,476) (21,277)  (50,648)
233,424 7,285 14,150 254,859
233,424 7,285 14,150 254,859
146 1,443 4,392 5,984
(421) (276) 697 —_
— ) (1) (5)
(3333) (2,713)  (4,166)  (10,212)
229,819 5,735 15,072 250,626
270,047 39,826 40,269 350,142
(40,228) (34,091} (25197)  (99,516)
229,819 5,735 15,072 250,626
229,819 5,735 15,072 250,626
216 418 4,604 5,238
(604) 600 4 —
(19) (133) (31) (183)
(3,486)  (2.379)  (4,102) (9,967)
225,926 4,241 15,547 245,714
269,369 36,728 43,809 349,906
(43,443) (32,487) (28,262) (104,192)
225,926 4,241 15,547 245,714

Freehold property pnimanly compnses the Old Trafford stadium and the Aon Traimng Complex

Property, plant and equipment with a net book amount of £213,200,000 (2015 £218,452,000) has
been pledged to secure the secured term loan facihity and semor secured notes borrowings of the

Group (see note 24)

Capital commitments at the balance sheet date are disclosed 1 note 29 1
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14 Investment property

£000
At 1 July 2014
Cost 19,128
Accumulated deprecration and impairment {5,457
Net book amount 13,671
Year ended 30 June 2015
Opening net book amount 13,671
Depreciation charge (112)
Closing net book amount 13,559
At 30 June 2015
Cost 19,128
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (5,569)
Net book amount 13,559
Year ended 30 June 2016
Opening net book amount 13,559
Depreciation charge (112)
Closing net book amount 13,447
At 30 June 2016
Cost 19,128
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (5.681)
Net book amount 13,447

Investment property was externally valued as of 30 June 2016 in accordance with the Royal
Institution of Chartered Surveyors (“RICS”) Valuation—Professional Standards, January 2014 The
valuation supported the carrying amount as of 30 June 2016 and consequently there were no changes to
the net book vaiue The external valuation was carned out on the basis of Market Value, as defined n
the RICS Valuation—Professional Standards, January 2014 Fair value of investment property 1s
determined using nputs that arc not based on observable market data, consequently the asset 15

categorized as Level 3 (see note 314} The farr value of investment property as of 30 June 2016 was
£13,447,000

The property rental revenue earned by the Group from its investment property amounted to
£1,336,000 (2015 £1,262,000, 2014 £1,276,000) Direct operating expenses arising on wmvestment
property, all of which generated rental income, 1n the year amounted to £652,000 (2015 £603,000,
2014 £551,000) The future aggregate mimmum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating
leases are disclosed n note 28 2

Investment property with a net book amount of £6,691,000 (2015 £6,723,000) has been pledged to
secure the secured bank loan borrowings of the Group (see note 24)

As of 30 June 2016, the Group had no contractual obhgations to purchase, construct or develop
investment property (2015 £ml) As of 30 June 2016, the Group had no material contractual
obligations for repairs, maintenance or enhancements to mvestment property (2015 not matenal)
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15 Intangible assets

Goodwill  Registrations  Other Total

£'000 £000 £000 £000
At 1 July 2014
Cost 421,453 412,797 — 834,250
Accumulated amortization —  (208,225) —  (208,225)
Net book amount 421,453 204,572 — 626,025
Year ended 30 June 2015
Openmng net book amount 421,453 204,572 — 626,025
Additions —_ 150,914 951 151,865
Disposals — (17,8006) —  {17,806)
Amortization charge — (99,534) (153) (99,687)
Closing book amount 421,453 238,146 798 660,397
At 30 June 2015
Cost 421,453 465,830 951 466,781
Accumulated amortization —  (227,684) (153) (227,837)
Net book amount 421,453 238,146 798 660,397
Year ended 30 June 2016
Opening net book amount 421,453 238,146 798 660,397
Additions — 167,089 1,815 168,904
Disposals — (68,965) —  (68,965)
Amortization charge — (87,853)  (156) (88,009)
Impairment charge (note 6) — (6,693) — {(6,693)
Closing book amount 421,453 241,724 2,457 665,634
At 30 June 2016
Cost 421,453 511,893 2,766 936,112
Accumulated amortization —  (270,169)  (309) (270,478)
Net book amount 421,453 241,724 2,457 665,634

Impairment tests for goodwill

Goodwilt arose largely in relation to the Group’s acquisition of Manchester United Limited in
2005 Goodwill 1s not subject to amortizanon and 15 tested annually for impairment (normally at the
end of the third fiscal quarter) or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a
potenuial impairment

An impairment test has been performed on the carrying value of goodwill based on value-in-use
calculations The value-in-use calculations have used post-tax cash flow projections based on the
financial budgets approved by management covering a five year period The budgets are based on past
experience 1n respect of revenues, variable and fixed costs, player and capital expenditure and working
capital assumptions For each accounting perniod, cash flows beyond the five year pertod are
extrapolated using a terrinal growth rate of 2 5% (2015 2 5%), which does not exceed the long term
average growth rate for the UK economy 1n which the cash generating umt operates
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15 Intangible assets {Continued)

The other key assumptions used m the value in use calculations for each period are the pre-tax
discount rate, which has been determined at 10 1% (2015 9 5%) for each penod, and certan
assumptions around progression in domestic and European cup competitions, notably the Champions
League

Management determined budgeted revenue growth based on historical performance and its
expectations of market development The discount rates are pre-tax and reflect the specific risks
relating to the business

The following sensitivity analysis was performed
* increase the discount rate by 2% {post-tax),
* more prudent assumptions around quahfication for European cup competitions

In each of these scenanos the estimated recoverable amount substanually exceeds the carrying
value for the cash generating umit and accordingly no impairment was 1dentified

Having assessed the future anticipated cash flows, management believes that any reasonably
possible changes 1n key assumptions would not result 1n an impairment of goodwili

Regisirations

The registrations’ impairment charge for the year ended 30 June 2016 represents a reduction 1n
the carrying value of a player no longer considered to be a member of the first team playing squad

The unamoruzed balance of existing registrations as of 30 June 2016 was £241 7 mulhion, of which
£110 1 mullion 1s expected to be amortized 1n the year ended 30 June 2017 The remaining balance 1s
cxpected to be amortized over the three years to 30 June 2020 This does not take intoe account player
additions after 30 June 2016, which would have the effect of increasing the amortization expense tn
future periods, nor does 1t consider disposals subsequent to 30 June 2016, which would have the effect
of decreasing future amortization charges Furthermore, any contract renegotiations would also impact
future charges

Other

Other intangible assets include internally generated assets whose cost and accumulated
amortization as of 30 June 2016 was £585,000 and £nil respectively (2015 £ml and £ mil respectively)

Capital commitments at the balance sheet date are disclosed 1n note 291

16 Inventories

2016 2015
£000 £000
Finished goods 926 —

The cost of mventories recogmzed as an expense and included 1n operating expenses for the year
amounted to £7,228,000 (2015 £nil, 2014 £mil)

Write-downs of iventories to net realizable value amounted to £177,000 (2015 £mnil, 2014 £mil)
These were recognized as an expense during the year and included 1n operating expenses
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17 Financial instruments by category

The accounting classification of each category of financial instruments, and their carrying values, 1s

set out 1n the following table

Financial assets

At fair value through profit and loss
Dervative financial instruments
Loans and receivables

Trade and other recevables excluding prepayments(1)

Cash and cash equivalents

Total financial assets

Fmancial habihties

Designated and effective as hedging instruments
Derivative financial instruments

At fair value through profit and loss

Dervative financial instruments

Other financial hiabilities

Trade and other payables excluding social security and other taxes(2)

Borrowings

Total financial liabilities

Note

18

19
20

18

18

23
24

2016 2015

£000 £000
11,648 27
127275 77,352
229,194 155,752
368,117 233,131
9,710 111
3,727 5,624
225354 166,649
490,092 410,967
728,883 583,351

(1) Prepayments are excluded from the trade and other recevables balance, as this analysis 1s required

only for financial tnstruments

(2) Social secunty and other taxes are excluded from the trade and other payables balance, as this
analysis 1s required only for financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments 15 not matenally different to their carrying amount The
Group’s exposure to various risks associated with the financial instruments 1s discussed 1n note 31 The
maxmmum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period 1s the carrying amount of each

class of financial assets mentioned above
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18 Derivative financial instruments

Denvatives that are designated and effective as hedging
instruments carried at fair value

Interest rate swaps

Financial instruments carried at fair value through profit or
loss:

Embedded foreign exchange derivatives

Forward foreign exchange contracts

Less non-current portion

Derivatives that are designated and effective as hedging
instruments carried at fair value:

Interest rate swaps

Financial instruments carrned at fair value through profit or
loss*

Embedded foreign exchange dervatives

Forward foreign exchange contracts

Non-current derivative financial imstruments

Current denivative financial instruments

2016 2015

Assets Liabilities  Assets  Liabihities

£000 £000 £000 £000
- 9710 — (111)
5,248 - 27 (67)
6400 (372 — (5557
11,648 (13,437) 2 (5,735)
— (57100 — (111)
3,052 - — (67)
708 (927) — (2,591)
3,760 (10,637) - (2,769)
7888 (2,800) 27  (2966)

The neffective portion recogmized in profit or loss that arises from cash flow hedges amounts to

£fnil (2015 £ml)

Further details of dertvative financial mstruments are provided n note 31

19 Trade and other receivables

Trade receiwvables
Less provision for impairment of trade recervables

Net trade reccivables
Other receiwvables
Accrued revenue

Prepayments

Less non-current portion
Trade receivables

Non-current trade and other receivables

Current trade and other recervables
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19 Trade and other receivables (Continued)

Net trade recewvables include transfer fees recewvable from other football clubs of £46,646,000
(2015 £20,693,000) of which £11,223,000 (2015 £3,836,000) 1s receivable after more than one year Net
trade receivables also include £54,860,000 (2015 £21,856,000) of deferred revenue that 1s contractually
payable to the Group, but recorded in advance of the earnings process, with corresponding amounls
recorded as deferred revenue liabihties

Information about the mmpairment of trade and other reccivables, their credit quality and the
Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk, interest rate nsk and credit nsk can be found 1n note 31

20 Cash and cash equivalents

2016 2015
£000 £7000
Cash at bank and in hand 229,194 155,752

Cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the statement of cash flows are as above

21 Share capital

Number of  Ordinary

shares shares

(thousands) £
At 1 July 2014 163,778 52
Employee share-based compensation awards—issue of shares 95 —
At 30 June 2015 163,873 52
Employee share-based compensation awards—issue of shares 152 —
At 30 June 2016 164,025 52

The Company has two classes of ordinary shares outstanding Class A ordinary shares and Class B
ordinary shares, each with a par value of 30 0005 per share The rnights of the holders of Class A
ordinary shares and Class B ordinary shares are 1dentical, except with respect to voting and conversion
Each Class A ordinary share 1s entitled to one vote per share and 15 not convertibie into any other
shares Each Class B ordinary share 1s entitled to 10 votes per share and 1s convertible into one
Class A ordinary share at any time In addition, Class B ordinary shares will automatically convert nto
Class A ordinary shares upon certain transfers and other events, including upon the date when holders
of all Class B ordinary shares cease to hold Class B ordinary shares representing, n the aggregale, at
least 10% of the total number of Class A and Class B ordinary shares outstanding For specia!
resolutions (which are required for certain important matters including mergers and changes to the
Company’s governing documents), which require the vote of two-thirds of the votes cast, at any time
that Class B ordinary shares remain outstanding, the voting power permitted to be exercised by the
holders of the Class B ordinary shares will be weighted such that the Class B ordinary shares shall
represent, in the aggregate, 67% of the voting power of all shareholders All shares issued by the
Company are fully paid

As of 30 June 2016, the Company’s i1ssued share capital comprised 40,025,280 Class A ordinary
shares and 124,000,000 Class B ordinary shares
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22 Share-based payments

The Company operates a share-based award plan, the 2012 Equity Incentive Award Plan (the
“Equity Plan™), established 1n 2012 Under the Equity Plan, 16,000,000 shares of our Class A ordinary
shares have initially been reserved for 1ssuance pursuant to a vanety of share-based awards, including
share options, share appreciation rights, or SARs, restricted share awards, restricted share umit awards,
deferred share awards, deferred share unit awards, dividend equivalent awards, share payment awards
and other share-based awards Of these reserved shares, 15,660,420 reman available for 1ssuance

Certain directors and members of executive management have been awarded Class A ordinary
shares, pursuant to the Equity Plan These shares are subject to varying vesuing schedules over
multu-year periods Employees are not entuitled to dividends unul the awards vest The fair value of
these shares was the quoted market price on the date of award, adjusted where applicable for expected
dividends 1¢ the fair value of the awards was reduced It 1s assumed that semi-annual dividends will be
paid for the foreseeable future and that none of the employees will leave the Group before the end of
the vesting period The Company may choose whether to settle the awards wholly in shares or reduce
the number of shares awarded by a value equal to the reciptent’s liability to any income tax and social
security contributions that would arise if all the shares due to vest had vested Accordingly the awards
may be either equity-settled or cash-settled

Movements 1n the number of share awards outstanding and therefore potentially 1ssuable as new
shares are as follows

Number of Class A
ordinary shares

At 1 July 2015 259,155
Awarded 186,626
Vested (152,206)
At 30 June 2016 293,575

The fair value of the shares awarded during the year was $15 75 (£11 81) per share

For the year ended 30 June 2016 the Group recognized total expenses related to equity-settled
share-based payment transactions of £1,795,000 (2015 £1,352,000, 2014 £1,138,000) and total expenses
related to cash-settled share-based payment transactions of £1,539,000 (2015 £1,239,000, 2014
£714,000)
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23 Trade and other payables

2016 2015

£000 £000
Trade payables 167,733 118,969
Other payables 2,865 2,064
Accrued expenses 54,756 45,616
225,354 166,649
Sccial securnity and other taxes 15,764 12,712

241,118 179,361

Less non-current portion

Trade payables 40,304 46,512
Other payables 1,146 1,566
Non-current trade and other payables 41,450 48078
Current trade and other payables 199,668 131,283

Trade payables include transfer fees and other associated costs 1n relation to the acquisition of
registrabions of £156,292,000 (2015 £114,937,000) of which £40,304,000 (2015 £46,512,000) 1s due after
more than one year

The fair value of trade and other payables 15 not matenally different to their carrymng amount

24 Borrowings

2016 2015

£000 £000
Senior secured notes due 2027 314,341 265,734
Secured term loan facility due 2025 166,018 140,182
Secured bank loan due 2018 4,564 4,937
Accrued interest on senior secured notes 5,169 114

490,092 410,967

Less non-current portion

Sentor secured notes due 2027 314,341 265,734
Secured term loan facility due 2025 166,018 140,182
Secured bank loan due 2018 4,169 4,566
Non-current borrowings 484,528 410,482
Current borrowings 5,564 485

The semior secured notes due 2027 of £314,341,000 (2015 £265,734,000) 1s stated net of
unamortized 1ssue costs amounting to £4,441,000 (2015 £4,760,000) The cutstanding principal amount
of the notes 15 $425,000,000 (2015 $425,000,000) The notes have a fixed coupon rate of 3 79% per
annum and interest 15 paid semi-annually The notes mature on 25 June 2027

The Group has the option to redeem the notes 1n part, In an amount not less than 5% of the
aggregate principal amount of the 2027 Notes then outstanding, or 1n full, at any time at 100% of the
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24 Borrowings (Continued)

principal amount plus a “make-whole” premium of an amount equal to the discounted value {based on
the US Treasury rate) of the remaining mterest payments due on the notes up (o 25 June 2027

The notes were 1ssued by our wholly-owned finance subsidiary, MU Finance plc, and are
guaranteed by Red Football Limited, Red Football Junior Limited, Manchester United Limited, and
Manchester United Football Club Limited and are secured against substanually all of the assets of
those entities and MU Finance plc

The secured term loan facility due 2025 of £166,018,000 (2015 £140,182,000) 1s stated net of
unamortized 1ssue costs amounting to £2,749,000 (2015 £3,021,000) The outstanding principal amount
of the loan 1s $225,000,000 (2015 $225,000,000) The loan now attracts imterest of US dollar LIBOR
plus an applicable margin of between 125% and 1 75% per annum and interest i1s paid monthly The
remaming balance of the loan 1s now repayable on 26 June 2023, although the Group continues to have
the cption to repay the loan at any time

The loan was provided to our wholly-owned finance subsichary, MU Finance plc, and 1s guaranteed
by Red Football Limied, Red Football Junior Limited, Manchester United Limited, Manchester United
Football Club Limited and MU Finance plc and 1s secured agatnst substantially all of the assets of each
of those entities

The secured bank loan of £4,564,000 (2015 £4,937,000) compnses a bank loan within Alderley
Urban Investments Limited, a subsidiary of Manchester United Limited, that attracts interest of
LIBOR + 1% per annum £820,000 (2015 £1,293,000) 1s repayable n quarterly installments through to
July 2018, with the remaining balance of £3,644,000 (2015 £3,644,000) being re-payable at par on
9 July 2018 The loan 1s secured by way of a first legal charge over a Group mvestment property,
known as the Manchester International Freight Terminal, and the loan is also guaranteed by
Manchester Umited Limited

The Group also has an undrawn committed borrowing facility of up to £125,000,000 plus (subject
1o certain conditions) the ability to incur a further £25,000,000 by way of incremental faciliies The
facility terminates on 26 June 2021 (although 1t may be possible for any incremental facilities to
terminate after such date) Drawdowns would attract interest of LIBOR or EURIBOR plus an
applicable margin of between 1 25% and 175% per annum (depending on the total net leverage rauo
at that time) No drawdowns were made from these facihties duning 2016 or 2015

The Group’s revolving facility, the secured term loan facility and the note purchase agreement
governing the senior secured notes each contain certain covenants, mcluding a financial mantenance
covenant that requires the Group to maintamn a consolidated profit/loss for the period before
depreciation, amortization of, and profit on disposal of, registrations, exceptional items, net finance
costs and tax (“EBITDA”) of not less than £65 mullion for each 12 month testing peniod, as well as
customary covenants, including (but not limited to) restrictions on incurring additional indebtedness,
paymg dividends or making other distributions, repurchasing or redeeming our capital stock or making
other restricted payments, selling assets, including caprtal stock of restricted subsidiaries, entering mto
agreements that restrict distributions of restricted subsidiaries, consohdating, merging, selling or
otherwise disposing of all or substanually all assets, entering nto sale and leascback transactions,
entering 1nto transactions with affiliates, and wncurring hens As of 30 June 2016, the Group was 1n
compliance with all covenants under 1ts revelving facility, the secured term loan facility and the note
purchase agreement governmg the senior secured notes
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24 Borrowings (Continued}
Analysis of changes in net debt

Net debt 15 defined as non-current and current borrowings minus cash and cash equivalents Net
debt is a financial performance indicater that 1s used by the Group’s management to monitor hiquidity
risk The Group believes that net debt 1s meanmgful for investors as it provides a clear overview of the
net mdebtedness posiion of the Group and 15 used by the Chief Operating Deciston Maker 1n
managing the business

The following tables provide a reconcibation of the movement in the Group’s net debt

At 1 July Non-cash At 30 June

2015 Cash lows  movements 2016

£000 £000 £000 £000
Non-current borrowings 410,482 — 74,046 484,528
Current borrowings 485  (12,622) 17,701 5,564
Less cash and cash equivalents (155,752) (60,817)  (12,625) (229,194)

255215  (73,439) 79,122 260,898

Non-cash movements largely comprise a foreign exchange loss ansing on translation of the US
dollar denominated secured term loan facihity and sentor secured notes, amortization of debt 1ssue costs
and the movement on accrued nterest on seor secured notes, partially offset by a foreign exchange
gain ansing on translauon of foreign currency denominated cash and cash equivalents

At 1 July Non-cash At 30 June

2014 Cash flows  movements 2015

£000 £000 £'000 £000
Non-current borrowings 326,803 48,433 35,246 410,482
Current borrowings 15,005 (34,723) 20,203 485
Less cash and cash equivalents (66,365) (86,251) (3,136)  (155,752)

275,443 (72,541) 52,313 255215

Non-cash movements largely comprise a foreign exchange loss ansing on translation of the US
dollar denominated secured term loan facility and semior secured notes, amortization of debt 1ssue
costs, and the movement on accrued interest on semior secured notes
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25 Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets and habilities are offset where the Group has a legally enforceable nght to do
so The following 1s the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after allowable offset) for financial

reporting purposes

US deferred tax assets

¢ Deferred tax assets to be rccovered after more than

12 months

* Deferred tax assets to be recovered within 12 months

UK deferred tax habilities

* Deferred tax habilities to be recovered after more than

12 months

* Deferred tax habilities to be recovered within 12 months

Net deferred tax asset

The movement 1n US deferred tax assets are as follows

|
|
At 1 July 2014
‘ Expensed/(credited) to income
| statement (note 10)
| Expensed/(credited) to other
‘ comprehensive mcome
At 30 June 2015
{Credited)/expensed to income
statement (note 10)
Expensed/(credited) to other
comprehensive income

At 30 June 2016

Unrealized

foreign
exchange
Net and
operating derivative
losses movements
£000 £000

2016 2015
£000 £'000

(131,652) (121,555)
(13,808)  (12,085)

(145,460) (133,640)

13,170 16,671
1,194 640

14364 17311
(131,096) (116,329)

Intangible
assets Other Total
£9000 £000 £000

(14,696) 12,400
(20,421)  (1,046)

—  (11,409)

(81,780) (12,493) (129,631)
12425 5972 826

— —  (4835)

(35,117) (55)
13,459  (7,473)

— (20,310

(69,355)  (6,521) (133,640)
8764  (2,076)  (1,160)

— - (10,660)

(21,658) (27,838)

(60,591)  (8,597) (145,460)

Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that 1t 1s probable that they will be available
for use against future profits and that there will be sufficient future taxable profit available against
which temporary differences can be utihzed At 30 June 2016, the current forecasts indicate that the
Group will utilize US foreign tax credits, net operating losses and other temporary differences and
accordingly, the associated deferred tax balances have recognized US net operating losses can be
carried forward up to twenty years and will fully expire if they are not utilized beforehand US foreign
tax credits can be carried forward up to ten years from the date when they crystallise and offset against

future US taxable profits
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25 Deferred tax (Continued)

The movement 1n UK net deferred tax habilities are as follows

Other
Roelled Property (including
Accelerated over gain Non ale Net other fair
tax on player quahfying value operating value
depreciation disposal  property adjustment losses  adjustments) Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
At 1 July 2014 353 4328 14,443 17,056 {6,056) (1,287) 28,837
(Credited)/expensed to income
statement (note 10) (1,334  (1,396) (219) (290) 173 (1,886) (4,952)
Credited to other comprehensive
ncome — — — — — (6,574)y (6,574)
At 30 June 2015 (981} 2,932 14,224 16,766  (5,883) (9,747) 17,311
Expensed/(credited} to income
statement (note 10) 1,665 326 (1,619} (1,937) 4,088 2,711 5,234
Credited to other comprehensive
income — - —_ — — (8,181) (8,181)
At 30 June 2016 684 3,258 12,605 14,829 (1,795) (15,217) 14,364

Deferred tax assets are recognized on losses carned forward only to the extent that 1t 1s probable
that they will be available for use aganst future profits and that there will be sufficient future taxable
profit available against which the temporary differences can be utihsed At 30 June 2016 the Group had
no accessible unrecognized deductible temporary differences, UK tax losses or unused tax credits (2015
£nil)
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26 Cash generated from operations

2016 2015 2014

Notes £'000 £000 £000
Profit/(loss) before 1ax 48,833  (3,567) 40,503
Depreciation 13, 14 10,079 10,324 8,665
Impairment 6 6,693 — 293
Amortization 15 88,009 99,687 55,290
Lass/(profit} on disposal of intangible assets 9,786 (23,649) (6,991)
Net finance costs . 20,017 35,215 27,412
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 126 S 24
Equity-settled share-based payments 22 1,795 1,352 1,138
Net foreign exchange differences 570 (584) 925
Fair value adjustments to derivauve financial instruments (8,230) 5,498 59
Reclassified from hedging reserve 1,382 (4,713)  (1,035)
Increase in inventories (926) — —
(Increase)/decrease 1n trade and other receivables(1) (31,741) 58,503 (59,866)
Increase n trade and other payables and deferred revenue(1) 54,471 16,950 36,762
Decrease 1n provisions — —  (1,475)
Cash generated from operations 200,864 195,021 101,704

(1) These amounts exclude non-cash movements 1n respect of the acquisition and disposal of
registrations resulting in

* increases to ntangible assets and trade and other payables of £98,165,000 (2015 £77,125,000,
2014 £75,060,000)

* decreases to intangible assets and trade and other receivables of £47,465,000 (2015 1increase to
trade and other recervables of £107,000, 2014 1ncrease to trade and other recervables of
£9,812,000)

27 Contingencies
At 30 June 2016, the Group had no material contingent liabilities in respect of legal claims arising
m the ordinary course of business Contingent fees are disclosed in note 29 2
28 Operating lease arrangements
28.1 The group as lessee

The Group leases vanicus prermses and plant and equipment under non-cancellable operating lease
agreements The majority of the lease agreements are renewable at the end of the lease period at
market rate The operating lease expenditure charged to the mncome statement during the year 15
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28 Operating lease arrangements (Continued)

disclosed in note 5 The future aggregate mimimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases are as follows

2016 2015
£000 £000
No later than 1 year 2,635 2,258
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 4,688 1,864
Later than 5 years . e . 4,028 4,109

11,351 8,231

28.2 The group as lessor

The Group leases out 1ts investment properties The future aggregate mmimum rentals receivable
under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows

2016 2015

£000 £000
No later than 1 year 1,434 1,263
Later than 1 year and noe later than 5 years 2,641 3,346
Later than 5 years 9,953 10,312

14,028 14,921

29 Capital commitments and contingent fees
29.1 Capatal commitments

As of 30 June 2016, the Group had capital commuments relating to property, plant and equipment
amounting to £5 4 muthion (2015 £0 2 milhon} and to other intangible assets amounting to £nd (2015
£nul)

29.2 Contingent fees

Under the terms of certam contracts with other football clubs and agents in respect of player
transfers, additional amounts, 1in excess of the amounts included 1n the cost of registrations, would be
payable by the Group if certain substantive performance conditrons are met These excess amounts are
only recognized within the cost of registrations when the Company considers that 1t 1s probable that the
condition related to the payment will be achieved The maximum additicnal amounts that could be
payable 1s £41,582,000 (2015 £26,271,000}) No matenal adjustment was required to the amounts
included 1n the cost of registrations during the year (2015 and 2014 no material adjustments) and
consequently there was no material impact on the amortization of registration charges in the income
statement (2015 and 2014 no materal impact})
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29 Capital commitments and contingent fees (Continued)

As of 30 June 2016 the potential amount payable by type of condition and category of player was

First team
squad Other Total
£000 £000 £1000
Type of condition
MUFC appearances/team success/new contract 26,133 4,462 30,595
International appearances 10,827 160 10,987

36,960 4,622 41,582

As of 30 June 2015 the potential amount payable by type of condition and category of player was

First team

squad Other Total
£000 £'000 £000
Type of condition
MUFC appearances/team success/new contract 19,526 3,410 22,936
International appearances 3,200 135 3,335

22,726 3,545 26,271

Simularly, under the terms of contracts with other football clubs for player transfers, additional
amounts would be payable to the Group if certain specific performance conditions are met In
accordance with the recognition critenia for contingent assets, such amounts are only disclosed by the
Group when probable and recognized when virtually certain As of 30 June 2016, the amount of such
receipt considered to be probable was £1 6 milhon (2015 £2 2 million)

30 Pension arrangements
30.1 Defined benefit scheme

The Group participates 1n the Football League Pension and Life Assurance Scheme (‘the
Scheme”) The Scheme 15 a funded multi-employer defined benefit scheme, with 92 participating
employers, and where members may have periods of service attnbutable 1o several participating
employers The Group 1s unable to dentify 1ts share of the assets and habilities of the Scheme and
therefore accounts for its contributions as if they were paid to a defined contribution scheme The
Group has recewved confirmation that the assets and habilities of the Scheme cannot be sphit between
the participating employers The Group 1s advised only of the additional contributions 1t 1s required to
pay to make good the deficait These contnibutions could increase in the future if one or more of the
participating employers exits the Scheme

The last trienmal actuanal valuation of the Scheme was carried out at 31 August 2014 where the
total deficit on the ongoing valuation basis was £21 8 million The accrual of benefits ceased within the
Scheme on 31 August 1999, therefore there are no contributions relating to current accrual The Group
pays monthly contributions based on a notional split of the total expenses and deficit contrnibutions of
the Scheme

A charge of £mil {2015 £1,247,000, 2014 £nil) has been made to the income statement during the
year, representing the present value of the addinonal contributions the Group 1s expected to pay to
remedy the revised deficit of the Scheme
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30 Pension arrangements (Continued)

The Group currently pays total contributions of £437,000 per annum and, based on the actuanal
valuation assumptions, will be sufficient to pay off the defiait by 28 February 2020

As of 30 June 2016, the present value of the Group’s outstanding contributions (1e 1ts future
liability) 1s £1,566,000 This amounts to £420,000 (2015 £414,000) due within one year and £1,146,000
(2015 £1,566,000) due after more than one year and 1s included within other payables

The funding objective of the Trustees of the Scheme 1s to have sufficient assets to meet the
Technical Provisions of the Scheme In order to remove the deficit revealed at the previous actuarnial
valuation (dated 31 August 2014), deficit contnibutions are payable by all participating clubs Payments
are made 1n accordance with a pension contribution schedule As the Scheme 1s closed to accrual, there
are no additional costs associated with the accruing of members’ future benefits In the case of a club
being relegated from the Football League and being unable to settle its debt then the remaining clubs
may, 1n exceptional circumstances, have to share the defiait

Upon the wind-up of the Scheme with a surplus, any surplus will be used to augment benefits
Under the more likely scenario of there being a deficat, this will be splhit amongst the clubs 1n hine with
their contribution schedule Should an individual club choose to leave the Scheme, they would be
required to pay their share of the deficit based on a proxy buyout basis (1 ¢ valuing the benefits on a
basis consistent with buying out the benefits with an insurance company)

30.2 Defined contribution schemes

Contributions made 1o defined contribution pension arrangements are charged te the income
statement 1n the period 1n which they become payable and for the year ended 30 June 2016 amounted
to £2,427,000 (2015 £2,464,000, 2014 £2,382,000) As at 30 June 2016, contnibutions of £247,000 (20135
£283,000) due 1n respect of the current reporting period had not been paid over to the pension
schemes

The assets of all pension schemes to which the Group contributes are held separately from the
Group in independently admmstered funds
31 Finanaoial risk management
31.1 Fmanaial nsk factors

The Group’s activitics expose 1t to a vanety of financial nisks market nsk (including currency nisk
and interest rate risk), credit nisk and hquidity risk

The policy for each of the above risks 15 described 1n more detail below

a) Market risk
Currency risk
The Group 1s exposed to the following currency risks

* Sigmficant revenue received 1n Euros prnimanly as a result of participation 1in European cup
competitions During the year ended 30 June 2016 the Group received a total of €48 1 million of
revenue denomunated 1n Euros (2015 €6 2 million, 2014 €47 2 milion) The Group seeks to
hedge the majority of the currency nisk of this revenue by placing forward contracts at the point
at which 1t becomes reasonably certain that 1t will recewve the revenue
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31 Financial risk management (Continued)

» Significant amount of commercial revenue denominated 1in US dollars During the year ended
30 June 2016 the Group recogmized a total of $182 6 mullion of revenue denommated in US
dollars (2015 $189 2 mullien, 2014 $137 7 million) The currency risk on these US dollar
revenues 1s hedged to the extent possible (see note 31 2 below)

* Rusks ansing from the US dollar denominated secured term loan facility and senior secured
notes (see note 24) At 30 June 2016 the secured term loan facility and senior secured notes
included principal amounts of $650,000,000 (2015 $650,000,000) denominated in US dollars The
currency risk on these US dollar borrowimngs (net of the Group’s US dollar cash balances) 15
hedged to the extent possible (see note 31 2 below) Interest 1s paid on these borrowings in US
dollars

* Payments and receipts of transfer fees may also give rise to foreign currency exposures Due to
the nature of player translers the Group may not always be able to predict such cash flows unul
the transfer has taken place Where possible and depending on the payment profile of transfer
fees payable and recewvable the Group will seek to hedge future payments and receipts at the
point 1t becomes reasonably certamn that the payments will be made or the income will be
recetved When hedging imncome to be received, the Group also takes account of the credit risk
of the counterparty

* Risks arising from US dollar denominated deferred tax assets in respect of net operating losses
At 30 June 2016 the carrying value of these assets was $88,014,000 (2015 $55,629,000)

It 15 the policy of the Group to enter into forward foreign exchange contracts to cover specific
foreign currency payments and receipts The following table details the forward foreign currency
contracts outstanding at the balance sheet date

2016 2015
Avernge  Foreign  Notional  Fmr Average Foreign Nofional Fair
exchange currency  value value exchange currency value value
rate €000 £000 £000 rate €000 £000 £'000
Buy Euro 1.3122 (83,667) (63,758) 6,391 12676 (73,375) (57,887) (5,557)
Sell Euro 1.3426 139,000 29,048 (3,718) — — — —

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary
liabilities are as follows

2016 2015
Euro US Dollar Euro US Dollar
€000 $'000 €000 $'000
Monetary assets 116,596 265,565 15,437 214,317
Monetary habilities (142,406) (661,324) (83,932) (651,029)

(25,810) (395,759) (68,495) (436,712)

At 30 June 2016

» 1f pounds sterling had strengthened by 10% against the Euro, with all other vanables held
constant, equily and post-tax profit for the year would have been £2 0 million higher (2015
£1 3 million higher)
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* 1f pounds sterling had weakened by 10% against the Euro, with all other variables held constant,
equity and post-tax profit for the year would have been £2 4 milhen lower (2015 £1 6 mibion
lower)

* 1f pounds sterhing had strengthened by 10% agaimst the US dollar, with all other vanables held
constant, equity and post-tax profit for the year would have been £27 0 million higher (2015
£7 4 mulhon higher)

* 1f pounds sterling had weakened by 10% against the US dollar, with all other varables held
constant, equity and post-tax profit for the year would have been £33 0 mullion lower (2015
£9 0 million Jower)

The Group also has a number of embedded foreign exchange dervatives in host Commercial
revenue contracts These are recogmized separately in the financial statements at fair value since they
are not closely related to the host contract As of 30 June 2016 the fair value of such derivatives was a
net asset of £5,248,000 (2015 net hability of £40,000)

Interest rate nsk

The Group has ne sigmficant interest bearing assets other than cash on deposit which attracts
interest at a small margin above UK base rates

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from its borrowings Borrowings 1ssued at varable interest
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risk The Group’s borrowings are denominated 1n US dollar and
pounds sterhng Full details of the Group’s borrowings and associated interest rates can be found in
note 24

The Group manages 1ts cash flow interest rate risk where appropnate using mterest rate swaps at
contract lengths consistent with the repayment schedule of the borrowings Such interest rate swaps
have the economic effect of converting borrowings from floating rates to fixed rates Consequently, the
impact on equity and posi-tax profit of a 1 0% shift in interest rates would not be matenal to any
periods presented

The Group has entered into a number of swap agreements Details of the interest rate swaps
commutted to at the balance sheet date are provided n note 31 2 below

b) Credit risk

Credit risk 1s managed on a Group basis and arises from favorable denivative financial nstruments,
trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) and cash and cash equivalents Management does
not expect any material losses from non-performance by these counterparties

A substantial majority of the Group’s Broadcasting revenue 1s derived from media contracts
negotiated by the Premuer League and UEFA with media distributors, and although the Premer
League obtains guarantees to support certamn of its media contracts, typically in the form of letters of
credit 1ssued by commercial banks, 1t remains the Group’s single largest credit exposure The Group
derives commercial and sponsorship revenue from certain corporate sponsors, including global,
regional, mobile, media and supplier sponsors n respect of which the Group may manage 1ts credit nisk
by seeking advance payments, installments and/or bank guarantees where appropriate The substantial
majority of this revenue 1s derived from a imited number of sources The Group 15 also exposed to
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other foatball clubs globally for the payment of transfer fees on players Depending on the transaction,
some of these fees are paid 1o the Group in mstallments The Group tries to manage 1ts credit risk
with respect to those clubs by requiring payments 1n advance or, n the case of payments on
installment, requiring bank guarantees on such payments in certain circumstances However, the Group
cannot ensure these efforts will eliminate its credit exposure to other clubs A change in credit quality
at one of the media broadcasters for the Premuer League or UEFA, one of the Group’s sponsors or a
club to whom the Group has sold a player can increase the nisk that such counterparty 1s unable or
unwilhing to pay amounts owed to the Group Denvative financial mstruments and cash and cash
equivalents are placed with counterparties with a mmmmum Moody's ratung of Aa3

Credit terms offered by the Group vary depending on the type of sale For seasonal match day
faciiies and sponsorship contracts, payment 1s usually required 1n advance of the season to which the
sale relates For other sales the credit terms typically range from 14 - 30 days, although specific
agreements may be negot:ated 1n individual contracts with terms beyond 30 days For player transfer
activities, credit terms are deterrmuned on a contract by contract basis Of the net total trade recevable
balance of £109,791,000 (2015 £47,849,000), £46,646,000 (2015 £20,693,000) relates to amounts
recervable {rom vanous other football clubs 1n relation to player trading

As of 30 June 2016, trade recevables of £90,304,000 (2015 £36,515,000) were neither past due nor
impaired Management considers that, based on historical informaton about default rates and the
current strength of relationships (a number of which are recurning long term relationships) the credit
quality of trade recewvables that are neither past due nor impaired 15 good

As of 30 June 2016, trade receivables of £19,487,000 (2015 £15,231,000) were past due but not
impaired These relate to independent customers for whom there 1s no recent history of default The
ageing analysis of thesc trade recewvables is as follows

2016 2015

£000 £000
Up to 3 months past due 14,283 9,619
Over 3 months past due 5,204 5,612
19,487 15,231

As of 30 June 2016, trade receivables of £6,451,000 (2015 £3,897,000) were impaired and provided
for The indmvidually impaired receivables largely relate to a transfer fee receiwvable of £2,082,000
(€2,500,000) (2015 £1,773,000 (€2,500,000}) due from one football club The ageing of these
recewvables, based on due date, 15 as follows

2016 2015
£000  £000
Up to 3 months — 104
QOver 3 months 6,451 3,793
6,451 3,897
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Movements on the provision for impairment of trade recewvables are as follows:

2016 2015

£000 £000
Brought forward 3,897 4,759
Provision for receivables impairment 3,680 593
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible — (16}
Unused amounts reversed (1,126) (1,439)
Carned forward 6,451 3,897

c¢) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy 1s to maintain a balance of continmty of funding and flexibihity through the use
of secured term loan facilities, senor secured notes and other borrowings as applicable The annual
cash flow 1s cyclical in nature with a significant portion of cash inflows being recerved prior to the start
of the playing season Ultimate responsibility for liquidity nsk management rests with the executive
directors of Manchester United plc The directors use management information tools including budgets
and cash flow forecasts to constantly monitor and manage current and future liquidity

Cash flow forecasting 1s performed on a regular basis which includes rolling forecasts of the
Group’s liquidity requirements to ensure that the Group has sufficient cash 1o meet operational needs
while mamtamning sufficicnt headroom on 1ts undrawn committed borrowing facilities at all times so
that the Group does not breach borrowing limits or covenants on any of 1ts borrowing facihities The
Group’s borrowing facihities are described 1n note 24 Financing facilities have been agreed at
appropriatc levels having regard to the Group’s operating cash flows and future development plans

Surplus cash held by the operating entities over and above that required for working capital
management are invested by Group finance in interest bearing current accounts or money market
deposits As of 30 June 2016, the Group held cash and cash equivalents of £229,194,000 (2015
£155,752,000)

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities and net-settled denvative
financral habilities 1nto relevant maturity groupings based on the remaming period at the balance sheet
date to the contractual maturity date The amounts disclosed 1n the table are the contractual
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undiscounted cash flows including nterest and therefore differs from the carrying amounts n the
consolidated balance sheet

Less than Between Between Over
1 year 1 and 2 years 2 and 5 years 5 years
£000 £000 £1000 £000
Trade and other payables excluding social secunty and
other taxes(1) 205,831 18,811 2,043 —
Borrowings 18,967 18,990 40,753 519,621
224,798 37,801 42,796 519,921
Non-trading(2) and net settled derivative financial
mnstruments
cash outflow 6,685 4812 7,770 7,770
cash inflow (5,692) (708) — —
At 30 June 2016 225,791 41,%05 50,566 527,691
Trade and other payables excluding social security and
other taxes(1) 118,898 43,104 6,753 —
Borrowings 16,418 16,442 51,637 512,682
135,316 59,546 58,390 512,682
Non-trading(2) and net settled derivative financial
mstruments
cash outflow 3,321 3,318 9,904 16,483
At 30 June 2015 138,637 62,864 68,294 529,165

(1) Social secunty and other taxes are excluded from trade and other payables balance, as this analysis
1s required only for financial instruments

(2) Non-trading dervatives are included at their fair value at the balance sheet date

31 2 Hedging activities

The Group uses denivative financial instruments to hedge certain exposures, and has designated
certain dervatives as hedges of cash flows (cash flow hedge)

The Group hedges the foreign exchange nsk on contracted future US dollar revenues whenever
possible using the Group’s US dollar net borrowings as the hedging mnstrument The foreign exchange
gams or losses ansing on re-translation of the Group’s US dollar net borrowings used in the hedge are
mitially recognized 1n other comprehensive income, rather than being recognized n the income
statement rmmediately Amounts previously recognized m other comprehensive income and
accumulated mn the hedging reserve are subsequently reclassified into the income statement 1n the same
accounting period, and within the same income statement line (1e Commercial revenue), as the
underlying future US dollar revenues, which given the varying lengths of the commercial revenue
contracts will be between July 2016 to June 2021 The foreign exchange gains or losses arising on
re-translation of the Group’s unhedged US dollar borrowings are recognized in the income statement
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immediately (within net finance costs) The table below details the net borrowings being hedged at the
balance sheet date

2016 2015

$°000 $000
USD borrowings 650,000 650,000
USD cash . (100,800) (138,500)
Net USD debt 549,200 511,500
Hedged future USD revenues (394,690) (470,404)
Unhedged USD borrowings 154,510 41,096
Closing USD exchange rate (§ £) 1.3332 15712

The Group hedges 1ts cash flow interest rate sk where appropriale using nterest rate swaps at
contract lengths consistent with the repayment schedule of the borrowings Such interest rate swaps
have the economic effect of converting borrowings from floating rates to fixed rates The effective
portion of changes 1n the fair value of the interest rate swap are imtially recognmized n other
comprehensive income, rather than being recognized 1n the income statement immediately Amounts
previously recogmzed in other comprehensive income and accumulated 1n the hedging reserve are
subsequently reclassified 1nto the mmcome statement 1n the same accounting period, and within the same
income statement line (1€ finance costs), as the underlying interest payments, which given the term of
the swap will be between July 2016 to June 2024 The following table details the interest rate swaps at
the balance sheet date that are used to hedge borrowings

2016 2015
Principal value of loan outstanding ($'000) 225,000 225,000
Rate received 1 month $ LIBOR 1 month § LIBOR
Rate paid . Fixed 2.032% Fixed 2 (32%
Expiry date 30 June 2024 30 June 2024

As of 30 June 2016 the fair value of the above interest rate swaps was a hability of £9,710,000
(2015 lhability of £111,000)
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Details of movements on the hedging reserve are as follows

Fulure Interest

US dollar rate Total, Total,
revenues swap before tax Tax after tax
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Balance at 1 July 2014 40,021 (147y 39874 (13,956} 25,918
Foreign exchange loss on hedged US dollar net
borrowings (27,925) —  (27,925) 9,774 (18,151)
Reclassified to income statement (4,713) 2,060  {2,653) 930  (1,723)
Fair value movement — (2,024) (2,024) 709 (1,315)
Movement recognized 1n other comprehensive
mncome (32,638) 36 (32,602) 11,413 (21,189)
Balance at 30 June 2015 7,383 (111) 7,272 (2,543) 4,729
Foreign exchange loss on hedged US dollar net
borrowings (49,808) —  (49,808) 17,431 (32,377)
Reclassified to income statement 1,382 2,605 4,047 {1,416) 2,631
Fair value movement —  (12,264) (12,264) 4,292 (7,972)
Movement recognized in other comprehensive
imcome (48,426)  (9,599) (58,025) 20,307 (37,718)
Balance at 30 June 2016 (41,043) (9,710) (50,753) 17,764 (32,989)

Based on exchange rates existing as of 30 June 2016, a 10% appreciation of the UK pounds
sterling compared to the US dollar would have resulted 1n a credit to the hedging reserve in respect of
future US dollar revenues of approximately £26,913,000 (2015 £27,217,000) Conversely, a 10%
depreciation of the UK pounds sterhng compared to the US dollar would have resulted in a debit to
the hedging reserve n respect of US dollar future revenues of approximately £32,894,000 (2015
£33,266,000)

31.3 Captal risk management

The Group manages 1ts capital to ensure that entities 1n the Group will be able to continue as
gong concerns while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
cquity balance Capital 1s calculated as “equity attributable to owners of the parent” as shown m the
balance sheet plus net debt Net debt 1s calculated as total borrowings (including “current and
non-current borrowings’ as shown 1n the balance sheet) less cash and cash equivalents and 1s used by
management in monitorg the net indebtedness of the Group A reconciliation of net debt 1s shown n
note 24

As of 30 June 2016, the Group had total borrowings of £450 1 rmullion (2015 £411 0 mifhon) As
described 1n note 24 above, the Group’s revolving facility, the secured term loan facibty and the note
purchase agreement goverming the 2027 Notes each contain certain covenants that restrict the acuvities
of Red Football Limited and uts subsidiaries As of 30 June 2016, the Group was 1n compliance with all
covenants under 11s revolving facility, the secured term loan facility and the note purchase agreement
governung the 2027 Notes
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31.4 Fair value esimation

The following table presents the financial instruments carnied at fair value The different levels
used 1n measuring fair value have been defined as follows

= Level 1—quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 1dentical assets or habilities,

+ Level 2—inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or hability, enher directly (1e as prices) or indirectly (1 ¢ derwved from prices),

* Level 3—inputs for the asset or hability that are not based on observable market data
(1e unobservable mputs)

2016 2015
£000 £'000
Assets
Denvative financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(note 18)
Embedded foreign exchange denvatives 5,248 27
Forward foreign exchange contracts 6,400 —
Liabihties
Denvative financial habilities designated as cash flow hedges
{note 18)
Interest rate swaps (9,710) (111)
Dervative financial liabihities at fair value through profit or loss
{note 18)
Embedded foreign exchange derivatives — (67)
Forward foreign exchange contracts (3,727) (5,557)

(1,789) (5,708)

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market 15 determined by
using valuation techmiques These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data
where 1t 1s available and rely as little as possible on entity specific esumates If all sigmficant nputs
required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument 1s categonsed as Level 2

All of the financial instruments detalled above are categonised as Level 2 Specific valuation
techmques used include

* The fair value of embedded foreign exchange derivatives 1s determined as the change in the fair
value of the embedded denvative at the contract inception date and the fair value of the
embedded derivative at the balance sheet date, the fair value of the embedded dervative 15
determined using forward exchange rates with the resulting value discounted to present value,

» The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts 1s determined using forward exchange rates
at the balance sheet date, with the resulting value discounted back to present value,

» The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future
cash flows based on observable yield curves
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The immediate parent undertaking of Manchester United plc i1s Red Football LLC, a company
incorporated 1n the state of Delaware The uvltimate parent undertaking and controlling party 1s Red
Football Limited Partnership, a limited partnership formed mn the state of Nevada, United States of
America whose general partner 1s Red Football General Partner, Inc, a corporation formed 1n the state
of Nevada, Umited States of America Red Football Limited Partnership and Red Football General
Partner, Inc are controlled by famuly trusts affiliated with the Glazer famuily

Mr Kevmn Glazer, a director of the Company, and certain members of his immediate family held
an nterest in the Group’s US dollar denominated sentor secured notes due 2017, however, they ceased
to hold any the notes on 26 June 2015 when the notes were repaid in full The US dotlar denominated
notes had a fixed coupon rate of 8 375% Interest payable to Mr Kevin Glazer and certain members of

his immediate family duning the year amounted to £ml {2015 £302,000, 2014 £372,000) of which £nil
(2015 £nil, 2014 £146,000) was accrued at the year end

33 Subsidiaries

The following compantes are the subsidiary undertakings of the Company as of 30 June 2016

Subsidiaries

Principal activity

Issued share capital

Description of share
classes owned

Red Football Finance Limited* Finance company USD 001 100% Ordinary
Red Football Holdings Limited* Holding company GBP 150,000,001 100% Ordinary
Red Football Shareholder Limited Holding company GBPF 99 100% Ordinary
Red Football Joint Venture Limited Holding company GBP 69 100% Ordinary
Red Football Limuted Holding company GBP 99 100% Ordinary
Red Football Junior Limited Holding company GBP 100 100% Ordmary

Manchester United Limited
Alderley Urban Investments Limited
Manchester United Commercial
Enterprises (Ireland) Limited
Manchester Unmited Football Club
Limited .
Manchester United Interactive

Commercial company
Property mvestment

Property investment

Professional football club

GBP 26,519,248
GBP 2

EUR 13

GBP 1,008,546

100% Ordinary
100% Ordiary

100% Ordinary

100% Ordinary

Limited Media company GBP 10,000 100% Ordnary
MU Commercial Holdings Limuted Holding company GBP 101 100% Ordinary
MU Commercial Holdings Junior

Limited Holding company GBP 10t 100% Ordinary
MU Finance plc Debt-holding company GBP 15,000,000  100% Ordinary
MU RAML Limited Retail and licensing GBP 100 100% Ordinary

company
MUTYV Limited Subscription TV channel  GBP 2,401 100% QOrdmnary

*  Direct mvestment of Manchester Umted plc, others are held by subsidiary undetrtakings

All of the above are mncorporated and operate 1n England and Wales, with the exception of Red
Football Finance Limited which 1s incorporated and operates in the Cayman Islands and Manchester
United Commercial Enterprises (Ireland) Limited which 1s incorporated and operates m Ireland The
registered office or principal executive office of all the above, with the exception of Manchester United
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33 Subsidiartes (Continued)

Commercial Enterprises (Ireland) Limited, 1s Sir Matt Busby Way, Old Trafford, Manchester,
M16 ORA, United Kingdom The regisiered office of Manchester United Commercial Enterprises
(Ireland) Limited 1s 4*" Floor, 8-34 Percy Place, Ballsbridge, Dublin 4, Republic of Ireland

34 Events after the balance sheet date

The playmg registrations of certain footballers have been disposed of, subsequent to 30 June 2015,
for total proceeds, net of associated costs, of £7,717,000 The associated net book value was £126,000

Subsequent to 30 June 2016 the playing registrations of certamn players were acquired or extended
for a total consideration, including asscciated costs, of £160,565,000 No payments are due over 5 years

35 Additional information—Financial Statement Schedule I

Schedule I has been provided pursuant to the requirements of Secunties and Exchange
Commussion (“SEC”) Regulation 5-X Rule 12-04(a), which require condensed financial information as
to financial position, cash flows and results of operations of a parent company as of the same dates and
for the same periods for which audited consolidated financial statements have been presented, as the
restricted net asscts of Manchester Untited plc’s consolidated subsidianes as of 30 June 2016 exceeded
the 25% threshold

As of 30 June 2016, the Group had total borrowings of £490 1 million (2015 £411 0 million) As
described in note 24 abave, the Group’s revelving facility, the secured term loan facility and the note
purchase agreement governing the 2027 Notes each contain certain covenants that restrict the activities
of Red Football Limited and its subsid:anes, including restricted payment covenants The restricted
payment covenants allow dividends 1 certamn circumstances, including to the extent dividends do not
exceed 50% of the cumulative consolidated net income of Red Football Limited and 1its restricted
subsidiaries, provided there 15 no event of default and Red Football Limited 1s able to meet the
principal and interest payments on 1ts debt under a fixed charge coverage test As of 30 June 2016, the
Group was in compliance with the resiricted payment covenants and all other covenants under its
revolving facility, the secured term loan facility and the note purchase agreement governing the 2027
Notes

Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included 1n financial statements prepared in
accordance with International Fiancial Reporting Standards have been condensed or omitted The
footnote disclosures contain supplemental information only and, as such, these statements should be
read n conjunction with the notes to the accompanying consolidated financial statements

The condensed financial mnformation has been prepared using the same accounting pohicies as set
out mn the consohidated financial statements, except that investments in subsidianes are included at cost
less any provision for impairment n value

As of 30 June 2016, 2015 and 2014 there were no material contingencies, sigmficant provisions of
fong-term obliganions, mandatory dividend or redemption requirements of redeemable stocks or
guarantees of the Company, except for those which have been separately disclosed 1n the consolidated
financial statements, if any

During the year ended 30 June 2016, cash dividends of £0 12 per share were declared and pard by
the Company Durnng the years ended 30 June 2015 and 2014, no cash dividends were declared and
paid by the Company
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35 Additional information—Financial Statement Schedule I (Continued)

Condensed tncome statement of the Company

Year ended 30 June

2016 2015 2014
£000 £'000 £'000

Revenue — — —
Operating expenses (84) (144) (682)
Exceptional 1items — (1,089 —
Operating loss (84) (1,233) (682)
Fimance costs . - — (15)
Income from shares 1n group undertakings 20,084 — —
Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before tax 20,000 (1,233} (697)
Tax expense — —_ —
Profit/(loss) for the year 20,000 (1,233) (697)

There were no items of other comprehensive loss or income 1n the years ended 30 June 2016, 2015
or 2014 and therefore no statement of comprehensive income has been presented

Condensed balance sheet of the Company

As of 30 June

2016 2015
£000 £000
ASSETS
Non-current assets
[nvestment n subsidiaries 319,265 319,265

319,265 319,265

Current assets

Current tax receivable 124 —

Cash and cash equivalents 221 224
345 224

Total assets . . 319,610 319,489

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Share capital 52 52

Share premium 68,822 68,822

Retamned earnings 248,140 246,429

317,014 315,303

Current liabihities

Other payables 2,596 4,186
2,596 4,186
Total equity and liabihties 319,610 319,489
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35 Additional information—Financial Statement Schedule I (Continued)

Condensed statement of changes in equity of the Company

Balance at 1 July 2013
Loss for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year
Equity-settled share based payments

Balance at 30 June 2014
Loss for the year

Total comprehensive loss for the year
Equity-settled share based payments

Balance at 30 June 2015
Profit for the year

Total comprehensive loss for the year
Equity-settled share based payments
Dmvidends paid

Balance at 30 June 2016

Condensed statement of cash flows of the Company

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit/(loss} befare tax

Net finance costs

Equity-settled share-based payments
Increase 1n other receivables
Decrease i other payables

Cash generated from/(used ) operations
Interest paid

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid

Net cash generated from/(used 1n) financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase i cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
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Share Share Retained
capital  premium carmings  Total equity
£000 £000 £000 £000
52 68,822 245869 314,743
— — (697) (697)
— — (697) (697)
— — 1,138 1,138
2 68,822 246,310 315,184
- —  (1,233)  (1,233)
— —  (1,233)  (1,233)
— — 1,352 1,352
§_2_ 68,822 246,429 315,303
— — 20,000 20,000
— — 1,795 1,795
— —  (20,084) (20,084)
52 68,822 248,140 317,014
Year ended 30 June
2016 2015 2014
£000 £000 £000
20,000 (1,233) (697)
— — 15
1,795 1,352 1,138
(124) — —
(1,590)  (101) (467)
20,081 18 (11)
— — _({s5
20,081 18 (26)
(20,084) — —
(20,084) — —
3) 18 (26)
224 206 232
221 224 206
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35 Additional information—Financial Statement Schedule I (Continued)

The following reconcihiations are provided as additional information to sauisfy the Schedule [ SEC

requirements for parent-only financial information

IFRS (loss)/profit reconcihation:

Parent only—IFRS profit/(loss) for the year

Add:tional profit if subsidianes had been accounted for on the equity
method of accounting as opposed 10 cost

Conschdated IFRS profit/(loss) for the year
IFRS equity reconcihiation:
Parent only—IFRS equity

Additional profit if subsidianes had been accounted for on the equity
method of accounting as opposed 10 cost

Consolidated—IFRS equity
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2016 2015 2014
£000 £000 £000
20,000  (1,233)  (697)
16,371 338 24,532
36,371 (895) 23,835
317,014 315303 315,184
141,268 162,615 183,466
458,282 477918 498,650




SIGNATURES

The registrant hereby certifies that 1t meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 20-F and
that 1t has duly caused and authonzed the undersigned to sign this annual report on its behalf

Date 15 September 2016

Manchester United plc
(Registrant)

By /s/f EDWARD WOODWARD

Name Edward Woodward
Title  Executive Vice Chairman
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Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association of Manchester Umted plc
dated as of 8 August 2012 (included as Exhibit 3 1 to our Registration Statement on Form F-1/A
(File No 333-182535), filed with the SEC on 30 July 2012, as amended)

Specimen QOrdinary Share Certificate of Manchester United ple (included as Exhibit 4 ¥ to our
Registration Statement on Form F-1/A (File No 333-182535), filed with the SEC on 30 July
2012, as amended)

Agreement, dated 19 May 2008, between The Royal Bank of Scotland plc, as agent for National
Westminster Bank plc, and Alderley Urban Investments (included as Exhubit 10 3 to our
Registration Statement on Form F-1/A (File No 333-182535), filed with the SEC on 16 July
2012, as amended)

Amendment and Restatement Agreement relating to the Secured Term Facility, dated 11 August
2014, between Red Football Limited and Bank of Amernica, N A, as Agent and Onginal Lender
(included as Exhibit 4 1 to our Report on Form 6-K (File No 001-35627), filed with the SEC on
12 August 2014)

Amendment and Restatement Agreement relating to the Secured Term Facility, dated 15 May
2015, among Red Football Limited, Bank of America, N A, as Onginal Agent, and Bank of
America Merrill Lynch International Limited, as Agent and Lender (included as Exhibit 101 to
our Registration Statement on Form F-3 (File No 333-206985), filed with the SEC on

17 September 2015)

Revolving Facihties Agreement, dated 22 May 2015, among Red Football Limited, MU

Finance plc, the guarantors party thereto, Bank of Amenca, N A, as Arranger, the Ornginal
Lenders named therem, and Bank of America Merrnll Lynch International Limited, as Agent and
Secunty Trustee (included as Exhibit 10 2 to our Registration Statement on Form F-3 (File

No 333-206985), filed with the SEC on 17 September 2015)

Note Purchase Agreement, dated 27 May 2015, among MU Finance plc, the guarantors party
thereto, the purchasers listed therein and the Bank of New York Mellon, as Paying Agent
(included as Exhibit 4 3 to our Registration Statement on Form F-3 (File No 333-206985), filed
with the SEC on 17 September 2015)

Term Facility Amendment Letter, dated 26 June 2015, between Red Football Limited and Bank
of Amernica Mernll Lynch International Limited, as Agent and Lender (included as Exhibit 10 3
to our Registration Statement on Form F-3 (File No 333-206985), filed with the SEC on

17 September 2015)

Second Term Facility Amendment Letter, dated 11 September 2015, between Red Football
Limited and Bank of America Mernll Lynch International Limited, as Agent and Lender
(included as Exhibit 4 7 to our Annual Report on Form 20-F (File No 333-183277), filed with
the SEC on 15 October 2015)

Revolving Faciliies Amendment Letler, dated 7 October 2015, between Red Football Limited
and Bank of America Merrill Lynch International Limited, as Agent and Lender (included as
Exhibit 4 8 to our Annual Report on Form 20-F (File No 333-183277), filed with the SEC on
15 October 2015)

2012 Equity Incentive Award Plan (included as Exhibit 4 2 to our Registration Statement on
Form S-8 (Fite No 333-183277), filed with the SEC on 13 August 2012)

Premier League Handboek, Season 2015/16 (included as Exhibit 4 11 to our Annual Report on
Form 20-F (File No 001-35627), filed with the SEC on 15 October 2015)

Premier League Handbook, Season 2016/17
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Exhibit 12.1
CERTIFICATION

I, Joel Glazer, certify that

1
2

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 20-F of Manchester United plc,

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a materal fact or
omit to state a matenal fact necessary to make the statements made, in Iight of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not musleading with respect to the period covered by thus
report,

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financal information included 1n this
annual report, fairly present 1n all matenal respects the financial condition, tesults of operations
and cash flows of the Company as of, and for, the penods presented n this report,

The Company’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for
the Company and have

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that maternal information relating
to the Company, including 1ts consohdated subsidiaries, 1s made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report 1s being prepared,

b) Designed such mternal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the rehiability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes 1n accordance with generally accepied accounting principles,

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented 1n this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure contrels and
procedures, as of the end of the peniod covered by this report based on such evaluation, and

d) Dusclosed m this report any change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred durning the period covered by the annual report that has matenally affected, or
1s reasonably likely to matenally affect, the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting, and

The Company’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation
of internal control over financial reporting, to the Company’s auditors and the audit committee of
the Company’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function)

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses 1n the design or operanon of mnternal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company’s
ability to record, process, summarise and report financial information, and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the Company’s internal control over financal reporting

Date 15 September 2016

By /s/ JOEL GLAZER

Joel Glazer
Executive Co-Chatrman
{Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 12.2
CERTIFICATION

I, ClLiff Baty, certify that

1
2

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 20-F of Manchester United plc,

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a matenal fact or
omit to state a matenal fact necessary to make the statements made, in hght of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the peniod covered by this
report,

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
annual report, fairly present in all matenal respects the financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows of the Company as of, and for, the periods presented i this report,

The Company’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure contrels and procedures (as defined 1n Exchange Act Rules 13a2-15(¢) and 13d-15(e)) for
the Company and have

a  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, 1s made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly dunng the period 1n which this report 1s being prepared,

b  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such mnternal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the rehability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes 1n accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,

¢ Evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented 1n this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclesure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation, and

d Disclosed in this report any change 1n the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred durning the period covered by the annual report that has matenally affected, or
1s reasonably hikely to matenally affect, the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting, and

The Company’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation
of internal control over financial reporting, to the Company’s auditors and the audit committee of
the Company’s board of directors {or persons performing the equivalent function)

a  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses 1n the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company’s
ability to record, process, summarise and report financial information, and

b Any fraud, whether or not matenal, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role 1n the Company’s internal control over financial reporung

Date 15 September 2016

By /s/ CLIFF BATY

Clff Baty
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




Exhibat 13.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S C SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with this annual report on Form 20-F of Manchester United plc (the “Company”)
for the fiscal year ended 30 June 2016 as filed with the Secunities and Exchange Commuission on the
date hereof (the “Report™), I, Joel Glazer, Executive Co-Chairman of the Company and Principal
Executive Officer, hereby certify pursuant to 18 U S C Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge

(1) The Report fully comphes with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and

(1) The information contamed n the Report fairly presents, 1n all matenal respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company

Date 15 September 2016

By /s/ JOEL GLAZER

Joel Glazer
Executive Co-Chairman
(Principal Executive Qfficer)




Exhitat 13.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TQ 18 U.5.C SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION %06 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with this annual report on Form 20-F of Manchester United ple (the “Company’™)
for the fiscal year ended 30 June 2016 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the
date hereof (the “Report™), I, Chff Baty, Chief Financial Qfficer of the Company and Principal
Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certify pursuant to 18 U S C Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowiedge

(1) The Report fully comphes with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the
Secunities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and

{n) The information contained 1n the Report fairly presents, 1in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company

Date 15 September 2016

By /s/ CLIFF BATY

Cuff Baty
Chuef Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




Exhibit 15.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form 8-8
(No 333-183277) and F-3 (No 333-206985) of Manchester United plc of our report dated
15 September 2016 relating to the financial statements, which appears 1 this Form 20-F

/s! PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Manchester, Unuted Kingdom
15 September 2016




